Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Jennifer Strafford Stevens

Date

Sex differences in the neural correlates of emotional responses and episodic memory encoding for positive and negative emotional stimuli

By

Jennifer Strafford Stevens Ph.D.

Psychology

Stephan Hamann Advisor

Lawrence Barsalou Committee Member

Patricia J. Bauer Committee Member

James K. Rilling Committee Member

Kim Wallen Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Sex differences in the neural correlates of emotional responses and episodic memory encoding for positive and negative emotional stimuli

By

Jennifer Strafford Stevens M.A., Emory University, 2009

Advisor: Stephan Hamann, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology 2012

Abstract

Sex differences in the neural correlates of emotional responses and episodic memory encoding for positive and negative emotional stimuli By Jennifer Strafford Stevens

Evidence from both cognitive and clinical psychology literatures suggests that women and men differ in emotional functioning. Women show greater emotional responses than men in expression and physiological activation, and are more likely than men to be diagnosed with disorders involving emotion, such as depression, anxiety, and PTSD. The goal of the current research was to characterize differences in how women and men respond to emotional stimuli, at the neural level. This issue is critical to understanding basic individual differences in human mental health and in emotion more generally. We conducted three studies: Study 1 was a metaanalysis of neuroimaging studies of emotional processing in women and men, Study 2 was a neuroimaging experiment investigating sex differences in the response to emotionally-arousing visual stimuli, and Study 3 was a neuroimaging experiment investigating how sex differences in emotional brain regions might influence episodic memory. The meta-analysis combined the results of studies which explicitly examined sex differences with the much larger number of studies that examined only women or men, using activation likelihood estimation (ALE). For studies of negative emotion, women showed greater activation of the amygdala than men. For studies of positive emotion, men showed greater activation of the amygdala than women. The findings provided novel evidence that sex differences depend on whether an emotional stimulus is affectively negative or positive. In study 2, we replicated the finding that women showed greater amygdala responses to negative stimuli, and found greater hypothalamus responses to positive stimuli in men than women. In addition, women showed greater functional connectivity than men between the amygdala and anterior cingulate cortex, a circuit involved in emotion regulation. Men showed greater functional connectivity than women between the amygdala and nucleus accumbens, a circuit involved in reinforcement learning and appetitive motivation. In study 3, we found that the amygdala plays a greater role in encoding emotional stimuli in women than men, and that functional connectivity between the amygdala and hippocampus during encoding was predictive of later memory in women but not men. Overall, the findings provide converging evidence for important differences in women's and men's brain processing of emotional stimuli, and highlight the need for greater consideration of gender in the study of emotion.

Sex differences in the neural correlates of emotional responses and episodic memory encoding for positive and negative emotional stimuli

By

Jennifer Strafford Stevens M.A., Emory University, 2009

Advisor: Stephan Hamann, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology 2012

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor, Stephan Hamann, for his guidance and support in completing this work, and for shaping my scientific thinking over the past five years. I have learned more from him than could be properly outlined here. I also thank my committee members, Patricia Bauer, Kim Wallen, Jim Rilling, and Larry Barsalou for their thoughts and feedback over the course of completing this work. I especially would like to thank Patricia Bauer who has stood out as a generous mentor throughout graduate school, and has always kept her door open for conversations about research and how to begin a career in research. I thank Kim Wallen and Janice Hassett for their collaboration on study design and data collection.

I thank my parents Pem and Richard Wilson for their encouragement and the idea that I could do any career, even something as impractical and challenging as research. I thank Kit Stevens for lending an ear to any problem and working out new approaches.

Finally, I would like to thank my lab siblings Carolina Campanella, Cory Inman, and Katye Vytal for their insightful thoughts about this research, and the general collaborative energy they created in the lab.

This research was supported by a grant from the Center for Behavioral Neuroscience (NSF agreement #IBN-9876754), and by NIH grant R21-HD044398.

Table of Contents

	Page
Chapter 1, Introduction	C
1.1 The emotional brain	5
1.2 Sex differences in brain structure	6
1.3 Sex differences in emotion-related brain function	7
1.4 Sex differences in amygdala responses to emotional stimuli	9
1.5 Sex differences in emotional processing networks	11
1.6 Sex-specific hemispheric asymmetry in amygdala contribution to	
episodic encoding	12
1.7 Hypotheses	12
1.8 References	14
Chapter 2, Sex differences in brain activation to emotional stimuli: A meta-analysis of	
neuroimaging studies	
2.1 Abstract	29
2.2 Introduction	31
2.3 Methods	33
2.4 Results	44
2.5 Discussion	55
2.6 Conclusions	67
2.7 References	69

Chapter 3, Sex differences in neural activity and amygdala connectivity associated with emotion processing

3.1 Abstract	76
3.2 Introduction	77
3.3 Methods	79
3.4 Results	83
3.5 Discussion	103
3.6 References	108

Chapter 4, Sex influences the role of the amygdala in memory for positive and negative stimuli

4.1 Abstract	114
4.2 Introduction	115
4.3 Methods	117
4.4 Results	124
4.5 Discussion	131
4.6 References	138
Chapter 5, <i>General Discussion</i> 5.1 Relations between the findings of the meta-analysis and the	144
neuroimaging studies	
5.2 Future directions	146
5.3 Clinical implications	148
5.4 Conclusions	148
5.5 References	150

List of Tables

Chapter 2	_
Table 1, Studies included in the meta-analysis	36
Table 2, Number of modeled activation (MA) maps contributing to the meta-analysis	42
Table 3, Peak coordinates for sex differences in Negative emotion	44
Table 4, Peak coordinates for sex differences in Positive emotion	48
Table 5, Peak coordinates for sex differences for All-emotion condition	51
Chapter 3	
Table 1, Enhanced responses to negative stimuli, relative to neutral stimuli	90
Table 2, Enhanced responses to positive stimuli, relative to neutral stimuli	91
Table 3, Enhanced connectivity with left amygdala for negative relative to neutral stimuli	94
Table 4, Enhanced connectivity with right amygdala for negative relative to neutral stimuli	96
Table 5, Enhanced connectivity with left amygdala for positive relative to neutral stimuli	99
Table 6, Enhanced connectivity with right amygdala for positive relative to neutral stimuli	101
Chapter 4	
Table 1 Enhancing effect of negative emotion on encoding-related brain activation	129

Table 1, Enhancing effect of negative emotion on encoding-related brain activation129Table 2, Enhancing effect of positive emotion on encoding-related brain activation129

Page

List of Figures

	Page
Chapter 2	
Figure 1, Stimulus types used for emotion induction	40
Figure 2, Specific emotion types included in the meta-analyses	43
Figure 3, Regions of significant activation for Negative emotion	47
Figure 4, Regions of significant activation for Positive emotion	50
Figure 5, Regions of significant activation for All emotion	54
Figure 6, Regions of significantly greater activation for women than for men for	58
Negative emotion, highlighting regional overlap with the amygdala and the hippocampus	
Figure 7, Regions of significantly greater activation likelihood for men than for women	61
for Positive emotion, highlighting regional overlap with the amygdala and the hippocampu	S
Chapter 3	
Figure 1, Amygdala responses to negative stimuli in women and men	85
Figure 2, Amygdala responses to negative stimuli, displayed as the average percent	86
signal change across the full anatomical volumes of the left and right amygdala ROIs	
Figure 3, Amygdala responses to positive stimuli in women and men	87
Figure 4, Amygdala responses to positive stimuli, displayed as the average percent	87
signal change across the full anatomical volumes of the left and right amygdala ROIs	
Figure 5, Hypothalamus responses to positive stimuli in women and men	88
Figure 6, Regions showing significant functional connectivity with the left and right	93
amygdala seed regions in response to negative stimuli	
Figure 7, Regions showing significant functional connectivity with the left and right	93
amygdala seed regions in response to positive stimuli	
Chapter 4	
Figure 1 Average levels of performance on the free recall and cued recall tasks	126
for women and men	120
Figure 2, Sex differences in emotional DM activity within the amygdala	127

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Supplement to Study 1

Table S1: Peak coordinates for Negative emotion (analysis of balanced dataset)

Table S2: Peak coordinates for Positive emotion (analysis of balanced dataset)

 Table S3: Peak coordinates for All-emotion (analysis of balanced dataset)

Table S4: Peak coordinates for sex differences in Negative emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

Table S5: Peak coordinates for sex differences in Positive emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

Table S6: Peak coordinates for sex differences in All-emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

Table S7: Peak coordinates for Negative emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

Table S8: Peak coordinates for Positive emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

Table S9: Peak coordinates for All-emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

Figure S1. ALE maps for analyses of emotion across all participants (analysis of the balanced dataset)

Figure S2. ALE maps of sex differences (analysis of the complete dataset)

Appendix B: Supplement to Study 2

Figure S1. Responses to negative emotional stimuli in women and men, across all gray-matter voxels

Figure S2. Responses to positive emotional stimuli in women and men, across all gray-matter voxels

Appendix C: Supplement to Study 3

Table S1. Enhanced encoding-related connectivity with left amygdala for negative relative to neutral stimuli

Table S2. Enhanced encoding-related connectivity with right amygdala for negative relative to neutral stimuli

Table S3. Enhanced encoding-related connectivity with left amygdala for positive relative to neutral stimuli

Table S4. Enhanced encoding-related connectivity with right amygdala for positive relative to neutral stimuli

186

187

Chapter 1

General Introduction

Considerable evidence indicates that women and men behave differently during emotional experiences. For example, women have been reported to express greater facial emotion than men to a wide variety of emotional stimuli, report feeling more emotional arousal, and display heightened physiological arousal responses (Bradley, Codispoti, Sabatinelli, & Lang, 2001; Grossman & Wood, 1993; Hall, Carter, & Horgan, 2000; Kring & Gordon, 1998). A complementary literature provides evidence that women and men also differ in the recognition of emotional social signals, with a clear advantage for women across different types of emotion and different cue modalities (for a review, see Hall, 1978). For example, women are faster (Goos & Silverman, 2002; Hampson, van Anders, & Mullin, 2006; McClure, 2000) and more accurate (Hall & Matsumoto, 2004) in recognizing emotional facial expressions, and display heightened and more selective responses to unattended emotional verbal sounds (Schirmer et al., 2008; Schirmer, Striano, & Friederici, 2005).

Examples of enhanced emotional reactions in women have led some theorists to propose that, on average, women exhibit emotional responses more strongly than men (Grossman & Wood, 1993). Such proposals are consistent with the Western cultural notion of the women as the emotional sex (Fischer & Manstead, 2000). Surveys of women and men's perceptions of typical behavior for each gender consistently find that women are viewed as more likely to display negative emotionality in facial expression than men (Fischer, Rodriguez Mosquera, van Vianen, & Manstead, 2004; Grossman & Wood, 1993; Hess et al., 2000; Kring & Gordon, 1998), and even children as young as three years of age show evidence of gender stereotypes of the emotional facial expressions that are more "female" (sadness, fear) versus those that are more "male" (anger) (Birnbaum, Nosanchuk, & Croll, 1980).

Emotion can be conceptualized using the basic dimensions of arousal (subjective and physiological emotional intensity) and valence (whether the emotion is positive or negative). The prevailing accounts of sex differences in emotion focus on the arousal dimension, positing that women are more sensitive to emotional stimuli and thus have greater arousal responses than men

(e.g., Fujita, Diener, & Sandvik, 1991; Grossman & Wood, 1993). However, it may also be useful to consider the dimension of emotional valence. Some evidence suggests that sex differences in responses to emotionally arousing stimuli may depend on whether the stimuli are affectively positive or negative. Larger emotional responses in women are most often observed in the context of studies presenting negative emotional visual stimuli (e.g. Bradley et al., 2001; McManis, Bradley, Berg, Cuthbert, & Lang, 2001; Thomsen, Mehlsen, Viidik, Sommerlund, & Zachariae, 2005). Greater subjective and physiological responses to negative stimuli in women are consistent with sex differences in the prevalence of mood-related mental health problems anxiety and depression are diagnosed more frequently among women, beginning in adolescence and continuing across the lifespan (Leach, Christensen, Mackinnon, Windsor, & Butterworth, 2008; Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001).

For the majority of studies of positive stimuli, there has not been an observed sex difference. However, sex differences have been reliably observed in studies of women and men's emotional responses to erotic stimuli. When viewing sexually-arousing photographs, men report higher levels of emotional intensity than women, and exhibit larger skin conductance responses (Bradley et al., 2001; Chivers, Seto, Lalumiere, Laan, & Grimbos, 2009). Although erotic stimuli may be considered a class of highly-arousing affectively positive stimuli, they activate not only emotional arousal but also sexual arousal responses. Further research is needed to distinguish the extent to which enhanced male responses are specific to erotica, or might be characteristic of general affective responses to highly arousing pleasant stimuli.

Behavioral studies have primarily addressed questions about sex differences by examining differences in subjective and psychophysiological emotional responses in women and men. Because emotions ultimately originate in the brain, these sex differences in emotional responses should be reflected in the activity of brain regions involved in emotion processing. Information about neural processing during emotional experiences may be more sensitive to sex differences in emotion, and can provide unique information about how emotional responses unfold. Emotions involve many components, including physiological changes, subjective feelings, evaluative cognitive processes, and motivated behavior. While behavioral and physiological measures represent surface-level measures of many aggregated processes, neuroimaging can reveal the individual neural and cognitive processes that form the building blocks for the emotional experience. These brain processes may be each be influenced by the factors that differentiate women and men such as hormones, genetics, and experience. Given the potential for information about brain function to clarify our understanding of sex differences in emotion, the current research employed a neuroimaging approach to investigate differences in women's and men's responses to emotional stimuli, in three studies.

Findings from individual functional neuroimaging studies provide suggestive evidence of neural differences contributing to sex differences in emotional behavior, but relatively few neuroimaging studies of sex differences in emotional processing have been reported. The metaanalytic technique provides a unique way to address this issue, by aggregating results across many studies to determine whether there are reliable sex-specific effects in the brain areas active during emotion. In the first study, we conducted a meta-analytic review of functional neuroimaging findings investigating differences between women's and men's emotional neural responses by synthesizing findings from the past 18 years of research. The aggregation approach is especially helpful in functional neuroimaging research because small sample sizes often restrict statistical power. Individual studies may not detect sex differences, especially within the domain of emotional processing, in which individual differences are likely to influence processing withinsex (Hamann & Canli, 2004). The meta-analysis was designed to identify convergent findings across the neuroimaging literature, to build initial expectations about where we might expect differences in function.

The second study was an experimental assessment of whether the sex differences found in the meta-analysis would be replicated within a single experiment. We examined women's and men's neural responses to emotional scenes using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). This study provided a test of the hypothesis that sex differences depend on emotional valence, specifically that we would observe female-specific neural responses to negative stimuli, and male-specific responses to positive stimuli. Another goal of this study was to clarify sex differences in functional connectivity with the amygdala during affective responses, as some previous evidence suggests that the amygdala may participate in different sets of interacting brain regions in women and men.

The third study served as an investigation of whether sex differences in the emotional responses of brain regions such as the amygdala would influence cognitive processing. Here we investigated the role of the amygdala in encoding memories of emotional stimuli, in women and men. Emotional material receives preferential processing by the memory system during encoding, leading to better memory for emotional events later on. The effects of emotion on memory encoding have been shown to be produced through amygdala modulation of the encoding of memory traces in the hippocampus and other regions of the medial temporal lobe (Cahill & McGaugh, 1998; Hamann, 2001). We investigated whether these processes differ in women and men, during the encoding of negative and positive scene stimuli. We used fMRI to examine women's and men's responses to the emotional stimuli as a function of whether each scene was later recalled or forgotten.

The emotional brain

Several brain regions have traditionally been implicated in making key contributions to emotional functions such perceiving and orienting to emotional stimuli, creating and assigning hedonic values to emotional stimuli, and producing and regulating emotional behavior. These regions—observed to reliably knock out emotional behaviors when lesioned in animal and human neuropsychiatric lesion studies, or to be reliably active in functional brain imaging of emotion include the amygdala, ventral striatum, orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, hypothalamus, anterior insula, and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (for reviews of emotional brain regions, see Dalgleish, 2004; Pessoa, 2008). Many of the brain regions implicated in emotion also possess a high density of gonadal hormone receptors, and are thus especially sensitive to sex differences in the internal hormonal milieu. Subcortical regions that are especially rich in gonadal hormone receptors include the hypothalamus, amygdala, and hippocampus; cortical regions include the anterior cingulate cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (Clark, Maclusky, & Goldman-Rakic, 1988; MacLusky, Naftolin, & Goldman-Rakic, 1986).

Although many brain regions contribute to processing an emotional experience, evidence supports the idea that the amygdala plays a central role in emotional functioning. Research on the neural substrates of fear conditioning, primarily conducted in rodents, has illustrated that plasticity in the amygdala directly mediates the acquisition and extinction of conditioned fear responses (for a review, see LeDoux, 2000). In humans, amygdala damage has been shown to impair physiological responses to stimuli that evoke emotional responses in participants with intact amygdalae (Glascher & Adolphs, 2003). Patients with amygdala damage have also shown impairments in acquiring autonomic arousal responses to conditioned fear stimuli (Bechara et al., 1995), and have difficulty recognizing emotional social signals such as facial expressions (Adolphs, 2003; Adolphs & Tranel, 1994). Thus it appears that an intact amygdala is necessary for many aspects of emotional functioning. A major goal of the current research was to characterize sex differences in emotional responses across the brain and, given the support for the amygdala's critical role in emotional processes, we focused on the amygdala in particular.

Sex differences in brain structure

Women's and men's brains exhibit differences in global structure, and in regions which are involved in emotional processing. Although men's brains are greater in overall volume, women possess a higher ratio of gray to white matter in most cortical region, (Allen, Damasio, Grabowski, Bruss, & Zhang, 2003; Good et al., 2001). Some evidence exists to suggest that structural dimorphisms may be present from birth, as male neonates have around 10% more cortical gray matter, white matter, and overall intracranial volume, similar to differences observed in adults (Gilmore et al., 2007). It is not yet clear whether global differences in neonates contribute to sex differences in emotion seen early in childhood (e.g., Davis & Emory, 1995; McManis et al., 2001). Global structural differences are not often interpreted in relation to specific functions, and may only indirectly inform our knowledge of sex differences in emotional processing.

Region-specific dimorphisms in brain structure have been more clearly linked to sex differences in emotional behavior. For example, the volume of the orbitofrontal cortex is larger in women than men (Gur, Gunning-Dixon, Bilker, & Gur, 2002). Moreover, the size of this region correlates with emotion regulation ability across individuals, and appears to mediate sex differences in emotion regulation (Welborn et al., 2009). Similar links between regional volume and emotional behavior have been demonstrated in the amygdala. Its volume correlates positively with circulating testosterone levels during adolescence (Neufang et al., 2009), and this correlation increases with physical sexual maturity during puberty (Bramen et al., 2011). Accordingly, men have greater gray matter volume than women in the amygdala bilaterally (Good et al., 2003; Neufang et al., 2009). Larger amygdala volumes have been associated with decrements in the ability to recognize fearful facial expressions (Good et al., 2003). Such sex differences in the structure of emotional brain regions are interesting because they suggest that gender substantially shapes the physical organization of the brain. In addition, regions that exhibit sexual dimorphisms in volume or composition, and are linked to emotional behaviors, may function differently in women and men.

Sex differences in emotion-related brain function

Among the few studies that have directly investigated the influence of sex on emotional brain function in humans, differences in brain activity can be observed even when women and men indicate feeling comparable levels of emotion. When emotional arousal levels are matched between women and men, such differences may be attributed to different types of processing or different cognitive styles (Hamann, 2005). Pleasant picture stimuli eliciting sex-matched levels of subjective or physiological arousal (e.g., skin conductance) evoke greater amygdala responses in men than women (Hamann, Herman, Nolan, & Wallen, 2004; Wrase et al., 2003). Recent evidence suggests that this phenomenon is not specific to the visual modality. When women and men indicated similar levels of subjective emotionality and detail in recalling emotional personal events, men displayed more BOLD activation in left parahippocampal gyrus, whereas women displayed more activation in right insula and right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Piefke, Weiss, Markowitsch, & Fink, 2005). Additionally, when smelling pleasant and unpleasant odors, both women and men show activation in bilateral insula and left amygdala, but women also show activation in left orbitofrontal gyrus (Royet, Plailly, Delon-Martin, Kareken, & Segebarth, 2003). Evidence that women and men recruit different sets of brain regions while reporting similar levels of emotion may suggest categorical differences in how the brain processes emotional stimuli, and not simple differences in the degree of arousal for women and men.

Functional brain imaging studies also suggest that sex-differential patterns of brain activity may depend on the emotional valence of stimuli. Women's enhanced sensitivity to unpleasant events appears to co-occur with enhanced brain responses to unpleasant events. In response to aversive stimuli, women evidence greater BOLD responses than men in medial prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex, primarily in the left hemisphere (Caseras et al., 2007; Domes et al., 2009; Fine, Semrud-Clikeman, & Zhu, 2009; George, Ketter, Parekh, Herscovitch, & Post, 1996; Wrase et al., 2003). Activation in these regions in women has been interpreted to reflect integration of emotional and attentional signals, and / or emotion regulation processes. Electroencephalographic studies also provide support for left-hemisphere lateralization of this effect—women show larger arousal-related responses than men during early processing, 100-200ms, only on left-hemisphere recording sites (Lithari et al., 2010; Proverbio, Adorni, Zani, & Trestianu, 2009). Trait defensiveness in women has been associated with an frontal asymmetry of the EEG signal that is left-lateralized (Kline, Allen, & Schwartz, 1998). Left-lateralized frontal responses may be a consistent feature of women's processing of negative emotional events. Neuroimaging studies have also identified enhanced negative affective responses in women in a variety of other cortical and subcortical regions including left middle temporal gyrus and right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Domes et al., 2009), right brainstem and putamen (George et al., 1996), and left parahippocampal gyrus (Hofer et al., 2007).

Some findings suggest that men show stronger neural activity than women specifically in response to positive emotional stimuli. Men show larger responses than women for pleasant affective stimuli in several emotion-related brain regions including left amygdala, and bilateral inferior and medial frontal gyri (Wrase et al., 2003). Neuroimaging studies also report that core emotional brain regions such as the amygdala and hypothalamus are activated when men view erotic stimuli (Beauregard, Levesque, & Bourgouin, 2001; Meseguer et al., 2007; Sabatinelli, Flaisch, Bradley, Fitzsimmons, & Lang, 2004; Walter, Stadler, Tempelmann, Speck, & Northoff, 2008), and these regions exhibit greater activity in response to erotic stimuli in men than women (Hamann et al., 2004; Sabatinelli et al., 2004). Pleasant stimuli do not, however, uniformly evoke larger responses in men than women, as some findings indicate larger positive affective responses in women than men in right posterior cingulate cortex and putamen (Hofer et al., 2006; Hofer et al., 2007), left prefrontal cortex (George et al., 1996; Hofer et al., 2006), and right superior temporal gyrus (Hofer et al., 2007). Furthermore, a recent meta-analytic review found that men reliably show greater right amygdala activation than women when recognizing negative and positive emotional facial expressions (Fusar-Poli et al., 2009), suggesting that men may show larger responses than women in certain brain regions regardless of whether an emotional stimulus is positive or negative. In summary, neuroimaging evidence supports the broad proposal that sex differences in patterns of emotional behavior mirror sex differences in patterns of brain functioning.

Sex differences in amygdala responses to emotional stimuli

The amygdala, in particular, has been implicated in contributing to differences in women' and men's emotional behavior (Hamann, 2005). In studies of negative emotion, neuroimaging evidence supports the idea that amygdala responses are enhanced in women relative to men. Several studies using aversive stimuli have demonstrated larger amygdala responses in female than male participants (Domes et al., 2009; Hofer et al., 2006; Wrase et al., 2003).

Although few studies have compared women and men's responses to pleasant stimuli, beginning evidence suggests a possible pattern of greater left amygdala activation in men than women. Men exhibit left-lateralized amygdala responses to positive emotional pictures (Hamann, Ely, Hoffman, & Kilts, 2002) and words (Hamann & Mao, 2002). Wrase and colleagues (2003) compared the amygdala responses of female and male participants and found that only men exhibit increases in amygdala responses for pleasant stimuli relative to neutral, whereas women do not exhibit increases in amygdala responses to pleasant stimuli. This study also observed that the left amygdala response to pleasant stimuli was greater in men than women (Wrase et al., 2003). However, this sex difference in left amygdala activation may not generalize to non-erotic positive emotion as the pleasant stimuli included erotic scenes, and has not been replicated in a more recent study of responses to pleasant scene stimuli (Hofer et al., 2006). Further, a study of sex differences in face processing reported greater right-hemisphere lateralization of amygdala responses in men than women who viewed happy facial expressions (Killgore & Yurgelun-Todd, 2001). Such findings suggest hemispheric laterality of amygdala responses may not be consistent, or may be influenced by stimulus modality (faces versus scenes). One recent study controlled for the effects of erotica using pleasant and unpleasant non-erotic pictures, and found that emotionally arousing scene stimuli, independent of positive or negative valence, elicited greater left amygdala activation in women than men, and greater right amygdala activation in men than women (Aikins, Anticevic, Kiehl, & Krystal, 2010).

Inconsistencies across studies of emotional experience point to a need for further research to resolve the influence of sex on amygdala activity. A recent meta-analysis attempted to resolve this issue by characterizing the pattern of findings across fMRI studies of emotional face processing (Fusar-Poli et al., 2009). Their results suggested that men were more likely than women to activate right amygdala in response to emotional face stimuli. Such findings leave open questions about what might be found in women's and men's brain responses to emotional stimuli other than faces, and whether sex differences are dependent upon the whether the emotional experience is pleasant or aversive. The meta-analysis described in Study 1 addresses these questions by testing for sex differences across 44 neuroimaging studies of women and 44 studies of men, across a variety of emotion elicitation tasks.

Sex differences in emotional processing networks

Sex differences in regional activation levels appear to be accompanied by sex differences in connectivity within the network of brain regions recruited during an emotional event. It is necessary to consider the activity of individual brain regions within the context of larger interactions among regions, as the many brain processes that contribute to a particular behavior or cognitive computation take place within circuits of interacting regions. Emotional processing and regulation behaviors are often related to a network of connections between medial-prefrontal cortex and the amygdala and other medial temporal regions (Pessoa, 2008). Several studies examining regions that interact with the amygdala during rest have found that in women, the left amygdala exhibits more widespread functional connectivity than the right, whereas in men the right amygdala exhibits more widespread functional connectivity than the left (Ciumas, Hirschberg, & Savic, 2009; Kilpatrick, Zald, Pardo, & Cahill, 2006; Savic & Lindstrom, 2008). The participation of the amygdala in different functional circuits for women and men suggests that this region may perform different computations or serve different functions in each sex, at rest. Although the amygdala forms a critical node of the network of emotional brain regions, no study has yet explored whether similar sex differences in emotion processing circuits connected with the amygdala are observed during the affective response. Study 2 tests this possibility using task-based functional connectivity analyses.

Sex differences in the amygdala contribution to episodic memory encoding

Amygdala activity during encoding correlates with subsequent memory for arousing events, but does not correlate with memory for neutral events (Cahill et al., 1996; Canli, Desmond, Zhao, Glover, & Gabrieli, 1998; Hamann, Ely, Grafton, & Kilts, 1999). Studies of the amygdala's contribution to emotional memory reveal clear sex differences. The correlation between amygdala activity and memory for negative stimuli occurs in the right amygdala in men, and the left amygdala in women (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill, Uncapher, Kilpatrick, Alkire, & Turner, 2004; Canli, Desmond, Zhao, & Gabrieli, 2002). Sex differences in the amygdala's contribution to memory for positive stimuli have not been examined previously. Study 3 measured the brain activity supporting memory for both positive and negative stimuli. The findings clarify whether the sex-specific hemispheric asymmetries observed previously may be extended more broadly to characterize the effects of both positive and negative emotion on memory formation in women and men.

Hypotheses

In study 1, among regions that support emotion, I predicted that the amygdala, thalamus, hypothalamus, ventral striatum, anterior cingulate, orbitofrontal cortex, and insula would exhibit sex differences, because they are densely populated with gonadal hormone receptors (Clark et al., 1988; MacLusky et al., 1986; Roselli, Klosterman, & Resko, 2001), and exhibited sex differences in functional neuroimaging studies (e.g., Hamann et al., 2004; Schienle, Schäfer, Stark, Walter, & Vaitl, 2005). Further, these regions were identified as more active in one sex than another in a previous meta-analysis that included a subset of the studies entering the current analysis (Wager, Phan, Liberzon, & Taylor, 2003).

The valence of an emotional stimulus may play an important role in determining the nature of sex differences in the brain response. Relative to men, women display stronger behavioral and physiological responses to negative stimuli, and this sex difference appears early in development (Bradley et al., 2001; Davis & Emory, 1995; McManis et al., 2001). We will test

the prediction that women will show larger brain responses than men in response to negative stimuli, but do not have specific expectations about the brain regions involved. Evidence from studies with sexual stimuli gives some suggestion that, relative to women, men may show stronger responses to positive, appetitive stimuli (Bradley et al., 2001; Chivers, Rieger, Latty, & Bailey, 2004; Taylor et al., 2000). We predict that men may show preferential responses to positive stimuli in amygdala and hypothalamus, as has been observed in studies of appetitive responses to erotic stimuli.

In study 2, I anticipated that there would be substantial overlap in the regions in which responses to positive and negative pictures differ for women and men, between the results of the meta-analytic results and the results of the fMRI study. In addition, I predicted that the amygdala would participate in different circuits in women and men during the initial response to an emotional stimulus.

In study 3, I predicted that emotional encoding would depend on different neural substrates in women and men, for both negative and positive items. I predicted that successful encoding of negative items would depend on the left amygdala to a greater degree in women than men, and the right amygdala to a greater degree in men than women, in line with previous findings (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill et al., 2004; Canli et al., 2002). As sex differences in the brain activity supporting encoding of positive items have not been examined, I had no explicit predictions about the regions whose activity might differ between women and men. The initial hypothesis was that the encoding of positive stimuli would be associated with similar neural activation as the encoding of negative stimuli.

References

- Aalto, S., Naatanen, P., Wallius, E., Metsahonkala, L., Stenman, H., Niemi, P. M., et al. (2002). Neuroanatomical substrata of amusement and sadness: a PET activation study using film stimuli. *Neuroreport*, 13(1), 67-73.
- Abel, K. M., Allin, M. P. G., Kucharska-Pietura, K., David, A., Andrew, C., Williams, S., et al. (2003). Ketamine alters neural processing of facial emotion recognition in healthy men: an fMRI study. *NeuroReport*, 14(3), 387-391.
- Abu-Akel, A. (2003). A neurobiological mapping of theory of mind. *Brain Research Reviews*, 43(1), 29-40.
- Adolphs, R. (2003). Cognitive neuroscience of human social behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 4*(3), 165-178.
- Adolphs, R., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., Cooper, G., & Damasio, A. R. (2000). A Role for Somatosensory Cortices in the Visual Recognition of Emotion as Revealed by Three-Dimensional Lesion Mapping. J. Neurosci., 20(7), 2683-2690.
- Adolphs, R., & Tranel, D. (1994). Impaired recognition of emotion in facial expressions following bilateral damage to the human amygdala. *Nature*, *372*(6507), 669.
- Aikins, D. E., Anticevic, A., Kiehl, K. A., & Krystal, J. H. (2010). Sex-related differences in amygdala activity influences immediate memory. *NeuroReport*, 21(4), 273-276.
- Allen, J. S., Damasio, H., Grabowski, T. J., Bruss, J., & Zhang, W. (2003). Sexual dimorphism and asymmetries in the gray-white composition of the human cerebrum. *NeuroImage*, 18(4), 880-894.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV-TR)* (4 ed.). Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association.
- Ashwin, C., Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., O'Riordan, M., & Bullmore, E. T. (2007). Differential activation of the amygdala and the `social brain' during fearful faceprocessing in Asperger Syndrome. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(1), 2-14.
- Baker, S. C., Frith, C. D., & Dolan, R. J. (1997). The interaction between mood and cognitive function studied with PET. *Psychological Medicine*, 27(03), 565-578.
- Beauregard, M., Chertkow, H., Bub, D., Murtha, S., Dixon, R., & Evans, A. (1997). The neural substrate for concrete, abstract, and emotional word lexica: A positron emission tomography study. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 9(4), 441-461.
- Beauregard, M., Levesque, J., & Bourgouin, P. (2001). Neural correlates of conscious selfregulation of emotion. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(18), 165RC-.
- Bechara, A., Tranel, D., Damasio, H., Adolphs, R., Rockland, C., & Damasio, A. R. (1995). Double dissociation of conditioning and declarative knowledge relative to the amygdala and hippocampus in humans. *Science*, 269(5227), 1115-1118.

- Benuzzi, F., Lui, F., Duzzi, D., Nichelli, P. F., & Porro, C. A. (2008). Does it look painful or disgusting? Ask your parietal and cingulate cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(4), 923-931.
- Birnbaum, D. W., Nosanchuk, T. A., & Croll, W. L. (1980). Children's stereotypes about sex differences in emotionality. *Sex Roles*, 6(3), 435-443.
- Blair, R. J. R., Morris, J. S., Frith, C. D., Perrett, D. I., & Dolan, R. J. (1999). Dissociable neural responses to facial expressions of sadness and anger. *Brain*, 122(5), 883-893.
- Botzung, A., Rubin, D. C., Miles, A., Cabeza, R., & LaBar, K. S. (2010). Mental Hoop Diaries: Emotional Memories of a College Basketball Game in Rival Fans. J. Neurosci., 30(6), 2130-2137.
- Bradley, M. M., Codispoti, M., Sabatinelli, D., & Lang, P. J. (2001). Emotion and motivation II: Sex differences in picture processing. *Emotion*, 1(3), 300-319.
- Bramen, J. E., Hranilovich, J. A., Dahl, R. E., Forbes, E. E., Chen, J., Toga, A. W., et al. (2011). Puberty influences medial temporal lobe and cortical gray matter maturation differently in boys than girls matched for sexual maturity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(3), 636-646.
- Breiter, H. C., Etcoff, N. L., Whalen, P. J., Kennedy, W. A., Rauch, S. L., Buckner, R. L., et al. (1996). Response and habituation of the human amygdala during visual processing of facial expression. *Neuron*, 17(5), 875-887.
- Buchanan, T. W., Lutz, K., Mirzazade, S., Specht, K., Shah, N. J., Zilles, K., et al. (2000). Recognition of emotional prosody and verbal components of spoken language: an fMRI study. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 9(3), 227-238.
- Buckner, R. L., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., & Schacter, D. L. (2008). The brain's default network. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1124(1), 1-38.
- Cahill, L. (2006). Why sex matters for neuroscience. Nat Rev Neurosci, 7(6), 477-484.
- Cahill, L., Haier, R. J., Fallon, J., Alkire, M. T., Tang, C., Keator, D., et al. (1996). Amygdala activity at encoding correlated with long-term, free recall of emotional information. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(15), 8016-8021.
- Cahill, L., Haier, R. J., White, N. S., Fallon, J., Kilpatrick, L., Lawrence, C., et al. (2001). Sexrelated difference in amygdala activity during emotionally influenced memory storage. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 75(1), 1-9.
- Cahill, L., & McGaugh, J. L. (1998). Mechanisms of emotional arousal and lasting declarative memory. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 21(7), 294-299.
- Cahill, L., Uncapher, M., Kilpatrick, L., Alkire, M. T., & Turner, J. (2004). Sex-related hemispheric lateralization of amygdala function in emotionally influenced memory: An fMRI investigation. *Learning & Memory*, 11(3), 261-266.

- Cahill, L., & van Stegeren, A. (2003). Sex-related impairment of memory for emotional events with beta-adrenergic blockade. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 79(1), 81-88.
- Canli, T., Desmond, J. E., Zhao, Z., & Gabrieli, J. D. E. (2002). Sex differences in the neural basis of emotional memories. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(16), 10789-10794.
- Canli, T., Desmond, J. E., Zhao, Z., Glover, G., & Gabrieli, J. D. E. (1998). Hemispheric asymmetry for emotional stimuli detected with fMRI. *Neuroreport*, 9(14), 3233-3239.
- Caseras, X., Mataix-Cols, D., An, S. K., Lawrence, N. S., Speckens, A., Giampietro, V., et al. (2007). Sex differences in neural responses to disgusting visual stimuli: Implications for disgust-related psychiatric disorders. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(5), 464-471.
- Chivers, M. L., Rieger, G., Latty, E., & Bailey, J. M. (2004). A sex difference in the specificity of sexual arousal. *Psychological Science*, *15*(11), 736-744.
- Chivers, M. L., Seto, M. C., Lalumiere, M. L., Laan, E., & Grimbos, T. (2009). Agreement of self-reported and genital measures of sexual arousal in men and women: A meta-analysis. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, Manuscript in press.
- Ciumas, C., Hirschberg, A. L., & Savic, I. (2009). High fetal testosterone and sexually dimorphic cerebral networks in females. *Cerebral Cortex, 19*, 1167-1174.
- Clark, A. S., Maclusky, N. J., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1988). Androgen binding and metabolism in the cerebral cortex of the developing rhesus monkey. *Endocrinology*, *123*(2), 932-940.
- Cooney, R. E. a., Joormann, J. b., Atlas, L. Y. a., Eugene, F. a., & Gotlib, I. H. a. (2007). Remembering the good times: neural correlates of affect regulation. *Neuroreport*, 18(17), 1771-1774.
- Critchley, H. D., Wiens, S., Rotshtein, P., Ohman, A., & Dolan, R. J. (2004). Neural systems supporting interoceptive awareness. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(2), 189-195.
- Dalgleish, T. (2004). The emotional brain. Nat Rev Neurosci, 5(7), 583-589.
- Damasio, A. R., Grabowski, T. J., Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Ponto, L. L. B., Parvizi, J., et al. (2000). Subcortical and cortical brain activity during the feeling of self-generated emotions. *Nat Neurosci*, 3(10), 1049-1056.
- Darwin, C. (1873). General Principles of Expression. In *Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals* (pp. 27-65). New York: D. Appleton.
- Davis, M., & Emory, E. (1995). Sex differences in neonatal stress reactivity. *Child Development*, 66(1), 14-27.
- Deckersbach, T., Rauch, S. L., Buhlmann, U., Ostacher, M. J., Beucke, J.-C., Nierenberg, A. A., et al. (2008). An fMRI investigation of working memory and sadness in females with bipolar disorder: a brief report. *Bipolar Disorders*, *10*(8), 928-942.

- Deeley, Q., Daly, E. M., Azuma, R., Surguladze, S., Giampietro, V., Brammer, M. J., et al. (2008). Changes in male brain responses to emotional faces from adolescence to middle age. *NeuroImage*, 40(1), 389-397.
- Denson, T. F., Pedersen, W. C., Ronquillo, J., & Nandy, A. S. (2009). The angry brain: Neural correlates of anger, angry rumination, and aggressive personality. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *21*(4), 734-744.
- Dolan, R. J., Fletcher, P., Morris, J., Kapur, N., Deakin, J. F. W., & Frith, C. D. (1996). Neural Activation during Covert Processing of Positive Emotional Facial Expressions. *NeuroImage*, 4(3), 194-200.
- Dolan, R. J., Lane, R., Chua, P., & Fletcher, P. (2000). Dissociable Temporal Lobe Activations during Emotional Episodic Memory Retrieval. *NeuroImage*, 11(3), 203-209.
- Domes, G., Schulze, L., Böttger, M., Grossmann, A., Hauenstein, K., Wirtz, P. H., et al. (2009). The neural correlates of sex differences in emotional reactivity and emotion regulation. *Human Brain Mapping*, 31(5), 758-769.
- Dougherty, D. D., Shin, L. M., Alpert, N. M., Pitman, R. K., Orr, S. P., Lasko, M., et al. (1999). Anger in healthy men: a PET study using script-driven imagery. *Biological Psychiatry*, *46*(4), 466-472.
- Eichenbaum, H., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2007). The medial temporal lobe and recognition memory. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *30*(1), 123-152.
- Eickhoff, S. B., Laird, A. R., Grefkes, C., Wang, L. E., Zilles, K., & Fox, P. T. (2009).
 Coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of neuroimaging data: A random-effects approach based on empirical estimates of spatial uncertainty. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(9), 2907-2926.
- Eickhoff, S. B., Stephan, K. E., Mohlberg, H., Grefkes, C., Fink, G. R., Amunts, K., et al. (2005). A new SPM toolbox for combining probabilistic cytoarchitectonic maps and functional imaging data. *NeuroImage*, 25(4), 1325-1335.
- Ekman, P. (1999). Basic emotions. In T. Dalgleish & M. Power (Eds.), *Handbook of Emotion and Cognition*. Sussex, U.K.: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Feldman Barrett, L., & Russell, J. A. (1999). The Structure of Current Affect: Controversies and Emerging Consensus. *Current Directions in Psychological Science (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 8(1), 10-14.
- Fernández-Guasti, A., Kruijver, F. P. M., Fodor, M., & Swaab, D. F. (2000). Sex differences in the distribution of androgen receptors in the human hypothalamus. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 425(3), 422-435.
- Fine, J. G., Semrud-Clikeman, M., & Zhu, D. C. (2009). Gender differences in BOLD activation to face photographs and video vignettes. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 201(1), 137-146.

- Fischer, A., & Manstead, A. S. R. (2000). The relation between gender and emotions in different cultures. In A. Fischer (Ed.), *Gender and Emotion: Social Psychological Perspectives*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Fischer, A., Rodriguez Mosquera, P. M., van Vianen, A. E. M., & Manstead, A. S. R. (2004). Gender and culture differences in emotion. *Emotion*, 4(1), 87-94.
- Frewen, P. A., Dozois, D. J. A., Neufeld, R. W. J., Densmore, M., Stevens, T. K., & Lanius, R. A. (in press). Neuroimaging social emotional processing in women: fMRI study of scriptdriven imagery. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, -.
- Frey, S., Kostopoulos, P., & Petrides, M. (2000). Orbitofrontal involvement in the processing of unpleasant auditory information. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *12*(10), 3709-3712.
- Friebel, U., Eickhoff, S. B., & Lotze, M. (2011). Coordinate-based meta-analysis of experimentally induced and chronic persistent neuropathic pain. *NeuroImage*, 58(4), 1070-1080.
- Fujita, F., Diener, E., & Sandvik, E. (1991). Gender differences in negative affect and well-being: The case for emotional intensity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(3), 427-434.
- Fusar-Poli, P., Placentino, A., Carletti, F., Landi, P., Allen, P., Surguladze, S., et al. (2009). Functional atlas of emotional faces processing: A voxel-based meta-analysis of 105 functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 34(6), 418-432.
- Gard, M. G., & Kring, A. M. (2007). Sex differences in the time course of emotion. *Emotion*, 7(2), 429-437.
- Genovese, C. R., Lazar, N. A., & Nichols, T. (2002). Thresholding of statistical maps in functional neuroimaging using the false discovery rate. *NeuroImage*, *15*(4), 870-878.
- George, M. S., Ketter, T. A., Parekh, P. I., Herscovitch, P., & Post, R. M. (1996). Gender differences in regional cerebral blood flow during transient self-induced sadness or happiness. *Biological Psychiatry*, 40(9), 859-871.
- George, M. S., Ketter, T. A., Parekh, P. I., Horwitz, B., Herscovitch, P., & Post, R. M. (1995). Brain activity during transient sadness and happiness in healthy women. *Am J Psychiatry*, *152*(3), 341-351.
- Gilmore, J. H., Lin, W., Prastawa, M. W., Looney, C. B., Vetsa, Y. S. K., Knickmeyer, R. C., et al. (2007). Regional gray matter growth, sexual dimorphism, and cerebral asymmetry in the neonatal brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*(6), 1255-1260.
- Glascher, J., & Adolphs, R. (2003). Processing of the arousal of subliminal and supraliminal emotional stimuli by the human amygdala. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(32), 10274-10282.

- Goldin, P. R., Hutcherson, C. A. C., Ochsner, K. N., Glover, G. H., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Gross, J. J. (2005). The neural bases of amusement and sadness: A comparison of block contrast and subject-specific emotion intensity regression approaches. *NeuroImage*, 27(1), 26-36.
- Goldin, P. R., McRae, K., Ramel, W., & Gross, J. J. (2008). The Neural Bases of Emotion Regulation: Reappraisal and Suppression of Negative Emotion. *Biological Psychiatry*, 63(6), 577-586.
- Good, C. D., Johnsrude, I., Ashburner, J., Henson, R. N. A., Friston, K. J., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (2001). Cerebral asymmetry and the effects of sex and handedness on brain structure: A voxel-based morphometric analysis of 465 normal adult human brains. *NeuroImage*, 14(3), 685-700.
- Good, C. D., Lawrence, K., Thomas, N. S., Price, C. J., Ashburner, J., Friston, K. J., et al. (2003). Dosage-sensitive X-linked locus influences the development of amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex, and fear recognition in humans. *Brain*, 126(11), 2431-2446.
- Goos, L. M., & Silverman, I. (2002). Sex related factors in the perception of threatening facial expressions. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 26(1), 27-41.
- Grossman, M., & Wood, W. (1993). Sex differences in intensity of emotional experience: A social role interpretation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(5), 1010-1022.
- Gur, R. C., Gunning-Dixon, F., Bilker, W. B., & Gur, R. E. (2002). Sex differences in temporolimbic and frontal brain volumes of healthy adults. *Cerebral Cortex*, 12(9), 998-1003.
- Habel, U., Klein, M., Kellermann, T., Shah, N. J., & Schneider, F. (2005). Same or different? Neural correlates of happy and sad mood in healthy males. *NeuroImage*, 26(1), 206-214.
- Hall, J. A. (1978). Gender effects in decoding nonverbal cues. *Psychological Bulletin*, 85(4), 845-857.
- Hall, J. A., Carter, J. D., & Horgan, T. E. (2000). Gender differences in nonverbal communication of emotion. In A. Fischer (Ed.), *Gender and Emotion: Social Psychological Perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hall, J. A., & Matsumoto, D. (2004). Gender differences in judgments of multiple emotions from facial expressions. *Emotion*, 4(2), 201-206.
- Hamann, S. (2001). Cognitive and neural mechanisms of emotional memory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 5(9), 394-400.
- Hamann, S. (2005). Sex differences in the responses of the human amygdala. *The Neuroscientist*, *11*(4), 288-293.
- Hamann, S., & Canli, T. (2004). Individual differences in emotion processing. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 14(2), 233-238.
- Hamann, S., Ely, T. D., Grafton, S. T., & Kilts, C. D. (1999). Amygdala activity related to enhanced memory for pleasant and aversive stimuli. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2(3), 289.

- Hamann, S., Ely, T. D., Hoffman, J. M., & Kilts, C. D. (2002). Ecstasy and agony: Activation of the human amygdala in positive and negative emotion. *Psychological Science*, 13(2), 135.
- Hamann, S., Herman, R. A., Nolan, C. L., & Wallen, K. (2004). Men and women differ in amygdala response to visual sexual stimuli. *Nat Neurosci*, 7(4), 411-416.
- Hamann, S., & Mao, H. (2002). Positive and negative emotional verbal stimuli elicit activity in the left amygdala. *Neuroreport*, 13(1), 15-19.
- Hampson, E., van Anders, S. M., & Mullin, L. I. (2006). A female advantage in the recognition of emotional facial expressions: Test of an evolutionary hypothesis. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 27(6), 401-416.
- Harenski, C. L., & Hamann, S. (2006). Neural correlates of regulating negative emotions related to moral violations. *NeuroImage*, *30*(1), 313-324.
- Herpertz, S. C., Dietrich, T. M., Wenning, B., Krings, T., Erberich, S. G., Willmes, K., et al. (2001). Evidence of abnormal amygdala functioning in borderline personality disorder: a functional MRI study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 50(4), 292-298.
- Herpertz, S. C., Huebner, T., Marx, I., Vloet, T. D., Fink, G. R., Stoecker, T., et al. (2008). Emotional processing in male adolescents with childhood-onset conduct disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(7), 781-791.
- Herz, R. S., Eliassen, J., Beland, S., & Souza, T. (2004). Neuroimaging evidence for the emotional potency of odor-evoked memory. *Neuropsychologia*, 42(3), 371-378.
- Hess, U., Senacal, S., Kirouac, G., Herrera, P., Philippot, P., & Kleck, R. E. (2000). Emotional expressivity in men and women: Stereotypes and self-perceptions. *Cognition & Emotion*, *14*(5), 609-642.
- Hessl, D., Rivera, S., Koldewyn, K., Cordeiro, L., Adams, J., Tassone, F., et al. (2007). Amygdala dysfunction in men with the fragile X premutation. *Brain*, *130*(2), 404-416.
- Hofer, A., Siedentopf, C. M., Ischebeck, A., Rettenbacher, M. A., Verius, M., Felber, S., et al. (2006). Gender differences in regional cerebral activity during the perception of emotion: A functional MRI study. *NeuroImage*, 32(2), 854-862.
- Hofer, A., Siedentopf, C. M., Ischebeck, A., Rettenbacher, M. A., Verius, M., Felber, S., et al. (2007). Sex differences in brain activation patterns during processing of positively and negatively valenced emotional words. *Psychological Medicine*, 37(01), 109-119.
- Killgore, W. D. S. C. A., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2001). Sex differences in amygdala activation during the perception of facial affect. *Neuroreport*, 12(11), 2543-2547.
- Kilpatrick, L. A., Zald, D. H., Pardo, J. V., & Cahill, L. F. (2006). Sex-related differences in amygdala functional connectivity during resting conditions. *NeuroImage*, 30(2), 452-461.
- Kline, J. P., Allen, J. J. B., & Schwartz, G. E. (1998). Is left frontal brain activation in defensiveness gender specific? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107(1), 149-153.

- Kosslyn, S. M., Shin, L. M., Thompson, W. L., McNally, R. J., Rauch, S. L., Pitman, R. K., et al. (1996). Neural effects of visualizing and perceiving aversive stimuli: a PET investigation. *NeuroReport*, 7(10), 1569-1576.
- Kring, A. M., & Gordon, A. H. (1998). Sex differences in emotion: Expression, experience, and physiology. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(3), 686-703.
- Kringelbach, M. L., & Rolls, E. T. (2003). Neural correlates of rapid reversal learning in a simple model of human social interaction. *NeuroImage*, 20(2), 1371-1383.
- Laird, A. R., Fox, P. M., Price, C. J., Glahn, D. C., Uecker, A. M., Lancaster, J. L., et al. (2005). ALE meta-analysis: Controlling the false discovery rate and performing statistical contrasts. *Human Brain Mapping*, 25(1), 155-164.
- Lancaster, J. L., Tordesillas-Gutiérrez, D., Martinez, M., Salinas, F., Evans, A., Zilles, K., et al. (2007). Bias between MNI and Talairach coordinates analyzed using the ICBM-152 brain template. *Human Brain Mapping*, 28(11), 1194-1205.
- Lane, R. D., Fink, G. R., Chau, P. M. L., & Dolan, R. J. (1997). Neural activation during selective attention to subjective emotional responses. *Neuroreport*, 8(18), 3969-3972.
- Lane, R. D., Reiman, E. M., Ahern, G. L., Schwartz, G. E., & Davidson, R. J. (1997). Neuroanatomical correlates of happiness, sadness, and disgust. *Am J Psychiatry*, 154(7), 926-933.
- Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., & Cuthbert, B. N. (1998). Emotion, motivation, and anxiety: Brain mechanisms and psychophysiology. *Biological Psychiatry*, 44(12), 1248-1263.
- Lange, K., Williams, L. M., Young, A. W., Bullmore, E. T., Brammer, M. J., Williams, S. C. R., et al. (2003). Task instructions modulate neural responses to fearful facial expressions. *Biological Psychiatry*, 53(3), 226-232.
- Leach, L. S., Christensen, H., Mackinnon, A. J., Windsor, T. D., & Butterworth, P. (2008). Gender differences in depression and anxiety across the adult lifespan: the role of psychosocial mediators. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 43(12), 983-998.
- LeDoux, J. E. (2000). Emotion circuits in the brain. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 23(1), 155-184.
- Lévesque, J., Eugène, F., Joanette, Y., Paquette, V., Mensour, B., Beaudoin, G., et al. (2003). Neural circuitry underlying voluntary suppression of sadness. *Biological Psychiatry*, 53(6), 502-510.
- Liberzon, I., Taylor, S., Fig, L., Decker, L., Koeppe, R., & Minoshima, S. (2000). Limbic activation and psychophysiologic responses to aversive visual stimuli. Interaction with cognitive task. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(5), 508-516.
- Liotti, M., Mayberg, H. S., Brannan, S. K., McGinnis, S., Jerabek, P., & Fox, P. T. (2000). Differential limbic-cortical correlates of sadness and anxiety in healthy subjects: implications for affective disorders. *Biological Psychiatry*, 48(1), 30-42.

- Lithari, C., Frantzidis, C., Papadelis, C., Vivas, A., Klados, M., Kourtidou-Papadeli, C., et al. (2010). Are females more responsive to emotional stimuli? A neurophysiological study across arousal and valence dimensions. *Brain Topography*, 23(1), 27-40.
- MacLusky, N. J., Naftolin, F., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1986). Estrogen formation and binding in the cerebral cortex of the developing rhesus monkey. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 83(2), 513-516.
- Maddock, R. J., Garrett, A. S., & Buonocore, M. H. (2003). Posterior cingulate cortex activation by emotional words: fMRI evidence from a valence decision task. *Human Brain Mapping*, 18(1), 30-41.
- Malhi, G. S., Lagopoulos, J., Sachdev, P. S., Ivanovski, B., Shnier, R., & Ketter, T. (2007). Is a lack of disgust something to fear? A functional magnetic resonance imaging facial emotion recognition study in euthymic bipolar disorder patients. *Bipolar Disorders*, *9*(4), 345-357.
- Malhi, G. S., Lagopoulos, J., Ward, P. B., Kumari, V., Mitchell, P. B., Parker, G. B., et al. (2004). Cognitive generation of affect in bipolar depression: an fMRI study. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(3), 741-754.
- Mayberg, H. S., Brannan, S. K., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., Brickman, J. S., Tekell, J. L., et al. (1997). Cingulate function in depression: a potential predictor of treatment response. *NeuroReport*, 8(4), 1057-1061.
- Mayberg, H. S., Liotti, M., Brannan, S. K., McGinnis, S., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., et al. (1999). Reciprocal Limbic-Cortical Function and Negative Mood: Converging PET Findings in Depression and Normal Sadness. *Am J Psychiatry*, 156(5), 675-682.
- McClure, E. B. (2000). A meta-analytic review of sex differences in facial expression processing and their development in infants, children, and adolescents. *Psychological Bulletin*, *126*(3), 424-453.
- McClure, E. B., Monk, C. S., Nelson, E. E., Zarahn, E., Leibenluft, E., Bilder, R. M., et al. (2004). A developmental examination of gender differences in brain engagement during evaluation of threat. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55(11), 1047-1055.
- McLean, J., Brennan, D., Wyper, D., Condon, B., Hadley, D., & Cavanagh, J. (2009). Localisation of regions of intense pleasure response evoked by soccer goals. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 171(1), 33-43.
- McManis, M. H., Bradley, M. M., Berg, W. K., Cuthbert, B. N., & Lang, P. J. (2001). Emotional reactions in children: Verbal, physiological, and behavioral responses to affective pictures. *Psychophysiology*, 38(02), 222-231.
- McRae, K., Ochsner, K. N., Mauss, I. B., Gabrieli, J. J. D., & Gross, J. J. (2008). Gender differences in emotion regulation: An fMRI study of cognitive reappraisal. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 11(2), 143-162.

- Mériau, K., Wartenburger, I., Kazzer, P., Prehn, K., Villringer, A., van der Meer, E., et al. (2009). Insular activity during passive viewing of aversive stimuli reflects individual differences in state negative affect. *Brain and Cognition*, 69(1), 73-80.
- Meseguer, V., Romero, M. J., Barrós-Loscertales, A., Belloch, V., Bosch-Morell, F., Romero, J., et al. (2007). Mapping the appetitive and aversive systems with emotional pictures using a block-design fMRI procedure. *Psicothema*, *19*(3), 483-488.
- Mitterschiffthaler, M. T., Kumari, V., Malhi, G. S., Brown, R. G., Giampietro, V. P., Brammer, M. J., et al. (2003). Neural response to pleasant stimuli in anhedonia: an fMRI study. *Neuroreport*, 14(2), 177-182.
- Montag, C., Reuter, M., Newport, B., Elger, C., & Weber, B. (2008). The BDNF Val66Met polymorphism affects amygdala activity in response to emotional stimuli: Evidence from a genetic imaging study. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1554-1559.
- Morris, J. S., Scott, S. K., & Dolan, R. J. (1999). Saying it with feeling: neural responses to emotional vocalizations. *Neuropsychologia*, *37*(10), 1155-1163.
- Mouras, H., Stoléru, S., Bittoun, J., Glutron, D., Pélégrini-Issac, M., Paradis, A.-L., et al. (2003). Brain processing of visual sexual stimuli in healthy men: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *NeuroImage*, 20(2), 855-869.
- Nakamura, K., Kawashima, R., Ito, K., Sugiura, M., Kato, T., Nakamura, A., et al. (1999). Activation of the Right Inferior Frontal Cortex During Assessment of Facial Emotion. J Neurophysiol, 82(3), 1610-1614.
- Neufang, S., Specht, K., Hausmann, M., Gunturkun, O., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Fink, G. R., et al. (2009). Sex differences and the impact of steroid hormones on the developing human brain. *Cerebral Cortex*, 19(2), 464-473.
- Nielen, M. M. A., Heslenfeld, D. J., Heinen, K., Van Strien, J. W., Witter, M. P., Jonker, C., et al. (2009). Distinct brain systems underlie the processing of valence and arousal of affective pictures. *Brain and Cognition*, 71(3), 387-396.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2001). Gender Differences in Depression. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *10*(5), 173-176.
- Ottowitz, W. E., Dougherty, D. D., Sirota, A., Niaura, R., Rauch, S. L., & Brown, W. A. (2004). Neural and Endocrine Correlates of Sadness In Women: Implications for Neural Network Regulation of HPA Activity. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 16*(4), 446-455.
- Pessoa, L. (2008). On the relationship between emotion and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9(2), 148-158.
- Phillips, M. L., Williams, L. M., Heining, M., Herba, C. M., Russell, T., Andrew, C., et al. (2004). Differential neural responses to overt and covert presentations of facial expressions of fear and disgust. *NeuroImage*, 21(4), 1484-1496.

- Phillips, M. L., Young, A. W., Scott, S. K., Calder, A. J., Andrew, C., Giampietro, V., et al. (1998). Neural responses to facial and vocal expressions of fear and disgust (Vol. 265). London: Royal Society of London.
- Piefke, M., Weiss, P. H., Markowitsch, H. J., & Fink, G. R. (2005). Gender differences in the functional neuroanatomy of emotional episodic autobiographical memory. *Human Brain Mapping*, 24(4), 313-324.
- Proverbio, A. M., Adorni, R., Zani, A., & Trestianu, L. (2009). Sex differences in the brain response to affective scenes with or without humans. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(12), 2374-2388.
- Rauch, S. L., Shin, L. M., Dougherty, D. D., Alpert, N. M., Orr, S. P., Lasko, M., et al. (1999). Neural activation during sexual and competitive arousal in healthy men. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 91(1), 1-10.
- Ray, R., Ochsner, K., Cooper, J., Robertson, E., Gabrieli, J., & Gross, J. (2005). Individual differences in trait rumination and the neural systems supporting cognitive reappraisal. *Cognitive, Affective, & amp; Behavioral Neuroscience, 5*(2), 156-168.
- Reiman, E. M., Lane, R. D., Ahern, G. L., Schwartz, G. E., Davidson, R. J., Friston, K. J., et al. (1997). Neuroanatomical correlates of externally and internally generated human emotion. *Am J Psychiatry*, 154(7), 918-925.
- Reker, M., Ohrmann, P., Rauch, A. V., Kugel, H., Bauer, J., Dannlowski, U., et al. (2010). Individual differences in alexithymia and brain response to masked emotion faces. *Cortex*, 46(5), 658-667.
- Roselli, C. E., Klosterman, S., & Resko, J. A. (2001). Anatomic relationships between aromatase and androgen receptor mRNA expression in the hypothalamus and amygdala of adult male cynomolgus monkeys. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *439*(2), 208-223.
- Royet, J.-P., Plailly, J., Delon-Martin, C., Kareken, D. A., & Segebarth, C. (2003). FMRI of emotional responses to odors: Influence of hedonic valence and judgment, handedness, and gender. *NeuroImage*, 20(2), 713-728.
- Royet, J.-P., Zald, D., Versace, R., Costes, N., Lavenne, F., Koenig, O., et al. (2000). Emotional Responses to Pleasant and Unpleasant Olfactory, Visual, and Auditory Stimuli: a Positron Emission Tomography Study. J. Neurosci., 20(20), 7752-7759.
- Sabatinelli, D. C. A., Flaisch, T., Bradley, M. M., Fitzsimmons, J. R., & Lang, P. J. (2004). Affective picture perception: Gender differences in visual cortex? *Neuroreport*, 15(7), 1109-1112.
- Salimi-Khorshidi, G., Smith, S. M., Keltner, J. R., Wager, T. D., & Nichols, T. E. (2009). Metaanalysis of neuroimaging data: A comparison of image-based and coordinate-based pooling of studies. *NeuroImage*, 45(3), 810-823.
- Savic, I., & Lindstrom, P. (2008). PET and MRI show differences in cerebral asymmetry and functional connectivity between homo- and heterosexual subjects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(27), 9403-9408.

- Schienle, A., Schäfer, A., Hermann, A., Rohrmann, S., & Vaitl, D. (2007). Symptom provocation and reduction in patients suffering from spider phobia. *European Archives of Psychiatry* and Clinical Neuroscience, 257(8), 486-493.
- Schienle, A., Schäfer, A., Hermann, A., Walter, B., Stark, R., & Vaitl, D. (2006). fMRI responses to pictures of mutilation and contamination. *Neuroscience Letters*, 393(2-3), 174-178.
- Schienle, A., Schäfer, A., Stark, R., Walter, B., & Vaitl, D. (2005). Gender differences in the processing of disgust- and fear-inducing pictures: an fMRI study. *Neuroreport*, 16(3), 277-280.
- Schienle, A., Stark, R., Walter, B., Blecker, C., Ott, U., Kirsch, P., et al. (2002). The insula is not specifically involved in disgust processing: an fMRI study. *NeuroReport*, 13(16), 2023-2026.
- Schirmer, A., Escoffier, N., Li, Q. Y., Li, H., Wilson, J. S., & Li, W. I. (2008). What grabs his attention but not hers? Estrogen correlates with neurophysiological measures of vocal change detection. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 33(6), 718-727.
- Schirmer, A., Striano, T., & Friederici, A. D. (2005). Sex differences in the preattentive processing of vocal emotional expressions. *NeuroReport*, *16*(6), 635-639.
- Seidlitz, L., & Diener, E. (1998). Sex differences in the recall of affective experiences. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(1), 262-271.
- Sergerie, K., Chochol, C., & Armony, J. L. (2008). The role of the amygdala in emotional processing: A quantitative meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging studies. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32(4), 811-830.
- Sharp, C., Van Goozen, S., & Goodyer, I. (2006). Children's subjective emotional reactivity to affective pictures: Gender differences and their antisocial correlates in an unselected sample of 7–11-year-olds. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(2), 143-150.
- Shin, L. M., Dougherty, D. D., Orr, S. P., Pitman, R. K., Lasko, M., Macklin, M. L., et al. (2000). Activation of anterior paralimbic structures during guilt-related script-driven imagery. *Biological Psychiatry*, 48(1), 43-50.
- Shirao, N., Okamoto, Y., Okada, G., Ueda, K., & Yamawaki, S. (2005). Gender differences in brain activity toward unpleasant linguistic stimuli concerning interpersonal relationships: an fMRI study. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 255(5), 327-333.
- Siegle, G. J., Steinhauer, S. R., Thase, M. E., Stenger, V. A., & Carter, C. S. (2002). Can't shake that feeling: Event-related fMRI assessment of sustained amygdala activity in response to emotional information in depressed individuals. *Biological Psychiatry*, 51(9), 693-707.
- Siessmeier, T., Kienast, T., Wrase, J., Larsen, J. L., Braus, D. F., Smolka, M. N., et al. (2006). Net influx of plasma 6-[^18F]fluoro-L-DOPA (FDOPA) to the ventral striatum correlates with prefrontal processing of affective stimuli. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(1), 305-313.

- Squire, L. R., Wixted, J. T., & Clark, R. E. (2007). Recognition memory and the medial temporal lobe: A new perspective. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 8(11), 872-883.
- Stark, R., Schienle, A., Walter, B., Kirsch, P., Blecker, C., Ott, U., et al. (2004). Hemodynamic Effects of Negative Emotional Pictures â€' A Test-Retest Analysis. *Neuropsychobiology*, 50(1), 108-118.
- Tabert, M. H., Borod, J. C., Tang, C. Y., Lange, G., Wei, T. C., Johnson, R., et al. (2001). Differential amygdala activation during emotional decision and recognition memory tasks using unpleasant words: an fMRI study. *Neuropsychologia*, 39(6), 556-573.
- Talairach, J., & Tournoux, P. (1988). Co-planar stereotaxic atlas of the human brain: 3dimensional proportional system: an approach to cerebral imaging (M. Rayport, Trans.). New York: Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc.
- Taylor, S. E., Klein, L. C., Lewis, B. P., Gruenewald, T. L., Gurung, R. A. R., & Updegraff, J. A. (2000). Biobehavioral responses to stress in females: Tend-and-befriend, not fight-orflight. *Psychological Review*, 107(3), 411-429.
- Thomsen, D. K., Mehlsen, M. Y., Viidik, A., Sommerlund, B., & Zachariae, R. (2005). Age and gender differences in negative affect--Is there a role for emotion regulation? *Personality and Individual Differences*, *38*(8), 1935-1946.
- Trautmann, S. A., Fehr, T., & Herrmann, M. (2009). Emotions in motion: Dynamic compared to static facial expressions of disgust and happiness reveal more widespread emotionspecific activations. *Brain Research*, 1284, 100-115.
- Vogt, B. A., Finch, D. M., & Olson, C. R. (1992). Functional Heterogeneity in Cingulate Cortex: The Anterior Executive and Posterior Evaluative Regions. *Cereb. Cortex*, 2(6), 435-a-443.
- Vytal, K., & Hamann, S. (2010). Neuroimaging Support for Discrete Neural Correlates of Basic Emotions: A Voxel-based Meta-analysis. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(12), 2864-2885.
- Wager, T. D., Phan, K. L., Liberzon, I., & Taylor, S. F. (2003). Valence, gender, and lateralization of functional brain anatomy in emotion: A meta-analysis of findings from neuroimaging. *NeuroImage*, 19(3), 513-531.
- Walter, M., Stadler, J., Tempelmann, C., Speck, O., & Northoff, G. (2008). High resolution fMRI of subcortical regions during visual erotic stimulation at 7 T. *Magnetic Resonance Materials in Physics, Biology and Medicine, 21*(1), 103-111.
- Welborn, B. L., Papademetris, X., Reis, D. L., Rajeevan, N., Bloise, S. M., & Gray, J. R. (2009). Variation in orbitofrontal cortex volume: Relation to sex, emotion regulation and affect. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 4(4), 328-339.
- Wicker, B., Keysers, C., Plailly, J., Royet, J.-P., Gallese, V., & Rizzolatti, G. (2003). Both of Us Disgusted in My Insula: The Common Neural Basis of Seeing and Feeling Disgust. *Neuron*, 40(3), 655-664.
- Williams, L. M., Phillips, M. L., Brammer, M. J., Skerrett, D., Lagopoulos, J., Rennie, C., et al. (2001). Arousal Dissociates Amygdala and Hippocampal Fear Responses: Evidence from Simultaneous fMRI and Skin Conductance Recording. *NeuroImage*, 14(5), 1070-1079.
- Wrase, J., Klein, S., Gruesser, S. M., Hermann, D., Flor, H., Mann, K., et al. (2003). Gender differences in the processing of standardized emotional visual stimuli in humans: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, 348(1), 41-45.
- Wright, P., Albarracin, D., Brown, R. D., Li, H., He, G., & Liu, Y. (2008). Dissociated responses in the amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex to bottom-up and top-down components of emotional evaluation. *NeuroImage*, 39(2), 894-902.
- Zald, D. H., & Pardo, J. V. (1997). Emotion, olfaction, and the human amygdala: Amygdala activation during aversive olfactory stimulation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(8), 4119-4124.
- Zink, C. F., Stein, J. L., Kempf, L., Hakimi, S., & Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2010). Vasopressin modulates medial prefrontal cortex-amygdala circuitry during emotion processing in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(20), 7017-7022.

Chapter 2

Sex differences in brain activation to emotional stimuli: A meta-analysis of

neuroimaging studies

This chapter presents work published as: Stevens, J.S., & Hamann, S. (2012). Sex differences in brain activation to emotional stimuli: A meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. *Neuropsychologia*. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.03.011.

2.1 Abstract

Substantial sex differences in emotional responses and perception have been reported in previous psychological and psychophysiological studies. For example, women have been found to respond more strongly to negative emotional stimuli, a sex difference that has been linked to an increased risk of depression and anxiety disorders. The extent to which such sex differences are reflected in corresponding differences in regional brain activation remains a largely unresolved issue, however, in part because relatively few neuroimaging studies have addressed this issue. Here, by conducting a quantitative meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies, we were able to substantially increase statistical power to detect sex differences relative to prior studies, by combining emotion studies which explicitly examined sex differences with the much larger number of studies that examined only women or men. We used an activation likelihood estimation approach to characterize sex differences in the likelihood of regional brain activation elicited by emotional stimuli relative to non-emotional stimuli. We examined sex differences separately for negative and positive emotions, in addition to examining all emotions combined. Sex differences varied markedly between negative and positive emotion studies. The majority of sex differences favoring women were observed for negative emotion, whereas the majority of the sex differences favoring men were observed for positive emotion. This valence-specificity was particularly evident for the amygdala. For negative emotion, women exhibited greater activation than men in the left amygdala, as well as in other regions including the left thalamus, hypothalamus, mammillary bodies, left caudate, and medial prefrontal cortex. In contrast, for positive emotion, men exhibited greater activation than women in the left amygdala, as well as greater activation in other regions including the bilateral inferior frontal gyrus and right fusiform gyrus. These meta-analysis findings indicate that the amygdala, a key region for emotion processing, exhibits valence-dependent sex differences in activation to emotional stimuli. The greater left amygdala response to negative emotion for women accords with previous reports that women respond more strongly to negative emotional stimuli, as well as with hypothesized links

29

between increased neurobiological reactivity to negative emotion and increased prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders in women. The finding of greater left amygdala activation for positive emotional stimuli in men suggests that greater amygdala responses reported previously for men for specific types of positive stimuli may also extend to positive stimuli more generally. In summary, this study extends efforts to characterize sex differences in brain activation during emotion processing by providing the largest and most comprehensive quantitative meta-analysis to date, and for the first time examining sex differences as a function of positive vs. negative emotional valence. The current findings highlight the importance of considering sex as a potential factor modulating emotional processing and its underlying neural mechanisms, and more broadly, the need to consider individual differences in understanding the neurobiology of emotion.

2.2 Introduction

Among the many psychological differences between men and women, sex differences in emotion have long held special interest for scientists and laypersons alike. In contrast to popular conceptions of sex differences, for example, of women as being uniformly more emotionally responsive than men, empirical studies of affective behavior and psychophysiology have yielded a more complex and nuanced picture. Empirical studies have reported differences between women and men in their psychological and physiological responses to wide range of emotional stimuli. For example, women have been reported to respond more expressively than men to emotional stimuli, to report feeling more emotion, and to display heightened physiological arousal responses (Bradley et al., 2001; Grossman & Wood, 1993; Kring & Gordon, 1998). However, the empirical literature remains somewhat inconsistent regarding the nature of these affective sex differences, and the magnitude of observed sex differences has varied widely across studies (Bradley et al., 2001).

A key dimension of emotion that may help explain variability in the experimental literature on affective sex differences is valence, that is, whether an emotion is positive (pleasant) or negative (unpleasant). Sex differences for studies involving negative emotions have been demonstrated more consistently and have been larger on average relative to positive emotions (e.g., Bradley et al., 2001; Davis & Emory, 1995; McManis et al., 2001; Sharp et al., 2006; Thomsen et al., 2005). Women's affective responses to negative emotional stimuli have been of particular interest because enhanced responses to negative emotional stimuli and stressors have been theorized to contribute to mechanisms underlying the greater prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders in women (Leach et al., 2008; Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001; Thomsen et al., 2005).

Fewer studies have investigated sex differences in the context of positive emotions. Although there is currently little evidence to suggest the existence of sex differences in affective responses to positive stimuli in general, limited evidence suggests that men are more emotionally aroused by visual erotica, showing higher subjective ratings of affect and greater skin conductance responses (Bradley et al., 2001; Chivers et al., 2010).

These affective sex differences in behavioral and physiological responses ultimately arise from differences in brain activity, and thus to fully understand these differences it is necessary to investigate their neural basis. The extent to which sex differences in emotional response are reflected in regional brain activation as assessed by neuroimaging methods remains a largely open question, however. This is in part because only a small number of neuroimaging studies to date have investigated sex differences in emotional responses by directly comparing women and men's emotional and neural responses to the same stimuli. Meta-analytic methods can help overcome these limitations, by allowing the much larger emotion neuroimaging literature comprised of studies of only one sex to be combined with and augment the smaller literature of studies that have directly compared men and women within the same experiment.

Accordingly, we conducted a quantitative meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of emotion, that allowed us to substantially increase statistical power to detect sex differences by combining emotion studies that explicitly examined sex differences with the much larger number of studies that examined only one sex. We used a voxel-based meta-analysis approach (Activation Likelihood Estimation, ALE; Eickhoff et al., 2009) to characterize sex differences in the likelihood of regional brain activation elicited by emotional stimuli relative to non-emotional stimuli. Because we hypothesized that sex differences would differ by valence, we examined sex differences separately for positive and negative emotions, in addition to examining differences across all emotions combined. To our knowledge, all previous neuroimaging meta-analyses examining sex differences in emotion have combined positive and negative stimuli together when contrasting women and men, precluding examination of sex differences that vary by emotional valence.

The current study used ALE to synthesize and analyze neuroimaging results bearing on sex differences in emotional brain responses. Among regions that support emotion, we predicted

that the amygdala, hypothalamus, ventral striatum, anterior cingulate, orbitofrontal cortex, and insula would exhibit sex differences, on the basis of previous neuroimaging studies of sex differences in emotional responses (e.g., Hamann et al., 2004; Schienle et al., 2005; Wrase et al., 2003) and on the distribution of gonadal hormone receptors in the brain (Clark et al., 1988; MacLusky et al., 1986; Roselli et al., 2001). We predicted that sex differences in brain response would differ by emotional valence, with women showing increased activation likelihood in regions associated with emotion, for negative but not for positive emotion. As noted previously, men have been found to be more responsive to specific types of appetitive, positive emotional stimuli and therefore would be expected to show increased activation likelihood for positive emotion. However, because considerably less evidence supports the view that men are more responsive to positive stimuli, our predictions for such increased activations for men were more tentative than our corresponding predictions for women.

2.3 Methods

Study selection

To help ensure a representative sample of emotion studies, we used relatively broad inclusion criteria to select studies for inclusion in the analysis. Neuroimaging contrasts contributing to the analysis spanned a variety of types of stimuli and specific emotions (see Table 1 and Figure 1). For example, several studies included in the analysis examined emotional responses to affectively pleasant or unpleasant stimuli, whereas other studies examined responses to specific emotions such as anger, disgust, fear, happiness or sadness (Table 1 and Figure 2a).

Candidate studies were selected through searches of PubMed and ISI Web of Science, for publication years 1990 – June 2010, to cover the period of investigation from the earliest PET and fMRI studies of healthy emotional brain function in the early 1990's through the present day. The search was restricted to English language studies with human participants. Search terms were applied to all fields: "emotions" OR "emotion" AND ("magnetic resonance imaging" OR "fMRI" OR "PET"). The search yielded 2473 studies. From among this group of studies, we included only those which reported maximal coordinates from female-only and/or male-only samples, and reported coordinates for whole-brain activation maxima in either Talairach space (Talairach & Tournoux, 1988) or Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space. No coordinates from ROI analyses were included. Data from patient groups, and participants under the age of 18 or over the age of 55 were excluded. Studies were included only if the experimental task elicited emotion, and included no significant component of other types of cognition such as reasoning. Data was included from studies that examined negative emotions, positive emotions, or a combination of several emotions. In total, 44 studies of women and 44 studies of men contributed one or more sets of activation maxima to the current meta-analysis (a 147% increase in the number of studies since the most recent comparable meta-analysis; Wager et al., 2003). Data for women and men were extracted from within-groups results (women-only, or men-only) and no data from comparisons between women and men were included in the meta-analyses. Table 2 summarizes the characteristics of the data set.

Emotions evoked in each neuroimaging study were classified as Negative if they were either specific emotions commonly classified in the emotion literature as negative in affective valence, such as anger, fear, disgust, guilt, or sadness, or were reported as having significantly negative valence in the original study from which the emotion contrast was selected. The corresponding classification for the Positive emotion condition included responses to pleasant, emotionally arousing stimuli, including responses to erotic stimuli, as well stimuli eliciting happiness or amusement. Task conditions that were not specifically associated with emotional responses were omitted. In addition studies of fear conditioning or appetitive conditioning were not included, because these tasks include a significant learning component. No studies of reasoning about emotional situations (e.g., moral dilemmas, theory of mind tasks, empathy tasks) were included, because these tasks include a significant reasoning component. Neuroeconomic studies involving gambling tasks or social games were not included, because they involve a significant decision-making component. Studies of surprise were also omitted, primarily because of the small number of relevant neuroimaging studies. No studies of hunger, thirst, pain, visceral stimulation, were included, because they involved more basic motivational processes. Deactivations associated with emotion were not included, because few relevant studies have reported deactivations and the interpretation of relative deactivations is relatively unclear in comparison with activations. Each set of activation maxima represented a contrast between an emotionally arousing condition versus a non-emotional baseline condition.

		Val	ence	2	Ν		
Study	Year	Pos	Neg	Combined	Female	Male	Experimental contrast(s)
George	1995		x	·	11		autobio recall + faces: sadness > neutral
Breiter	1996	х	х			10	faces: fear $>$ neutral; happy $>$ neutral
Dolan	1996	х				8	faces: happy > neutral
George	1996	х	х		10	10	autobio recall + faces: sadness > neutral;
e							happiness > neutral
Kosslyn	1996		х			7	pictures: negative > neutral;
2							mental imagery: negative > neutral
Baker	1997	х	х			10	moods elicited before scan:
							negative (script-driven imagery + music +
social							
							interaction) > neutral;
							positive (script-driven imagery + music +
social							
							interaction + monetary gift) > neutral
Beauregard	1997			х		10	words: emotional > fixation
Lane	1997	х	х		12		films + autobio recall: disgust > neutral;
							sadness $>$ neutral; happiness $>$ neutral
Lane	1997	х	х		12		pictures: negative > neutral; positive >
neutral							1
Reiman	1997			х	12		films: emotion > neutral:
							autobio recall: emotion > neutral
Zald	1997		х		12		odors: negative > no scent
Phillips	1998		х			6	faces: disgust $>$ neutral: fear $>$ neutral:
P ~						-	prosody: disgust $>$ neutral: fear $>$ neutral
Tavlor	1998		x		8		pictures: negative $>$ neutral
Blair	1999		x			13	faces: anger $>$ neutral: negative $>$ neutral
Dougherty	1999		x			8	autobio recall: anger > neutral
Mayberg	1999		x		8	0	autobio recall: sadness $>$ fixation
Morris	1999		x	x	0	6	prosody: emotion > neutral: fear > neutral
Nakamura	1999			x		7	faces: emotion discrim > background
color discrim	1777			А		,	nees. emotion disernin. > buckground
Rauch	1999	x				8	autobio recall: positive erotic $>$ neutral:
1100011						0	positive nonerotic $>$ neutral
Buchanan	2000	x	x	x		10	prosody: emotional > fixation: happy >
fixation:	2000					10	prosody: emotional / mation, mppy /
initation,							sad > fixation
Dolan	2000			x		10	picture retrieval: emotional > neutral
Frev	2000		x	A	11	10	environmental sounds: negative > neutral
Liberzon	2000		л v		10		nictures: negative > neutral
Liotti	2000		л v		8		autobio recall: sadness > neutral
Rovet	2000		л	v	0	12	adtoblo recail: satisfies > neutral:
Royei	2000			Λ		12	pictures; amotion > poutral;
							pictures. emotion > neutral
Chin	2000					0	sounds: emotion > neutral
Shin	2000		х			8	autobio recaii: guilt > neutrai
Beauregard	2001	х			<i>.</i>	10	films: erotic > neutral
Herpertz	2001		х		6		pictures: negative > neutral
Tabert	2001		х		9		words: negative > neutral
Williams	2001		х			11	faces: fear > neutral
Aalto	2002	х	х		11		films: sad > neutral; amusing > neutral
Canli	2002		х		12	12	pictures: correlation with increasing
arousal							
Hamann	2002(a)	х	Х		14	words: negative > neutral; positive >
neutral							
Hamann	2002(b)	х	Х		9	pictures: negative > neutral; positive >
neutral							
Schienle	2002		х		12		pictures: disgust > neutral; fear > neutral
Abel	2003		х			8	faces: fear > neutral

Table 1Studies included in the meta-analysis

Study	Year	Pos	Neg	Combined	Female	Male	Experimental contrast(s)
Lange	2003		Х			9	faces: fear > neutral
Levesque	2003		Х		20		films: sadness > neutral
Mitterschiffthale	er 2003	х			7		pictures: positive > neutral
Mouras	2003	х				8	pictures: erotic > neutral
Royet	2003	х	х		14	14	odors: negative > no scent; positive > no
scent							
Wicker	2003	х	х			14	odors: disgust > no scent;
							dynamic faces: disgust $>$ neutral
Wrase	2003	x	x		10	10	pictures: negative > neutral: positive >
neutral							F, F, F
Cahill	2004		x		11	12	pictures: correlation with increasing
arousal	200.						protonoon contention with mercubing
Herz	2004			x	5		odors: $emotion > neutral$
Malhi	2004	v	v	A	10		captioned pictures: negative $>$ neutral:
Iviann	2004	л	л		10		positive > neutral
McClure	2004		v		Q	0	f_{acas} : anger > fixation: fear > fixation
Ottowitz	2004		A V		0	7	sorint driven imagenty sodness > neutral
Dhilling	2004		х 		0	o	for a second discuss > neutral for > neutral
Phillips	2004		X			8	laces: disgust > neutral; lear > neutral
Stark	2004		Х		12	24	pictures: disgust > neutral; lear > neutral
Goldin	2005	х	Х		13		films: sadness > neutral; amusement >
neutral							
Habel	2005	х	х			26	faces: sadness > gender descrim.;
							happiness > gender descrim.
Schienle	2005		Х		63		pictures: disgust > neutral; fear > neutral
Shirao	2005		Х		13		words: negative > neutral
Harenski	2006		Х		10		pictures: negative (moral) > fixation;
							negative (non-moral) > fixation
Hofer	2006	х	Х		19	19	pictures: negative > neutral; positive >
neutral							
Schienle	2006		Х		12		pictures: fear > neutral
Siessmeier	2006			Х		13	pictures: emotional > neutral
Ashwin	2007		х			13	faces: fear + neutral > scrambled
Cooney	2007		х		14		films: sad > fixation
Hessl	2007		х			13	faces: fear > scrambled
Hofer	2007	х	х		19	19	verbal: negative words > nonwords;
							positive words > nonwords
Malhi	2007		х		10		faces: disgust > neutral; fear > neutral
Meseguer	2007	х	х			14	pictures: negative > neutral: positive >
neutral							I Galaxia (I
Schienle	2007		x		25		pictures: negative > neutral
Benuzzi	2008		x		15		films: disgust > neutral
Deckersbach	2008		x		17		autobio recall: sad $>$ neutral
Deelev	2008		x		17	40	faces: disgust $>$ neutral: fear $>$ neutral
Goldin	2008		v		17	10	films: negative $>$ neutral
Horportz	2008	v	л v		17	22	ninins. negative > neutral: positive >
neutral	2008	л	л			22	pictures. negative > neutral, positive >
Montag	2008	v	v		27		nictures; negative > neutral;
womag	2008	х	х		57		pictures. negative > neutral,
Waterla	2000					15	positive > neutral
wright	2008			X		15	pictures: emotion rating > frequency
rating	2000					0	. 1. 1.01
McLean	2009	х				9	sports-related films: positive > neutral
Mériau	2009		х		23		pictures: negative > neutral
Nielen	2009	Х	х		23		pictures: negative > neutral; positive >
neutral							
Trautmann	2009	х	Х		16		static faces: disgust > neutral; happiness >
neutral;							
							dynamic faces: disgust>neutral; happiness
> neutral							
Botzung	2010	х				23	sports-related films: high > low arousal
Frewen	2010	х	х		20		script-driven imagery: negative, social >
neutral;							

							negative, non-social > neutral; positive, non-social > neutral; positive, social > neutral
Reker	2010	х	х		33		faces: sadness > neutral; happiness >
neutral							
Zink	2010		х			20	negative faces > neutral objects
Total # Studies		31	65	10	44	44	
Total # Participa	ants				656	561	

Analytic approach

All meta-analyses of functional neuroimaging studies of emotion in women and men were conducted using GingerALE 2.1 software; http://brainmap.org/ale (Eickhoff et al., 2009). This software uses random-effects inference to determine regions that exhibit a greater convergence of activations across experiments than would be expected by chance. Individual neuroimaging studies contributed one or more sets of activation peaks or foci (stereotaxic x, y, and z coordinates) representing the locations of maximal activation in either Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) or Talairach space. ALE analyses require that all activation location data be transformed into a common stereotaxic space. We used the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space as the common anatomical reference space and transformed any coordinates of maximal activation that had been reported in Talairach space to MNI space using icbm2tal, a standard transformation program (Lancaster et al., 2007).

For each set of activation maxima from an individual study, a modeled activation (MA) map was generated by convolving the peak coordinates with a 3D Gaussian kernel with a full width half maximum (FWHM) between 9 mm and 11 mm (FWHM calculation depending upon sample size; empirical validation elaborated in Eickhoff et al., 2009). An ALE map of the convergence of activations across studies was calculated as the union across all MA-maps, taken at each voxel. Significant areas of convergence within the ALE map were determined by statistical comparison at each voxel to a null distribution of convergence based on random spatial distribution between experiments (see Eickhoff et al., 2009). ALE maps were thresholded using a

voxel-level false discovery rate correction for multiple comparisons (Genovese, Lazar, & Nichols, 2002) pID of .05 and a 100 mm³ minimum cluster size.

Three emotional valence conditions were examined (Negative emotion, Positive emotion, and a combination of all emotional responses irrespective of valence: All emotion). For each, one ALE map was constructed for women, one map was constructed for men, and a pooled map was constructed that summarized results irrespective of sex. Sex differences were assessed by computing the voxel-wise difference between the ALE maps for women and men. All MA-maps for the pooled analysis of both women and men were then randomly divided into two groups of the same size as the sets for women and for men, and the voxel-wise difference between the ALE maps for these two randomly-assigned datasets was calculated. This process was repeated 10,000 times to create a null distribution of difference scores, and the map of sex differences was compared to this randomly-permuted map of differences. Results were thresholded using a false discovery rate (pID) of .05, and a 100 mm³ minimum cluster size.

ALE meta-analyses summarize regions where activations spatially converge significantly across studies. We use the term "activation" in the current study to refer to regions of significant convergence, to maintain consistency with the terminology used in previous meta-analyses (Friebel, Eickhoff, & Lotze, 2011).



Figure 1. Frequency distribution of stimulus types used for emotion induction, for the studies included in the ALE meta-analyses of the balanced dataset equated for the frequency of specific emotion types across women and men. 1a: All emotion. 1b: Negative emotion. 1c: Positive emotion.

Analyses controlling for specific emotions and stimulus types

In ALE differential activation analyses, conditions associated with more modeled activation maps are more likely to show activation likelihood differences favoring that condition (Laird et al., 2005). For example, in the current study, for the ALE analysis for Negative emotion, if the dataset for women included more MA-maps than the corresponding set for men, then this would introduce an analysis bias towards finding clusters of greater activation likelihood for women, solely because of the imbalance in the number of MA-maps. In addition, because specific emotions (e.g., basic emotions such as happiness and fear) typically recruit partially nonoverlapping patterns of brain activation (Vytal & Hamann, 2010), disproportionate inclusion of specific emotion types across groups could also potentially influence the results of an ALE metaanalysis. Though the magnitude of this potential bias is difficult to estimate, it increases with increasingly unbalanced comparisons between conditions or groups. In practice, small imbalances in the number of MA-maps between conditions have typically been viewed in previous ALE meta-analyses as relatively minor potential sources of bias and have been largely ignored. However, in the current study we adopted a conservative approach to this issue and included additional analyses to help establish that our findings were unlikely to be attributable to such imbalances.

Accordingly, to address this potential source of bias, we conducted our ALE analysis in two different ways. We first analyzed the complete set of MA-maps from our selected studies, and then repeated the analysis with a balanced set of MA-maps that controlled for the overrepresentation of specific emotions. This balanced dataset was created by matching comparisons between women and men on emotion type (e.g., sadness, happiness) and stimulus type (e.g., pictures, words). In the few cases for which stimulus matching was not possible, comparisons were matched for sensory modality of stimuli. As a result of this matching procedure, MA-maps from studies of responses to erotic stimuli were excluded from the balanced dataset. Figure 2b shows the distribution of specific emotions in the balanced data set. In

addition, the balanced dataset better equated the number of female versus male participants contributing to each MA-map. The average sample size for MA-maps included in the complete dataset was M(SD) = 15.7(10.5) for women and 16.7(11.6) for men. The average sample size for MA-maps included in the balanced dataset was M(SD) = 13.0(6.9) for women and 13.6(6.6) for men. The average ages of female and male samples were comparable in both the complete and balanced datasets. 36 of 45 studies of women, and 33 of 44 studies of men reported the mean age of participants. The average age of participants in the complete dataset was M(SD) = 28.1(5.6)for women and 30.8(7.0) for men. The average age of participants in the balanced dataset was 28.0(5.7) for women and 31.9(7.5) for men.

As detailed in the Results section, the ALE analysis using the carefully balanced data sets in fact yielded very similar results to those obtained with the complete data set of all MA-maps. In general, the results with the balanced data set constituted a subset of the results obtained with the complete data set, yielding ALE clusters with slightly smaller spatial extent. Because the ALE results with the balanced data set were highly similar to those obtained with the complete data set and were less likely to be affected by bias, in the current report we focus primarily on the ALE results from the balanced data set. For completeness, the results from the analysis of the complete dataset are presented in the Supplemental Tables, and we describe any important differences in findings between the two analyses in the Results.

Number of modeled activation (MA) maps contributing to the meta-analysis									
	Complete of	lataset	^a Balanced	dataset					
	Women	Men	Women	Men					
Negative Emotion	51	41	32 (.63)	32 (.78)					
Positive Emotion	18	22	16 (.89)	16 (.73)					
All Emotion	72	71	51 (.71)	51 (.72)					

^a # maps (proportion of complete dataset)

Table 2



Figure 2. Frequency distributions of specific emotion types included in the metaanalyses, for women and men. "Combined" indicates studies that included both positive and negative emotional stimuli. Negative emotion analyses included activation contrasts from the set of negative emotions. Positive emotion analyses included activation contrasts from the set of positive emotions. All-emotion analyses included all emotion types illustrated here, regardless of emotion category (combined emotion, positive emotion, and negative emotion). 2a: Activation contrasts included in the meta-analyses of the complete dataset. 2b: The subset of activation contrasts included in the meta-analyses of the balanced dataset.

2.4 Results

Negative emotion: Sex differences

Significant differences between women's and men's responses to negative stimuli are shown in Figure 3a and Table 3. Women showed greater activation than men in a cluster that had peaks in the left amygdala and hippocampus (cluster 1). Prominent clusters were also observed in the hypothalamus in the approximate region of the left mammillary body and in the medial dorsal nucleus of the left thalamus (cluster 2), in right middle occipital gyrus, and middle and inferior temporal gyri (BA37, 19, cluster 3), and medial frontal and anterior cingulate gyri (BA10, 32, 9; cluster 4).

Men showed greater activation than women in a large cluster containing peaks in right precentral gyrus, inferior frontal gyrus, and insula (BA6, 9, 13, 44; cluster 1). Prominent clusters were also observed in right superior temporal gyrus and right putamen (BA38, cluster 2), posterior cingulate gyrus (BA23, 29; cluster 3), and left middle temporal gyrus and fusiform gyrus (BA37, 19; cluster 4).

Peak coordinates	for sex	differences	in l	Negative e	emotion ((analysis)	of ba	lanced datase	et)
1 0000 00000000000000000000000000000000	<i>jei ben</i>	<i>all for ences</i>		e service e		circer yous	<i>j o c c</i>		

						Peak	Vol.
	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Ζ	Value	(mm^3)
	Females > Males						
1	Hippocampus, Amygdala	35	-20	-19	-16	2.64	2112
2	Hypothalamus- Mammillary body,	*	-1	-13	-7	2.39	1344
	Thalamus- Medial dorsal nucleus						
3	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus,	37, 19	52	-69	4	2.59	976
	Inferior Temporal Gyrus						
4	Right Medial Frontal Gyrus, Left Medial Frontal Gyrus,	10, 32, 9	4	47	8	2.50	648
	Left Anterior Cingulate						
5	Medial Globus Pallidus, Lateral Globus Pallidus	*	-9	4	-1	2.39	624
6	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	-50	28	24	2.04	280
7	Cerebellum- Declive	*	26	-62	-19	2.04	208
8	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	-57	33	18	2.12	112
	- -						
	Males > Females						
1	Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	6, 9, 13, 44	44	10	28	2.99	3144
2	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Putamen	38	41	4	-18	2.88	2576
3	Posterior Cingulate	23, 29	-2	-36	24	3.16	2048
4	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus	37, 19	-41	-56	-3	2.40	1328
5	Cuneus, Lingual Gyrus	17, 18	10	-83	14	2.67	1240
6	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	-46	36	-16	2.56	752
7	Claustrum	*	-39	-1	-3	2.19	744

8	Thalamus- Pulvinar	*	18	-27	19	3.72	696
9	Fusiform Gyrus	19	41	-72	-11	1.91	360
10	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	10	-36	37	9	2.18	208
11	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	45, 47	51	31	-7	1.96	200
12	Putamen	*	-27	-18	5	2.14	152

Note. Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure 3.

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

^bX, Y, and Z coordinates represent weighted central activation likelihood focus in MNI space.

Negative emotion: Women

Results are shown in Figure 3b (list of clusters in Table S1). A large cluster contained peaks in both the left and the right amygdala, left hippocampus, left thalamus, right subthalamic nucleus, right superior temporal gyrus (BA38), left mammillary body, left caudate head, and left putamen (cluster 1). Other prominent clusters were observed in left middle and inferior frontal gyri, and insula (BA46, cluster 2; BA47, 13, cluster 5). A major cluster had activation peaks in anterior cingulate gyrus and medial frontal gyrus (BA32, 10, cluster 4).

Negative emotion: Men

Results are shown in Figure 3c and Table S1. This analysis revealed a large cluster with activation maxima in right amygdala, precentral gyrus, superior temporal gyrus, inferior frontal gyrus, claustrum, middle temporal gyrus, and insula (BA 6, 38, 44, 47, 45, 21, 13; cluster 1). A similar cluster in the left hemisphere contained an activation peak in left amygdala with additional peaks in left inferior frontal gyrus and insula, left middle frontal gyrus, superior temporal gyrus, putamen, and hippocampus (BA45, 13, 46, 38, 47; cluster 2). Prominent clusters were also observed in medial cingulate and superior frontal gyri (BA32, 6, 24; cluster 3), left middle temporal gyrus and fusiform gyrus (BA37, 19; cluster 4), left inferior frontal gyrus and precentral gyrus (BA9, 6, 44, cluster 5), and posterior cingulate gyrus (BA23, cluster 6). Two clusters had peaks in right fusiform gyrus (BA19, cluster 7; BA37, cluster 8).

Negative emotion: Women and Men

To investigate the brain regions reliably activated across studies for negatively valenced emotions, regardless of the sex of participants, we conducted an analysis on MA-maps from all studies of negative emotion, collapsing across female and male samples. Results are shown in Figure S1a and Table S1. Peaks were observed in the amygdala bilaterally (right hemisphere: cluster 1, left hemisphere: cluster 2). The largest cluster also included peaks in bilateral thalamus, left caudate body and head, right precentral gyrus (BA6), right inferior frontal gyrus (BA47, 44, 45, 13), right middle frontal gyrus (BA9, 46), right claustrum, right superior temporal gyrus (BA38), left mammillary body and red nucleus, and left medial globus pallidus (cluster 1). A similar but left-lateralized cluster had peaks in left inferior frontal gyrus (BA47, 9, 46), left superior temporal gyrus (BA38), left insula (BA13), the ventral posterior lateral nucleus of the left thalamus, and left putamen (cluster 2). A prominent cluster in frontal cortex had peaks in cingulate gyrus, superior frontal gyrus and anterior cingulate gyrus (BA32, 6, 24; cluster 3).



Figure 3. Regions of significant activation (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons) for Negative emotion, overlaid on a representative single-subject structural anatomical image template in MNI space. 3a: Significant differences in activation for Negative emotion in women vs. men. 3b: Significant activation clusters for Negative emotion in men. 3c: Significant activation clusters for Negative emotion in men. Red color scale: greater activation for women than men. Blue color scale: greater activation for men than women. Brighter colors indicate greater activation likelihood. Axial slices are shown in neurological orientation (left side of image = left hemisphere; top of image = rostral).

Positive Emotion: Sex differences

Significant differences between women's and men's responses to positive stimuli are shown in Figure 4a (list of clusters in Table 4). Women showed greater activation than men in small clusters in right middle and inferior temporal gyrus (cluster 1), left superior temporal gyrus (cluster 2), and dorsomedial frontal gyrus (BA32, 6, cluster 3).

Men showed greater activation than women in a cluster covering left subcallosal gyrus

(BA34), left uncus (BA28), and left amygdala (cluster 1). Prominent clusters contained peaks in

inferior frontal gyrus (BA47, 13, right: cluster 4, left: clusters 2, 3), and superior temporal gyrus

(BA38; cluster 2). Other prominent clusters contained peaks in right fusiform gyrus (BA37,

cluster 5), and left middle frontal gyrus (BA8, cluster 6).

Table 4

Peak coordinates for sex differences in Positive emotion (analysis of balanced dataset)

-	J JJ			1			,
	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Z	Peak	Vol.
						Value	(mm^3)
	Females > Males						
1	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Inferior Temporal Gyrus	39, 37	53	-66	10	1.89	1296
2	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39, 22	-55	-56	22	2.08	352
3	Medial Frontal Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus	32, 6	2	16	51	2.05	328
	Males > Females						
1	Subcallosal Gyrus, Entorhinal Cortex, Amygdala	34, 28	-20	3	-24	2.44	792
2	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	47, 38	-44	25	-25	2.59	752
3	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	-23	18	-20	2.22	376
4	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	13	35	6	-21	2.71	360
5	Fusiform Gyrus	37	46	-41	-17	2.04	360
6	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-27	35	41	2.08	320
7	Subcallosal Gyrus	34	-13	10	-19	2.50	280
8	Fusiform Gyrus	37	50	-48	-12	1.84	232
9	Claustrum	*	-28	10	-10	2.13	168
10	Lateral Globus Pallidus, Medial Globus Pallidus	*	26	-13	-4	1.86	104

Note. Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure 4.

 $^{a}BA = Brodmann's$ area, if applicable

^bX, Y, and Z coordinates represent weighted central activation likelihood focus in MNI space.

Positive emotion: Women

Results for positive emotion for women are shown in Figure 4b and Table S2. The

largest cluster appeared in the ventral anterior nucleus of the left thalamus, and extended into the

head of the caudate (cluster 1). Clusters were also observed bilaterally in the amygdala (right:

cluster 15, left: cluster 5). Other prominent clusters included right lingual gyrus (BA18; cluster

2), left fusiform gyrus (BA19) and inferior occipital gyrus (BA18; cluster 4), left medial frontal

gyrus (BA9; cluster 3), left anterior cingulate gyrus (BA32; cluster 6).

Positive emotion: Men

Results for positive emotion for men are shown in Figure 4c and Table S2. Large clusters appeared in left amygdala extending into left inferior frontal gyrus and the lateral globus pallidus (cluster 1), and in right amygdala extending into right entorhinal cortex (BA34, cluster 3). Prominent clusters were also observed in bilateral inferior frontal gyri / insula (left: BA13, 45, 47 clusters 2, 6; right: BA46, cluster 9), and bilateral fusiform gyri (BA19, right: cluster 5, left: cluster 4). An additional cluster had its maximum in the posterior cingulate gyrus (BA30, cluster 7).

Positive emotion: Women and Men

To investigate the brain regions reliably activated across studies for positive emotions, regardless of sex, we analyzed the MA-maps from all studies of positive emotion, collapsing across the female and male groups. Results are shown in Figure S1b and Table S2. Prominent clusters had peak activations in the bilateral amygdala (right: cluster 5, left: cluster 2), the ventral anterior nucleus of the left thalamus (cluster 1), head of the caudate (cluster 1), medial frontal gyrus (BA9, cluster 4), bilateral inferior frontal gyrus / insula (BA 45, 13, right: cluster 9, left: cluster 3), left anterior cingulate (BA32, cluster 1), and bilateral fusiform gyri (BA19, right: cluster 13, left: cluster 12).



Figure 4. Regions of significant activation (p < .05, corrected) for Positive emotion, overlaid on a representative single-subject structural anatomical image template in MNI space. 4a: Significant differences in activation for Positive emotion in women vs. men. 4b: Significant activation clusters for Positive emotion in women. 4c: Significant activation for women than men. Blue color scale: greater activation for men than women. Brighter colors indicate greater activation likelihood. Images are presented in neurological orientation.

All emotion: Sex differences

Significant differences between women's and men's responses to all emotional stimuli are shown in Figure 5a and Table 5. Women showed greater activation than men in an extended cluster with peaks in the left thalamus and subthalamic nuclei, lateral globus pallidus, left caudate head, left anterior cingulate (BA25), and the left mammillary body (cluster 1). Prominent clusters were also observed in the left hippocampus (cluster 2), and in right middle occipital gyrus and inferior temporal gyrus (BA37, cluster 3). Women's emotion-related activations also differed from men's in several additional frontal regions, including a cluster in anterior cingulate and medial frontal gyrus (BA32, 24, 10; cluster 4), in medial and superior frontal gyri (BA9, 10, 6;

clusters 5, 7, 8), and in left middle and inferior frontal gyri (BA46, 9; cluster 6).

Men showed greater activation than women in bilateral inferior frontal gyrus (right:

BA45, 47, clusters 1, 15, 18; left: BA47, clusters 7, 12, 13, 21). A prominent cluster in posterior

cingulate was also more activated in men than women (BA23, 29, 31; cluster 2). A large cluster

overlapped right superior temporal gyrus, claustrum, putamen, and right amygdala (BA38, cluster

3). Other prominent clusters appeared in right fusiform gyrus (BA19, 20, cluster 5, 9), and left

insula (BA13, cluster 1).

Table 5

Peak coordinates for sex differences for All-emotion condition (analysis of balanced dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	^b X	Y	Ζ	Peak	Vol. (mm ³)
	Females > Males						
1	Subthalamic Nucleus, Thalamus,	25	-5	-5	-3	3.16	6096
	Lateral Globus Pallidus, Caudate Head,						
	Anterior Cingulate,						
	Hypothalamus- Mammillary Body						
2	Hippocampus	*	-21	-26	-13	2.85	1944
3	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Inferior Temporal Gyrus	37	50	-68	7	3.72	1832
4	Left Anterior Cingulate, Right Anterior Cingulate,	32, 24, 10	3	43	6	2.58	1696
	Right Medial Frontal Gyrus						
5	Left Medial Frontal Gyrus,	9	-5	55	19	2.47	1184
	Right Superior Frontal Gyrus						
6	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46, 9	-50	27	23	2.33	1152
7	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-10	39	-10	2.00	424
8	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	4	26	59	2.01	416
9	Cerebellum- Declive, Dentate Gyrus	*	29	-59	-21	2.05	264
10	Uncus	34	19	4	-25	1.88	112
	Males > Females						
1	Insula, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus,	13, 45, 9, 6	5 45	17	17	3.54	2968
	Middle Frontal Gyrus						
2	Posterior Cingulate	23, 29, 31	-2	-39	24	3.72	2880
3	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Putamen,	38	38	2	-17	3.35	2672
	Amygdala						
4	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	19, 37	-40	-51	-2	3.04	1632
5	Fusiform Gyrus	19	42	-74	-11	2.95	1504
6	Precentral Gyrus, Insula, Claustrum	6,13	-47	-6	5	2.59	1488
7	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Middle Frontal Gyrus	47, 11	-47	34	-16	3.35	1360
8	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-26	37	38	2.61	1336
9	Fusiform Gyrus	37, 36	44	-41	-15	2.31	1280
10	Cuneus	17	11	-82	14	3.16	824
11	Caudate Body	*	19	-6	22	2.95	776
12	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Middle Frontal Gyrus	10	-36	36	8	2.49	696
13	Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	6, 9	-38	5	27	2.10	640
14	Putamen	*	-27	-15	7	2.77	632
15	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	34	32	-21	2.39	592
16	Thalamus- Pulvinar	*	18	-27	20	3.72	528
17	Supramarginal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	40, 39	42	-46	31	2.10	512

18	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	55	32	-7	2.43	448	
19	Thalamus- Ventral lateral nucleus,	*	22	-10	4	2.54	424	
	Lateral Globus Pallidus							
20	Posterior Cingulate	30	-8	-70	14	2.22	320	
21	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	-44	26	-27	2.04	208	

Note. Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure 5.

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

^bX, Y, and Z coordinates represent weighted central activation likelihood focus in MNI space.

All emotion: Women

Results are shown in Figure 5b and Table S3. For studies of emotional responses in women, ALE analysis revealed a large cluster covering the left thalamus, and extending to the left caudate head, left putamen, bilateral amygdala, bilateral hippocampus, and mammillary bodies (cluster 1). Several large medial frontal clusters contained activation peaks in superior frontal gyrus, anterior cingulate, and medial frontal gyrus (BA9, 32, 10; clusters 2 and 5). Another cluster had peaks left middle frontal gyrus, inferior frontal gyrus, and insula (BA9, 47, 45, 46, 13, 9; cluster 3). A large cluster had peaks in right fusiform gyrus, lingual gyrus, culmen, and the declive of the cerebellar vermis (BA19, 18, 37; cluster 4).

All emotion: Men

Results are shown in Figure 5c (list of clusters in Table S3). For studies of emotional responses in men, ALE analysis revealed an extended cluster covering left amygdala, left inferior frontal gyrus, insula, and postcentral gyrus (BA13, 47, 45, 43; cluster 1). Another prominent cluster peaked in right amygdala, and extended into right inferior frontal gyrus, precentral gyrus, superior temporal gyrus, claustrum, thalamus, precentral gyrus, lateral globus pallidus, and insula (BA45, 6, 38, 47; cluster 2). Substantial clusters were also observed in posterior cingulate and cuneus (BA23, 30, 29; cluster 3), and left middle temporal gyrus and fusiform gyrus (BA19, 37; cluster 4). Other notable clusters were observed in right fusiform gyrus (BA19; clusters 6),

dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (BA32, 6; cluster 5), and in the left thalamus extending into the putamen (cluster 9).

All emotion: Women and Men

To characterize patterns of activation independent of sex differences, primarily for purposes of comparison to previous studies, we conducted an analysis on all MA-maps, collapsing across positive and negative valence, and across female and male groups. Results are shown in Figure S1c and Table S3. In part because of the large number of maps entering into this analysis and attendant increase in statistical power, several activation clusters were relatively large and extended across multiple brain regions. Among these activation clusters, clusters of activation were observed in several regions associated with emotion and reward, including the bilateral amygdala (cluster 1), bilateral thalamus (cluster 1), mammillary bodies (cluster 1), bilateral insula (cluster 1) and left caudate (cluster 1). Activation clusters in prefrontal cortex associated with emotion included bilateral inferior frontal gyri (left: cluster 1, right: cluster 2), anterior cingulate (clusters 4, 14, 26, 39, 44) and left medial frontal gyrus (cluster 4).



Figure 5. Regions of significant activation (p < .05, corrected) for All emotion, collapsed across positive and negative emotion stimuli, overlaid on a representative single-subject structural anatomical image template in MNI space. 5a: Significant differences in activation for All emotion in women vs. men. 5b: Significant activation clusters for All emotion in women. 5c: Significant activation clusters for All emotion in men. Red color scale: greater activation for women than men. Blue color scale: greater activation for men than women. Brighter colors indicate greater activation likelihood. Images are presented in neurological orientation.

Results for the complete dataset

As described in the Methods, to help reduce potential biasing effects of systematic differences in stimuli and emotion type and number of MA-maps between the data sets for women and men, our primary analyses focused on a balanced data set that minimized such effects by matching between women and men on these factors. However, because this procedure necessarily excluded a proportion of studies, it was important to determine whether our primary findings were also observed in the complete dataset comprised of all studies that met our inclusion criteria. This analysis of the complete dataset yielded results that were highly similar to the findings obtained with the smaller, balanced data set (detailed results for the complete dataset are presented in the Supplemental Tables). In general, highly similar activation clusters were observed in the complete analysis and the balanced dataset, but with greater spatial extent for the complete dataset in many cases, extending across adjacent brain regions.

A few notable additional sex differences were observed in the analysis of the complete dataset. For negative emotion, women showed greater activation than men in the left substantia nigra, left hypothalamus, and left subcallosal gyrus (cluster 1). Men showed greater activation than women for negative emotion in additional clusters in right entorhinal cortex (BA28; cluster 7) and in left insula (BA13, cluster 8). Table S4 and Figure S2a present the full results for the complete analysis of Negative emotion. For positive emotion stimuli, women showed greater activation than men in the following additional brain regions: left thalamus, subthalamic nucleus, hypothalamus, and medial globus pallidus (cluster 1), right superior temporal gyrus (BA42, 13, 22, cluster 4; BA41, cluster 6). No additional clusters of greater activation for men were observed in the complete analysis. Table S5 and Figure S2b present the full results for the complete analysis of Positive emotion. No additional brain regions were activated in the complete analysis relative to the balanced analysis, but as with the examination of Negative and Positive emotion, significant activation clusters were greater in extent. Table S6 and Figure S2c present the full results for the complete analysis of All emotion, combined across positive and negative valence.

2.5 Discussion

The primary goal of this study was to examine and characterize sex differences in brain activation during the processing of positive and negative emotion. We used a quantitative metaanalytic approach, summarizing and analyzing activation findings from the relevant fMRI and PET neuroimaging literature. This analysis characterized differences between women and men in regional activation likelihood for positive and negative emotion separately as well as for both types of emotion combined. A major finding was that, in line with our predictions, sex differences varied markedly as a function of negative vs. positive emotional valence. The majority of sex differences favoring women were observed for negative emotion, whereas relatively few sex differences favoring men were observed for the analysis of negative emotion. Conversely, the majority of the sex differences favoring men were observed for positive emotion, whereas relatively few sex differences favoring women were observed for positive emotion.

This valence-specificity of sex differences in regional activation was particularly evident for the amygdala, a key region for emotion processing. Women exhibited greater activation than men in the left amygdala for negative emotion, consistent with previous evidence suggesting that women are more psychologically and neurally responsive to stimuli and situations that elicit negative emotion. Conversely, men exhibited greater activation than women in the left amygdala for positive emotion. Notably, this greater amygdala activation for men was found in the balanced dataset that did not include any studies of sexually arousing stimuli, suggesting that this sex difference in amygdala response previously reported for sexually arousing stimuli generalizes to other types of positive emotional stimuli. No sex differences in amygdala activation were observed when all studies were analyzed regardless of valence.

This study extends previous efforts to characterize sex differences in brain activation during emotion processing in several important ways. Our meta-analysis is the most comprehensive such attempt to date, including a substantially larger and more complete set of relevant studies than in previous meta-analyses. This study also represents the first quantitative meta-analytic review to our knowledge that has investigated such sex differences separately for studies of positive and negative emotional valence. A third key feature of our study was that it is the first such neuroimaging meta-analysis to use recently developed whole-brain random-effects statistical meta-analytic methods, as opposed to fixed-effects methods that have been used in previous relevant meta-analyses. Fixed-effects meta-analysis methods are limited because inferences based on them are strictly valid only for the population included in the analysis (i.e., the specific neuroimaging studies included), although in practice this limitation has been frequently overlooked. The random-effects meta-analysis method used in the current study allows valid statistical inference about the general population, thereby substantially broadening the scope and generality of our conclusions.

To control for possible bias related to greater representation of specific emotions across groups, as described in the Methods, we conducted our ALE analysis in two different ways and focused our interpretation on results obtained with the more conservative, balanced method that controlled for bias. The results of the two analyses were in fact highly similar, with slightly more extensive activation clusters observed with the less conservative method. Because similar metaanalysis results were obtained with both analysis methods, this suggests that our findings are relatively robust to minor variations in the specific studies sampled.

In the next sections we discuss these sex differences in brain activations in greater detail, focusing on activations in regions involved in emotion and emotion regulation.

Greater activations for women

A primary finding was that women showed greater left amygdala activation for negative emotion, relative to men. This finding supported our prediction that, relative to men, women would show stronger responses to negative emotion in key brain regions associated with emotion processing and parallels findings from the behavioral and psychophysiological literature (Bradley et al., 2001; Fujita et al., 1991; McClure et al., 2004; McManis et al., 2001; Thomsen et al., 2005). These results are also consistent with the findings of some individual neuroimaging studies that have reported greater amygdala activations in women relative to men to negative emotional stimuli, using direct within-experiment comparisons (Domes et al., 2009; Hofer et al., 2006). The activation cluster showing greater activation for women vs. men for negative emotion also contained additional, secondary activation maxima in the anterior hippocampus (Figure 6). Greater activation for women vs. men in the left hippocampus was also observed when all emotion studies (regardless of valence) were analyzed. These sex differences in amygdala and hippocampal activation are notable in part because interactions between the amygdala and hippocampus are known to be a primary mechanism by which emotion modulates episodic memory (memory for events) (Cahill et al., 1996; Canli et al., 2002; Hamann et al., 1999). These greater amygdala and hippocampal activations for women are consistent with previous findings of enhanced emotional memory for women relative to men (Seidlitz & Diener, 1998). Neuroimaging studies have also identified consistent sex differences in the amygdala's contribution to successful memory encoding for negative stimuli (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill et al., 2004; Canli et al., 2002), such that right amygdala activation is associated with successful memory encoding in men for negative stimuli, whereas left amygdala activation is associated with successful encoding in women for negative stimuli.



Figure 6. Regions of significantly greater activation for women than for men (p < 0.05, corrected) for Negative emotion, highlighting regional overlap with the amygdala and the hippocampus, overlaid on a representative single-subject structural anatomical image template in MNI space. Left panel: axial view at z = -19; right panel: coronal view at y = -7. Yellow regions: overlap with the amygdala; blue regions: overlap with the hippocampus and hippocampal-amygdala transition zone; red: regions where significant ALE voxels were observed outside of the amygdala and hippocampus. Amygdala and hippocampal ROIs were constructed from a digital neuroanatomy atlas based on postmortem brain data, as implemented in the Anatomy Toolbox (Eickhoff et al., 2005). Images are presented in neurological orientation.

In addition to the left amygdala, women also exhibited greater activation to negative

stimuli in the anterior cingulate and medial prefrontal cortex, in BAs 9, 32, and 10.

Neuroimaging studies of depression and induced sad mood have linked negative affect and

depression to increased subgenual anterior cingulate cortex and medial prefrontal activation (Mayberg et al., 1997; Mayberg et al., 1999) as well as a temporally-prolonged amygdala response (Siegle, Steinhauer, Thase, Stenger, & Carter, 2002). Activity in the medial prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate has been associated with several cognitive processes linked to depression, including representation of mental states (Abu-Akel, 2003), default-mode resting state activity (Buckner, Andrews-Hanna, & Schacter, 2008), and rumination, the tendency to recollect and focus on negative events and feelings (Denson, Pedersen, Ronquillo, & Nandy, 2009; Ray et al., 2005). Increased rumination in women relative to men has been linked to the higher prevalence of depression in women (Leach et al., 2008; Thomsen et al., 2005). The greater activation we observed in medial prefrontal and anterior cingulate regions is consistent with the higher prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders observed among women relative to men (American Psychiatric Association, 2000; Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001).

Greater responses to negative stimuli in women were also observed in the left medial dorsal nucleus of the thalamus and the hypothalamus, with an activation maximum located near the mammillary bodies. A sex difference in hypothalamic activation is consistent with sex differences in the distribution of hormone receptors in the brain. The hypothalamus and amygdala are densely populated with steroid hormone receptors (Clark et al., 1988; MacLusky et al., 1986), and these regions are thus especially sensitive to hormone levels which differ between women and men. Sex differences in receptor density are greatest in the mammillary bodies relative to other hypothalamic nuclei (Fernández-Guasti, Kruijver, Fodor, & Swaab, 2000). In addition, functional connectivity between the left amygdala and the hypothalamus has been shown be stronger in women than men (Kilpatrick et al., 2006).

For positive stimuli, there were substantially fewer sex differences favoring women, and these differences were observed in regions that have been less specifically associated with emotion processing. Women were more likely than men to exhibit activation in a few clusters in the right temporal gyrus and right medial and superior frontal gyrus. For all emotional stimuli (see Table 5 and Figure 5c), a number of regions showed clusters of greater activation for women, including the left hippocampus (a region also showing sex differences favoring women for negative stimuli) and the bilateral anterior cingulate cortex. Because these sex differences in activation for all emotional stimuli were a composite of the sex differences observed for negative and positive emotion (together with a small number of studies that combined positive and negative stimuli) and markedly different sex differences were found as a function of negative vs. positive valence, we focus our interpretation on the valence specific sex differences and include the results for the analysis of all emotions primarily for comparison to previous studies. In addition, because there were substantially more studies of negative emotion than of positive emotion in the sampled neuroimaging literature, the overall results for all emotion necessarily reflect the contribution of negative emotion studies significantly more than positive emotion studies, complicating the interpretation of the overall results for all emotions.

Greater activations for men

For studies of positive emotion, men exhibited greater ALE activation than women in the left amygdala. Our predictions regarding possible greater activations for men for positive stimuli were initially more tentative than our corresponding predictions for women and negative stimuli, because of less extant evidence for such a difference from behavioral and neuroimaging studies. The current findings provide further support for this previously suggested sex difference, and are consistent with findings from some individual neuroimaging studies of men's responses to positive stimuli, which have found left-lateralized amygdala activity (Hamann et al., 2002; Hamann & Mao, 2002), and larger left amygdala responses in men than women (Wrase et al., 2003).

These results parallel sex differences previously observed in appetitive responses to a specific type of appetitive stimuli, erotic stimuli, for which men show greater activation relative to women in the bilateral amygdala (Hamann et al., 2004), visual cortex (Sabatinelli et al., 2004), and show stronger emotional physiological responses as indexed by skin conductance responses

(Bradley et al., 2001). Our findings suggest that greater amygdala activation to positive emotional stimuli for men extends beyond sexually arousing stimuli, to other types of positive emotional stimuli. The activation cluster showing greater amygdala activation to positive emotional stimuli for men also overlapped with the entorhinal cortex (Figure 7), a region of the medial temporal lobe which plays an important role in episodic memory supporting successful encoding and retrieval of declarative memory (for reviews, see Eichenbaum, Yonelinas, & Ranganath, 2007; Squire, Wixted, & Clark, 2007).



Figure 7. Regions of significantly greater activation likelihood for men than for women (p < 0.05, corrected) for Positive emotion, highlighting regional overlap with the amygdala and the hippocampus, overlaid on a representative single-subject structural anatomical image template in MNI space. Left panel: Axial view at z = -25; Right panel: Coronal view at y = 1.Yellow regions: overlap with the amygdala; Blue regions: overlap with the hippocampus and hippocampal-amygdala transition zone; Red: regions where significant ALE voxels were observed outside of the amygdala and hippocampus. Amygdala and hippocampal ROIs were constructed from a digital neuroanatomy atlas based on postmortem brain data, as implemented in the Anatomy Toolbox (Eickhoff et al., 2005). Images are presented in neurological orientation.

Men were also more likely than women to exhibit activation in the insula and lateral prefrontal cortex, in response to both positive and negative stimuli, with activation maxima in bilateral inferior frontal gyrus in BA47 and 45, extending into right anterior insula in BA13. The anterior insula and ventrolateral prefrontal regions have been implicated in representing emotional states (Critchley, Wiens, Rotshtein, Ohman, & Dolan, 2004; Wicker et al., 2003), and

in emotion recognition (Adolphs, Damasio, Tranel, Cooper, & Damasio, 2000; Kringelbach & Rolls, 2003).

For negative emotion, there were substantially fewer sex differences favoring men. Men were more likely than women to exhibit activation in left posterior cingulate, for negative stimuli. This region is preferentially active for emotional stimuli (Damasio et al., 2000; Maddock, Garrett, & Buonocore, 2003) and has been implicated in integrating the emotional value of stimuli with sensory information in memory and spatial orientation tasks (Vogt, Finch, & Olson, 1992). For all emotional stimuli (see Table 5 and Figure 5c), a number of emotion-related regions showed clusters of greater activation for men, including the right insula and right inferior frontal gyrus, posterior cingulate, and right superior temporal gyrus.

Similar activations for women and men

As expected, in addition to these sex differences, we also observed many similarities between women and men in emotion-related brain activation. Sex differences were typically manifested as greater or more extensive activations for one group in regions where both sexes exhibited significant ALE activation clusters. Activations for each group are presented in Table S1 and Figure 3b and 3c for negative emotion, Table S2 and Figure 4b and 4c for positive emotion, and Table S3 and Figure 5b and 5c for all emotions combined. Figures 3d, 4d, and 5d show the conjunction of significant activations for women and men. Some prominent common activations for both sexes for negative emotion and positive emotion included large activation clusters the in the bilateral amygdala, anterior cingulate cortex, and bilateral insula.

Relationships to previous studies

As noted previously, the current meta-analysis represents the most comprehensive such review to date. Three previous quantitative neuroimaging meta-analyses of emotion each considered sex differences, but have some limitations relative to the current study. A major limitation of previous meta-analyses is that they did not analyze sex differences as a function of positive and negative emotional valence. As is evident from the current results, patterns of
observed sex differences differed markedly depending on emotional valence. Previous metaanalyses on this topic have also included a substantially smaller number of studies. Specifically, Fusar-Poli et al. (2009), limited their analysis to only include neuroimaging studies of facial expression, Sergerie et al. (2008) limited their analysis to only include studies that reported significant amygdala activation and examined only the amygdala region, and Wager et al. (2003) only included studies published prior to 2002, thereby including approximately 50% fewer studies than in the current meta-analysis. A third highlight of the current study is its use of a random-effects model, which enabled broader inferences relative to previous whole-brain metaanalyses that have used fixed-effects models.

Although direct comparisons between these previous studies and the current study are complicated by important differences in the number and type of studies included and the methodology, some general comparisons can be made at the level of brain regions implicated in sex differences. For example, previous meta-analyses have implicated the amygdala in sex differences in neural responses to emotion, combining across emotional valence, with greater activation for men than women reported by one study in the right amygdala (Fusar-Poli et al., 2009), and in a region adjacent to the amygdala in another study (Wager et al., 2003). In addition, Wager and colleagues (2003) reported evidence that women were more likely than men to activate the left extended amygdala, but not the amygdala proper. These meta-analysis results are also in line with the findings of individual neuroimaging studies that have reported greater amygdala activations in women relative to men to negative emotional stimuli, in direct withinexperiment comparisons (Domes et al., 2009; Hofer et al., 2006).

Potential mechanisms for observed sex differences.

What factors could potentially contribute to the sex differences in brain activation to emotional stimuli observed in the current meta-analytic review? A number of possible relevant factors have been suggested in previous studies. One factor that has received considerable attention and discussion, and has perhaps the most empirical support to date, is the possibility that systematic differences in emotional reactivity between women and men may contribute to systematic differences in regional brain activation such as those observed here. Greater subjective and physiological responses to negative emotional stimuli have indeed been reported for women relative to men in several previous studies (Bradley et al., 2001; Grossman & Wood, 1993; Hess et al., 2000; Kring & Gordon, 1998; Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001; Sharp, Van Goozen, & Goodyer, 2006), and some limited evidence suggests that this sex difference is reversed for positive emotional stimuli (Bradley et al., 2001; Hess et al., 2000). Systematic differences in intensity or arousal across studies between women and men would be expected to result in corresponding differences in regional brain activation, both in arousal-related regions such as the amygdala, hypothalamus, and brainstem, and regions associated specifically with positive or negative emotion. The general pattern of the sex differences in amygdala activation and other regions observed in the current study is generally in line with this possibility.

The extent to which differences in subjective or physiological emotional responses contributed to the differences observed in the current study is difficult to assess. Individual studies included in the meta-analysis varied widely in whether they included subjective or physiological emotion measures. In addition, for those studies that did include such measures, the size of reported sex differences in emotional responses varied considerably. Further studies of sex differences in emotion-elicited brain activation should include measures of subjective and physiological response, to help determine the role of sex differences in emotional response in contributing to regional brain activation differences.

Other factors in addition to emotional reactivity are also likely to contribute significantly to the sex differences in activation we observed. Individual neuroimaging studies have reported sex differences in regional brain activation in regions associated with emotion such as the anterior cingulate and insula, in the absence of sex differences in emotional responses (Fine et al., 2009; George et al., 1996). Several differences in the neural mechanisms by which women and men process emotion have been proposed that highlight the role of cognitive and other factors. These have included a variety of proposed differences in the cognitive representation and processing of emotional stimuli, ranging from differences in attentional biases (Schirmer et al., 2008), effects of previous experience on perception and memory (Cahill & van Stegeren, 2003; Seidlitz & Diener, 1998) to differences in emotional executive control processes such as regulation (Domes et al., 2009; McRae, Ochsner, Mauss, Gabrieli, & Gross, 2008) and frequency of rumination about past emotional experiences (Thomsen et al., 2005). Additional sources of sex differences have also been proposed, including differences in lateralization of emotion processing (Canli et al., 2002; Fine et al., 2009; Wager et al., 2003) and temporal characteristics of the emotional response (e.g., prolonged emotional responses; Gard & Kring, 2007). Multiple factors may contribute to particular observed sex differences, and these factors may also interact, for example, sex differences in the effectiveness of emotion regulation (e.g., Domes et al., 2009; McRae et al., 2008) may amplify differences in more basic emotional responsiveness.

Although the ultimate causal factors responsible for sex differences in brain responses to emotional stimuli have yet to be delineated, the categories of likely potential factors are the same as those previously theorized for other sex differences in psychological and brain function: biological mechanisms such as genetic and hormonal influences and associated evolutionary factors, differences between the sexes in socialization and prior experience, and the interaction of these factors. Our results are compatible with any of these potential causal factors. A question for future study is the extent to which each the sex differences in regional activation observed here are valid cross-culturally and can be modified by experience.

Limitations

A number of limitations related to the current study should be noted. The meta-analysis results are based on summary information from individual neuroimaging studies, not the original raw data. Re-analysis of original raw data would be preferable, but this approach is precluded by the fact that such data are generally unavailable for most studies (Salimi-Khorshidi, Smith, Keltner, Wager, & Nichols, 2009). The ALE method retains key aspects of the reported findings

in each study, but like most neuroimaging meta-analysis methods, does not differentially weight information regarding activation statistics beyond requiring that each activation cluster exceeds the significance threshold used in each study. Another limitation concerned the fact that there were substantially fewer studies that could be included that examined positive emotion than examined negative emotion. Thus, there was lower power to detect sex differences for positive emotion studies relative to negative emotion studies.

In addition, the neuroimaging studies contributing to the meta-analysis varied widely in their stimuli, experimental methods, and scanning parameters. Although we took steps to minimize the possible contribution of such factors, it remains possible that systematic differences in such factors may have contributed to some of the observed differences. Future neuroimaging studies examining these issues should include a wider range of stimulus modalities and tasks to enable potential interactions with stimulus and task factors. Another limitation was that, in line with previous meta-analyses, our analysis only considered differences at the level of individual voxels and brain regions. However, meta-analyses that consider functional connectivity and other methods of characterizing distributed networks involved in emotion are a promising avenue for further study, particularly in light of sex differences in amygdala functional connectivity reported in individual neuroimaging studies (Kilpatrick et al., 2006; Savic & Lindstrom, 2008).

In the current study, our analysis focused on examining sex differences as a function of positive and negative emotional valence. This approach was motivated in part by the considerable evidence demonstrating that emotional valence is a key dimension of emotion and the neural representation of emotion (Feldman Barrett & Russell, 1999; Lang, Bradley, & Cuthbert, 1998; Nielen et al., 2009). However, positive and negative valence categories can be further subdivided into more specific emotion types, for example, basic emotions (happiness, fear, etc.; Darwin, 1873; Ekman, 1999) and other classifications such as threat, dominance, and sexual arousal. The extent to which the valence-specific sex differences observed in this study generalize to other emotion categories is an important question for further study.

2.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, the current findings provide new meta-analytic evidence that regional brain activations elicited during emotion differ in several important ways between the sexes. These sex differences in regional activation were substantial and were observed in key regions associated with emotion processing, most strikingly the left amygdala, which showed greater activation for women for negative emotion studies, but greater activation for men for positive emotion studies. Other substantial sex differences were found in additional regions involved in emotion and memory, including the hippocampus, insula, hypothalamus, and medial prefrontal cortex. As expected, these sex differences were found against a background of broad similarities between the sexes in the basic regions recruited during positive and negative emotion processing.

Our findings are consistent the findings of previous individual neuroimaging studies that have directly contrasted women and men in within-experiment comparisons. However, the nature and generality of the findings of these individual studies has remained unclear, in large part because of the small number of studies to date that have examined these differences. The limitations associated with a limited number of studies are particularly prominent for studies of positive emotion (Fine et al., 2009; Hofer et al., 2007; Killgore & Yurgelun-Todd, 2001; Wrase et al., 2003). Here, by taking a meta-analytic approach we were able to make a comprehensive summary assessment of the relevant affective neuroimaging literature. Although the metaanalytic approach has several advantages, it also has significant limitations, highlighting the need to broaden the current neuroimaging literature on affective sex differences with new studies investigating the questions and issues we have examined.

The current findings underscore the importance of considering sex as a potential factor modulating emotional processing and its underlying neural mechanisms, and more broadly, the need to consider individual differences in understanding the neurobiology of emotion. Approaches that integrate knowledge of individual differences will ultimately provide a more complete account than those that regard individual differences as uninteresting or merely as statistical noise to be filtered out in the search for putative universal psychological and neurobiological mechanisms (Cahill, 2006; Hamann & Canli, 2004). For example, in cases where a regional brain activation effect is present in either women or men, but is either absent or reversed in the other group, examination of results combined across the sexes will produce an incomplete characterization of brain activations. These issues are particularly salient when considering individual differences that are related to depression, anxiety disorders, and other forms of psychopathology. There is growing evidence that women and men differ importantly in psychological and neurobiological mechanisms related to the development of a range of psychopathologies. Understanding the role of these individual differences will foster a better understanding of the neural mechanisms of both healthy and disordered emotional function.

2.7 References

- Abu-Akel, A. (2003). A neurobiological mapping of theory of mind. Brain Research Reviews, 43(1), 29-40.
- Adolphs, R., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., Cooper, G., & Damasio, A. R. (2000). A role for somatosensory cortices in the visual recognition of emotion as revealed by threedimensional lesion mapping. The Journal of Neuroscience, 20(7), 2683-2690.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV-TR) (4 ed.). Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., & Damasio, A. R. (2000). Emotion, decision making and the orbitofrontal cortex. Cerebral Cortex, 10(3), 295-307.
- Bradley, M. M., Codispoti, M., Sabatinelli, D., & Lang, P. J. (2001). Emotion and motivation II: Sex differences in picture processing. Emotion, 1(3), 300-319.
- Buckner, R. L., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., & Schacter, D. L. (2008). The brain's default network. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1124(1), 1-38.
- Cahill, L. (2006). Why sex matters for neuroscience. Nat Rev Neurosci, 7(6), 477-484.
- Cahill, L., Haier, R. J., Fallon, J., Alkire, M. T., Tang, C., Keator, D., et al. (1996). Amygdala activity at encoding correlated with long-term, free recall of emotional information. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 93(15), 8016-8021.
- Cahill, L., Haier, R. J., White, N. S., Fallon, J., Kilpatrick, L., Lawrence, C., et al. (2001). Sexrelated difference in amygdala activity during emotionally influenced memory storage. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 75(1), 1-9.
- Cahill, L., Uncapher, M., Kilpatrick, L., Alkire, M. T., & Turner, J. (2004). Sex-related hemispheric lateralization of amygdala function in emotionally influenced memory: An fMRI investigation. Learning & Memory, 11(3), 261-266.
- Cahill, L., & van Stegeren, A. (2003). Sex-related impairment of memory for emotional events with beta-adrenergic blockade. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 79(1), 81-88.
- Canli, T., Desmond, J. E., Zhao, Z., & Gabrieli, J. D. E. (2002). Sex differences in the neural basis of emotional memories. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(16), 10789-10794.
- Chivers, M. L., Seto, M. C., Lalumiere, M. L., Laan, E., & Grimbos, T. (2010). Agreement of self-reported and genital measures of sexual arousal in men and women: A meta-analysis. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 39(1), 5-56.
- Clark, A. S., Maclusky, N. J., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1988). Androgen binding and metabolism in the cerebral cortex of the developing rhesus monkey. Endocrinology, 123(2), 932-940.

- Critchley, H. D., Wiens, S., Rotshtein, P., Ohman, A., & Dolan, R. J. (2004). Neural systems supporting interoceptive awareness. Nature Neuroscience, 7(2), 189-195.
- Damasio, A. R., Grabowski, T. J., Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Ponto, L. L. B., Parvizi, J., et al. (2000). Subcortical and cortical brain activity during the feeling of self-generated emotions. Nature Neuroscience, 3(10), 1049-1056.
- Darwin, C. (1873). General Principles of Expression. In Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals (pp. 27-65). New York: D. Appleton.
- Davis, M., & Emory, E. (1995). Sex differences in neonatal stress reactivity. Child Development, 66(1), 14-27.
- Denson, T. F., Pedersen, W. C., Ronquillo, J., & Nandy, A. S. (2009). The angry brain: Neural correlates of anger, angry rumination, and aggressive personality. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 21(4), 734-744.
- Domes, G., Schulze, L., Böttger, M., Grossmann, A., Hauenstein, K., Wirtz, P. H., et al. (2009). The neural correlates of sex differences in emotional reactivity and emotion regulation. Human Brain Mapping, 31(5), 758-769.
- Eichenbaum, H., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2007). The medial temporal lobe and recognition memory. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30(1), 123-152.
- Eickhoff, S. B., Laird, A. R., Grefkes, C., Wang, L. E., Zilles, K., & Fox, P. T. (2009). Coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of neuroimaging data: A random-effects approach based on empirical estimates of spatial uncertainty. Human Brain Mapping, 30(9), 2907-2926.
- Eickhoff, S. B., Stephan, K. E., Mohlberg, H., Grefkes, C., Fink, G. R., Amunts, K., et al. (2005). A new SPM toolbox for combining probabilistic cytoarchitectonic maps and functional imaging data. NeuroImage, 25(4), 1325-1335.
- Ekman, P. (1999). Basic emotions. In T. Dalgleish & M. Power (Eds.), Handbook of Emotion and Cognition. Sussex, U.K.: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Feldman Barrett, L., & Russell, J. A. (1999). The Structure of Current Affect: Controversies and Emerging Consensus. Current Directions in Psychological Science (Wiley-Blackwell), 8(1), 10-14.
- Fernández-Guasti, A., Kruijver, F. P. M., Fodor, M., & Swaab, D. F. (2000). Sex differences in the distribution of androgen receptors in the human hypothalamus. The Journal of Comparative Neurology, 425(3), 422-435.
- Fine, J. G., Semrud-Clikeman, M., & Zhu, D. C. (2009). Gender differences in BOLD activation to face photographs and video vignettes. Behavioural Brain Research, 201(1), 137-146.
- Friebel, U., Eickhoff, S. B., & Lotze, M. (2011). Coordinate-based meta-analysis of experimentally induced and chronic persistent neuropathic pain. NeuroImage, 58(4), 1070-1080.

- Fujita, F., Diener, E., & Sandvik, E. (1991). Gender differences in negative affect and well-being: The case for emotional intensity. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61(3), 427-434.
- Fusar-Poli, P., Placentino, A., Carletti, F., Landi, P., Allen, P., Surguladze, S., et al. (2009). Functional atlas of emotional faces processing: A voxel-based meta-analysis of 105 functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience, 34(6), 418-432.
- Gard, M. G., & Kring, A. M. (2007). Sex differences in the time course of emotion. Emotion, 7(2), 429-437.
- Genovese, C. R., Lazar, N. A., & Nichols, T. (2002). Thresholding of statistical maps in functional neuroimaging using the false discovery rate. NeuroImage, 15(4), 870-878.
- George, M. S., Ketter, T. A., Parekh, P. I., Herscovitch, P., & Post, R. M. (1996). Gender differences in regional cerebral blood flow during transient self-induced sadness or happiness. Biological Psychiatry, 40(9), 859-871.
- Grossman, M., & Wood, W. (1993). Sex differences in intensity of emotional experience: A social role interpretation. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 65(5), 1010-1022.
- Hamann, S., & Canli, T. (2004). Individual differences in emotion processing. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 14(2), 233-238.
- Hamann, S., Ely, T. D., Grafton, S. T., & Kilts, C. D. (1999). Amygdala activity related to enhanced memory for pleasant and aversive stimuli. Nature Neuroscience, 2(3), 289.
- Hamann, S., Ely, T. D., Hoffman, J. M., & Kilts, C. D. (2002). Ecstasy and agony: Activation of the human amygdala in positive and negative emotion. Psychological Science, 13(2), 135.
- Hamann, S., Herman, R. A., Nolan, C. L., & Wallen, K. (2004). Men and women differ in amygdala response to visual sexual stimuli. Nat Neurosci, 7(4), 411-416.
- Hamann, S., & Mao, H. (2002). Positive and negative emotional verbal stimuli elicit activity in the left amygdala. Neuroreport, 13(1), 15-19.
- Hess, U., Senacal, S., Kirouac, G., Herrera, P., Philippot, P., & Kleck, R. E. (2000). Emotional expressivity in men and women: Stereotypes and self-perceptions. Cognition & Emotion, 14(5), 609-642.
- Hofer, A., Siedentopf, C. M., Ischebeck, A., Rettenbacher, M. A., Verius, M., Felber, S., et al. (2006). Gender differences in regional cerebral activity during the perception of emotion: A functional MRI study. NeuroImage, 32(2), 854-862.
- Hofer, A., Siedentopf, C. M., Ischebeck, A., Rettenbacher, M. A., Verius, M., Felber, S., et al. (2007). Sex differences in brain activation patterns during processing of positively and negatively valenced emotional words. Psychological Medicine, 37(01), 109-119.

- Killgore, W. D. S. C. A., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2001). Sex differences in amygdala activation during the perception of facial affect. Neuroreport, 12(11), 2543-2547.
- Kilpatrick, L. A., Zald, D. H., Pardo, J. V., & Cahill, L. F. (2006). Sex-related differences in amygdala functional connectivity during resting conditions. NeuroImage, 30(2), 452-461.
- Kring, A. M., & Gordon, A. H. (1998). Sex differences in emotion: Expression, experience, and physiology. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 74(3), 686-703.
- Kringelbach, M. L., & Rolls, E. T. (2003). Neural correlates of rapid reversal learning in a simple model of human social interaction. NeuroImage, 20(2), 1371-1383.
- Laird, A. R., Fox, P. M., Price, C. J., Glahn, D. C., Uecker, A. M., Lancaster, J. L., et al. (2005). ALE meta-analysis: Controlling the false discovery rate and performing statistical contrasts. Human Brain Mapping, 25(1), 155-164.
- Lancaster, J. L., Tordesillas-Gutiérrez, D., Martinez, M., Salinas, F., Evans, A., Zilles, K., et al. (2007). Bias between MNI and Talairach coordinates analyzed using the ICBM-152 brain template. Human Brain Mapping, 28(11), 1194-1205.
- Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., & Cuthbert, B. N. (1998). Emotion, motivation, and anxiety: Brain mechanisms and psychophysiology. Biological Psychiatry, 44(12), 1248-1263.
- Leach, L. S., Christensen, H., Mackinnon, A. J., Windsor, T. D., & Butterworth, P. (2008). Gender differences in depression and anxiety across the adult lifespan: The role of psychosocial mediators. Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology, 43(12), 983-998.
- MacLusky, N. J., Naftolin, F., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1986). Estrogen formation and binding in the cerebral cortex of the developing rhesus monkey. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 83(2), 513-516.
- Maddock, R. J., Garrett, A. S., & Buonocore, M. H. (2003). Posterior cingulate cortex activation by emotional words: fMRI evidence from a valence decision task. Human Brain Mapping, 18(1), 30-41.
- Mayberg, H. S., Brannan, S. K., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., Brickman, J. S., Tekell, J. L., et al. (1997). Cingulate function in depression: A potential predictor of treatment response. NeuroReport, 8(4), 1057-1061.
- Mayberg, H. S., Liotti, M., Brannan, S. K., McGinnis, S., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., et al. (1999). Reciprocal limbic-cortical function and negative mood: Converging PET findings in depression and normal sadness. American Journal of Psychiatry, 156(5), 675-682.
- McClure, E. B., Monk, C. S., Nelson, E. E., Zarahn, E., Leibenluft, E., Bilder, R. M., et al. (2004). A developmental examination of gender differences in brain engagement during evaluation of threat. Biological Psychiatry, 55(11), 1047-1055.
- McManis, M. H., Bradley, M. M., Berg, W. K., Cuthbert, B. N., & Lang, P. J. (2001). Emotional reactions in children: Verbal, physiological, and behavioral responses to affective pictures. Psychophysiology, 38(02), 222-231.

- McRae, K., Ochsner, K. N., Mauss, I. B., Gabrieli, J. J. D., & Gross, J. J. (2008). Gender differences in emotion regulation: An fMRI study of cognitive reappraisal. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 11(2), 143-162.
- Nielen, M. M. A., Heslenfeld, D. J., Heinen, K., Van Strien, J. W., Witter, M. P., Jonker, C., et al. (2009). Distinct brain systems underlie the processing of valence and arousal of affective pictures. Brain and Cognition, 71(3), 387-396.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2001). Gender differences in depression. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 10(5), 173-176.
- Ray, R., Ochsner, K., Cooper, J., Robertson, E., Gabrieli, J., & Gross, J. (2005). Individual differences in trait rumination and the neural systems supporting cognitive reappraisal. Cognitive, Affective, & amp; Behavioral Neuroscience, 5(2), 156-168.
- Roselli, C. E., Klosterman, S., & Resko, J. A. (2001). Anatomic relationships between aromatase and androgen receptor mRNA expression in the hypothalamus and amygdala of adult male cynomolgus monkeys. The Journal of Comparative Neurology, 439(2), 208-223.
- Savic, I., & Lindstrom, P. (2008). PET and MRI show differences in cerebral asymmetry and functional connectivity between homo- and heterosexual subjects. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA., 105, 9403-9408.
- Sabatinelli, D. C. A., Flaisch, T., Bradley, M. M., Fitzsimmons, J. R., & Lang, P. J. (2004). Affective picture perception: gender differences in visual cortex? Neuroreport, 15(7), 1109-1112.
- Salimi-Khorshidi, G., Smith, S. M., Keltner, J. R., Wager, T. D., & Nichols, T. E. (2009). Metaanalysis of neuroimaging data: A comparison of image-based and coordinate-based pooling of studies. NeuroImage, 45(3), 810-823.
- Schienle, A., Schäfer, A., Stark, R., Walter, B., & Vaitl, D. (2005). Gender differences in the processing of disgust- and fear-inducing pictures: An fMRI study. Neuroreport, 16(3), 277-280.
- Schirmer, A., Escoffier, N., Li, Q. Y., Li, H., Wilson, J. S., & Li, W. I. (2008). What grabs his attention but not hers? Estrogen correlates with neurophysiological measures of vocal change detection. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 33(6), 718-727.
- Seidlitz, L., & Diener, E. (1998). Sex differences in the recall of affective experiences. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 74(1), 262-271.
- Sergerie, K., Chochol, C., & Armony, J. L. (2008). The role of the amygdala in emotional processing: A quantitative meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging studies. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 32(4), 811-830.
- Sharp, C., Van Goozen, S., & Goodyer, I. (2006). Children's subjective emotional reactivity to affective pictures: Gender differences and their antisocial correlates in an unselected sample of 7–11-year-olds. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 47(2), 143-150.

- Siegle, G. J., Steinhauer, S. R., Thase, M. E., Stenger, V. A., & Carter, C. S. (2002). Can't shake that feeling: Event-related fMRI assessment of sustained amygdala activity in response to emotional information in depressed individuals. Biological Psychiatry, 51(9), 693-707.
- Squire, L. R., Wixted, J. T., & Clark, R. E. (2007). Recognition memory and the medial temporal lobe: A new perspective. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 8(11), 872-883.
- Talairach, J., & Tournoux, P. (1988). Co-planar stereotaxic atlas of the human brain: 3dimensional proportional system: an approach to cerebral imaging (M. Rayport, Trans.). New York: Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc.
- Thomsen, D. K., Mehlsen, M. Y., Viidik, A., Sommerlund, B., & Zachariae, R. (2005). Age and gender differences in negative affect--Is there a role for emotion regulation? Personality and Individual Differences, 38(8), 1935-1946.
- Vogt, B. A., Finch, D. M., & Olson, C. R. (1992). Functional heterogeneity in cingulate cortex: The anterior executive and posterior evaluative regions. Cerebral Cortex, 2(6), 435-a-443.
- Vytal, K., & Hamann, S. (2010). Neuroimaging support for discrete neural correlates of basic emotions: A voxel-based meta-analysis. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 22(12), 2864-2885.
- Wager, T. D., Phan, K. L., Liberzon, I., & Taylor, S. F. (2003). Valence, gender, and lateralization of functional brain anatomy in emotion: A meta-analysis of findings from neuroimaging. NeuroImage, 19(3), 513-531.
- Wicker, B., Keysers, C., Plailly, J., Royet, J.-P., Gallese, V., & Rizzolatti, G. (2003). Both of us disgusted in my insula: The common neural basis of seeing and feeling disgust. Neuron, 40(3), 655-664.
- Wrase, J., Klein, S., Gruesser, S. M., Hermann, D., Flor, H., Mann, K., et al. (2003). Gender differences in the processing of standardized emotional visual stimuli in humans: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Neuroscience Letters, 348(1), 41-45.

Chapter 3

Sex differences in neural activity and amygdala connectivity associated with emotion processing

3.1 Abstract

Evidence suggests that women and men differ in emotional expression and physiology. The brain regions that exhibit parallel sex differences in response to emotional stimuli have been investigated in only a small number of studies. The amygdala and hypothalamus in particular might be expected to show sex differences, as these regions are sensitive to sex hormone levels, and have been shown to differ in gross morphometry between women and men. However, previous studies of sex differences in neural responses to emotional stimuli have not consistently found sex differences in the amygdala and hypothalamus, and have primarily used stimuli which evoke a mix of emotional arousal responses and other types of processing, such as faces. Here we investigated women's (n=13) and men's (n=14) neural responses to emotionally arousing scene stimuli using fMRI, and for the first time investigated sex differences in task-related functional connectivity of the amygdala. Women showed greater responses than men to negative stimuli in both the left and right amygdala, and greater functional connectivity between the amygdala and anterior cingulate cortex, perhaps reflective of the engagement of an emotion regulation circuit. Women also showed greater responses to positive stimuli in the right amygdala than men. Men showed greater responses to positive stimuli in the hypothalamus than women, and greater connectivity between the amygdala and nucleus accumbens in response to both positive and negative stimuli. The findings provide support for the idea that women and men engage different neural circuits during emotional responses, and may have relevance for understanding sex differences in the prevalence of mood disorders.

3.2 Introduction

Evidence from both the cognitive and clinical psychology literatures suggests that women and men differ in emotional functioning. Women show greater expressive and physiological emotional responses than men (Bradley, Codispoti, Sabatinelli, & Lang, 2001; Gard & Kring, 2007; Grossman & Wood, 1993; Kring & Gordon, 1998). In addition, women are much more likely than men to be diagnosed with mood-related mental health disorders such as depression (American Psychiatric Association, 2000; Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001; Pratt & Brody, 2008). Increasing evidence demonstrates parallel sex differences in gross structure for brain regions that perform key emotional functions, such as the amygdala and medial prefrontal cortex (Bramen et al., 2011; Good et al., 2001; Good et al., 2003; Gur, Gunning-Dixon, Bilker, & Gur, 2002; Neufang et al., 2009; Welborn et al., 2009). The goal of the current study was to investigate sex differences in brain function that contribute to sex differences in emotional function by examining brain regions in which women and men differ in their responses to emotional stimuli. Such questions are critical to understanding basic individual differences in human mental health, and in emotion more generally.

The proposal that women are generally more expressive of all types of emotion than men has been widely accepted (Hess et al., 2000, Fischer & Manstead, 2000). However, a growing body of findings suggests that women are particularly sensitive to negative or unpleasant emotional events, relative to men. Women show enhanced skin conductance, startle, and heart rate responses to negative stimuli but not positive stimuli (Bradley et al., 2001; Gard & Kring, 2007; Kring & Gordon, 1998; McManis, Bradley, Berg, Cuthbert, & Lang, 2001a). Negative stimuli also evoke greater event-related brain potentials in women than men (Gasbarri et al., 2006; Gasbarri et al., 2007; Kemp, Silberstein, Armstrong, & Nathan, 2004; Lithari et al., 2010). A few studies suggest that men may show greater emotional responses to positive stimuli than women, primarily in response to appetitive erotica (Bradley et al., 2001; Hamann, Herman, Nolan, & Wallen, 2004; McManis, Bradley, Berg, Cuthbert, & Lang, 2001b). Studying whether and where sex differences exist in neural responses to emotional stimuli can indicate whether differences in behavior are grounded in physiology, and can point to the specific underlying processes which aggregate to create differences in emotional behavior.

The amygdala and hypothalamus play central roles in the production and regulation of emotional responses. Lesions of these regions impair physiological and subjective responses to emotional stimuli, and the acquisition of conditioned fear (LeDoux, 2000). The amygdala and hypothalamus are likely to exhibit sex differences in function because they are densely populated with sex hormone receptors (MacLusky, Naftolin, & Goldman-Rakic, 1986; Roselli, Klosterman, & Resko, 2001; Zuloaga, Puts, Jordan, & Breedlove, 2008), and exhibit sexual dimorphisms in structure. Evidence for differences in women's and men's neural responses to emotional stimuli have been mixed, potentially related to variability in the methods by which emotions are induced, as well as the relatively small sample sizes of typical functional neuroimaging studies. However, a recent meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies found reliable sex differences in amygdala responses to emotional stimuli, as well as in the hypothalamus, and in several additional regions (Stevens & Hamann, 2012). The meta-analysis indicated that for negative stimuli, women consistently showed greater left amygdala and hypothalamus responses than men, and for positive non-erotic stimuli, men consistently showed greater left amygdala responses than women. The findings provided new evidence for sex differences in key regions involved in the production and regulation of emotion. In addition, no sex differences in amygdala activation were observed in an analysis that combined studies of negative and positive emotion, suggesting that sex differences in this region depend upon whether the emotional event is negative or positive.

In the current study, we examined sex differences in neural responses to emotional stimuli by measuring BOLD activation in women and men as they viewed negative and positive emotional scenes, and neutral scenes. Major goals were to investigate men's reactions to positive non-erotic stimuli in an empirical study, and to determine the effects of emotional valence on women's and men's relative responses to emotional stimuli. We predicted that sex would influence the responses of the amygdala and hypothalamus to emotional stimuli, based on previous neuroimaging studies (Domes et al., 2009; Hamann et al., 2004; Stevens & Hamann, 2012; Wager, Phan, Liberzon, & Taylor, 2003), and the density of gonadal hormone receptors in these regions (e.g., Roselli et al., 2001). Specifically, we predicted that women, relative to men, would show greater responses to negative stimuli in the left amygdala. More tentatively, we predicted that men, relative to women, would show greater responses to positive stimuli in the amygdala and hypothalamus, as has been observed in studies of erotic stimuli (Hamann et al., 2004) , and more generally to non-erotic positive stimuli in the meta-analysis of Stevens and Hamann (Stevens & Hamann, 2012) . In addition, no previous study has investigated sex differences in functional connectivity during an emotional response. Here, we used psychophysiological interaction analyses (PPI) to determine which regions showed functional connectivity with the amygdala in women and men. Information about functional networks engaged with the amygdala will provide novel information about the specific neurocognitive processes that may differ between women and men.

3.3 Methods

Participants

Twenty-eight healthy adults (13 women) were recruited through online advertising and flyers posted on the Emory University campus. Participants were screened in a phone interview to ensure they had no history of severe head injury, drug or alcohol abuse, or psychiatric illness. All participants were right handed, had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and had high school education or higher. Data from one male participant were excluded due to technical issues with the scanner. Data from the remaining participants were used for behavioral and brain imaging analyses, and included 13 women [age-M(SEM) = 28.2(1.9) years] and 14 men [age-M(SEM) = 27.7(1.4) years]. Five women were taking oral contraceptives and two women used a hormonal patch or ring at the time of the experiment. Participants were compensated \$75 for completing

the study. All participants gave written informed consent, and gave authorization for the use of their health information for research under HIPAA. Study procedures were approved by the Emory University Institutional Review Board.

Procedure

Participants began the experimental session by practicing the tasks that they would perform in the scanner. To gain familiarity with the timing of stimulus presentation and the response period, they viewed several examples of scene stimuli, and made a like / neutral / dislike judgment following the presentation of each scene. Participants then completed the modified Brief Index of Sexual Function (BISF; Taylor, Rosen, & Leiblum, 1994) and the NEO-FFI (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

During scanning, participants viewed static photographic scene stimuli from the International Affective Picture Series (IAPS; Lang, Bradley, & Cuthbert, 2008), and were instructed to attend to the pictures and feel whatever feelings and think whatever thoughts each picture elicited in them. To verify attention to each picture stimulus, we asked participants to make a simple rating of their emotional reactions, making like / neutral / dislike ratings using a button box. 36 positive, 36 negative, and 36 neutral full-color scenes were presented in a semirandom order such that no more than two pictures of the same valence preceded one another. Each picture was displayed full screen at a resolution of 1024x768 for 1.5 seconds, followed by a screen prompting the participant to make their rating of the picture presented for 1.5 seconds. The rating screen included a black background with "like / neutral / dislike" centered in the middle of the screen in white, 48pt Helvetica font. A white fixation cross centered on a black background followed each trial, comprising a jittered inter-trial interval of 1.5 – 2.5 seconds. This task took 9 minutes in total.

Following the scanning session, participants completed a series of memory tasks designed to assess long-term memory for the emotional and neutral scene stimuli. Results relating to memory for the scenes will be reported in a separate paper. To measure participants' subjective emotional responses to the scenes, we asked participants to view the 108 pictures from the scanning session and rate each one on a five-point scale of emotional arousal (1- very little or no arousal, 5 – high arousal). The orders of items for the picture viewing and rating tasks were counterbalanced across participants. Psyscope XB53 software (Cohen, MacWhinney, Flatt, & Provost, 1993) was used for stimulus presentation in the encoding and rating tasks.

MRI acquisition and analysis

Scanning took place on a 3.0T Siemens Trio with echo-planar imaging (EPI) (Siemens, Malvern, PA). Whole-brain structural T1 images were acquired with a gradient-echo T1weighted pulse sequence (TR =2.30s, TE=0.03s, 1x1x1mm voxel size). An EPI scout scan was then used to verify whole-brain coverage. EPI functional images were gathered using 37 3mm slices collected in an interleaved sequence (TR =2.00s, TE=0.03s, 3x3x3 mm voxel size).

Initial data quality checks were performed using ArtRepair software (Mazaika, Whitfield-Gabrieli, & Reiss, 2007), to identify signal spikes and motion artifacts. Slices containing spike artifacts were identified and replaced using linear interpolation, with no more than 4% of slices repaired per participant (mean=0.02%). Volumes affected by motion artifact were repaired using linear interpolation, with no more than 5% of volumes repaired per participant. Additional image preprocessing steps were implemented using statistical parametric mapping software (SPM8, Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology). Volumes were slice-timing corrected to the middle slice in time, and spatially realigned to the first image of the run. A 128Hz high-pass filter removed low-frequency noise (Holmes, Josephs, Buchel, & Friston, 1997). Unified segmentation normalization was used to normalize T1s and coregistered functional images to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template. Functional images were visually examined for signal dropout, to verify that no participant had dropout in any substantial portion of the amygdala or other medial temporal lobe regions. Images were then smoothed with an 8mm Gaussian kernel.

Each participant's BOLD responses to the emotional and neutral pictures were modeled individually in SPM8. Contrast images reflecting increases in activation for the positive and

negative pictures relative to the neutral pictures were created for each individual participant, and individual contrasts then entered group-level random effects analyses. To identify regions in which responses to positive and negative pictures differed for women and men, group-level comparisons were constructed using independent-samples t-tests on each voxel to contrast the responses of women against those of men, for positive > neutral pictures, negative > neutral pictures, and all emotional > neutral pictures. Sex differences were examined within a priori ROIs for the left and right amygdala, defined anatomically using the Anatomy Toolbox (Eickhoff et al., 2005), and the hypothalamus, defined anatomically using the Talairach Atlas. Follow-up analyses tested for differences between women and men across the whole brain. For both the ROI and whole-brain analyses, statistical significance levels were height-extent-corrected to a threshold of p < .05, using Alphasim analysis implemented in the REST toolbox (Song et al., 2011). To establish significance thresholds, Monte Carlo simulation was run using 1000 iterations, and an 8mm gaussian FWHM, consistent with smoothing kernel. For the amygdala and hypothalamus ROIs, simulation was run on all of the voxels within each ROI mask, with a single-voxel threshold of p < .05. Extent thresholds were k=20 for the left amygdala, k=16 for the right amygdala, and k = 9 for the hypothalamus, to reach corrected thresholds of p < .05. For whole-brain analyses, Monte Carlo simulation was run on all of the voxels within the average gray-matter mask. A single-voxel threshold of p < .01 was used, resulting in an extent threshold of k = 59 to reach a corrected threshold of p < .05. This whole-brain threshold was applied to the analyses of regional activation, and of functional connectivity with the amygdala.

To test the hypothesis that the amygdala participates in different emotional circuits in women and men, we conducted task-based functional connectivity analyses using the CONN Toolbox (http://web.mit.edu/swg/software.htm). The right and left amygdala, defined anatomically using the Anatomy Toolbox (Eickhoff et al., 2005), were used as seed regions. Activity in the amygdala was summarized using the mean signal across all voxels within the anatomically-defined volume. Within a gray-matter mask of the whole brain, each voxel's covariance with the activation of the left and right amygdala was assessed. Potential sources of noise, including movement parameters and main effects of task condition, were modeled as nuisance covariates. Covariance with amygdala activation during responses to positive scenes and negative scenes was contrasted with covariance with amygdala activation during responses to neutral scenes. The resulting contrast images for individual participants then entered group-level analyses comparing women and men.

3.4 Results

Subjective emotional responses

A 3 (emotion: negative, positive, neutral) x 2 (sex: women, men) mixed-effects ANOVA was used to assess the effect of emotion condition on subjective arousal levels, and to test whether this varied by sex. Emotion condition significantly influenced participants' subjective ratings of the scene stimuli, F(2,50) = 71.17, p < .001. Bonferroni-corrected paired comparisons indicated that negative [M(SEM) = 3.55(0.13)] and positive scenes [2.91(0.11)] were more arousing than neutral scenes [1.70(0.08)], positive: p < .001, negative: p < .001. Negative scenes were more arousing than positive scenes, p = .005. Because arousal responses were not balanced for negative versus positive stimuli, we considered negative and positive emotions separately in the brain imaging analyses, and did not compare responses to negative versus positive stimuli. The interaction of emotion by sex was not significant, F(2,50) = 0.17, p = .68, indicating that women and men did not differ in their arousal responses to the emotional stimuli. Because previous studies found that women reported greater subjective arousal than men for negativelyvalenced scene stimuli (Cahill, Uncapher, Kilpatrick, Alkire, & Turner, 2004; Canli, Desmond, Zhao, & Gabrieli, 2002), we conducted a follow-up t-test comparing women's and men's ratings of negative pictures. No significant group difference was observed [t(25) = 1.10, p = .28; women: M(SEM) = 3.69(0.22), men: 3.40(0.15)]. Women and men also did not differ in their ratings of positive pictures [t(25) = 0.64, p = .53; women: M(SEM) = 2.98(0.16), men: 2.84(0.15)].

Individual differences: Correlation with NEO

We administered the NEO-FFI (Costa & McCrae, 1992), a five-factor personality questionnaire whose subscales measure neuroticism, extraversion, openness to experience, agreeableness, and conscientiousness. Because the extraversion and neuroticism subscales have been previously related to reactivity to positive and negative stimuli, respectively, we used these subscales to index additional variability in individuals' responses to positive and negative stimuli. Women and men did not differ in their scores for Neuroticism [t(24) = 0.13, p = .90; M(SEM) =women: 17.92(3.40), men : 18.14(5.26)] or Extraversion [t(24) = 0.69, p = .50; M(SEM) =women: 26.83(6.79), men: 28.86(7.95)].

Sex differences in the amygdala response to emotional stimuli

All neuroimaging results (for regional activation and functional connectivity) are reported as responses to negative or positive stimuli, relative to neutral stimuli. For negative stimuli, women and men had increased activity in the left and right amygdala (Left: women: k = 82, Z =4.39, x, y, z = -18, -4, -17; men: k = 58, Z = 3.58, x, y, z = -21, -1, -17), (Right: women: k = 90, Z = 5.52, x, y, z = 18, 2, -20; men: k = 61; Z = 4.01, x, y, z = 21, -1, -11). Women showed greater activation than men in left and right amygdala responses to negative stimuli (Figures 1 and 2). In the left amygdala, a cluster of k = 31 showed greater activation in women than men (Z = 2.42, x, y, z = 24, -1, -20).

For positive stimuli, women and men also showed increased activity in the left and right amygdala (Left: women: k = 97, Z = 3.47, x, y, z = -18, -7, -14; men: k = 156, Z = 4.47, x, y, z = -21, -4, -20), (Right: women: k = 79, Z = 4.12, x, y, z = 27, -1, -17; men: k = 97; Z = 3.89, x, y, z =21, -1, -20). Women displayed greater right amygdala responses to positive stimuli than men (Figures 3 & 4). A cluster of k = 22 showed greater activation in women than men (Z = 2.85, x, y, z = 27, -7, -20). No sex differences in responses to positive stimuli were observed in the left amygdala. Men did not display greater amygdala activation than women, for negative or positive stimuli.



Figure 1. Amygdala responses to negative stimuli in women and men. Shows clusters of significant activation within the left and right amygdala ROIs, p < .05, corrected, displayed on the template brain of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI), in neurological orientation.



Figure 2. Amygdala responses to negative stimuli, displayed as the average percent signal change across the full anatomical volumes of the left and right amygdala ROIs. Amygdala ROIs displayed in green. Bars show ± 1 SEM.



Figure 3. Amygdala responses to positive stimuli in women and men. Shows clusters of significant activation within the left and right amygdala ROIs, p < .05, corrected, displayed on the template brain of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI), in neurological orientation.



Figure 4. Amygdala responses to positive stimuli, displayed as the average percent signal change across the full anatomical volumes of the left and right amygdala ROIs. Amygdala ROIs displayed in green. Bars show ± 1 SEM.

Sex differences in the hypothalamus response to emotional stimuli

For negative stimuli, both women and men showed significant hypothalamus responses (women: k = 72, Z = 4.34, x, y, z = 6, -4, -11; men: k = 54, Z = 3.42, x, y, z = 6, -1, -5). Women and men did not differ in the hypothalamus response to negative stimuli. For positive stimuli, both women and men showed significant hypothalamus responses (women: k = 30, Z = 2.86, x, y, z = -9, -7, -8; men: k = 67, Z = 3.79, x, y, z = 6, -1, -5). The group comparison indicated greater hypothalamus activation in men than women (k = 24; Z = 2.67; x, y, z = 3, -7, -11), as illustrated in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Hypothalamus responses to positive stimuli in women and men. Clusters of significant activation within the left and right amygdala ROIs, p < .05, corrected, displayed on the template brain of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI), in neurological orientation.

Responses to emotional stimuli in additional regions

For negative stimuli, no significant sex differences were observed in regions outside of

the amygdala and hypothalamus ROIs. Within-groups analyses of women and men showed that

each gender group demonstrated enhanced responses to negative stimuli within the amygdala, hypothalamus, insula, striatum, and medial prefrontal cortex (Table 1, Figure S1).

For positive stimuli, men showed greater responses than women in the right superior temporal gyrus, and in posterior cingulate cortex (Table 2). Women did not show greater responses than men in any region. Each group showed greater responses to positive stimuli in the amygdala, hypothalamus, insula, and medial prefrontal cortex (Table 2, Figure S2).

		MNI Coordinates							
	HEM	x	y	z	Z	k			
Women > Men									
No significant clusters									
Men > Women									
No significant clusters									
Women									
Amygdala	R	24	2	-20	5.57	1825			
Insula	L	-42	11	-11	4.54	(LM)			
Thalamus	L	-3	-13	4	4.45	(LM)			
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-60	-61	13	3.82	84			
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-57	-67	19	3.17	(LM)			
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-48	-55	7	2.85	(LM)			
Anterior Cingulate G.	R	3	26	19	3.52	73			
Anterior Cingulate G.	L	-3	32	16	3.3	(LM)			
Sup. Frontal G.	R	9	41	52	4.2	175			
Sup. Frontal G.	R	12	29	64	3.4	(LM)			
Supp. Motor Area	R	6	23	55	3.17	(LM)			
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-6	50	25	3.69	242			
Sup. Frontal G.	R	6	53	31	3.49	(LM)			
Anterior Cingulate G.	R	12	50	13	2.75	(LM)			
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-48	26	-2	3.34	67			
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-39	29	4	2.78	(LM)			
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-42	29	-8	2.75	(LM)			
Supramarginal G.	R	66	-31	34	4.67	227			
Supramarginal G.	R	63	-22	46	4.38	(LM)			
Supramarginal G.	R	66	-22	37	4.01	(LM)			
Supramarginal G.	L	-66	-28	34	4.02	86			
Supramarginal G.	L	-63	-52	31	2.62	(LM)			
Fusiform G.	R	45	-40	-26	4.44	466			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	54	-70	-8	4.2	(LM)			
Mid. Temporal G.	R	60	-61	7	3.79	(LM)			
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-51	-79	4	3.66	156			
Fusiform G.	L	-39	-46	-20	3.37	(LM)			
Fusiform G.	L	-42	-67	-14	3.27	(LM)			
Mon									
Amyadala	D	21	1	11	4.01	161			
Thelemus	P	6	-1	-11	4.01				
Thalamus		-3	-10	-5	3.42				
Tomporal Polo	D	-J 10	17	20	1 22	(LIVI) 67			
Temporal Pole	P	30	17	-29	4.23	(I_M)			
Tomporal Polo	D	10	17	-20	2.62	(LM)			
Mid Temporal G	P	40 54	_/0	-17	2.03	(LIVI) 75			
Inf. Temporal G.	P	J4 45	-49	-5	3.50	67			
Sup Frontal G		40	-73 50	-0	J.12 4.16	125			
Sup Frontal G	D	6	52	10	4.10	(1.M)			
Sup Frontal G	P	10	20	19	4.11				
Sup Frontal G		2	50	20	2.31				
Sup Frontal G		-3 _0	00 /7	22	3.33 3.42	92 (IM)			
Inf Frontal G	P	-9 51	41 20	1	3.43				
Fusiform C		01 /0	32 10	1	3.08	97 63			
FusilUIIII G.	Л	42	-40	-20	3.13	03			

Table 1Enhanced responses to negative stimuli, relative to neutral stimuli

Table 2Enhanced responses to positive stimuli, relative to neutral stimuli

			ordinated	,		
	HEM	X	V	, Z	Z	k
<i>Women > Men</i> No significant clusters			,			
Men > Women Sup. Temporal G. Temporal Pole Sup. Temporal G. Post. Cingulate G. Post. Cingulate G.	R R R L	57 60 60 6 -3	-4 11 -13 -40 -34	-5 -8 -2 22 31	3.54 2.74 2.68 3.4 3.09	64 (LM) (LM) 75 (LM)
Women Temporal Pole Insula Rolandic Oper. Temporal Pole Insula Temporal Pole Anterior Cingulate G. Sup. Frontal G. Anterior Cingulate G. G. Rectus Anterior Cingulate G. Sup. Frontal G. Sup. Frontal G. Sup. Frontal G. Sup. Frontal G. Cuneus Calcarine Fissure Inf. Occipital G. Inf. Occipital G. Inf. Occipital G.	L L L R R L R R L R R L L L L L R R R	-33 -42 -48 36 30 -6 21 3 -6 3 0 -15 -12 -18 -6 -9 45 51 45	5 5 8 11 14 17 41 50 47 35 26 35 23 26 -100 -88 -82 -76 -64	-17 -5 1 -32 -14 -35 16 25 10 -26 -29 -5 46 55 61 16 1 -14 -11 -14	4.5 4 3.89 3.67 3.32 3.15 4.37 3.73 3.43 3.25 2.44 2.38 3.30 2.67 2.57 4.72 3.31 3.96 3.82 3.30	260 (LM) (LM) 99 (LM) (LM) 685 (LM) (LM) (LM) 75 (LM) (LM) 74 (LM) (LM) 122 (LM) 122 (LM) 181 (LM) (LM)
Men Amygdala Inf. Frontal G. Inf. Frontal G. Mid. Cingulate G. Sup. Frontal G. Sup. Frontal G. Sup. Frontal G. Sup. Frontal G. Sup. Frontal G. Mid. Frontal G. Postcentral G. Supp. Motor Area Insula Inf. Frontal G. Insula Precentral G. Inf. Frontal G. Inf. Frontal G. Inf. Frontal G. Inf. Frontal G. Inf. Temporal G. Fusiform G. Mid. Occipital G. Fusiform G. Inf. Occipital G. Calcarine Fissure Sup. Occipital G. Sup. Occipital G. Precuneus	LLLRLLLRRRRRRLLLRRRLLLLLL	-21 -33 6 -3 -16 -3 -18 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 42 -48 42 -456 -30 -12 -9 -12 -9	-4 32 23 -1 11 62 59 50 35 -7 -22 -7 11 12 -1 11 2 -1 11 14 -82 -70 -49 -85 -64 -76 -85 -100 -94 -55	-20 -11 -14 40 34 19 -8 -8 49 58 64 64 -8 7 -11 222 10 -5 -5 -20 -2 11 -5 7 19 4 28	$\begin{array}{r} 4.47\\ 4.20\\ 3.98\\ 5.28\\ 2.57\\ 4.93\\ 4.73\\ 4.35\\ 4.31\\ 4.33\\ 3.41\\ 3.23\\ 3.43\\ 3.36\\ 3.31\\ 3.45\\ 3.44\\ 3.05\\ 4.32\\ 3.69\\ 2.77\\ 4.06\\ 3.50\\ 2.70\\ 4.00\\ 3.75\\ 3.64\\ 3.07\\ \end{array}$	805 (LM) (LM) 99 (LM) 674 (LM) (LM) 122 298 (LM) (LM) 135 (LM) (LM) 135 (LM) (LM) 259 (LM) (LM) 259 (LM) (LM) 127 (LM) (LM) 127 (LM) 127 (LM) 127
Precuneus Post. Cingulate G. Precuneus	L R L	-9 3 -3	-55 -49 -61	28 28 34	3.07 2.89 2.87	120 (LM) (LM)

Sex differences in functional connectivity with the amygdala

For negative stimuli, women showed greater functional connectivity than men between the left amygdala and the right inferior temporal gyrus, bilateral thalamus, left insula, and right middle occipital gyrus (Table 3, Figure 6a). Women showed greater functional connectivity than men between the right amygdala and the left pregenual anterior cingulate in BA 32/24, left superior parietal gyrus, and right fusiform gyrus (Table 4, Figure 6a). Men showed greater functional connectivity than women between the left amygdala and the right nucleus accumbens, right superior frontal gyrus, and left paracentral lobule (Table 3, Figure 6b). Men showed greater functional connectivity than women between the right amygdala and the left middle temporal gyrus and left superior and middle occipital gyrus (Table 4, Figure 6b).

For positive stimuli, women showed greater functional connectivity than men between the left amygdala and the left and right middle frontal gyrus (Table 5, Figure 7a). Women showed greater connectivity than men between the right amygdala and the left superior frontal gyrus (Table 6, Figure 7a). Men showed greater functional connectivity than women between the left amygdala and the right nucleus accumbens, left middle frontal gyrus, left superior frontal gyrus, mid-cingulate cortex, left middle occipital gyrus, left paracentral lobule, and right precentral gyrus (Table 5, Figure 7b). Men showed greater connectivity than women between the right amygdala and the middle temporal gyrus bilaterally, the right superior, inferior, and middle frontal gyrus, bilateral occipital cortex, and the left pre- and postcentral gyri (Table 6, Figure 7b).

92



Figure 6. Significant functional connectivity with the left and right amygdala seed regions, in response to negative stimuli. Amygdala seed regions are displayed in green. 6a: Regions that showed greater connectivity with left or right amygdala in women than men. 6b: Regions that showed greater connectivity with left or right amygdala in men than women. Clusters are significant at p < .05, corrected, displayed on the template brain of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI).



Figure 7. Significant functional connectivity with the left and right amygdala seed regions, in response to positive stimuli. Amygdala seed regions are displayed in green. 7a: Regions that showed greater connectivity with left or right amygdala in women than men. 7b: Regions that showed greater connectivity with left or right amygdala in men than women. Clusters are significant at p < .05, corrected, displayed on the template brain of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI).

		•••		0					
		MNI Coordinates							
	HEM	х	У	Z	Z	k			
Women > Men									
Inf. Temporal G.	R	40	-58	-6	3.66	112			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	54	-58	-6	2.57	(LM)			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	52	-48	-6	2.39	(LM)			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	60	-46	-20	3.57	145			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	56	-42	-14	2.88	(LM)			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	60	-36	-18	2.49	(LM)			
Thalamus	L	-6	-8	-2	4.52	256			
Thalamus	R	4	-10	-2	2.99	(LM)			
Thalamus	L	-2	-14	-6	2.81	(LM)			
Insula	L	-38	-16	6	3.23	70			
Heschl G.	L	-46	-16	8	2.44	(LM)			
Insula Mid. Occidentel O	L	-36	-22	14	2.35	(LM)			
Mid. Occipital G.	ĸ	42	-80	34	3.22	138			
Angular G.	ĸ	54	-72	30	3.01	(LIVI)			
Mid. Occipital G.	к р	40	-70	20	2.04				
Cerebellum- vermis	ĸ	0	-52	-20	3.31	95			
Men > Women									
Nucleus Accumbens	R	6	14	-14	3.58	219			
Nucleus Accumbens	R	6	18	-6	3.04	(LM)			
Inf. Frontal G.	R	28	22	-24	2.88	(LM)			
Sup. Frontal G.	R	10	44	-24	2.71	73			
G. Rectus	R	6	34	-24	2.46	(LM)			
Paracentral Lobule	L	-6	-22	76	3.13	76			
Paracentral Lobule	L	-10	-26	70	2.6	(LM)			
Women									
Thalamus	L	-8	-8	-2	4.36	466			
Hippocampus	L	-6	-14	-12	3.67	(LM)			
Thalamus	L	-2	-10	4	3.6	(LM)			
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-48	-44	-20	3.1	63			
Sup. Frontal G.	R	10	22	42	3.94	125			
Supp. Motor Area	R	6	22	50	3.15	(LM)			
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	14	22	30	2.56	(LM)			
Insula	R	34	28	6	3.91	480			
Inf. Frontal G.	R	40	34	-8	3.64	(LM)			
Sup. Frontal G.	R	30	52	12	3.41	(LM)			
Inf. Frontal G.	R	30	14	26	3.83	200			
Ini. Fiontal G.	к р	30	14	32	3.42				
Ini. Fioniai G.	ĸ	42	10	24	3.05	(LIVI) 501			
Cerebellum		-14	-70	-32	3.07	(LM)			
Cerebellum	R	12	-04 -62	-28	3 39	(LM)			
Mid Temporal G		-56	-70	16	3.63	92			
Angular G	L I	-54	-72	26	3.24	(I_M)			
Mid. Occipital G.	Ĺ	-42	-68	24	2.75	(LM)			
Cerebellum	Ē	-32	-38	-32	3.54	89			
Cerebellum	L	-32	-30	-30	2.62	(LM)			
Cerebellum	L	-40	-40	-32	2.59	(LM)			
Mid. Temporal G.	R	60	-38	-14	3.53	360			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	64	-44	-18	3.48	(LM)			
Inf. Temporal G.	R	40	-58	-6	3.15	(LM)			
Cerebellum	R	46	-44	-38	3.52	166			
Cerebellum	R	34	-40	-30	2.86	(LM)			
Cerebellum	R	26	-38	-26	2.86	(LM)			
Rolandic Oper.	R	48	-8	16	3.4	388			
Rolandic Oper.	R	52	0	16	3.36	(LM)			
Insula	ĸ	34	-14	22	3.31	(LM)			
Ivid. Temporal G.	L	-60	-16	-14	3.4	103			
Ivila. Temporal G.	L	-00 20	-20	-12	∠.98 2.2	(∟IVI) 217			
IIII. FIOIIIal G.	L	-30	28	4	3.3	217			

Table 3 Enhanced connectivity with left amygdala for negative relative to neutral stimuli

Inf. Frontal G.	L	-44	22	6	3.19	(LM)	
Insula	L	-26	26	4	2.7	(LM)	
Parahippocampal G.	L	-26	-34	-14	3.28	107	
Hippocampus	L	-30	-28	-10	3.04	(LM)	
Putamen	L	-30	-16	-8	2.95	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-42	22	-8	3.26	108	
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-46	28	-12	2.9	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-52	22	-10	2.72	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-8	44	22	3.26	85	
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-8	40	12	2.85	(LM)	
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-12	48	10	2.74	(LM)	
Angular G.	R	34	-58	34	2.93	61	
Angular G.	R	34	-56	44	2.5	(LM)	
Cerebellum	R	34	-70	-20	2.82	59	
Cerebellum	R	36	-64	-26	2.74	(LM)	
Men							
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-14	40	-12	3.53	74	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-18	48	-14	2.69	(LM)	
Parahippocampal G.	L	-8	-2	-32	3.46	87	
Parahippocampal G.	L	-8	6	-26	3.19	(LM)	
Parahippocampal G.	L	-16	4	-32	2.65	(LM)	
G. Rectus	R	12	20	-20	2.62	71	
Nucleus Accumbens	R	8	16	-14	2.55	(LM)	
G. Rectus	R	12	24	-12	2.43	(LM)	

MNI Coordinates								
	HEM	х	У	z	Z	k		
Women > Men		4.0			0.50	20		
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-12	38	8	3.52	88		
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-16	42	14	2.44	(LIVI)		
Sup. Parietal G.	L	-26	-44	72	3.81	147 (LNA)		
Sup. Parietal G.	L	-32	-50	70	3.20			
Fusiform C		-34	-42	6	3.02	(LIVI) 70		
Lingual G	R D	34	-00	-0	3.10	79 (I_M)		
Mid Temporal G	P	JZ 40	-62	∠ _2	2.05			
Mid. Temporar G.	IX I	40	-02	-2	2.04			
Men > Women								
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-62	-26	0	3.33	87		
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-62	-32	-6	2.38	(LM)		
Sup. Occipital G.	L	-24	-86	24	2.92	103		
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-30	-96	16	2.7	(LM)		
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-20	-82	18	2.58	(LM)		
Women								
Thalamus	L	-18	-16	-6	4.4	249		
Thalamus	L	-8	-8	-2	4.17	(LM)		
Thalamus	L	-14	-14	2	3.25	(LM)		
Postcentral G.	L	-56	-16	28	4.3	268		
Postcentral G.	L	-64	-20	28	4.07			
Postcentral G.		-48	-22	30	3.67			
Thelemus	R D	20 10	-10	20	4.07	04U (I_M)		
Thalamus		12	-12	-2	3.90			
Procupous	R	18	-0	42	3.72	118		
Precupeus	R	18	-60	44	3.41	(I_M)		
Sup. Occipital G.	R	22	-74	46	2.58	(LM)		
Amvodala	L	-26	-2	-18	3.74	161		
Hippocampus	L	-26	-14	-18	2.89	(LM)		
Hippocampus	L	-20	-4	-24	2.6	(LM)		
Inf. Parietal G.	L	-48	-34	42	3.58	81		
Postcentral G.	L	-44	-34	50	2.48	(LM)		
Angular G.	R	36	-56	36	3.56	94		
Inf. Parietal G.	R	40	-52	44	2.9	(LM)		
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-32	-60	12	3.5	61		
Precuneus	L	-30	-52	14	3.16	(LM)		
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-34	-68	12	2.68	(LM)		
Cerebellum	к р	30	-38	-32	3.48	124 (LNA)		
Cerebellum	к D	32	-30	-32 29	3.4Z			
Mid Frontal G	R	42	2	-20 58	2.02	195		
Mid. Frontal G	R	38	-2	64	3.03	(LM)		
Sup, Frontal G.	R	32	-8	64	2.92	(LM)		
Ant. Cinqulate G.	R	12	26	24	3.43	241		
Ant. Cingulate G.	R	6	20	18	3.32	(LM)		
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	12	22	40	3.24	(LM)		
Sup. Temporal G.	R	50	-34	16	3.41	121		
Supramarginal G.	R	48	-32	26	2.78	(LM)		
Rolandic Oper.	R	46	-26	18	2.59	(LM)		
Fusiform G.	R	42	-62	-18	3.39	204		
Inf. Temporal G.	R	42	-54	-14	2.65	(LM)		
Inf. Temporal G.	R	52	-58	-12	2.59	(LM)		
Postcentral G.	L	-26	-34	70	3.33	261		
Precentral G.	L	-32	-26	66	3.31			
Frecentral G.	L	-40	-26	64	2.00	(LIVI)		
Inf. Temporal C	L	-48 70	-4U 46	-∠4 10	3.3Z			
Inf. Temporal G	L I	-40	-40	-10	2.13			
Supp Motor Area	L R	-02 12	-30	-30 64	2.71	(LIVI) 96		
Supp. Motor Area	R	10	-8	64	2.25	(LM)		
Mid. Temporal G.	R	42	-56	16	3.19	100		

Mid. Temporal G.	R	52	-52	12	2.61	(LM)
Angular G.	R	40	-52	26	2.41	(LM)
Supp. Motor Area	L	-8	4	54	3.17	146
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-20	2	66	3.1	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-20	10	52	2.87	(LM)
Cuneus	R	10	-88	42	3.14	66
Cuneus	R	2	-82	40	2.52	(LM)
Cerebellum	L	-30	-40	-36	3.11	112
Cerebellum	L	-30	-44	-28	3.04	(LM)
Cerebellum	L	-32	-36	-28	2.4	(LM)
Angular G.	ĸ	40	-78	42	2.98	/ b
Angular G.	ĸ	54	-72	30	2.82	
Angular G.	R D	40	-70	30	2.7	
Postcentral G	R	40 /18	-20	40 52	2.90	94 (IM)
Postcentral G	R	40 52	-10	42	2.45	(LNI)
Cerebellum	R	12	-46	-18	2.4	69
Cerebellum	R	16	-46	-10	2.5	(I M)
Cerebellum	R	12	-62	-32	3.74	245
Cerebellum	R	24	-76	-36	3.69	(LM)
Cerebellum	R	16	-68	-28	3.14	(LM)
Sup. Parietal G.	R	34	-44	58	2.78	61 [′]
Postcentral G.	R	32	-36	58	2.55	(LM)
						()
Men						
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-20	14	-26	4.67	178
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-24	18	-20	3.53	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-32	28	-22	2.8	(LM)
Supp. Motor Area	L	-18	-8	64	3.79	118
Paracentral Lobule	L	-12	-14	66	2.99	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-24	-2	64	2.93	(LM)
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-20	-80	12	3.68	605
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-26	-82	24	3.33	(LM)
Cuneus	L	-14	-86	36	3.28	(LM)
Cerebellum	R	46	-40	-30	3.67	476
Cerebellum	R	46	-50	-32	3.28	(LM)
	R	36	-46	-30	3.2	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	ĸ	22	10	00	3.01	122
Sup. Frontal G.	ĸ	18	4	70	3.06	
Sup. Florital G.	R	24	-2	20	2.12	(LIVI) 275
Supramarginal G	R	56	-20	20	3.00	375 (IM)
Sup Temporal G	P	60	-20	22	3.19	
Mid Temporal G	R	46	-68	6	3.05	110
Mid. Temporal G	R	46	-70	14	3.02	(I M)
Mid. Occipital G	R	38	-70	10	2.66	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	I I	-60	-26	0	3.55	88
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-62	-26	8	2.65	(LM)
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-44	-16	-8	3.54	82
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-52	-16	-2	3.04	(LM)
Precentral G.	L	-48	-4	54	3.42	72 ′
Precentral G.	L	-42	-8	58	2.83	(LM)
Precentral G.	L	-52	0	48	2.4	(LM)
Precentral G.	R	60	10	18	3.42	97
Precentral G.	R	64	8	26	2.73	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	R	50	10	18	2.66	(LM)
Parahippocampal G.	R	24	8	-24	3.36	77
Sup. Frontal G.	R	16	20	-20	2.63	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	R	60	-16	-20	3.32	117
Mid. Temporal G.	R	52	-24	-14	3.26	(LM)
Inf. Temporal G.	R	58	-28	-18	2.41	(LM)
Supp. Motor Area	R	4	2	66	3.32	145
Supp. Motor Area	R	4	-2	74	3.13	(LM)
Supp. Motor Area	R	12	-4	66	2.99	(LM)
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-44	-74	4	3.31	123
Mid Terranal C	L	-42	-66	4	2.89	(LM)
Ivila. Temporal G.	L	-52	-70	4	2.54	(LM)
Inf. Occipital G.	L	-50	-70	-12	3.29 2.07	109
Inf. Tomporel C	L	-50	-0U	-14 6	2.01 2.10	
ini. remporal G.	L	-20	-04	-0	∠.4ŏ	(LIVI)

Precuneus	R	0	-70	52	3.28	183				
Sup. Parietal G.	L	-14	-74	58	2.7	(LM)				
Precuneus	L	-2	-56	54	2.69	(LM)				
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-36	-92	0	3.24	194				
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-38	-82	10	2.99	(LM)				
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-44	-88	-8	2.94	(LM)				
Inf. Frontal G.	R	40	20	30	3.24	251				
Mid. Frontal G.	R	50	12	52	3.06	(LM)				
Mid. Frontal G.	R	48	20	36	2.83	(LM)				
Supramarginal G.	L	-66	-48	24	3.17	183				
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-56	-64	12	3.17	(LM)				
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-62	-58	20	2.91	(LM)				
Sup. Temporal G.	R	58	-20	-2	3.16	160				
Sup. Temporal G.	R	50	-20	0	3.15	(LM)				
Heschl G.	R	48	-20	8	2.77	(LM)				
Supp. Motor Area	R	14	-22	52	3.16	88				
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	8	-26	48	2.89	(LM)				
Paracentral Lobule	R	16	-32	48	2.86	(LM)				
Cerebellum	L	-6	-68	-18	3.14	82				
Cerebellum: Vermis	R	0	-68	-24	2.78	(LM)				
Cerebellum	L	-6	-74	-24	2.4	(LM)				
Insula	R	48	8	0	3.14	238				
Insula	R	36	8	4	3	(LM)				
Insula	R	42	-2	0	2.5	(LM)				
Precentral G.	R	12	-28	72	3.13	144				
Precentral G.	R	24	-20	66	2.85	(LM)				
Precentral G.	R	16	-20	72	2.7	(LM)				
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-54	4	-6	3.09	82				
Temporal Pole	L	-50	12	-8	2.94	(LM)				
Calcarine Fissure	R	6	-70	12	3.07	127				
Calcarine Fissure	R	16	-86	10	2.78	(LM)				
Calcarine Fissure	R	12	-78	12	2.5	(LM)				
Cerebellum: Vermis	R	0	-36	0	3.05	77				
Post. Cingulate G.	R	4	-38	8	2.85	(LM)				
Post. Cingulate G.	L	-4	-36	8	2.67	(LM)				
Sup. Occipital G.	R	28	-62	30	3.03	189				
Angular G.	R	28	-54	34	2.98	(LM)				
Sup. Occipital G.	R	24	-74	36	2.95	(LM)				
Fusiform G.	L	-30	-40	-20	3.01	144				
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-44	-44	-26	2.67	(LM)				
Cerebellum	L	-34	-44	-26	2.39	(LM)				
Emanecu connectivity v	MNI Coordinates									
--------------------------	-----------------	-----------	------	----------	------	-----------------	--	--	--	--
	HEM	X	y	z	Z	k				
			-							
Women > Men	5		40		0.05	100				
Mid. Frontal G.	R	34	46	4	3.65	122				
Sup. Frontal G.	R	24	44	14	3.25	(LIM)				
Ani. Cingulate G.	ĸ	20	30	10	2.04					
Mild. Frontal G.		-24	34	20	3.20	/ O (I_NA)				
Corobollum		-20	52	50	2.12	(LIVI) 67				
Cerebellum	R	6	-58	-50	2 78	(I M)				
Cerebellum		-4	-58	-48	2.66	(LM)				
ocroboliditi	F	-	00	40	2.00					
Men > Women										
Nucleus Accumbens	R	6	10	-12	2.89	59				
Nucleus Accumbens	R	4	4	-18	2.53	(LM)				
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-42	8	58	3.71	64				
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-38	14	62	2.88	(LM)				
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-24	-8	72	3.08	68				
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	12	-16	48	3.08	97				
Supp. Motor Area	R	8 16	-10	52	2.77					
Calcarino Eissuro	ĸ	10	-20	52	2.40	(LIVI) 102				
Mid. Occipital G		-18	-96	-0	2 98	(I M)				
Mid. Occipital G	1	-14	-104	2	2.50	(LM)				
Paracentral Lobule	ī	-8	-20	72	3.58	111				
Paracentral Lobule	L	-16	-22	78	2.62	(LM)				
Paracentral Lobule	Ĺ	-2	-20	80	2.62	(LM)				
Precentral G.	R	48	-20	64	3.24	70 [′]				
Women		~~			4.00	100				
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-36	32	0	4.29	120				
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-40	32	8	2.96					
Inf. Frontal G.	L D	-30 54	20	-0 16	2.91	(LIVI) 112				
Globus Pallidus		-20	-10	-4	3.86	175				
Hippocampus	1	-8	-16	-12	3 55	(LM)				
Putamen	-	-30	-18	-8	3.52	(LM)				
Inf. Frontal G.	R	48	8	24	3.63	61				
Inf. Frontal G.	R	40	8	30	2.74	(LM)				
Inf. Frontal G.	R	32	8	28	2.71	(LM)				
Postcentral G.	L	-62	-2	28	3.57	140				
Postcentral G.	L	-60	-8	22	3.28	(LM)				
Postcentral G.	L	-60	0	18	2.8	(LM)				
Rolandic Oper.	L	-42	-22	16	3.4	159				
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-46	-28	12	2.8	(LM)				
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-42	-24	6	2.71	(LM)				
Inalamus	L	-18	-28	0	3.27	82				
l nalamus Hippocompus		-22	-32	0	2.66					
Mid Frontal G	P	-10	-30	18	2.40	(LIVI) 112				
Mid. Frontal G	R	34	38	26	29	(I M)				
Mid. Frontal G	R	42	44	18	2.0	(LM)				
Insula	R	40	-8	12	3.22	373				
Insula	R	38	-8	20	3.2	(LM)				
Putamen	R	36	-4	6	3.11	(LM)				
Sup. Frontal G.	R	16	52	24	3.05	138				
Sup. Frontal G.	R	22	56	16	2.83	(LM)				
Mid. Frontal G.	R	28	62	24	2.62	(LM)				
Inf. Frontal G.	R	40	28	-6	3.03	74				
Inf. Frontal G.	R	42	38	-2	2.93	(LM)				
Inf. Frontal G.	R	38	28	2	2.67	(LM)				
Inf. Temporal G.	R	40	-62	-6	2.86	79				
Inf. Temporal G.	R	42	-54	-6	2.8	(LM)				
Inf. Temporal G.	R	52	-50	-6	2.57	(LM)				

 Table 5

 Enhanced connectivity with left amygdala for positive relative to neutral stimuli

99

Inf. Frontal G.	L	-60	4	12	3.49	112	
Postcentral G.	L	-60	2	20	3.09	(LM)	
Postcentral G.	L	-48	-20	24	3.49	94	
Postcentral G.	L	-50	-20	32	3.34	(LM)	
Postcentral G.	L	-58	-16	34	2.87	(LM)	
Rolandic Oper.	R	58	-20	18	3.36	387	
Supramarginal G.	R	48	-28	30	3.15	(LM)	
Rolandic Oper.	R	50	-20	22	2.85	(LM)	
Hippocampus	L	-18	-4	-20	3.28	66	
Parahippocampal G.	R	18	-2	-18	3.21	64	
Amygdala	R	22	2	-10	2.85	(LM)	
Insula	R	46	8	-2	3.09	91	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	52	12	2	2.83	(LM)	
Sup. Temporal G.	R	54	-2	4	2.43	(LM)	
Postcentral G.	R	48	-22	64	3.07	126	
Precentral G.	R	44	-18	58	2.67	(LM)	
Precentral G.	R	36	-16	54	2.5	(LM)	
Paracentral Lobule	L	-8	-26	60	2.89	112	
Paracentral Lobule	L	-10	-26	70	2.7	(LM)	
Supp. Motor Area	L	-2	-20	58	2.7	(LM)	

Table 6 Enhanced connectivity with right amygdala for positive relative to neutral stimuli

v	0	MNI Co	ordinates			
	HEM	х	у	z	Z	k
Women > Men						
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-18	26	42	3.1	142
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-24	32	30	2.98	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-22	22	36	2.75	(LM)
Men > Women						
Mid Temporal G	1	-66	-46	6	4 71	208
Mid. Temporal G.	Ĺ	-60	-50	Õ	2.76	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-56	-42	4	2.6	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-56	4	-30	3.94	97
Temporal Pole	L	-54	14	-24	3.66	(LM)
Temporal Pole	L	-50	10	-30	2.39	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-56	-28	0	3.3	129
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-42	-18	-8	3.18	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-54	-22	-6	2.68	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	R	62	-62	6	3.22	94
Mid. Temporal G.	R	68	-50	12	3.04	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	R	64	-54	4	2.95	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-60	-10	-8	3.22	91
Mid. Temporal G.		-00	-10	-14	3.10	
Sup Frontal G		-00	2	-10	3.1	(LIVI) 62
Sup Frontal G	R	18	4 12	70	2 75	02 (LM)
Sup Frontal G	R	14	4	72	2.73	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	48	16	34	3.15	86
Mid. Frontal G.	R	34	14	40	2.94	120
Mid. Frontal G.	R	48	38	36	2.56	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	R	40	20	34	2.52	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	R	54	32	-2	2.85	103
Inf. Frontal G.	R	50	38	2	2.65	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	R	44	44	-18	2.65	(LM)
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-26	-102	6	3.36	404
Inf. Occipital G.	L	-18	-92	-6	3.15	(LM)
Sup. Occipital G.	L	-12	-104	10	3.07	(LM)
Inf. Occipital G.	R	52	-/6	-2	2.94	94
Calcarina Eissura	R D	40	-70	4	2.9	(LIVI) 67
Inf Occinital G	R	20	-102	-6	2.94	(I_M)
Precentral G		-56	10	40	3.86	118
Precentral G.	Ĺ	-56	2	28	3.16	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-50	18	40	2.61	(LM)
Postcentral G.	L	-60	-8	42	3.27	78
Postcentral G.	L	-56	-4	48	2.67	(LM)
Postcentral G.	L	-62	-20	18	3.16	171
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-68	-20	6	2.88	(LM)
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-56	-16	12	2.65	(LM)
14/2						
Vinnen		22	11	o	4.4	242
Thelemus		-22	-14	-0	4.4	243 (I_M)
Thalamus		-10	-4 -14	0	3.25	
Thalamus	R	12	-22	18	4 15	90
Thalamus	R	22	-28	18	2.97	(I_M)
Thalamus	R	16	-26	12	2.83	(LM)
Rolandic Oper.	R	40	-32	18	3.81	127
Insula	R	32	-30	18	2.7	(LM)
Supramarginal G.	R	46	-38	22	2.46	(LM)
Thalamus	R	12	-16	-6	3.67	174
Hippocampus	R	22	-10	-18	3.02	(LM)
Hippocampus	R	16	-10	-12	3.01	(LM)
Rolandic Oper.	R	46	-4	18	3.48	217
Precentral G.	R	54	4	24	3.22	(LM)
Precentral G.	R	46	4	28	2.89	(LM)
Hippocampus	к	36	-20	-12	3.33	157

Hippocampus	R	34	-32	-6	3.26	(LM)
Parahippocampal G.	R	28	-40	-6	2.94	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G Triangular part	R	40	32	6	3.26	69 (INA)
Mid Temporal G	R	40 42	-62	0	3 3 21	(LIVI) 103
Inf Temporal G	R	42 46	-02	-6	2.9	(I M)
Inf. Occipital G.	R	36	-62	-6	2.86	(LM)
Supp. Motor Area	R	6	4	70	3.18	76 [′]
Supp. Motor Area	R	6	12	66	2.69	(LM)
Supp. Motor Area	R	2	-2	66	2.43	(LM)
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-44	-28	12	2.96	123
Heschi G.	L	-38	-22	12	2.88	(LM)
Inf Pariotal C		-30 49	-20	10	2.09	(LIVI)
Inf Parietal G	R	40 46	-44	40 56	2.0	(I M)
Inf. Parietal G.	R	52	-36	46	2.5	(LM)
Postcentral G.	L	-60	-2	18	4.5	334 [′]
Precentral G.	L	-60	0	26	3.7	(LM)
Rolandic Oper.	L	-62	-2	4	3.25	(LM)
Cuneus	R	10	-76	34	2.6	72
Precuneus	R	6	-82	46	2.56	(LM)
Cuneus	R	2	-80	36	2.55	(LIVI)
Men						
Sup. Frontal G.	R	6	44	54	4.39	217
Sup. Frontal G.	R	4	50	48	3.92	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-2	44	52	3.59	(LM)
Postcentral G.	L	-48	-20	24	4.39	1648
Precentral G.	L	-62	2	28	4.23	(LM)
Postcentral G.	L	-50	-20	32	3.97	(LM)
Sup. Temporal G.		-42	-22	-4 10	4.14	141 (IM)
Putamen		-44 -32	-20	-10	2.68	(LIVI) (LM)
Supramarginal G.	R	54	-28	30	3.98	611
Heschl G.	R	40	-20	12	3.24	(LM)
Insula	R	42	4	6	3.13	(LM)
Temporal Pole	L	-50	20	-20	3.84	70
Temporal Pole	L	-44	24	-16	2.82	(LM)
Caudate	L	-2	10	-2	3.79	90
		-0 -6	10	-2 -12	2.12	(LIVI)
Sup. Temporal G.		-38	-36	6	3.77	106
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-38	-44	4	3.56	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-46	-46	0	2.54	(LM)
Inf. Occipital G.	L	-36	-88	-6	3.56	1109
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-40	-92	0	3.52	(LM)
Sup. Occipital G.	L	-6	-100	18	3.49	(LM)
Sup Frontal G.	R	0	64 68	24 19	3.43	86 (IM)
Sup. Frontal G		4 -12	68 68	24	2.73	(LIVI) (LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	Ĺ	-68	-50	6	3.43	720
Supramarginal G.	L	-40	-46	28	3.4	(LM)
Inf. Occipital G.	L	-50	-74	-12	3.28	(LM)
Sup. Temporal G.	R	64	-2	0	3.42	488
Precentral G.	R	60	4	28	3.35	(LM)
Precentral G.	R	64	8	22	3.18	(LM)
Cerebellum		-30	-44 -36	-20	3.37	209 (LM)
Fusiform G		-36	-36	-30	2 75	(LIVI) (LM)
Supp. Motor Area	R	12	-24	52	3.37	71
Supp. Motor Area	R	2	-22	54	2.78	(LM)
Supp. Motor Area	R	6	-12	54	2.45	(LM)
Sup. Occipital G.	R	22	-92	6	3.34	272
Int. Occipital G.	К	26	-102	-6	3.17	(LM)
Laicarine Fissure	ĸ	22	-94 29	-2	2.92	(LM) 124
Sup Frontal G	L 	-10 -18	∠o 46	-10 -14	3.20 3.17	124 (IM)
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-18	36	-16	2.74	(LM)
Parahippocampal G.	L	-20	8	-26	3.13	66
Olfactory cortex	L	-18	10	-18	2.79	(LM)

Inf. Frontal G.	L	-20	18	-26	2.36	(LM)	
Cerebellum	L	-26	-86	-36	3.11	68	
Cerebellum	L	-26	-82	-28	2.68	(LM)	
Cerebellum	L	-30	-78	-36	2.46	(LM)	
Inf. Occipital G.	R	50	-76	-14	3.1	101	
Cerebellum	R	48	-68	-24	2.7	(LM)	
Inf. Occipital G.	R	52	-76	-2	2.65	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	18	-10	66	3.08	66	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	24	-14	70	2.71	(LM)	
Precentral G.	R	30	-20	72	2.49	(LM)	
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-42	-10	-36	3.02	85	
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-46	-6	-30	2.8	(LM)	
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-46	-6	-42	2.39	(LM)	
Mid. Frontal G.	R	28	12	40	3.01	96	
Mid. Frontal G.	R	34	18	36	2.75	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	34	8	24	2.67	(LM)	
Supp. Motor Area	R	4	-4	72	3.01	89	
Supp. Motor Area	R	12	-14	72	2.86	(LM)	
Supp. Motor Area		0	4	70	2.43	(LM)	
Supp. Motor Area		0	20	66	2.9	67	
Supp. Motor Area		0	8	66	2.64	(LM)	
Supp. Motor Area	L	-2	14	60	2.38	(LM)	
Cuneus	L	-12	-82	28	2.69	64	
Cuneus	L	-8	-92	30	2.35	(LM)	

3.5 Discussion

This study examined differences in women's and men's neural responses to negative and positive emotional stimuli, using functional MRI to examine the activation of individual brain regions, as well as patterns of functional connectivity between regions. Women and men did not differ in subjective arousal responses to the negative and positive emotional scene stimuli. However, we did observe sexually dimorphic neural responses to the emotional scenes. Both sexes showed robust amygdala responses to the emotional scene stimuli, but women showed greater amygdala responses than men for both positive and negative scenes. Men showed a greater hypothalamus response to positive stimuli than women. The findings supported our hypothesis that sex differences would vary as a function of emotional valence (negative vs. positive). These findings add to the small literature showing sex differences in neural responses to positive emotional stimuli (Fine, Semrud-Clikeman, & Zhu, 2009; George, Ketter, Parekh, Herscovitch, & Post, 1996; Hofer et al., 2007; Killgore & Yurgelun-Todd, 2001), and represent the first investigation of responses to positive, non-erotic IAPS scene stimuli. Previous studies of positive emotion in women and men primarily used emotional face stimuli, which are more

indicative of responses to non-verbal social cues about others' emotion, rather than emotional arousal responses (Sabatinelli, Fortune, Li, Siddiqui, Krafft et al., 2011). In addition, the current study was the first to examine sex differences in connectivity between brain regions during emotional processing, and identified distinct connections in women and men between the amygdala and other emotion-related regions.

When presented with negative scenes, both women and men exhibited bilateral amygdala activation, but women showed greater amygdala responses than men in both the left and right hemispheres. Previous studies of neural responses to negative stimuli have found enhanced responses to negative stimuli in both the left amygdala and right amygdala in women relative to men (Derntl et al., 2010; Domes et al., 2009; McClure et al., 2004). Although women and men each showed activation across a distributed network of emotion-related regions, no sex differences in negative emotion were observed outside the amygdala.

For positive scenes, both women and men showed activation in the amygdala bilaterally. Although we hypothesized that men would show a greater response than women in the right amygdala, this was not the case. Instead, no region of left or right amygdala was more active in men. In fact, we observed a greater response of the right amygdala in women than men. Men did show a greater response of the hypothalamus than women, consistent with our hypotheses, and with previous studies of sex differences in the neural processing of erotic stimuli (e.g., Hamann et al., 2004). This suggests that enhanced responses to erotic stimuli observed in men in previous studies may generalize to the processing of positive non-erotic stimuli. Studies using the IAPS stimulus set have shown that pictures with erotic content evoke greater emotional arousal and pleasantness responses than other types of positive pictures such as cute animals or appetizing food, and that among the positive pictures, only these highly-arousing erotic pictures evoke stronger brain and physiological responses in males than females (Bradley et al., 2001; McManis et al., 2001a; Sabatinelli, Flaisch, Bradley, Fitzsimmons, & Lang, 2004). The current study provides initial evidence to disentangle effects related to sexual versus emotional arousal responses. Future studies might observe additional sex differences with more highly arousing, but non-erotic, positive stimuli.

Functional connectivity analyses revealed that the amygdala interacted with this distributed network of regions in both women and men, and differed in its participation with certain regions in each sex. For negative scenes, women showed greater connectivity than men between the amygdala and several regions involved in the regulation of emotional responses, such as the pregenual anterior cingulate cortex, left insula, and bilateral thalamus. These regions of the anterior cingulate and thalamus overlap with the findings of our previous meta-analysis (Stevens & Hamann, 2012), which showed more consistent activation across studies of the amygdala, anterior cingulate, and thalamus in women relative to men. The finding that the anterior cingulate and thalamus show greater functional interaction with the amygdala in women than men is consistent with the idea that a coordinated emotional response involving multiple brain regions underlies the enhanced expressive, subjective, and physiological responses to negative stimuli often observed in women. Women also showed greater connectivity than men between the amygdala and regions of the occipital cortex, fusiform gyrus, posterior parietal cortex, which are involved in processing and attending to visual input cites. For positive stimuli, there were fewer regions in which women showed greater connectivity than men, consistent with the hypothesis that women are especially sensitive to negative stimuli. Women showed enhanced connectivity between the amygdala and left and right superior frontal regions, relative to men.

In contrast, men showed greater connectivity than women between the amygdala and the nucleus accumbens, a region associated with the anticipation of reward and approach-oriented behavior (Knutson, Adams, Fong, & Hommer, 2001; Parkinson, Olmstead, Burns, Robbins, & Everitt, 1999; Salamone, Correa, Mingote, & Weber, 2005). This was observed for both negative and positive stimuli. The preponderance of research links the nucleus accumbens with appetitive responses involving positive stimuli, but has also been observed to be necessary for avoidance responses to aversive stimulation (Salamone, 1994). Men also showed greater connectivity

between the amygdala and regions of lateral temporal cortex, superior frontal cortex, and sensorimotor cortex. Taken together, the functional connectivity findings suggest that the amygdala engages in different neurocognitive processes in women and men, and / or varies in the strength of its involvement in each process.

A key factor in the study of sex differences in emotion is the fact that the same stimuli often elicit different reactions in different individuals (Hamann & Canli, 2004), and different responses in women and men (Bradley et al., 2001; McManis et al., 2001b), along the subjective or physiological dimensions of arousal, or potentially other features of emotion. In the current study, women and men did not differ in their subjective arousal responses to the negative, positive, or neutral stimuli. A lack of sex differences in subjective arousal does not preclude the possibility of sex differences in physiological arousal responses. However, the absence of differences in subjective arousal suggests that women and men engaged different neural and cognitive processes in response to emotional stimuli (Canli et al., 2002). These findings are consistent with those of several studies which balanced subjective and physiological arousal responses in women and men, but still observed sex differences in the activity of the amygdala, hypothalamus, and other emotion-related regions (Hamann et al., 2004; Wrase et al., 2003). Several additional sources of women's enhanced response to negative stimuli have been posited, including a greater propensity to ruminate over negative events (Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001; Thomsen, Mehlsen, Viidik, Sommerlund, & Zachariae, 2005) and greater baseline stress levels (Hammen, 2005), relative to men. Differences in the regulation of negative emotion have also been proposed (Domes et al., 2009; McRae, Ochsner, Mauss, Gabrieli, & Gross, 2008). Fewer explanations have been outlined for men's stronger responses to positive stimuli.

In summary, negative and positive stimuli activated different brain regions in women and men. Women showed stronger amygdala responses to negative stimuli than men, and men showed stronger hypothalamus responses to positive stimuli than women. In addition, the amygdala engaged in different networks in women and men, showing greater connectivity with regulatory regions such as the prefrontal cortex in women, and with regions mediating appetitive behavior such as the nucleus accumbens in men. These findings highlight the importance of considering gender effects in studies of emotional functioning, and highlight sex differences in brain processes which may inform clinical theory for disorders such as depression and anxiety.

3.6 References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV-TR) (4 ed.). Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association.
- Bradley, M. M., Codispoti, M., Sabatinelli, D., & Lang, P. J. (2001). Emotion and motivation II: Sex differences in picture processing. Emotion, 1(3), 300-319.
- Bramen, J. E., Hranilovich, J. A., Dahl, R. E., Forbes, E. E., Chen, J., Toga, A. W., et al. (2011). Puberty influences medial temporal lobe and cortical gray matter maturation differently in boys than girls matched for sexual maturity. Cerebral Cortex, 21(3), 636-646.
- Cahill, L., Uncapher, M., Kilpatrick, L., Alkire, M. T., & Turner, J. (2004). Sex-related hemispheric lateralization of amygdala function in emotionally influenced memory: An fMRI investigation. Learning & Memory, 11(3), 261-266.
- Canli, T., Desmond, J. E., Zhao, Z., & Gabrieli, J. D. E. (2002). Sex differences in the neural basis of emotional memories. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(16), 10789-10794.
- Cohen, J. D., MacWhinney, B., Flatt, M., & Provost, J. (1993). PsyScope: A new graphic interactive environment for designing psychology experiments. Behavioral Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers, 25(2), 257-271.
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). Revised NEO Personality Inventory (NEO PI-R) and NEO Five-Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI): Professional manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Derntl, B., Finkelmeyer, A., Eickhoff, S., Kellermann, T., Falkenberg, D. I., Schneider, F., et al. (2010). Multidimensional assessment of empathic abilities: Neural correlates and gender differences. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 35(1), 67-82.
- Domes, G., Schulze, L., Böttger, M., Grossmann, A., Hauenstein, K., Wirtz, P. H., et al. (2009). The neural correlates of sex differences in emotional reactivity and emotion regulation. Human Brain Mapping, 31(5), 758-769.
- Eickhoff, S., Stephan, K. E., Mohlberg, H., Grefkes, C., Fink, G. R., Amunts, K., et al. (2005). A new SPM toolbox for combining probabilistic cytoarchitectonic maps and functional imaging data. Neuroimage, 25(4), 1325-1335.
- Fine, J. G., Semrud-Clikeman, M., & Zhu, D. C. (2009). Gender differences in BOLD activation to face photographs and video vignettes. Behavioural Brain Research, 201(1), 137-146.
- Fischer, A., & Manstead, A. S. R. (2000). The relation between gender and emotions in different cultures. In A. Fischer (Ed.), Gender and Emotion: Social Psychological Perspectives. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Gard, M. G., & Kring, A. M. (2007). Sex differences in the time course of emotion. Emotion, 7(2), 429-437.

- Gasbarri, A., Arnone, B., Pompili, A., Marchetti, A., Pacitti, F., Calil, S. S., et al. (2006). Sexrelated lateralized effect of emotional content on declarative memory: An event related potential study. Behavioural Brain Research, 168(2), 177-184.
- Gasbarri, A., Arnone, B., Pompili, A., Pacitti, F., Pacitti, C., & Cahill, L. (2007). Sex-related hemispheric lateralization of electrical potentials evoked by arousing negative stimuli. Brain Research, 1138(0), 178-186.
- George, M. S., Ketter, T. A., Parekh, P. I., Herscovitch, P., & Post, R. M. (1996). Gender differences in regional cerebral blood flow during transient self-induced sadness or happiness. Biological Psychiatry, 40(9), 859-871.
- Good, C. D., Johnsrude, I., Ashburner, J., Henson, R. N. A., Friston, K. J., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (2001). Cerebral asymmetry and the effects of sex and handedness on brain structure: A voxel-based morphometric analysis of 465 normal adult human brains. NeuroImage, 14(3), 685-700.
- Good, C. D., Lawrence, K., Thomas, N. S., Price, C. J., Ashburner, J., Friston, K. J., et al. (2003). Dosage-sensitive X-linked locus influences the development of amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex, and fear recognition in humans. Brain, 126(11), 2431-2446.
- Grossman, M., & Wood, W. (1993). Sex differences in intensity of emotional experience: A social role interpretation. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 65(5), 1010-1022.
- Gur, R. C., Gunning-Dixon, F., Bilker, W. B., & Gur, R. E. (2002). Sex differences in temporolimbic and frontal brain volumes of healthy adults. Cerebral Cortex, 12(9), 998-1003.
- Hamann, S., & Canli, T. (2004). Individual differences in emotion processing. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 14(2), 233-238.
- Hamann, S., Herman, R. A., Nolan, C. L., & Wallen, K. (2004). Men and women differ in amygdala response to visual sexual stimuli. Nat Neurosci, 7(4), 411-416.
- Hess, U., Senacal, S., Kirouac, G., Herrera, P., Philippot, P., & Kleck, R. E. (2000). Emotional expressivity in men and women: Stereotypes and self-perceptions. Cognition & Emotion, 14(5), 609-642.
- Hofer, A., Siedentopf, C. M., Ischebeck, A., Rettenbacher, M. A., Verius, M., Felber, S., et al. (2007). Sex differences in brain activation patterns during processing of positively and negatively valenced emotional words. Psychological Medicine, 37(01), 109-119.
- Holmes, A. P., Josephs, O., Buchel, C., & Friston, K. J. (1997). Statistical modelling of lowfrequency confounds in fMRI. Proc 3rd Int. Conf. Func. Mapp. Hum. Brain, S480.
- Kemp, A. H., Silberstein, R. B., Armstrong, S. M., & Nathan, P. J. (2004). Gender differences in the cortical electrophysiological processing of visual emotional stimuli. NeuroImage, 21(2), 632-646.
- Killgore, W. D. S. C. A., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2001). Sex differences in amygdala activation during the perception of facial affect. Neuroreport, 12(11), 2543-2547.

- Knutson, B., Adams, C. M., Fong, G. W., & Hommer, D. (2001). Anticipation of Increasing Monetary Reward Selectively Recruits Nucleus Accumbens. J. Neurosci., 21(16), 159RC-.
- Kring, A. M., & Gordon, A. H. (1998). Sex differences in emotion: Expression, experience, and physiology. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 74(3), 686-703.
- Lang, P., Bradley, M. M., & Cuthbert, B. N. (2008). International affective picture system (IAPS): Affective ratings of pictures and instruction manual. Technical Report A-8: University of Florida, Gainesville, FL.
- LeDoux, J. E. (2000). Emotion circuits in the brain. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 23(1), 155-184.
- Lithari, C., Frantzidis, C., Papadelis, C., Vivas, A., Klados, M., Kourtidou-Papadeli, C., et al. (2010). Are females more responsive to emotional stimuli? A neurophysiological study across arousal and valence dimensions. Brain Topography, 23(1), 27-40.
- MacLusky, N. J., Naftolin, F., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1986). Estrogen formation and binding in the cerebral cortex of the developing rhesus monkey. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 83(2), 513-516.
- Mazaika, P., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Reiss, A. (2007). Artifact Repair for fMRI Data from High Motion Clinical Subjects. Paper presented at the Human Brain Mapping.
- McClure, E. B., Monk, C. S., Nelson, E. E., Zarahn, E., Leibenluft, E., Bilder, R. M., et al. (2004). A developmental examination of gender differences in brain engagement during evaluation of threat. Biological Psychiatry, 55(11), 1047-1055.
- McManis, M. H., Bradley, M. M., Berg, W. K., Cuthbert, B. N., & Lang, P. J. (2001a). Emotional reactions in children: Verbal, physiological, and behavioral responses to affective pictures. Psychophysiology, 38(02), 222-231.
- McManis, M. H., Bradley, M. M., Berg, W. K., Cuthbert, B. N., & Lang, P. J. (2001b). Emotional reactions in children: Verbal, physiological, and behavioral responses to affective pictures. Psychophysiology, 38, 222-231.
- McRae, K., Ochsner, K. N., Mauss, I. B., Gabrieli, J. J. D., & Gross, J. J. (2008). Gender differences in emotion regulation: An fMRI study of cognitive reappraisal. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 11(2), 143-162.
- Neufang, S., Specht, K., Hausmann, M., Gunturkun, O., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Fink, G. R., et al. (2009). Sex differences and the impact of steroid hormones on the developing human brain. Cereb. Cortex, 19(2), 464-473.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2001). Gender Differences in Depression. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 10(5), 173-176.
- Parkinson, J. A., Olmstead, M. C., Burns, L. H., Robbins, T. W., & Everitt, B. J. (1999). Dissociation in effects of lesions of the nucleus accumbens core and shell on appetitive

Pavlovian approach behavior and the potentiation of conditioned reinforcement and locomotor activity by D-amphetamine. The Journal of Neuroscience, 19(6), 2401-2411.

- Pratt, L. A., & Brody, D. J. (2008). Depression in the United States Household Population; 2005-2006. NCHS Data Brief, 7.
- Roselli, C. E., Klosterman, S., & Resko, J. A. (2001). Anatomic relationships between aromatase and androgen receptor mRNA expression in the hypothalamus and amygdala of adult male cynomolgus monkeys. The Journal of Comparative Neurology, 439(2), 208-223.
- Sabatinelli, D. C. A., Flaisch, T., Bradley, M. M., Fitzsimmons, J. R., & Lang, P. J. (2004). Affective picture perception: Gender differences in visual cortex? Neuroreport, 15(7), 1109-1112.
- Sabatinelli, D., Fortune, E. E., Li, Q., Siddiqui, A., Krafft, C., Oliver, W. T., et al. (2011). Emotional perception: Meta-analyses of face and natural scene processing. NeuroImage, 54(3), 2524-2533.
- Salamone, J. D. (1994). The involvement of nucleus accumbens dopamine in appetitive and aversive motivation. Behavioural Brain Research, 61(2), 117-133.
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Mingote, S. M., & Weber, S. M. (2005). Beyond the reward hypothesis: alternative functions of nucleus accumbens dopamine. Current Opinion in Pharmacology, 5(1), 34-41.
- Song, X.-W., Dong, Z.-Y., Long, X.-Y., Li, S.-F., Zuo, X.-N., Zhu, C.-Z., et al. (2011). REST: A toolkit for resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging data processing. PLoS ONE, 6(9), e25031.
- Stevens, J. S., & Hamann, S. (2012). Sex differences in brain activation to emotional stimuli: A meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. Neuropsychologia(0).
- Taylor, J. F., Rosen, R. C., & Leiblum, S. R. (1994). Self-report assessment of female sexual function: Psychometric evaluation of the Brief Index of Sexual Functioning for Women. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 23(6), 627-643.
- Thomsen, D. K., Mehlsen, M. Y., Viidik, A., Sommerlund, B., & Zachariae, R. (2005). Age and gender differences in negative affect--Is there a role for emotion regulation? Personality and Individual Differences, 38(8), 1935-1946.
- Wager, T. D., Phan, K. L., Liberzon, I., & Taylor, S. F. (2003). Valence, gender, and lateralization of functional brain anatomy in emotion: A meta-analysis of findings from neuroimaging. NeuroImage, 19(3), 513-531.
- Welborn, B. L., Papademetris, X., Reis, D. L., Rajeevan, N., Bloise, S. M., & Gray, J. R. (2009). Variation in orbitofrontal cortex volume: Relation to sex, emotion regulation and affect. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 4(4), 328-339.
- Wrase, J., Klein, S., Gruesser, S. M., Hermann, D., Flor, H., Mann, K., et al. (2003). Gender differences in the processing of standardized emotional visual stimuli in humans: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Neuroscience Letters, 348(1), 41-45.

Zuloaga, D. G., Puts, D. A., Jordan, C. L., & Breedlove, S. M. (2008). The role of androgen receptors in the masculinization of brain and behavior: What we've learned from the testicular feminization mutation. Hormones and Behavior, 53, 613-626.

Chapter 4

Sex influences the role of the amygdala in memory for positive and negative stimuli

4.1 Abstract

The amygdala enhances subsequent episodic memory for emotional stimuli via modulation of hippocampal/parahippocampal activity. Previous studies have reported a sexrelated hemispheric asymmetry, such that amygdala activation predicting subsequent memory was left-lateralized in women and right-lateralized in men. However, prior studies examined only negative emotional stimuli. It is not known whether a similar effect extends to positive emotional stimuli. Here we investigated this question, and for the first time examined whether sex differences exist in amygdala-hippocampal interactions previously linked to the emotional enhancement of episodic memory. Women and men viewed emotionally positive, negative, and neutral pictures during event-related fMRI. Subsequent cued recall for positive and negative pictures was enhanced vs. neutral pictures, with similar memory effects in women and men. Women showed greater subsequent-memory-related activation than men for negative vs. neutral stimuli in the left amygdala. In the corresponding analysis for positive stimuli, women showed greater memory-related activation in the right amygdala and at a lower statistical threshold, the left amygdala. Women, relative to men, showed greater functional connectivity related to subsequent memory for negative stimuli between the right amygdala and left hippocampus. In addition, women but not men showed greater functional connectivity related to subsequent memory for positive stimuli between the left and right amygdala and the contralateral hippocampus. Findings suggest that previously observed sex-related hemispheric asymmetries differ according to positive or negative emotional valence of stimuli, and that functional connectivity related to subsequent memory for emotional stimuli differs by sex. Results highlight how emotional memory encoding recruits different brain regions and networks in women and men, differences that may relate to behavioral sex differences in emotional memory.

4.2 Introduction

Memory for emotional stimuli tends to be more accurate, vivid, and long-lasting than memory for neutral stimuli (Cahill & McGaugh, 1998; Hamann, 2001; Talarico, LaBar, & Rubin, 2004). Some evidence suggests that the enhancing effect of emotion on memory is greater in women than men; women recall greater numbers of emotionally evocative autobiographical memories than men (Fujita, Diener, & Sandvik, 1991; Seidlitz & Diener, 1998), report more clarity and emotional intensity when recalling autobiographical memories (Herz & Cupchik, 1992; Hess et al., 2000), and describe past personal experiences in more emotion-laden terms (Bauer, Stennes, & Haight, 2003). These studies reveal mixed findings on whether a sex difference in the effect of emotion on memory is greater for negative stimuli, or is comparable for arousing negative and positive stimuli. The preponderance of evidence suggests the enhancing effect of emotion on memory is driven by emotional arousal/intensity, and does not depend upon valence (whether the stimulus was positive or negative) (Bradley, Greenwald, Petry, & Lang, 1992; Cahill et al., 1996; Hamann, 2001; but see Kensinger, 2004; McGaugh, 2002). However, women have been shown to respond more strongly than men to stimuli or experiences that are negative in valence, whereas fewer sex differences in emotional reactivity have been observed for positive stimuli (Bradley, Codispoti, Sabatinelli, & Lang, 2001; Gard & Kring, 2007; Grossman & Wood, 1993; Thomsen, Mehlsen, Viidik, Sommerlund, & Zachariae, 2005). Greater emotional arousal responses to negative stimuli in women than men might be expected to produce a greater arousal-related enhancement in memory for negative stimuli.

Brain imaging evidence has indicated a parallel sex difference within the amygdala, a brain region implicated in generating and regulating emotional responses (Adolphs & Tranel, 1994; Davis, 1992), as well as modulating the strength of memory traces formed within the hippocampal event memory system (Cahill & McGaugh, 1998; Hamann, 2001). During encoding, or the initial establishment of a memory trace, amygdala activity correlates with subsequent memory for arousing stimuli, but does not correlate with memory for neutral stimuli (Cahill et al., 1996; Canli, Desmond, Zhao, Glover, & Gabrieli, 1998; Hamann, Ely, Grafton, & Kilts, 1999). Studies of the amygdala's contribution to emotional memory have consistently demonstrated sex differences in hemispheric laterality, finding that subsequent memory for negative stimuli correlated with amygdala activation that was left-lateralized in women, and right-lateralized in men (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill, Uncapher, Kilpatrick, Alkire, & Turner, 2004; Canli, Desmond, Zhao, & Gabrieli, 2002). However, these studies have focused on the amygdala's contribution to memory for negative stimuli, and have not examined its contribution to memory for positive stimuli.

The primary goal of the current study was to test whether sex differences in the laterality of amygdala activity are observed for the encoding of positive stimuli, as have been observed for the encoding of negative stimuli. Understanding encoding of positive stimuli will help to determine whether sex-specific hemispheric asymmetries in amygdala activity may extend more broadly to characterize the effects of both positive and negative emotion on memory formation in women and men. We used functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to examine regional brain activation as participants viewed emotionally arousing and neutral picture stimuli (Lang, Bradley, & Cuthbert, 2008). We included both negative and positive emotional stimuli to replicate and extend previous findings showing a sex difference in amygdala laterality for the encoding of negative stimuli. After scanning, participants completed free recall and cued recall tasks, and gave subjective ratings of their emotional reactions to the picture stimuli. We identified brain areas whose activity demonstrated a difference in memory (DM). These were regions that showed greater activity during the encoding of items that were later recalled, relative to items that were later forgotten. To examine the amygdala's contribution to memory for emotionally arousing stimuli, we examined the interaction between emotion and DM activity. We predicted the amygdala would exhibit DM activity for both negative and positive stimuli, but not for neutral stimuli. Based on previous studies that identified sex differences in amygdala laterality for the encoding of negative stimuli (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill et al., 2004; Canli et al., 2002), we

predicted that the DM for negative stimuli would be greater in the left amygdala for women relative to men, and greater in the right amygdala for men relative to women. A similar pattern of sex differences for positive stimuli would support the idea that sex differences in amygdala laterality are primarily driven by the emotional arousal or intensity of a remembered item, irrespective of its valence (whether it was pleasant or unpleasant).

An additional goal was to examine the network of regions demonstrating functional connectivity during successful emotional encoding in women and men. Amygdala activity has been shown to influence memory in part by modulating activity within the hippocampal memory system during encoding (Cahill & McGaugh, 1998; Dolcos, LaBar, & Cabeza, 2004; McGaugh, 2002). In addition, the amygdala has been shown to participate in networks that may influence memory indirectly (Murty, Ritchey, Adcock, & LaBar, 2010; Robinson, Laird, Glahn, Lovallo, & Fox, 2010; Roy et al., 2009). For example, the amygdala has been shown to modulate activity in ventral visual areas during perception of arousing visual stimuli (Amaral, Behniea, & Kelly, 2003), and this greater perceptual activity may lead to the creation of a more detailed representation in memory. We conducted analyses of whole-brain functional connectivity with the left and right amygdala, to examine sex differences in the networks of regions showing greater encoding-related connectivity for emotional relative to neutral stimuli.

4.3 Methods

Participants

Twenty-eight healthy adults (13 women) were recruited through online advertising and flyers posted on the Emory University campus. Participants were screened in a phone interview to ensure they had no history of severe head injury, drug or alcohol abuse, or psychiatric illness. All were right handed, had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and had high school education or higher. Data from one male participant were excluded due to technical issues with the scanner. Participants included in behavioral and brain imaging analyses included 13 women [age-M(SEM)]

= 28.2(1.9) years] and 14 men [age-M(SEM) = 27.7(1.4) years]. Five women were taking oral contraceptives and two women used a hormonal patch or ring at the time of the experiment. Participants were compensated \$75 for completing the study. Before beginning the study, participants gave written informed consent, and gave authorization for the use of their health information for research under HIPAA. Study procedures were approved by the Emory University Institutional Review Board.

Procedure

Participants began the experimental session by practicing the tasks that they would perform in the scanner, to gain familiarity with the timing of stimulus presentation and the response period. Participants then completed the modified Brief Index of Sexual Function (BISF; Taylor, Rosen, & Leiblum, 1994) and the NEO-FFI (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

During scanning, participants viewed static photographic scene stimuli from the International Affective Picture Series (IAPS; Lang et al., 2008), and were instructed to attend to the pictures and feel whatever feelings and think whatever thoughts each picture elicited in them. To verify attention to each picture stimulus, we asked participants to make a simple rating of their emotional reactions, making like / neutral / dislike ratings using a button box. Thirty-six positive, 36 negative, and 36 neutral full-color scenes were presented in a semi-random order such that no more than two pictures of the same valence preceded one another. Each picture was displayed full screen at a resolution of 1024×768 for 1.5 seconds, followed by a screen prompting the participant to make a rating of the picture, presented for 1.5 seconds. The rating screen included a black background with "like / neutral / dislike" centered in the middle of the screen in white, 48pt Helvetica font. A white fixation cross centered on a black background followed each trial, comprising a jittered inter-trial interval of 1.5 - 2.5 seconds. To minimize primacy and recency effects on participants' memory for the pictures, black and white buffer images displaying neutral scenes were presented at the beginning and end of the picture viewing task. Memory for these images was not tested, and participants' BOLD responses to these items were modeled in the error term of the imaging models. This task took about 9 minutes in total.

Immediately following scanning, but before participants exited the scanner, participants were given an unexpected memory test. They were asked to freely recall the pictures in any order, giving brief descriptions out loud. The experimenter allowed a maximum of three minutes for participants to list recalled pictures. Participants then returned to the lab and, after a tenminute delay, completed a cued recall test of memory for the pictures. Cued recall tasks provide external cues that provide additional support for recollection, relative to un-cued free recall, and have been shown to elicit memory performance levels that are optimal for analyses investigating the neural correlates of successful encoding of emotional scenes (Dolcos et al., 2004). The experimenter cued the participants to recall each picture by giving a simple verbal description of the picture content. Verbal cues ranged from one to three words. Participants indicated whether or not they could recall a picture corresponding with the cue, and described several details of the picture from memory; these details were recorded by the experimenter. Participants then indicated whether they remembered the picture, were familiar with the picture, or it was a new picture. Participants were asked to give a 'remember' response if they saw the picture in the scanner, and could recollect or remember something specific about the picture's presentation that made them confident that it was shown in the scanner. Participants gave a 'familiar' response if the item was familiar but they didn't have a specific recollection of any thought, feeling, or other information about the presentation of the picture. Participants also rated the vividness of their memory of each item, on a scale of 1 (not at all vivid) -5 (extremely vivid).

Lastly, participants completed an emotion rating task in which they again saw the 108 pictures from the scanning session, and rated their emotional responses to the picture on a 1-5 scale of emotional arousal (1- very little or no arousal, 5 - high arousal). The orders in which items were presented within the encoding, cued recall, and rating tasks were counterbalanced

across participants. Psyscope XB53 software (Cohen, MacWhinney, Flatt, & Provost, 1993) was used for stimulus presentation in the encoding and rating tasks.

Both free and cued recall tasks were included in order to optimize analyses of the neural processes during encoding that lead to successful subsequent memory. Some evidence suggests that participants devote additional processing resources during encoding to items that are later freely recalled, relative to items that are recalled only after cuing (Staresina & Davachi, 2006), because free recall requires a memory trace that is strong or elaborated enough to allow successful memory search in the absence of an external cue. We ordered the tasks under the assumption that a memory trace for a scene that is freely recalled would be of sufficient strength to also allow recall in response to a verbal cue. Additionally, participants did not receive feedback about the accuracy of their responses in the free recall or cued recall tasks, such that memory performance on the cued recall task was minimally contaminated by participation in the earlier free recall task.

FMRI results relating to sex differences in emotional reactions to the scene stimuli will be reported in a separate publication.

Memory task scoring

Free Recall. Free recall performance was scored off-line by two independent raters. Raters attempted to match each of the participant's verbal descriptions with a corresponding scene stimulus. Items were judged to be recalled if the verbal description accurately described the main element(s) of the scene. Disagreements between raters were resolved by a third party. Performance will be summarized using the proportion of items recalled out of the total number of items presented during encoding.

Cued Recall. Cued recall performance was scored off-line by two independent raters who judged whether or not the participant recalled a picture based on the descriptions provided by the participant. A picture was only judged to be correctly recalled if the participant's description included accurate details about the picture's content, and included at least one detail that was not

obvious from the verbal cue provided by the experimenter. Disagreements between raters were resolved by a third party. Performance will be summarized using the proportion of items recalled out of the total number of items presented during encoding.

Analysis of behavioral data

Three (emotion: negative, positive, neutral) x 2 (sex: women, men) mixed-effects ANOVAs were used to assess the effects of emotion condition on subjective arousal levels, performance on the free and cued recall memory tasks, and vividness ratings, and to test whether emotion effects varied by sex. Post-hoc paired comparisons were Bonferroni corrected. Analyses were conducted in SPSS 17 (SPSS, Inc.)

MRI acquisition and analysis

Scanning took place on a 3.0T Siemens Trio with echo-planar imaging (EPI) (Siemens, Malvern, PA). Whole-brain structural T1 images were acquired with a gradient-echo T1weighted pulse sequence (TR =2.30s, TE=0.03s, 1x1x1mm voxel size). An EPI scout scan was used to verify whole-brain coverage. EPI functional images were gathered using 37 3mm slices collected in an interleaved sequence (TR =2.00s, TE=0.03s, 3x3x3 mm voxel size). Initial data quality checks were performed using ArtRepair software (Mazaika, Whitfield-Gabrieli, & Reiss, 2007), to identify signal spikes and motion artifacts. Slices containing spike artifacts were identified and replaced using linear interpolation, with no more than 4% of slices repaired per participant (mean=0.02%). Volumes affected by motion artifact were repaired using linear interpolation, with no more than 5% of volumes repaired per participant. Additional image preprocessing steps were implemented using statistical parametric mapping software (SPM8, Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology). Volumes were slice-timing corrected to the middle slice in time, and spatially realigned to the first image of the run. A 128Hz high-pass filter removed low-frequency noise (Holmes, Josephs, Buchel, & Friston, 1997). After visually verifying that all participants' T1 images were free of ghosting or smearing artifacts, unified segmentation normalization was used to normalize T1s and coregistered functional images to the

Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template. Functional images were visually examined for signal dropout, to verify that no participant had dropout in any substantial portion of the amygdala and / or other medial temporal lobe regions. Images were smoothed with an 8mm Gaussian kernel.

Each participant's BOLD responses to the emotional and neutral pictures were modeled in SPM8. To test the hypothesis that emotional encoding depends on different neural substrates in women and men, we compared encoding-related activation for emotional and neutral scenes in women and men. We isolated brain activity contributing to successful encoding using subsequent memory analyses (Paller, Kutas, & Mayes, 1987; Wagner et al., 1998). For each participant, we constructed contrasts of regions where activation was greater during the initial exposure to scenes that would subsequently be remembered, versus scenes that would subsequently be forgotten. The difference in activation levels for subsequently remembered versus forgotten items is referred to as the difference due to memory (DM), and reflects the brain activity at encoding that is necessary in order for an item to be remembered later. DM activity tends to be larger for emotional relative to neutral items (e.g., Dolcos et al., 2004), and is observed for emotional but not neutral items in emotion-related regions such as the amygdala (Murty et al., 2010). To examine sex differences in DM activity associated with enhanced memory for emotional relative to neutral scenes, contrast images from individual participants entered group-level random effects comparison of emotional versus neutral subsequent memory effects. Independent-samples t-tests were used to compare women's and men's responses for the DM for negative scenes to the DM for neutral scenes, and the DM for positive scenes to the DM for neutral scenes [e.g., (negative recalled – negative not recalled) – (neutral recalled – neutral not recalled)]. Because previous studies have implicated the amygdala and hippocampus in enhanced encoding for emotional stimuli, we conducted ROI analyses for the left amygdala, the right amygdala, and the bilateral hippocampus using anatomical definitions from the SPM Anatomy Toolbox (Eickhoff et al., 2005). Follow-up analyses of whole-brain regional activation for DM activity for negative and

positive scenes were conducted for all voxels within an average gray-matter mask of the whole brain. The gray-matter mask was created by taking the mathematical average of the normalized segmented T1 images from all 27 participants, binarized at a threshold of 0.2.

For both the ROI and whole-brain analyses, statistical significance levels were heightextent-corrected to a threshold of p < .05, using Alphasim analysis implemented in the REST toolbox (Song et al., 2011). To establish significance thresholds, Monte Carlo simulation was run using 1000 iterations, and an 8mm gaussian FWHM, consistent with smoothing kernel. For the amygdala and hippocampus ROIs, simulation was run on all of the voxels within each ROI mask, with a single-voxel threshold of p < .01. Extent thresholds were k=4 for the left amygdala, k=3 for the right amygdala, and k=11 for the bilateral hippocampus, to reach a corrected threshold of p < .05. For whole-brain analyses, simulation was run on all of the voxels within the average gray-matter mask. A single-voxel threshold of p < .01 was used, resulting in an extent threshold of k = 59 to reach a corrected threshold of p < .05. This whole-brain threshold was applied to the analyses of regional activation, and of functional connectivity with the amygdala.

To test the hypothesis that the amygdala participates in different circuits in women and men during emotional encoding, we conducted task-based functional connectivity analyses using the CONN toolbox (http://web.mit.edu/swg/software.htm). The right and left amygdala, defined anatomically using the SPM Anatomy Toolbox (Eickhoff et al., 2005), were used as seed regions. Activity in each the left and right amygdala seeds was summarized using the mean signal across all voxels within the volume. Because our primary interest was in connectivity between the amygdala and hippocampus, we examined the covariance between the timecourse for each amygdala and the individual voxels within the bilateral hippocampal mask. Follow up analyses examined whole-brain connectivity with the amygdala; within the average gray-matter mask of the whole brain, we examined each voxel's covariance with the activation of the left and right amygdala. Individual participants' movement parameters and main effects of task condition were modeled as nuisance covariates. Covariance with amygdala activation during responses to positive scenes and negative scenes was contrasted with covariance with amygdala activation during responses to neutral scenes. The resulting contrast images for individual participants then entered group-level analyses comparing women and men.

4.4 Results

Emotional responses to scene stimuli

The emotional content of the scene stimuli significantly influenced participants' subjective ratings of the scene stimuli, F(2,50) = 71.17, p < .001. Negative [M(SEM) = 3.55(0.13)] and positive scenes [2.91(0.11)] were more arousing than neutral scenes [1.70(0.08)], positive: p < .001, negative: p < .001. Negative scenes were more arousing than positive scenes, p = .005. The interaction of emotion by sex was not significant, F(2,50) = 0.17, p = .68. Because previous studies found that women reported greater subjective arousal than men for negatively-valenced scene stimuli (Cahill et al., 2004; Canli et al., 2002), we conducted a follow-up t-test comparing women's and men's ratings of negative pictures. No significant group difference was observed [t(25) = 1.10, p = .28; women: M(SEM) = 3.69(0.22), men: 3.40(0.15)].

Memory for scene stimuli

Emotion significantly influenced free recall performance, F(2,50) = 37.54, p < .001. A greater proportion of negative [M(SEM) = .14(.01)] and positive scenes [.15(.02)] were recalled relative to neutral scenes [.03(.01)], positive: p < .001, negative: p < .001. No significant difference was observed in free recall of positive versus negative scenes, p > .99. The interaction of emotion by sex was not significant, F(2,50) = 1.26, p = .29. In addition, women and men did not differ in overall free recall performance (combining across emotion conditions), F(1,25) = 0.29, p = .60. The average proportion recalled for women and men is displayed in Figure 1.

Emotion influenced cued recall performance as well, F(2,50) = 53.49, p < .001. A greater proportion of negative [M(SEM) = .66(.03)] and positive scenes [.72(.03)] were recalled relative to neutral scenes [.51(.03)], positive: p < .001, negative: p < .001. Participants also

recalled a greater proportion of positive than negative scenes, p = .01. The interaction of emotion by sex was not significant, F(2,50) = 1.51, p = .23. Women and men did not differ significantly in overall cued recall performance, F(1,25) = 2.74, p = .11. The average proportion recalled for women and men is displayed in Figure 1.

Similar effects of emotion and sex were observed for free and cued recall. However, the proportion of items recalled in the more challenging free recall task was very low (11%; see previous paragraph), near floor for several individual subjects, which precluded using this task to perform an analysis of subsequent memory of the neuroimaging data. In contrast, performance for cued recall was much higher (63%), in an optimal range for analyses of subsequent memory (Dale & Buckner, 1997).

Participants also rated the subjective vividness of their memories for the scenes, on a scale from 1 (very low vividness) to 5 (very high vividness). Emotion significantly influenced vividness ratings, F(2,50) = 52.13, p < .001. Negative [M(SEM) = 3.79(0.11)] and positive scenes [3.76(0.12)] were recalled with greater vividness than were neutral scenes [3.22(.12)], positive: p < .001, negative: p < .001. Memories of positive and negative scenes did not differ in vividness, p = .99. The interaction of emotion by sex was not significant, F(2,50) = 0.67, p = .52.



Figure 1. Average levels of performance on the free recall and cued recall tasks, for women and men. The proportion recalled was calculated as the number of items recalled, out of the total number of items presented during the encoding task. Error bars represent 1 standard error of the mean. * p < .05.

Sex differences in the amygdala's contribution to subsequent memory for emotional stimuli

The contribution of the amygdala to enhanced memory for emotional relative to neutral stimuli was examined by testing whether DM activity was greater for emotional than neutral scenes, within the left and right amygdala ROIs. For negative scenes, women showed a greater DM effect than men in the left amygdala (k = 5; Z = 3.09; x, y, z = -21, -10, -5), but not the right amygdala (see Figure 1a). Men did not show greater DM effects than women, in either the left or the right amygdala.

For positive scenes, women showed a greater DM effect than men in the right amygdala (k = 6; Z = 2.65; x, y, z = 27, -1, -14), but not the left amygdala (see Figure 1b). At a lower threshold of significance (corrected p < .05 defined by a single-voxel threshold of p < .05 combined with an extent threshold of k = 20 for the left amygdala ROI and k = 16 for the right amygdala ROI), women showed greater DM enhancement than men in both the right and left amygdala ROIs (right: k = 38; Z = 2.65; x, y, z = 27, -1, -14; left: k = 27; Z = 2.39; x, y, z = -21 -

1, -17). Men did not show enhanced DM responses to positive stimuli relative to women, in either the left or the right amygdala.



Figure 2. Sex differences in emotional DM activity within the amygdala. 1a: Significantly greater emotional DM in women than men, for negative stimuli. 1b: Significantly greater emotional DM in women than men, for positive stimuli. Left and right amygdala regions of interest displayed in green.

Sex differences in the hippocampal contribution to subsequent memory for emotional

stimuli

The contribution of the hippocampus to enhanced memory for negative relative to neutral stimuli was examined by testing whether DM activity was greater for negative than neutral scenes, within a bilateral hippocampus ROI. For negative scenes, women showed a greater DM effect than men in the left hippocampus (k = 26; Z = 3.64; x, y, z = -21, -31, -14). For positive scenes, women showed a greater DM effect than men in a similar cluster in the left hippocampus

(k = 19; Z = 2.78; x, y, z = -21, -28, -11). Men did not show greater DM effects than women in any part of the hippocampus, for either negative or positive scenes.

Sex differences in additional brain regions supporting subsequent memory for emotional stimuli

Additional regions exhibiting increases in DM activation for negative relative to neutral scenes are listed in Table 1. Women showed a greater enhancing effect of negative emotion on DM activation than men in right pregenual anterior cingulate cortex , BA 32, 24, and in right posterior parietal regions including the angular gyrus, supramarginal gyrus, and superior parietal gyrus (see Figure 2). Men did not show greater activation than women in any region. In women, negative emotional scenes were associated with greater DM activity than neutral scenes in the same region of the anterior cingulate that exhibited a sex difference. In men, negative emotional scenes did not produce significant increases in activation in any region.

Additional regions exhibiting increases in DM activation for positive relative to neutral scenes are listed in Table 2. Women showed a greater enhancing effect of positive emotion on DM activation than men in an anterior cingulate cluster which extended into both right and left hemispheres just dorsal to the genu, BA 32, 24; in the right inferior frontal gyrus, BA 45, 47, 48; and the left superior occipital gyrus, BA 17, 18 (see Figure 3). Men did not show greater activation than women in any region. In women, positive emotional scenes were associated with greater DM activity than neutral scenes in the left lingual gyrus, but not in the regions that exhibited sex differences. In men, positive emotional scenes did not produce significant increases in activation in any region.

Table 1

Enhancing effect of negative emotion on encoding-related brain activation (Negative DM > Neutral DM)

		MNI	Coordin	nates			
	HEM	х	У	z	Ζ	k	
Women > Men							
Ant. Cingulate G.	R	12	41	4	3.25	61	
Ant. Cingulate G.	R	12	50	13	2.73	(LM)	
Med. Frontal G.	R	15	47	-5	2.98	(LM)	
Angular G.	R	45	-70	46	3.60	93	
Sup. Parietal G.	R	30	-73	52	3.06	(LM)	
Angular G.	R	42	-55	25	3.30	123	
Ăngular G.	R	48	-40	19	2.91	(LM)	
Supramarginal G.	R	54	-46	31	3.11	(LM)	
Men > Women							
* No significant clusters							
Women							
Ant Cinquilate G	R	12	41	13	4 04	111	
Ant Cingulate G	R	12	44	4	3 43	(I M)	
Ant Cingulate G	R	6	41	25	2.83	(1 M)	
Ant. Olingulate G.	IX.	0	71	25	2.00		
Men							
* No significant clusters							
the englimerative ordered							

Table 2

Enhancing effect of positive emotion on encoding-related brain activation (Positive DM > Neutral DM)

		MNI	Coor	dinate	es	
	HEM	х	у	z	Z	k
Women > Men						
Ant. Cingulate G.	R	6	44	19	3.18	65
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-9	41	16	3.06	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	R	42	20	10	3.3	78
Inf. Frontal G.	R	39	26	-14	3.2	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	R	30	23	13	2.95	(LM)
Sup. Occipital G.	L	-12	-94	19	3.19	84
Sup. Occipital G.	L	-21	-91	28	2.47	(LM)
Cuneus	L	-6	-79	25	2.37	(LM)
<i>Men > Women</i> * No significant clusters						
Women						
	1	-18	-85	-8	3 17	78
	1	-9	-79	-8	3.12	(I_M)
Lingual G.	L	-30	-88	-17	2.56	(LM)
Men * No significant clusters						

Sex differences in encoding-related functional connectivity between the amygdala and hippocampus

We examined brain regions whose functional connectivity with the amygdala was enhanced during the encoding of scenes that were recalled, relative to scenes that were not recalled, i.e., a DM effect for amygdala connectivity. For negative relative to neutral scenes, women showed greater increases than men in DM-related connectivity between the right amygdala and a posterior region of the left hippocampus (k = 52; Z = 3.09; x = -18, y = -38, z = -6). Men did not show greater DM-related connectivity than women between the amygdala and either the left or right hippocampus. When the female and male groups were examined individually, neither group showed significant increases in DM-related connectivity between the amygdala and hippocampus.

For positive relative to neutral scenes, no significant sex differences were observed in DM-related connectivity between the amygdala and hippocampus. When each group was examined individually, women showed significant connectivity between the left amygdala and an anterior region of the right hippocampus (k = 55; Z = 2.89; x, y, z = 34, -20, -12), and between the right amygdala and an anterior region of the left hippocampus (k = 52; Z = 3.35; x, y, z = -36, -20, -14).

Sex differences in encoding-related functional connectivity between the amygdala and other brain regions

Additional regions which exhibited an increase in DM-related connectivity with the amygdala for negative relative to neutral scenes are listed in Table S1 (left amygdala) and Table S2 (right amygdala). Brain regions that showed stronger DM-related connectivity with the left amygdala in women than men included the right inferior temporal gyrus, right mid-frontal gyrus, right superior frontal gyrus, left posterior thalamus, right caudate and putamen, left insula, left precuneus, sensorimotor areas, and cerebellum (see Table S1). In addition, the left hippocampus showed greater connectivity with the left amygdala in women than men, but this region partially

overlapped with the amygdala seed region. A single cluster showed stronger functional connectivity with the left amygdala in men than women, in the left temporal pole (see Table S1). Brain regions showing stronger functional connectivity with the right amygdala in women than men included the left amygdala and left putamen, the left superior temporal gyrus, the left inferior temporal gyrus, the left anterior cingulate, the left superior frontal gyrus, the right thalamus, sensorimotor regions, and the cerebellum (see Table S2). A single cluster showed stronger functional connectivity with the right amygdala in men than women, in left inferior temporal gyrus (see Table S2).

For positive relative to neutral scenes, regions which exhibited an increase in DM-related connectivity are listed in Table S3 (left amygdala) and Table S4 (right amygdala). Brain regions that showed stronger functional connectivity with the left amygdala in women than men included left temporal regions, middle and anterior cingulate regions, a superior medial frontal region, left posterior thalamus, sensorimotor regions, occipital regions, and the cerebellum (see Table S3). No brain region showed stronger functional connectivity with the left amygdala in men than women. Brain regions that showed stronger functional connectivity with the right amygdala in women than men included the left amygdala, the left hippocampus and superior temporal gyrus, the anterior cingulate, sensorimotor regions, bilateral occipital/ventral visual areas, and the cerebellum (see Table S4). A single cluster showed stronger functional connectivity with the right amygdala in men than women, in the cerebellum (see Table S4).

4.5 Discussion

The goal of the current study was to examine sex differences in brain activity supporting emotional memory encoding. FMRI results supported the hypothesis that women would show greater left amygdala participation than men in encoding negative pictures; no such difference was observed for the right amygdala. In addition, the results provide the first evidence for sex differences in the amygdala's contribution to encoding positive stimuli. Women showed greater right amygdala (and at a lower threshold, left amygdala) involvement than men in encoding positive pictures. Women, but not men, showed greater functional connectivity related to subsequent memory for positive stimuli between the left and right amygdala and the contralateral hippocampus. Findings suggest that previously observed sex-related hemispheric asymmetries differ according to positive or negative emotional valence of stimuli, and that functional connectivity related to subsequent memory for emotional stimuli differs by sex.

Sex differences in brain activity contributing to emotional encoding

Women showed greater emotional DM activity than men in the amygdala, as well as in several additional brain regions whose functions are related to memory and emotion. Activation in these regions was predictive of whether the emotional items would be subsequently recalled, and is not interpreted as being reflective of emotional arousal responses to the picture stimuli. The findings therefore suggest that these regions were more engaged in women than men in processes contributing to the enhancing effect of emotion on memory.

For negatively-valenced stimuli, the left amygdala showed greater emotional DM activity in women than men. For positively-valenced stimuli, the right and, at a lower threshold, left amygdala showed greater emotional DM activation in women than men. Our findings parallel several previous studies, which similarly observed greater correlations in women than men between left amygdala activation and subsequent memory for negative stimuli (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill et al., 2004; Canli et al., 2002). Previous studies also identified greater correlations in men than women between right amygdala activation and subsequent memory for negative stimuli (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill et al., 2004; Canli et al., 2002). In contrast, we did not observe greater emotional DM activity for negative stimuli in the right amygdala for men relative to women. The failure to observe this sex difference may result from smaller emotional memory effects related to the delay between encoding and retrieval. Due to the limited availability of a special participant population (results reported elsewhere), participants in the current study engaged in the cued recall task on the same day as the encoding task, whereas in previous studies the memory task was delayed by two to three weeks. The enhancing effect of emotion on subsequent memory tends to increase with longer delays (Sharot & Phelps, 2004) as consolidation processes tend to preferentially facilitate memory for emotional relative to neutral stimuli (Hamann, 2001). Work by Canli and colleagues showed that the male-specific right amygdala effect was less reliable than the female-specific left amygdala effect (left amygdala in 72% of women versus right amygdala in 50% of men), and the effect may not have been apparent in our data given the shorter delay.

Sex differences in the contribution of the amygdala to emotional encoding have been observed in several previous studies (Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill et al., 2004; Canli et al., 2002). These findings have been interpreted in the context of two broad ideas about the processes that are influenced by sex: an emotional-arousal based theory positing that women and men tend to differ in the intensity of their emotional responses resulting in corresponding differences in amygdala activation and subsequent memory strength (Fujita et al., 1991), and a theory of cognitive styles positing that women and men differ in the cognitive components engaged during emotional encoding thus engaging the amygdala in different cognitive and processes (Cahill & van Stegeren, 2003).

According to the arousal-based hypothesis, in the absence of sex differences in arousal levels, there would be no difference in amygdala activation during encoding, and thus no sex differences in memory performance. In contrast, the cognitive hypothesis predicts sex differences in the brain activation contributing to emotional encoding, after controlling for sex differences in arousal. Although previous studies have observed sex differences in the effect of emotion on subsequent memory (Fujita et al., 1991; Herz & Cupchik, 1992; Seidlitz & Diener, 1998), we observed no difference in recall performance for women and men. We observed an enhancement of memory performance for emotional relative to neutral stimuli, but women and men did not differ in the size of this enhancing effect of emotion on memory, nor did they differ in subjective arousal responses to the pictures. Sex differences in the brain regions involved in emotional

encoding occurred in the absence of differences in subjective arousal. These findings are consistent with the cognitive hypothesis. By characterizing the brain regions that were co-active with the amygdala and functionally connected with the amygdala during encoding, the current study provides a window on cognitive processes that may differ between women and men.

Women showed greater emotional DM activity than men in several brain regions whose functions are related to memory and emotion. For negatively- and positively-valenced stimuli, women showed greater emotional DM activity than men in the left hippocampus. We also observed that functional connectivity between the amygdala and hippocampus was greater in women than men. Interactions between the amygdala and hippocampus during encoding have been shown to form a major mechanism by which emotion influences memory (Cahill & McGaugh, 1998; Dolcos et al., 2004; Hamann, 2001; Ritchey, Dolcos, & Cabeza, 2008). The current findings illustrate than women differ from men in a central mechanism by which emotion influences memory encoding. The findings agree with previous behavioral studies showing better memory for emotional personal experiences in women than men (Bauer et al., 2003; Seidlitz & Diener, 1998), and suggest that sex differences in autobiographical memory may arise from differences in encoding during the initial experience of an emotional event.

Women also showed greater emotional DM activity than men in the angular and supramarginal gyri of the right posterior parietal cortex for negative stimuli, and in the right inferior frontal gyrus, and left superior occipital gyrus for positive stimuli. Women also showed greater DM activity for both negative and positive stimuli in pregenual anterior cingulate cortex. Men showed no region of greater emotional DM activity relative to women, for either negative or positive stimuli.

Posterior parietal cortex has been hypothesized to participate in memory encoding via its role in attention orienting; Dorsal parietal cortex has been associated with goal-directed attention, and ventral parietal cortex with reflexive attention orienting (Corbetta & Shulman, 2002). Within the context of encoding emotional stimuli, ventral parietal regions are posited to support reflexive
orienting to salient, emotionally-evocative features of a particular stimulus (Murty et al., 2010; Uncapher & Wagner, 2009). We observed greater emotional DM activity in ventral parietal cortex for women than men. Visual attention orienting to salient or evocative features of emotional stimuli has been shown to benefit subsequent memory (Riggs, McQuiggan, Farb, Anderson, & Ryan, 2011; Sharot & Phelps, 2004), and thus forms one mechanism by which emotional responses during encoding can influence later memory. Although women and men did not differ in memory performance in the current study, sex differences in attention orienting may contribute to differences in memory accuracy or vividness for emotional stimuli. Future studies using eye-tracking or visual paired comparison tasks for negative and neutral items would provide further insight into whether sex differences in attention orienting contribute to differences in emotional memory performance.

The anterior cingulate cortex plays a major role in emotion-cognition interactions (Pessoa, 2008). It is involved in emotion evaluation and regulation (Etkin, Egner, & Kalisch, 2010; Goldin, McRae, Ramel, & Gross, 2008; Kim & Hamann, 2007), and participates in emotional processing via interactions with the amygdala (Etkin, Egner, Peraza, Kandel, & Hirsch, 2006). In studies of negative emotion regulation, sex differences have been observed in the region of right anterior cingulate that showed greater emotional DM activity for negative stimuli in women, anterior to the genu in BA 32 and 24 (Domes et al., 2009; McRae, Ochsner, Mauss, Gabrieli, & Gross, 2008). Regulating emotional responses during encoding has been shown to differentially influence memory performance in men and women (Kim & Hamann, in press). A region of the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, the right inferior frontal gyrus, also showed greater emotional DM activity in women than men for positive stimuli. Functional connectivity between the amygdala and ventrolateral PFC in BA 47 has been shown to increase during emotional encoding (Kilpatrick & Cahill, 2003), and has been interpreted to reflect greater elaboration of subsequently remembered items.

Sex differences in encoding-related functional connectivity with the amygdala

Women also showed greater functional connectivity than men between the left and right amygdala and a distributed network of regions involved in memory, including the ventral parietal cortex, and medial and lateral prefrontal regions. In addition, both positive and negative emotion enhanced encoding-related cross-hemispheric connectivity between the right and left amygdala, and this effect was greater in women than men. In contrast, men showed few regions of greater functional connectivity with the left or right amygdala relative to women. These findings are consistent with previous evidence of baseline differences in amygdala connectivity between women and men; several fMRI studies of the resting state have found that the amygdala participates in more widespread networks in women than men (Kilpatrick, Zald, Pardo, & Cahill, 2006; Savic & Lindstrom, 2008). The current results showed that sex differences in the interaction of the amygdala with a broader network of regions have consequences for behavior, specifically for subsequent memory for emotional items.

Importance of emotional valence

Regardless of whether the stimuli were positive or negative in valence, women showed enhanced emotional DM activity relative to men. In women, emotional regions such as the amygdala and medial prefrontal cortex contributed to subsequent memory for both positive and negative scenes. This is consistent with previous behavioral evidence that women recall more positive and negative life events than men, and their memories are more detailed and vivid (Fujita et al., 1991; Seidlitz & Diener, 1998). These previous findings have been interpreted as reflecting an increased influence of emotion on memory encoding in women than men, irrespective of whether stimuli were positive versus negative.

Conclusions

For women, more than for men, emotional stimuli engaged a memory encoding circuit involving the amygdala, hippocampus, and medial and lateral prefrontal regions. Women engaged this circuit than men for both negative and positive stimuli. These findings suggest that sex and other individual differences must be taken into account when studying emotional memory.

4.6 References

- Adolphs, R., & Tranel, D. (1994). Impaired recognition of emotion in facial expressions following bilateral damage to the human amygdala. Nature, 372(6507), 669.
- Amaral, D. G., Behniea, H., & Kelly, J. L. (2003). Topographic organization of projections from the amygdala to the visual cortex in the macaque monkey. Neuroscience, 118(4), 1099-1120.
- Bauer, P. J., Stennes, L., & Haight, J. C. (2003). Representation of the inner self in autobiography: Women's and men's use of internal states language in personal narratives. Memory, 11(1), 27.
- Bradley, M. M., Codispoti, M., Sabatinelli, D., & Lang, P. (2001). Emotion and Motivation II: Sex Differences in Picture Processing. Emotion, 1(3), 300-319.
- Bradley, M. M., Greenwald, M. K., Petry, M. C., & Lang, P. J. (1992). Remembering pictures: Pleasure and arousal in memory. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 18(2), 379-390.
- Cahill, L., Haier, R. J., Fallon, J., Alkire, M. T., Tang, C., Keator, D., et al. (1996). Amygdala activity at encoding correlated with long-term, free recall of emotional information. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 93(15), 8016-8021.
- Cahill, L., Haier, R. J., White, N. S., Fallon, J., Kilpatrick, L., Lawrence, C., et al. (2001). Sexrelated difference in amygdala activity during emotionally influenced memory storage. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 75(1), 1-9.
- Cahill, L., & McGaugh, J. L. (1998). Mechanisms of emotional arousal and lasting declarative memory. Trends in Neurosciences, 21(7), 294-299.
- Cahill, L., Uncapher, M., Kilpatrick, L., Alkire, M. T., & Turner, J. (2004). Sex-related hemispheric lateralization of amygdala function in emotionally influenced memory: An fMRI investigation. Learning & Memory, 11(3), 261-266.
- Cahill, L., & van Stegeren, A. (2003). Sex-related impairment of memory for emotional events with beta-adrenergic blockade. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 79(1), 81-88.
- Canli, T., Desmond, J. E., Zhao, Z., & Gabrieli, J. D. E. (2002). Sex differences in the neural basis of emotional memories. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(16), 10789-10794.
- Canli, T., Desmond, J. E., Zhao, Z., Glover, G., & Gabrieli, J. D. E. (1998). Hemispheric asymmetry for emotional stimuli detected with fMRI. Neuroreport, 9(14), 3233-3239.
- Cohen, J. D., MacWhinney, B., Flatt, M., & Provost, J. (1993). PsyScope: A new graphic interactive environment for designing psychology experiments. Behavioral Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers, 25(2), 257-271.

- Corbetta, M., & Shulman, G. L. (2002). Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci, 3(3), 201-215.
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). Revised NEO Personality Inventory (NEO PI-R) and NEO Five-Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI): Professional manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Dale, A. M., & Buckner, R. L. (1997). Selective averaging of rapidly presented individual trials using fMRI. Human Brain Mapping, 5(5), 329-340.
- Davis, M. (1992). The role of the amygdala in fear and anxiety. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 15(1), 353-375.
- Dolcos, F., LaBar, K. S., & Cabeza, R. (2004). Interaction between the Amygdala and the Medial Temporal Lobe Memory System Predicts Better Memory for Emotional Events. Neuron, 42(5), 855-863.
- Domes, G., Schulze, L., Böttger, M., Grossmann, A., Hauenstein, K., Wirtz, P. H., et al. (2009). The neural correlates of sex differences in emotional reactivity and emotion regulation. Human Brain Mapping, 31(5), 758-769.
- Eickhoff, S., Stephan, K. E., Mohlberg, H., Grefkes, C., Fink, G. R., Amunts, K., et al. (2005). A new SPM toolbox for combining probabilistic cytoarchitectonic maps and functional imaging data. Neuroimage, 25(4), 1325-1335.
- Etkin, A., Egner, T., & Kalisch, R. (2010). Emotional processing in anterior cingulate and medial prefrontal cortex. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 15(2), 85-93.
- Etkin, A., Egner, T., Peraza, D. M., Kandel, E. R., & Hirsch, J. (2006). Resolving emotional conflict: A role for the rostral anterior cingulate cortex in modulating activity in the amygdala. Neuron, 51(6), 871-882.
- Fujita, F., Diener, E., & Sandvik, E. (1991). Gender differences in negative affect and well-being: The case for emotional intensity. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61(3), 427-434.
- Gard, M. G., & Kring, A. M. (2007). Sex differences in the time course of emotion. Emotion, 7(2), 429-437.
- Goldin, P. R., McRae, K., Ramel, W., & Gross, J. J. (2008). The Neural Bases of Emotion Regulation: Reappraisal and Suppression of Negative Emotion. Biological Psychiatry, 63(6), 577-586.
- Grossman, M., & Wood, W. (1993). Sex differences in intensity of emotional experience: A social role interpretation. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 65(5), 1010-1022.
- Hamann, S. (2001). Cognitive and neural mechanisms of emotional memory. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 5(9), 394-400.

- Hamann, S., Ely, T. D., Grafton, S. T., & Kilts, C. D. (1999). Amygdala activity related to enhanced memory for pleasant and aversive stimuli. Nature Neuroscience, 2(3), 289.
- Herz, R. S., & Cupchik, G. C. (1992). An experimental characterization of odor-evoked memories in humans. Chemical Senses, 17(5), 519-528.
- Hess, U., Senacal, S., Kirouac, G., Herrera, P., Philippot, P., & Kleck, R. E. (2000). Emotional expressivity in men and women: Stereotypes and self-perceptions. Cognition & Emotion, 14(5), 609-642.
- Holmes, A. P., Josephs, O., Buchel, C., & Friston, K. J. (1997). Statistical modelling of lowfrequency confounds in fMRI. Proc 3rd Int. Conf. Func. Mapp. Hum. Brain, S480.
- Kensinger, E. (2004). Remembering emotional experiences: The contribution of valence and arousal. Reviews in the Neurosciences, 15(4), 241-251.
- Kilpatrick, L., & Cahill, L. (2003). Amygdala modulation of parahippocampal and frontal regions during emotionally influenced memory storage. NeuroImage, 20(4), 2091-2099.
- Kilpatrick, L. A., Zald, D. H., Pardo, J. V., & Cahill, L. F. (2006). Sex-related differences in amygdala functional connectivity during resting conditions. NeuroImage, 30(2), 452-461.
- Kim, S. H., & Hamann, S. (2007). Neural Correlates of Positive and Negative Emotion Regulation. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 19(5), 776-798.
- Lang, P., Bradley, M. M., & Cuthbert, B. N. (2008). International affective picture system (IAPS): Affective ratings of pictures and instruction manual. Technical Report A-8: University of Florida, Gainesville, FL.
- Mazaika, P., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Reiss, A. (2007). Artifact Repair for fMRI Data from High Motion Clinical Subjects. Paper presented at the Human Brain Mapping.
- McGaugh, J. L. (2002). Memory consolidation and the amygdala: a systems perspective. Trends in Neurosciences, 25(9), 456-461.
- McRae, K., Ochsner, K. N., Mauss, I. B., Gabrieli, J. J. D., & Gross, J. J. (2008). Gender differences in emotion regulation: An fMRI study of cognitive reappraisal. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 11(2), 143-162.
- Murty, V. P., Ritchey, M., Adcock, R. A., & LaBar, K. S. (2010). fMRI studies of successful emotional memory encoding: A quantitative meta-analysis. Neuropsychologia, 48(12), 3459-3469.
- Paller, K. A., Kutas, M., & Mayes, A. R. (1987). Neural correlates of encoding in an incidental learning paradigm. Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology, 67(4), 360-371.
- Pessoa, L. (2008). On the relationship between emotion and cognition. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 9(2), 148-158.

- Riggs, L., McQuiggan, D. A., Farb, N., Anderson, A. K., & Ryan, J. D. (2011). The role of overt attention in emotion-modulated memory. Emotion, 11(4), 776-785.
- Ritchey, M., Dolcos, F., & Cabeza, R. (2008). Role of Amygdala Connectivity in the Persistence of Emotional Memories Over Time: An Event-Related fMRI Investigation. Cerebral Cortex, 18(11), 2494-2504.
- Robinson, J. L., Laird, A. R., Glahn, D. C., Lovallo, W. R., & Fox, P. T. (2010). Metaanalytic connectivity modeling: Delineating the functional connectivity of the human amygdala. Human Brain Mapping, 31(2), 173-184.
- Roy, A. K., Shehzad, Z., Margulies, D. S., Kelly, A. M. C., Uddin, L. Q., Gotimer, K., et al. (2009). Functional connectivity of the human amygdala using resting state fMRI. NeuroImage, 45(2), 614-626.
- Savic, I., & Lindstrom, P. (2008). PET and MRI show differences in cerebral asymmetry and functional connectivity between homo- and heterosexual subjects. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(27), 9403-9408.
- Seidlitz, L., & Diener, E. (1998). Sex differences in the recall of affective experiences. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 74(1), 262-271.
- Sharot, T., & Phelps, E. (2004). How arousal modulates memory: Disentangling the effects of attention and retention. Cognitive, Affective, & amp; Behavioral Neuroscience, 4(3), 294-306.
- Song, X.-W., Dong, Z.-Y., Long, X.-Y., Li, S.-F., Zuo, X.-N., Zhu, C.-Z., et al. (2011). REST: A toolkit for resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging data processing. PLoS ONE, 6(9), e25031.
- Staresina, B. P., & Davachi, L. (2006). Differential encoding mechanisms for subsequent associative recognition and free recall. The Journal of Neuroscience, 26(36), 9162-9172.
- Talarico, J., LaBar, K., & Rubin, D. (2004). Emotional intensity predicts autobiographical memory experience. Memory & Cognition, 32(7), 1118-1132.
- Taylor, J. F., Rosen, R. C., & Leiblum, S. R. (1994). Self-report assessment of female sexual function: Psychometric evaluation of the Brief Index of Sexual Functioning for Women. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 23(6), 627-643.
- Thomsen, D. K., Mehlsen, M. Y., Viidik, A., Sommerlund, B., & Zachariae, R. (2005). Age and gender differences in negative affect--Is there a role for emotion regulation? Personality and Individual Differences, 38(8), 1935-1946.
- Uncapher, M. R., & Wagner, A. D. (2009). Posterior parietal cortex and episodic encoding: Insights from fMRI subsequent memory effects and dual-attention theory. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 91, 139-154.
- Wagner, A. D., Schacter, D. L., Rotte, M., Koutstaal, W., Maril, A., Dale, A. M., et al. (1998). Building memories: Remembering and forgetting of verbal experiences as predicted by brain activity. Science, 281(5380), 1188.

Chapter 5

General Discussion

Fewer than 50 years ago, it was generally accepted that the brains of males and females across most mammalian species were similar in structure and function, with only a few differences in regions regulating sexual reproductive behavior, which were mostly investigated at the level of synapses and receptors (Arnold & Gorski, 1984; Cahill, 2012). A change in perspectives has come about as more recent research has firmly established sex differences in systems-level brain structure (e.g., Allen, Damasio, Grabowski, Bruss, & Zhang, 2003; Gilmore et al., 2007; Good et al., 2001). In parallel, research has begun to consistently demonstrate sex differences in cognitive domains such as spatial cognition, child play behaviors, and nonverbal communication (Hines, 2010; McClure, 2000). Findings have less consistently accumulated in the domain of emotion, despite the general cultural sense that women and men differ in their emotional responses, and evidence that brain regions which regulate emotional responses are sensitive to gonadal hormones. The present research adds to the literature on sex differences in emotion by providing converging evidence that women and men differ in their brain responses to emotional stimuli, in the form of a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies, and two individual neuroimaging studies of emotional processing in women and men.

5.1 Relations between the findings of the meta-analysis and the neuroimaging studies

A primary goal of the fMRI study of differences in women's and men's responses to emotional stimuli (Study 2) was to determine the extent to which the findings of the metaanalysis would be replicated in a laboratory experiment with groups of women and men responding to a single set of stimuli. The meta-analysis found that, relative to men, women had enhanced brain responses to negative stimuli in the left amygdala, anterior cingulate and medial prefrontal cortex, and hypothalamus. Relative to women, men had enhanced brain responses to positive stimuli in the left amygdala, posterior cingulate, and anterior insula / inferior frontal gyrus. Several previous neuroimaging studies have directly investigated sex differences in emotion, but their findings have been mixed. These studies found many commonalities in women's and men's responses to negative stimuli, but often found negligible differences in regions central to emotional processing such as the amygdala, hypothalamus, or medial prefrontal cortex (Caseras et al., 2007; George, Ketter, Parekh, Herscovitch, & Post, 1996; Hofer et al., 2006; Hofer et al., 2007; Killgore & Yurgelun-Todd, 2001; Royet, Plailly, Delon-Martin, Kareken, & Segebarth, 2003). Studies that used standardized emotionally-arousing visual stimuli from the IAPS tended to find larger sex differences, showing greater amygdala responses to negative scenes in women than men (Domes et al., 2009), and greater amygdala and visual cortex responses to positive scenes in men (Sabatinelli, Flaisch, Bradley, Fitzsimmons, & Lang, 2004; Wrase et al., 2003). Such findings are more consistent with the sex differences identified in the meta-analysis of the broader neuroimaging literature. However, previous studies of positive emotional scenes included erotic scenes along with other scene content, making it difficult to differentiate sexual arousal from emotional arousal responses. To date, very few studies have investigated sex differences in responses to positive stimuli, and none have included positive, non-erotic scene stimuli.

In Study 2, we also used a standardized set of scene stimuli from the IAPS known to elicit moderate levels of emotional arousal for both negative and positive scenes. The findings were broadly consistent with those of the meta-analysis, with some exceptions. We observed that women had greater amygdala responses to negative stimuli than men, in both the left and the right amygdala, consistent with women's enhanced amygdala response to negative stimuli observed in the meta-analysis. Men had greater responses to positive stimuli than women in the hypothalamus, consistent with the neuroimaging literature on male responses to erotic stimuli (Beauregard, Levesque, & Bourgouin, 2001; Hamann, Herman, Nolan, & Wallen, 2004), and broadly consistent with the observation in the meta-analysis of enhanced neural responses to positive stimuli in men. However, we did not observe an enhanced amygdala response to positive stimuli in men as was observed in the meta-analysis. This discrepancy may have been related to a variety of factors, including low power and sample selection issues stemming from the small relative sample size (n=27 for the neuroimaging study, n=1217 for the meta-analysis), and the use

of emotional scene stimuli rather than a mixture of different stimulus types. We conclude that women and men show greater engagement of key emotional brain regions for negative and positive stimuli, respectively. Some effects, such as a greater amygdala response to negative stimuli in women than men, may be observed consistently, whereas other elements of the emotional system may show sex differences in different experimental contexts, depending on the sample of individuals, the nature of the stimuli, and other factors.

We then demonstrated that sex differences in the function of emotional brain regions influences episodic memory encoding. Emotional experiences are better remembered than neutral or non-emotional experiences. Emotional influences on memory for specific events are produced by arousal-related amygdala responses during the initial experience, as well as a modulatory effect of the amygdala on hippocampal encoding. We observed that women show a greater involvement of the amygdala than men in the encoding of both negative and positive stimuli. In addition, the amygdala showed greater encoding-related functional connectivity with the left hippocampus in women than men, as well as with a broader network of regions which have been implicated in the enhancing effects of emotion on memory (Murty, Ritchey, Adcock, & LaBar, 2010). These findings contrasted with findings related to women's and men's initial responses to emotional stimuli. Women showed greater initial responses than men to negative, but not positive stimuli. However, women showed a greater engagement of the amygdala than men in encoding all emotional stimuli, regardless of valence. It must be emphasized that in this case, amygdala activation was not reflective of the size of the response to emotional stimuli, but of the response that predicted whether an emotional item would later be recalled. While men showed greater initial amygdala responses to positive stimuli than women, their amygdala responses were less predictive of later memory.

5.2 Future directions

A major finding of the current study was that the amygdala responds differently to emotional stimuli and participates in different functional networks in women and men. However, differences in the response of this brain region were not interpreted to index sex differences in emotional arousal, as subjective arousal responses did not differ between women and men. Instead, it is likely that the amygdala engages in different types of processes in women and men. Although the current research provides initial hints about amygdala-linked processes which may differ in women and men, the basic functional implications of sex differences in amygdala responses to emotional stimuli remain to be determined. Future studies might further investigate how the amygdala interacts with different processing paths in women and men by examining the functional connectivity of different amygdala subunits with the rest of the brain. The amygdala can be characterized as a cluster comprised of 12 discrete regions (LeDoux, 2000). The divisions of the amygdala most central to regulating emotion each show functional connectivity with different brain networks, consistent with anatomical connectivity from the non-human animal literature (Roy et al., 2009). Such findings suggest that examining the amygdala in terms of its functional units would provide a more nuanced picture of sex differences in its functional connectivity. For example, Roy and colleagues found that the laterobasal complex of the amygdala showed positive connectivity with the hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex. It may thus be predicted that this particular subdivision may exert greater modulatory effects on hippocampal activity during encoding in women than men. Similarly, other subdivisions such as the centromedial nuclei may differ in their interactions with output networks through the thalamus, striatum, and brainstem.

In the current research we assumed that the female and male groups differed on average along several dimensions, including their genes, personal experiences, and gonadal hormone levels. In future studies, it would be valuable to measure or hold constant these elements, which each contribute to sexual differentiation, thus facilitating a better characterization of individual and group differences. Hormonal influences, in particular, would be better characterized by assessing menstrual cycle time in the women, and measuring circulating levels of hormones such as estrogen, progesterone, and testosterone. Questions about sexual differentiation are ultimately developmental questions. It would be valuable to study how sex differences in emotion emerge over the course of early childhood and adolescence, using similar techniques as those employed in the current work. The developmental approach would allow us to follow the timeline of hormonal and external early life events as they unfold, and to isolate developmental change attributable to one source or the other. For example, sexual differentiation emerging in early childhood (pre-school years) would not be attributable to activational hormonal effects as the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal system is "off" during this period.

5.3 Implications for mental health

The current findings may have relevance for theories of depression. For example, a major current theory posits that women are disproportionately affected by depression because of how they react to the negative event(s) preceding a depressive episode (Nolen-Hoeksema, 2001). While men distract themselves from thoughts about the negative event, women ruminate and continue to devote attention to memories of the event. We observed greater amygdala involvement in the encoding of emotional events in women, and greater amygdala-hippocampus connectivity predictive of memory for negative events (Study 3). In addition, the meta-analysis provided evidence that women engage the hippocampus more than men during the initial response to an emotional stimulus (Study 1). Such hippocampal activation may reflect increased encoding of negative stimuli, or increased linking between the negative stimuli at hand and memories of previous experiences. Together, these findings support the theory that women use greater memory resources in response to a negative event, and suggest that sex differences in processing such an event begin earlier than previously expected, during the initial response to the negative stimulus.

5.4 Conclusions

Our goal was to characterize the nature of sex differences in emotional function by investigating emotional processes at the neural level, in a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies,

and in two neuroimaging experiments. The results of all three studies indicated different responses in women and men in brain regions that perform key emotional functions, notably the amygdala, hypothalamus, and anterior cingulate cortex. The current research provided novel evidence that sex differences depend on emotional valence, as both the meta-analysis and the study of responses to emotional stimuli showed that women engage emotional neural systems more strongly than men in response to negative stimuli, whereas men show greater engagement than women in response to positive stimuli. These findings have clear implications for clinical disorders of emotion which disproportionately affect women, such as depression and PTSD, and create predictions for the emotional behavior of women and men in a variety of domains such as motivated behavior (motivation to approach or avoid), mood state, and trait emotionality observable in personality traits such as extroversion / neuroticism. We also showed that sex differences in the function of emotional brain regions not only influence emotional behavior but also influence cognitive processes, finding greater activation in women than men of the brain regions and mechanisms that are responsible for the enhancing effects of emotion on memory for specific events. This research underscores differences between women and men in the field of emotion, and highlights the need for greater consideration of sex and individual differences when studying emotion.

5.5 References

- Allen, J. S., Damasio, H., Grabowski, T. J., Bruss, J., & Zhang, W. (2003). Sexual dimorphism and asymmetries in the gray-white composition of the human cerebrum. NeuroImage, 18(4), 880-894.
- Arnold, A. P., & Gorski, R. A. (1984). Gonadal steroid induction of structural sex differences in the central nervous system. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 7(1), 413-442.
- Beauregard, M., Levesque, J., & Bourgouin, P. (2001). Neural correlates of conscious selfregulation of emotion. The Journal of Neuroscience, 21(18), 165RC-.
- Cahill, L. (2012). A half-truth is a whole lie: On the necessity of investigating sex influences on the brain. Endocrinology.
- Caseras, X., Mataix-Cols, D., An, S. K., Lawrence, N. S., Speckens, A., Giampietro, V., et al. (2007). Sex differences in neural responses to disgusting visual stimuli: Implications for disgust-related psychiatric disorders. Biological Psychiatry, 62(5), 464-471.
- Domes, G., Schulze, L., Böttger, M., Grossmann, A., Hauenstein, K., Wirtz, P. H., et al. (2009). The neural correlates of sex differences in emotional reactivity and emotion regulation. Human Brain Mapping, 31(5), 758-769.
- George, M. S., Ketter, T. A., Parekh, P. I., Herscovitch, P., & Post, R. M. (1996). Gender differences in regional cerebral blood flow during transient self-induced sadness or happiness. Biological Psychiatry, 40(9), 859-871.
- Gilmore, J. H., Lin, W., Prastawa, M. W., Looney, C. B., Vetsa, Y. S. K., Knickmeyer, R. C., et al. (2007). Regional gray matter growth, sexual dimorphism, and cerebral asymmetry in the neonatal brain. The Journal of Neuroscience, 27(6), 1255-1260.
- Good, C. D., Johnsrude, I., Ashburner, J., Henson, R. N. A., Friston, K. J., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (2001). Cerebral asymmetry and the effects of sex and handedness on brain structure: A voxel-based morphometric analysis of 465 normal adult human brains. NeuroImage, 14(3), 685-700.
- Hamann, S., Herman, R. A., Nolan, C. L., & Wallen, K. (2004). Men and women differ in amygdala response to visual sexual stimuli. Nat Neurosci, 7(4), 411-416.
- Hines, M. (2010). Sex-related variation in human behavior and the brain. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 14(10), 448-456.
- Hofer, A., Siedentopf, C. M., Ischebeck, A., Rettenbacher, M. A., Verius, M., Felber, S., et al. (2006). Gender differences in regional cerebral activity during the perception of emotion: A functional MRI study. NeuroImage, 32(2), 854-862.
- Hofer, A., Siedentopf, C. M., Ischebeck, A., Rettenbacher, M. A., Verius, M., Felber, S., et al. (2007). Sex differences in brain activation patterns during processing of positively and negatively valenced emotional words. Psychological Medicine, 37(01), 109-119.

- Killgore, W. D. S. C. A., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2001). Sex differences in amygdala activation during the perception of facial affect. Neuroreport, 12(11), 2543-2547.
- LeDoux, J. E. (2000). Emotion circuits in the brain. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 23(1), 155-184.
- McClure, E. B. (2000). A meta-analytic review of sex differences in facial expression processing and their development in infants, children, and adolescents. Psychological Bulletin, 126(3), 424-453.
- Murty, V. P., Ritchey, M., Adcock, R. A., & LaBar, K. S. (2010). fMRI studies of successful emotional memory encoding: A quantitative meta-analysis. Neuropsychologia, 48(12), 3459-3469.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2001). Gender Differences in Depression. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 10(5), 173-176.
- Roy, A. K., Shehzad, Z., Margulies, D. S., Kelly, A. M. C., Uddin, L. Q., Gotimer, K., et al. (2009). Functional connectivity of the human amygdala using resting state fMRI. NeuroImage, 45(2), 614-626.
- Royet, J.-P., Plailly, J., Delon-Martin, C., Kareken, D. A., & Segebarth, C. (2003). FMRI of emotional responses to odors: Influence of hedonic valence and judgment, handedness, and gender. NeuroImage, 20(2), 713-728.
- Sabatinelli, D. C. A., Flaisch, T., Bradley, M. M., Fitzsimmons, J. R., & Lang, P. J. (2004). Affective picture perception: Gender differences in visual cortex? Neuroreport, 15(7), 1109-1112.
- Wrase, J., Klein, S., Gruesser, S. M., Hermann, D., Flor, H., Mann, K., et al. (2003). Gender differences in the processing of standardized emotional visual stimuli in humans: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Neuroscience Letters, 348(1), 41-45.

Appendix A. Supplement to Study 1

Peak coordinates for Negative emotion (analysis of balanced dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Z	Peak Value	e Vol. (mm ³)
	All participants (women and men)						
1	Right Amygdala, Left Thalamus: Ventral Lateral Nucleus,	6, 47, 38,	27	4	-6	0.052	39016
	Right Thalamus, Right Precentral Gyrus,	44, 45, 9,					
	Right Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Right Claustrum,	46, 13					
	Left Caudate Body, Left Caudate Head, Right Superior						
	Temporal Gyrus, Right Middle Frontal Gyrus,						
	Left Mammillary Body, Left Red Nucleus,						
	Left Medial Globus Pallidus						
2	Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus,	47, 38, 9,	-33	8	-10	0.060	35680
	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Putamen,	13, 46					
	Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Insula						
3	Right Cingulate Gyrus, Left Cingulate Gyrus,	32, 6, 24	1	20	41	0.036	10936
	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus, Right Anterior Cingulate						
4	Cerebellum: Declive, Fusiform Gyrus, Parahippocampal	19, 39, 37	34	-64	-10	0.022	9048
	Cortex, Middle Occipital Gyrus, Culmen,						
	Middle Temporal Gyrus						
5	Left Medial Frontal Gyrus, Left Anterior Cingulate,	10, 32	-1	51	-1	0.022	5360
	Right Anterior Cingulate						
6	Left Parahippocampal Cortex, Right Cerebellum: Culmen,	19	-13	-46	-6	0.027	3848
	Left Cerebellum: Culmen						
7	Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-4	60	24	0.031	3280
8	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-48	-60	20	0.014	3056
9	Fusiform Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus, Culmen	37	-43	-49	-13	0.024	2928
10	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-3	-2	33	0.019	1920
11	Fusiform Gyrus	37	46	-44	-19	0.025	1712
12	Posterior Cingulate	23	-2	-36	23	0.018	1048
13	Postcentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	43, 42	-55	-14	15	0.013	976
14	Cuneus, Lingual Gyrus	17, 18	8	-83	9	0.014	960
15	Precentral Gyrus	6	-57	5	15	0.015	928
16	Fusiform Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive	19	-35	-73	-9	0.013	904
17	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	55	-18	-2	0.017	816
18	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-59	-2	-15	0.017	752
19	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Anterior Cingulate	9, 32	29	28	21	0.012	720
20	Posterior Cingulate	31	-5	-68	22	0.013	688
21	Lingual Gyrus	18	-12	-72	3	0.016	680
22	Cingulate Gyrus	31	5	-22	41	0.016	480
23	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-57	-34	-7	0.013	416
24	Posterior Cingulate	30	7	-51	18	0.013	400
25	Thalamus: Pulvinar	*	18	-27	20	0.016	384
26	Sub-Gyral	21	52	-6	-19	0.012	360
27	Anterior Cingulate	24	4	35	-14	0.014	344
28	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	53	-55	36	0.013	344
29	Insula13	46	-38	21	0.014	336	
30	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	-58	-36	32	0.012	336
31	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-33	-81	13	0.012	312
32	Precuneus	7	29	-55	56	0.013	312
33	Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus	30	10	-57	8	0.011	304
34	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	-27	40	32	0.012	192
35	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-48	-23	-8	0.011	184
36	Anterior Cingulate	*	-10	41	-7	0.011	168
37	Postcentral Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus	3, 4	-46	-9	56	0.010	160
38	Insula13	-41	-22	14	0.010	136	
39	Putamen	*	-24	3	16	0.011	136
40	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	-38	30	30	0.011	136
41	Precentral Gyrus	4	46	-9	58	0.011	112

	Women						
1	Left Amygdala, Right Amygdala, Left Hippocampus	34, 38	-5	-8	-14	0.043	27232
	Left Thalamus: Ventral lateral nucleus,						
	Left Mammillary Body, Left Caudate Head,						
	Right Caudate Head, Left Putamen,						
	Right Subthalamic Nucleus, Right Superior Temporal Gyru	15					
2	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula,	46	-49	25	11	0.015	7080
	Middle Frontal Gyrus						
3	Cerebellum: Declive, Parahippocampal Cortex, Culmen	19, 37	28	-60	-15	0.016	6520
4	Left Anterior Cingulate, Left Medial Frontal Gyrus,	32, 10	-1	47	2	0.020	5672
	Right Medial Frontal Gyrus						
5	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47, 13	-27	22	-16	0.017	3224
6	Cingulate Gyrus	32	-7	30	31	0.016	3008
7	Parahippocampal Cortex	19	-16	-48	-7	0.016	2984
8	Cingulate Gyrus	32	8	15	39	0.020	2480
9	Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-4	59	23	0.021	2472
10	Inferior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	37	50	-69	4	0.017	2136
11	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-4	-2	37	0.011	1792
12	Fusiform Gyrus, Culmen	37	-44	-46	-17	0.016	1736
13	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus, Right Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	1	19	59	0.013	1680
14	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	55	-18	-2	0.016	1104
15	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-37	11	-31	0.013	944
16	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-48	-69	16	0.011	840
17	Putamen	*	31	24	-9	0.010	712
18	Precentral Gyrus	6	-57	3	14	0.009	624
19	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	53	-55	36	0.013	592
20	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	44	61	16	12	0.009	552
21	Putamen	*	-24	3	16	0.011	512
23	Lingual Gyrus	18	9	-78	-1	0.009	464
24	Insula	13	-41	-21	14	0.010	464
25	Insula	13	50	-10	16	0.010	448
26	Posterior Cingulate	30, 29	5	-52	16	0.009	448
27	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	49	32	17	0.010	448
28	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Angular Gyrus	39	-49	-65	34	0.009	448
29	Lingual Gyrus	18	-13	-76	1	0.009	440
30	Cingulate Gyrus	24	6	-20	41	0.014	416
31	Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-20	56	28	0.010	400
32	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	-57	-38	36	0.009	400
33	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	-44	47	0	0.010	384
34	Medial Frontal Gyrus	6	-7	7	62	0.011	360
36	Extra-Nuclear	13	-39	8	-14	0.008	328
37	Lingual Gyrus	17	-9	-100	-8	0.010	320
38	Culmen	*	47	-45	-23	0.008	288
39	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-61	-1	-11	0.009	256
40	Insula	13	45	-39	21	0.009	256
42	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	36	21	-21	0.009	192
43	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	43	19	-12	0.008	192
44	Superior Frontal Gyrus	10	18	66	12	0.009	168
45	Sub-Gyral	20	-42	-18	-27	0.009	160
46	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-25	-85	-16	0.008	160
47	Anterior Cingulate	24	14	32	-8	0.009	160
48	Thalamus	*	-24	-30	0	0.009	160
49	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	45	-33	30	0	0.009	160
50	Cuneus	18	-6	-73	24	0.008	160
51	Cerebellum: Declive	*	52	-66	-17	0.009	152
52	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-46	-24	-10	0.009	152
53	Superior Temporal Gyrus	42	-64	-20	8	0.008	152
54	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	40	-48	14	0.008	152
55	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-39	-70	27	0.008	152
56	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	42	-68	28	0.008	152
57	Cingulate Gyrus	31	10	-56	30	0.008	152
59	Lingual Gyrus	18	-35	-74	-6	0.008	128

60	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	42	-84	9	0.008	128
61	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	-52	-53	24	0.008	128
62	Anterior Cingulate	32	1	36	-14	0.008	120
63	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	51	21	26	0.008	120
65	Precuneus	7	-11	-64	36	0.008	112
66	Precuneus	7	31	-56	58	0.009	112
67	Precuneus	7	5	-42	60	0.009	112
68	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-28	-81	15	0.008	104
69	Precuneus	31	-24	-75	27	0.008	104
70	Precentral Gyrus	6	-51	0	38	0.008	104
1	Men	6 28 44	27	7	5	0.025	20769
1	Amygdala, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus,	6, 38, 44,	37	/	-5	0.035	29768
	Middle Terrererel Course Insula	47, 6, 45,					
2	Annual Information Francisco Income	21, 13	25	10	10	0.022	20576
2	Amygdala, Interior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Middle Frontal Cymus, Symposian Temporal Cymus	45, 13,	-35	10	-12	0.023	20576
	Dutaman Linnagampus	40, 38,					
2	Putamen, Hippocampus	47	2	10	20	0.019	5000
3	Left Superior Frontel Curue	32, 0, 24	3	19	39	0.018	5288
4	Middle Terrer and Course Englisherin Course	27 10	40	57	7	0.015	2000
4	Caraballum Darling	37, 19	-40	-57	-/	0.015	3080
5	Lafenier Eventel Course Descentral Course	0 6 11	47	0	26	0.012	2726
5	Interior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus	9, 6, 44	-47	9	20	0.013	2/30
0		23	-2	-30	23	0.018	2048
/	Fusitorm Gyrus	19	40	-/1	-13	0.019	1690
8	Fusilorm Gyrus Middle Temporal Cymus, Synamian Temporal Cymus	37 20-12	40	-45	-18	0.021	1032
9	Protonica Cinculate Concerned Lineared Concerned	39, 13	-4/	-33	25	0.013	1448
10	Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus, Lingual Gyrus	30, 19	15	-30	0	0.010	1440
11	Left Cerebellum: Culmen, Right Cerebellum: Culmen	*	0	-42	-8	0.014	1432
12	Postcentral Gyrus	43	-30	-15	15	0.012	1392
13	Cunqua Gyrus, Cuimen	19	-1/	-47	-3 12	0.015	1364
14	Culleus Thelemus Ventrel negtorier leteral nucleus, Dutemen	1/	9	-65	15	0.014	1000
15	Antorior Cingulate	20	-24 5	-19	5 11	0.015	1272
10	Inferior Frontal Curue	32 47	5 27	22	-11	0.011	1232
17	Superior Frontal Cyrus	4/	-27	55	-/	0.014	1232
10	Posterior Cingulate	31	-0 -4	-66	24	0.013	1006
20	Middle Frontal Gyrus	0	-4	28	22	0.013	832
20	Caudate Body	ノ *	-6	0	14	0.005	736
$\frac{21}{22}$	Thalamus: Pulvinar	*	-0	-27	19	0.016	696
22	Anterior Cingulate	24	5	31	20	0.013	672
$\frac{23}{24}$	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-10	59	-1	0.013	616
24	Cinculate Gyrus	24	-10	_3	20	0.013	616
26	Postcentral Gyrus Precentral Gyrus	3 4	-46	-10	56	0.009	616
20	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9, -	-27	39	32	0.012	608
$\frac{27}{28}$	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-59	-3	-16	0.012	584
20	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-57	-33	-6	0.012	584
30	Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	3	54	24	0.012	568
31	Lingual Gyrus	18	-10	-70	5	0.011	552
32	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	45	35	28	0.012	504
33	Red Nucleus Thalamus	*	-6	-25	-6	0.008	344
34	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-47	-59	13	0.008	320
35	Postcentral Gyrus	40	60	-24	12	0.007	280
36	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	-47	-45	8	0.008	264
37	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-35	-80	11	0.008	256
38	Thalamus	*	1	-18	2	0.010	232
39	Lingual Gyrus	17	13	-93	$\overline{2}$	0.009	224
40	Cuneus	19	14	-78	_ 44	0.010	200
41	Precuneus	7	2	-66	49	0.009	200
42	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	24	12	64	0.008	192
43	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	45	-48	30	0.008	184
44	Culmen	*	23	-44	-23	0.008	176

45	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-22	30	42	0.009	176
46	Cerebellum	*	9	-86	-16	0.009	160
47	Cerebellum: Declive	*	21	-84	-13	0.008	160
48	Fusiform Gyrus	18	-18	-99	-12	0.008	160
49	Hippocampus		30	-39	3	0.008	160
50	Caudate Tail		28	-42	17	0.008	160
51	Thalamus: Pulvinar	*	-15	-27	18	0.008	160
52	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-30	-61	31	0.007	160
53	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-58	-33	30	0.008	160
54	Precuneus	7	-24	-54	51	0.008	160
55	Precuneus	7	30	-42	51	0.009	160
56	Precuneus	7	27	-54	54	0.008	160
57	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	36	33	-24	0.009	152
58	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	63	-30	36	0.008	152
59	Precuneus	7	24	-72	54	0.009	152
60	Precuneus	7	0	-48	54	0.009	152
61	Caudate Tail	*	-40	-29	-3	0.009	136
62	Thalamus	*	19	-6	9	0.008	128
63	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	33	-48	66	0.009	128
64	Culmen	*	14	-59	-17	0.008	120
65	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	50	-33	29	0.007	120
66	Paracentral Lobule	6	-11	-23	52	0.008	120
67	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	36	-86	17	0.008	112
68	Cerebellum: Tuber	*	-51	-66	-28	0.008	104

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure 3a (women), 3b (men), S1a (all participants).

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

Peak coordinates for Positive emotion (analysis of balanced dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Ζ	Peak Value	Vol. (mm^3)
	All participants (women and men)						
1	Anterior Cingulate, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus,	32	-5	14	-7	0.020	8392
	Lateral Globus Pallidus, Caudate Head						
2	Amygdala, Superior Temporal Gyrus,	38, 47	-25	-2	-23	0.027	7928
	Inferior Frontal Gyrus						
3	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	45, 13	-35	28	0	0.019	4048
4	Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-1	57	18	0.017	3368
5	Amygdala, Hippocampus	34	27	-2	-22	0.018	2984
6	Precuneus, Middle Temporal Gyrus,	39, 22	-51	-66	28	0.013	2424
	Superior Temporal Gyrus						
7	Postcentral Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule,	3, 40, 6	-43	-17	56	0.013	2152
	Precentral Gyrus, Middle Frontal Gyrus						
8	Lingual Gyrus	18	21	-86	-5	0.014	2136
9	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	45, 13	52	28	8	0.020	2112
10	Parahippocampal Cortex	36, 19	-36	-39	-15	0.011	2088
11	Cerebellum: Declive, Fusiform Gyrus,	37	-46	-60	-17	0.011	1968
	Middle Temporal Gyrus						
12	Fusiform Gyrus, Inferior Occipital Gyrus	19, 18	-31	-80	-13	0.011	1840
13	Fusiform Gyrus	19	45	-75	-12	0.016	1528
14	Thalamus, Parahippocampal Cortex, Hippocampus	35	-20	-29	-5	0.010	1296
15	Middle Temporal Gyrus	37	54	-65	11	0.018	1296
16	Precentral Gyrus	6	46	8	30	0.013	1256
17	Parahippocampal Cortex	30	21	-50	7	0.011	1232
18	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	47, 38	-49	24	-18	0.010	1192
19	Lingual Gyrus, Cuneus	18, 23	-5	-84	9	0.009	944
20	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	47, 13	31	28	-15	0.009	920
21	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10, 11	-3	57	-18	0.010	896
22	Fusiform Gyrus	20, 37	47	-46	-14	0.010	800
23	Precuneus	7	4	-64	63	0.013	800
24	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-54	8	0	0.013	784
25	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-61	-13	-27	0.011	752
26	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	0	15	53	0.012	752
27	Lateral Globus Pallidus	•	26	-18	-1	0.012	744
28	Posterior Cingulate	30	-3	-47	24	0.010	744
29	Caudate Body		18	-7	23	0.011	704
30	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	-37	19	47	0.012	704
31	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	44	57	12	13	0.011	696
32	Cuneus	7, 19	17	-81	38	0.008	640
33	Superior Frontal Gyrus	8	-27	37	40	0.009	608
34	Cingulate Gyrus	31	12	-37	45	0.009	592
35	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-50	-/8	6	0.010	584
36	Putamen	<i>.</i>	-23	-9	11	0.009	544
3/	Precentral Gyrus	6	-50	4	30	0.008	544
38	Mildle Temporal Gyrus	21	64	-32	-8	0.009	520
39	Sumarian Tanan and Cause	9,44	-49	1/	21	0.009	496
40	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	00	-32	15	0.009	400
41	Precentral Gyrus	4	45	-10	59 10	0.014	392
42	Cuneus	18	18	-96	19	0.009	360
45	Precentral Gyrus	0	43	-3 52	40	0.008	304 206
44	Cinquiata Curus	24	-11	-35	54 40	0.008	290
43 14	Dragungus	24 7	-1/	4	49 52	0.008	∠00 256
40 47	Lingual Currus	/	-24	-44 70	55	0.009	230 248
47 19	Dingual Oylus Precureus	10 7	-12 10	-70	62	0.009	∠40 248
40 40	Dutamon	/ *	19 27	-40 10	7	0.009	∠40 240
47 50	r utanton Cingulate Gymys	37	27 10	22	-1	0.007	240
51	Culmen	52 *	27	_17	-23	0.008	240
51	Cumon		<u>~ /</u>	- - + /	-40	0.000	

52	Lingual Gyrus	18	18	-72	0	0.009	232
53	Precuneus	31	-16	-42	36	0.008	232
54	Perirhinal Cortex	35	30	-27	-18	0.008	224
55	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-45	30	38	0.008	224
56	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	11	44	-14	0.006	216
57	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	42	-30	8	0.008	216
58	Postcentral Gyrus	3	30	-30	56	0.009	216
59	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-6	16	66	0.008	216
60	Cerebellar Tonsil	*	28	-62	-42	0.008	208
61	Cerebellar Tonsil	*	23	-70	-36	0.008	208
62	Thalamus: Ventral Anterior Nucleus	*	18	-8	7	0.008	200
63	Posterior Cingulate	29	6	-53	14	0.008	192
64	Precuneus	7	8	-64	51	0.007	192
65	Claustrum	*	42	4	0	0.008	184
66	Precentral Gyrus	4	-50	-8	40	0.008	176
67	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	44	18	48	0.008	176
68	Precuneus	19	-33	-73	44	0.008	168
69	Claustrum	*	-30	10	-10	0.007	160
70	Precentral Gyrus	13	-53	-10	8	0.007	160
71	Putamen	*	28	7	12	0.007	160
72	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	46	-57	20	0.007	160
73	Precuneus	7	17	-49	46	0.007	160
74	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	62	2	-19	0.007	152
75	Anterior Cingulate	25	6	9	-14	0.007	152
76	Cerebellar Lingual	*	-6	-50	-18	0.007	144
77	Precentral Gyrus	4	33	-14	46	0.007	144
78	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-1	-68	-17	0.007	136
79	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	54	-40	7	0.007	136
80	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	44	18	-39	0.007	128
81	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-42	-52	19	0.007	128
82	Caudate Body	*	14	2	8	0.007	120
83	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-32	-90	23	0.008	120
84	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	65	-43	8	0.006	112
85	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-58	-49	40	0.007	104
	Women						
1	Thalamus: Ventral Anterior Nucleus, Caudate Head	*	-6	-5	-2	0.018	4032
2	Lingual Gyrus	18	21	-85	-5	0.014	3176
3	Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-2	57	19	0.013	2640
4	Fusiform Gyrus, Inferior Occipital Gyrus	19, 18	-32	-80	-13	0.011	2624
5	Amygdala	*	-26	-8	-20	0.016	2360
6	Anterior Cingulate	32	-5	37	-14	0.013	1992
7	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus,	39, 19, 22	-55	-63	21	0.010	1792
	Middle Temporal Gyrus						
8	Parahippocampal Cortex	30	21	-50	6	0.011	1624
9	Inferior Parietal Lobule, Postcentral Gyrus	40, 3	-45	-22	53	0.010	1536
10	Middle Temporal Gyrus	37	53	-65	11	0.018	1512
11	Lingual Gyrus	18	-6	-84	5	0.009	1424
12	Thalamus, Parahippocampal Cortex, Hippocampus	35	-20	-30	-8	0.009	1392
13	Precentral Gyrus	6	47	6	32	0.012	1048
14	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	0	15	53	0.012	1032
15	Amygdala	*	22	-5	-24	0.012	1024
16	Insula, Claustrum	13	-31	24	0	0.009	960
17	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-41	-60	-19	0.009	936
18	Cuneus	7.19	17	-81	38	0.008	928
19	Precuneus	7	4	-64	63	0.013	928
20	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9,44	-49	17	21	0.009	824
21	Cerebellar Tonsil	*	26	-66	-39	0.008	776
22	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10, 11	-3	54	-20	0.008	712
23	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	10	44	-14	0.006	552
24	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	66	-33	16	0.009	552
25	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Angular Gyrus	39	-44	-76	31	0.008	464

26	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-54	6	0	0.009	456
27	Precentral Gyrus	4	44	-10	59	0.014	432
28	Precuneus	7	-24	-44	53	0.009	408
29	Perirhinal Cortex	36	-39	-31	-18	0.008	384
30	Perirhinal Cortex	35	30	-27	-18	0.008	352
31	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	54	33	12	0.008	352
32	Culmen	*	27	-47	-23	0.008	328
33	Cingulate Gyrus	31	6	-37	44	0.008	328
34	Cingulate Gyrus	32	10	22	33	0.008	320
35	Precuneus	31	-15	-42	36	0.008	320
36	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-55	17	-15	0.008	304
37	Posterior Cingulate	29	6	-53	14	0.008	296
38	Precuneus	19	-33	-73	44	0.008	288
39	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	42	-30	8	0.008	280
40	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-64	-14	-26	0.008	264
41	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	66	-30	-4	0.008	264
42	Insula	13	30	30	-6	0.009	264
43	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	45	50	22	0	0.008	264
44	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	44	58	12	10	0.008	264
45	Precentral Gyrus	6	-52	4	34	0.008	264
46	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-8	16	66	0.008	264
47	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-34	8	-27	0.007	256
48	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-42	-52	19	0.007	256
49	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	53	-40	8	0.007	248
50	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	44	18	-38	0.007	232
51	Anterior Cingulate	24	-1	42	0	0.006	224
52	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	44	18	48	0.008	200
53	Caudate Body	*	14	3	8	0.006	192
54	Cuneus	18	17	-98	15	0.008	176
55	Precentral Gyrus	6	-40	-2	63	0.008	176
	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6				0.007	
56	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	7	30	61	0.008	136
57	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-36	-50	64	0.006	136
58	Cerebellum: Declive	*	49	-70	-17	0.007	128
59	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	36	-56	62	0.006	128
60	Lingual Gyrus	18	-16	-87	-10	0.005	120
	Men						
1	Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus	47	-23	1	-23	0.015	8048
2	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Claustrum	13, 45, 47	-36	29	0	0.014	4160
3	Entorhinal cortex, Amygdala	34	30	1	-22	0.013	2496
4	Perirhinal cortex, Fusiform Gyrus	36, 19, 37	-36	-41	-12	0.009	2152
5	Fusiform Gyrus	19	44	-76	-12	0.016	1616
6	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	-47	26	-18	0.010	1568
7	Posterior Cingulate, Precuneus	30, 31	-5	-48	27	0.010	1560
8	Fusiform Gyrus	20, 37	48	-47	-14	0.010	1504
9	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	54	29	10	0.014	1104
10	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	-37	19	47	0.012	1072
11	Lateral Globus Pallidus	*	26	-18	-1	0.012	1040
12	Caudate Body	*	18	-7	23	0.011	1016
13	Superior Frontal Gyrus	8	-27	37	40	0.009	968
14	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	32	28	-19	0.009	944
15	Putamen	*	-23	-9	11	0.009	944
16	Anterior Cingulate	32	-2	35	-12	0.009	904
17	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus	37	-56	-56	-12	0.009	896
18	Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	1	59	17	0.007	840
19	Insula, Claustrum	*	43	10	-1	0.008	672
20	Postcentral Gyrus	3	30	-30	56	0.009	456
21	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-45	30	38	0.008	440
22	Cingulate Gyrus	31	17	-37	46	0.009	440
23	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-58	-12	-27	0.009	424
24	Precuneus	7	19	-39	62	0.009	424

25	Precentral Gyrus	4	-41	-14	60	0.008	408
26	Precentral Gyrus	6	-46	4	27	0.008	392
27	Precentral Gyrus	6	45	-3	48	0.008	384
28	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	-19	4	49	0.008	384
29	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9	45	13	25	0.008	376
30	Putamen	*	27	19	-7	0.007	368
31	Thalamus: Ventral Anterior Nucleus	*	19	-8	7	0.007	368
32	Claustrum	*	-29	9	-9	0.007	360
33	Precentral Gyrus	4	-50	-7	40	0.008	360
34	Anterior Cingulate	25	5	9́	-14	0.000	352
35	Caudate Head	*	_4	19	-5	0.007	352
36	Anterior Cingulate	37	-4	19	0	0.007	352
30	Thelemus: Pulviner	52 *	-0	4) 27	3	0.003	314
20	Indianius. Fulvinai		-20	-27	5	0.007	244
20	Comballymu Daaling	4	33	-14	45	0.007	226
39	Cerebenum: Declive	* 12	-1	-08	-1/	0.007	330
40	Precentral Gyrus	13	-55	-9	8	0.007	336
41	Cuneus	23	-11	-/5	13	0.007	336
42	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	46	-57	21	0.007	336
43	Precuneus	7	17	-49	46	0.007	336
44	Precuneus	7	9	-64	51	0.007	336
45	Cerebellar Lingual	*	-7	-50	-17	0.007	328
46	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	63	1	-19	0.007	320
47	Putamen	*	28	7	12	0.007	312
48	Precuneus	39	-45	-69	41	0.009	296
49	Precuneus	31	23	-56	23	0.006	288
50	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-13	33	55	0.006	288
51	Culmen	*	35	-31	-33	0.006	280
52	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-52	10	0	0.008	280
53	Inferior Occipital Gyrus	18	-47	-80	3	0.008	280
54	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	44	56	12	16	0.008	280
55	Middle Temporal Gyrus	20	61	-35	-11	0.006	272
56	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	65	-43	7	0.006	256
57	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	38	-44	30	0.007	256
58	Mammillary Body	*	3	-12	-12	0.006	248
59	Middle Frontal Gyrus	10	-36	58	-1	0.006	248
60	Thalamus	*	1	-16	15	0.006	240
61	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	28	10	39	0.000	240
62	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	-24	24	56	0.000	248
63	Superior Temporal Curus	38	24	24	35	0.007	240
64	Superior Frontal Curus	50	16	19	-35	0.000	240
04 65	Superior Floridar Oyrus	9 *	-10	40	31	0.007	240
05	Cerebellar Tonsli Middle Oscinitel Course	* 10	-2	-00	-44	0.006	224
00	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-33	-89	22	0.008	224
6/	Precentral Gyrus	4	-40	-11	46	0.006	216
68	Uncus	20	-40	-14	-36	0.006	208
69	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-2	62	-18	0.006	208
70	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-51	16	-32	0.006	200
71	Cerebellum: Tuber	*	-42	-63	-24	0.006	192
72	Cingulate Gyrus	32	6	28	24	0.006	184
73	Cingulate Gyrus	32	-12	32	24	0.006	184
74	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-52	-70	26	0.007	168
75	Supramarginal Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-58	-48	40	0.007	144
76	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-43	-84	16	0.006	128
77	Cuneus	18	21	-93	22	0.006	112

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure 4a (women), 4b (men), S1b (all participants).

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

Peak coordinates for All-emotion (analysis of balanced dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Ŷ	Ζ	Peak Valu	e Vol. (mm ³)
	All participants (women and men)					0.00 .	
I	Left Amygdala, Right Amygdala,	47,45,	-15	2	-11	0.085	/1632
	Left Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Left Thalamus: Ventral	46, 9, 38,					
	posterior lateral nucleus, ventral lateral nucleus,	13, 4, 6,					
	Right Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Left Middle	22					
	Frontal Gyrus, Right Mammillary Body, Left Mammillary	7					
	Body, Right Superior Temporal Gyrus, Left Caudate Body	,					
	Left Caudate Head, Left Insula, Left Putamen,						
•	Left Precentral Gyrus, Left Red Nucleus, Right Claustrum	15 6 15	1.5	•	-	0.025	10553
2	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Claustrum,	45, 6, 47,	46	20	5	0.035	19752
•	Middle Frontal Gyrus	44, 46, 9	20		-	0.020	10104
3	Fusiform Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus,	19, 37, 30	39	-63	-7	0.028	10104
	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Culmen,						
	Cerebellum: Declive				_		
4	Anterior Cingulate, Medial Frontal Gyrus	32, 10	1	48	-7	0.025	5360
5	Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-2	60	22	0.039	3080
6	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-49	-57	20	0.023	2936
7	Parahippocampal Cortex, Middle Temporal Gyrus	19, 37	-40	-50	-12	0.017	2360
8	Fusiform Gyrus	37	46	-43	-18	0.034	2192
9	Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus	32, 6	-2	20	48	0.024	2104
10	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Angular Gyrus	39	-48	-69	27	0.018	1688
11	Cingulate Gyrus	32	10	21	38	0.038	1112
12	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-36	-72	-12	0.019	1048
13	Fusiform Gyrus, Lingual Gyrus	19, 18	25	-83	-12	0.024	1040
14	Anterior Cingulate	32	-6	32	28	0.020	1016
15	Lingual Gyrus	18	-12	-75	3	0.018	936
16	Fusiform Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive	19	-28	-81	-12	0.019	832
17	Fusiform Gyrus	37	-42	-52	-14	0.024	632
18	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-55	-63	21	0.018	616
19	Medial Frontal Gyrus, Anterior Cingulate	10	-8	50	-4	0.024	528
20	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-1	16	49	0.032	496
21	Lingual Gyrus	18	16	-74	0	0.016	472
22	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-2	0	31	0.019	472
23	Posterior Cingulate	23	-1	-36	23	0.021	416
24	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-6	20	59	0.015	416
25	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	66	-43	8	0.020	368
26	Postcentral Gyrus	43	-53	-11	14	0.014	320
27	Precentral Gyrus	4	-41	-13	60	0.017	312
28	Anterior Cingulate	32	1	42	5	0.022	304
29	Cuneus	17	8	-84	13	0.014	296
30	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	56	-17	-3	0.017	256
31	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	53	-40	7	0.015	256
32	Anterior Cingulate	24	6	31	21	0.017	256
33	Posterior Cingulate	29	4	-51	14	0.022	248
34	Caudate Body	*	20	-6	23	0.016	232
35	Posterior Cingulate	31	-5	-68	22	0.013	224
36	Parahippocampal Cortex	19	-18	-44	-6	0.027	216
37	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	-27	39	33	0.015	216
38	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-59	-1	-16	0.017	192
39	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	62	-34	-10	0.014	192
40	Cingulate Gyrus	31	5	-21	41	0.016	192
41	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	62	2	-19	0.015	176
42	Culmen	*	6	-40	-9	0.014	176
43	Fusiform Gyrus	20	-42	-18	-27	0.013	136
44	Posterior Cingulate	30	23	-57	19	0.013	136
45	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-57	-34	-6	0.013	128
46	Thalamus: Pulvinar	*	19	-27	19	0.016	128

47	Precentral Gyrus	4	47	-9	57	0.025	128
48	Lingual Gyrus	18	11	-79	1	0.012	120
49	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	53	-55	36	0.014	120
50	Precuneus	7	29	-55	57	0.013	120
51	Precuneus	7	3	-64	63	0.013	120
52	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	45	-45	32	0.015	112
	Women						
1	Left Amygdala, Right Amygdala, Right Hippocampus,	28, 38,	-6	-8	-14	0.054	36640
	Left Hippocampus, Left Thalamus: Ventral	35, 13					
	lateral nucleus, Left Superior Temporal Gyrus,						
	Right Superior Temporal Gyrus, Left Mammillary Body,						
	Right Mammillary Body, Left Caudate Head,						
	Left Medial Geniculate Body, Left Putamen						
2	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus, Left Anterior Cingulate,	9, 32, 10	-1	50	6	0.032	15040
	Right Anterior Cingulate, Left Medial Frontal Gyrus,						
	Right Medial Frontal Gyrus						
3	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	9, 47, 45,	-42	23	5	0.019	11240
		46, 13, 9					
4	Fusiform Gyrus, Lingual Gyrus, Culmen,	19, 18, 37	26	-66	-13	0.020	8440
	Cerebellum: Declive						
5	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus, Right Superior Frontal Gyrus,	6, 32	2	17	51	0.023	7152
	Right Cingulate Gyrus, Right Medial Frontal Gyrus						
6	Fusiform Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive, Lingual Gyrus	37, 19, 18	-37	-68	-14	0.016	5152
7	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus,	22, 39, 19	-52	-62	21	0.015	4072
	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Angular Gyrus						
8	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Inferior Temporal Gyrus	37	51	-67	7	0.022	3064
9	Cingulate Gyrus	32	-7	30	31	0.016	2336
10	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	50	20	-8	0.014	2096
11	Parahippocampal Cortex	19	-16	-47	-6	0.016	1896
12	Lingual Gyrus	18	-11	-80	2	0.017	1256
13	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-4	-2	36	0.011	1232
14	Insula	13	31	27	-8	0.013	1056
15	Posterior Cingulate	30	5	-52	15	0.015	880
16	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	55	-18	-2	0.016	864
17	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	52	-39	6	0.015	824
18	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	44	60	15	11	0.013	824
19	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	52	32	15	0.014	752
20	Parahippocampal Cortex	30	21	-51	7	0.012	712
21	Precentral Gyrus	6	48	5	33	0.012	536
22	Precentral Gyrus	6	-53	1	36	0.012	536
23	Inferior Parietal Lobule, Postcentral Gyrus	40, 3	-44	-21	53	0.010	480
24	Cingulate Gyrus	24	5	-19	41	0.014	464
25	Precentral Gyrus	4	44	-10	59	0.022	456
26	Precuneus	7	4	-64	63	0.013	456
27	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	53	-55	36	0.013	424
28	Fusiform Gyrus	20	-42	-17	-27	0.012	392
29	Precentral Gyrus	6	-56	3	13	0.009	368
30	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-42	-75	27	0.010	368
31	Cerebellum: Declive	*	50	-68	-17	0.014	336
32	Putamen	*	-25	3	16	0.011	320
33	Cuneus	19	12	-85	39	0.012	288
34	Insula	13	50	-12	15	0.010	280
35	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-56	17	-14	0.012	224
36	Insula	13	-42	-20	14	0.010	216
37	Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-20	56	29	0.010	208
38	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	-56	-39	36	0.009	192
39	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	-43	46	0	0.010	184
40	Precuneus	7	32	-56	59	0.010	184
41	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-56	6	0	0.010	168
42	Lingual Gyrus	17	-9	-100	-8	0.010	152
43	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-61	-1	-11	0.009	144

45 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 47 36 21 -21 0.009 104 Men 1 Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Claustrum, Postcentral Gyrus 13, 47, -34 11 -13 0.036 32776 2 Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula 47 47 47 47 36 32704 3 Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus 45, 6, 38, 37 9 -4 0.038 32704 4 Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus 47 47 47 47 47 3 Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus 23, 30, 29 0 -43 20 0.021 4368 4 Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus 19, 37 -41 -51 -8 0.017 4000 5 Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 32, 6 4 19 40 0.018 3624 6 Fusiform Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44	
Men1Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Claustrum, Postcentral Gyrus13, 47, -3411-130.036327762Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula45, 6, 38, 379-40.038327043Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus45, 6, 38, 379-40.038327044Middle Temporal Gyrus, Frecentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula23, 30, 290-43200.02143684Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus19, 37-41-51-80.01740005Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus32, 6419400.01836246Fusiform Gyrus1943-72-120.02730567Inferior Frontal Gyrus9-448270.02227528Fusiform Gyrus20, 3745-43-170.03125849Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen*-24-1760.015251210Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus9-360220.019212811Posterior Cingulate L ingual Gyrus3118-7-69150.0131624	
Men1Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Claustrum, Postcentral Gyrus13, 47, -3411-130.036327762Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula45, 6, 38, 379-40.038327043Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus4747474747473Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus23, 30, 290-43200.02143684Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus19, 37-41-51-80.01740005Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus32, 6419400.01836246Fusiform Gyrus1943-72-120.02730567Inferior Frontal Gyrus9-448270.02227528Fusiform Gyrus20, 3745-43-170.03125849Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen*-24-1760.015251210Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus9-360220.019212811Posterior Cingulate L ingual Gyrus3118-7-69150.0131624	
1Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Claustrum, Postcentral Gyrus13, 47, -3411-130.036327762Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula45, 6, 38, 379-40.038327043Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus23, 30, 290-43200.02143684Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus19, 37-41-51-80.01740005Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus32, 6419400.01836246Fusiform Gyrus1943-72-120.02730567Inferior Frontal Gyrus9-448270.02227528Fusiform Gyrus20, 3745-43-170.03125849Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen*-24-1760.015251210Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus9-360220.019212811Posterior Cingulate L ingual Gyrus3118-7-69150.0131624	
Postcentral Gyrus45, 432Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula45, 6, 38, 379-40.038327043Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus23, 30, 290-43200.02143684Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus19, 37-41-51-80.01740005Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus32, 6419400.01836246Fusiform Gyrus1943-72-120.02730567Inferior Frontal Gyrus9-448270.02227528Fusiform Gyrus20, 3745-43-170.03125849Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen*-24-1760.015251210Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus9-360220.019212811Posterior Cingulate L ingual Gyrus3118-7-69150.0131624	76
2Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula45, 6, 38, 47379-40.038327043Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus23, 30, 290-43200.02143684Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus19, 37-41-51-80.01740005Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus32, 6419400.01836246Fusiform Gyrus1943-72-120.02730567Inferior Frontal Gyrus9-448270.02227528Fusiform Gyrus20, 3745-43-170.03125849Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen*-24-1760.015251210Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus9-360220.019212811Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus3118-7-69150.0131624	
Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula473Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus23, 30, 290-43200.02143684Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus19, 37-41-51-80.01740005Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus32, 6419400.01836246Fusiform Gyrus1943-72-120.02730567Inferior Frontal Gyrus9-448270.02227528Fusiform Gyrus20, 3745-43-170.03125849Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen*-24-1760.015251210Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus9-360220.019212811Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus3118-7-69150.0131624)4
Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Precentral Gyrus, Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula 3 Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus 23, 30, 29 0 -43 20 0.021 4368 4 Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus 19, 37 -41 -51 -8 0.017 4000 5 Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 19, 37 -41 -51 -8 0.017 4000 5 Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 32, 6 4 19 40 0.018 3624 6 Fusiform Gyrus 19 43 -72 -12 0.027 3056 7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18	
Lateral Globus Pallidus, Insula 23, 30, 29 0 -43 20 0.021 4368 4 Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus 19, 37 -41 -51 -8 0.017 4000 5 Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 32, 6 4 19 40 0.018 3624 6 Fusiform Gyrus 19 43 -72 -12 0.027 3056 7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate L ingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	
3 Posterior Cingulate, Cuneus 23, 30, 29 0 -43 20 0.021 4368 4 Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus 19, 37 -41 -51 -8 0.017 4000 5 Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 32, 6 4 19 40 0.018 3624 6 Fusiform Gyrus 19 43 -72 -12 0.027 3056 7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	
4 Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus 19, 37 -41 -51 -8 0.017 4000 5 Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 32, 6 4 19 40 0.018 3624 6 Fusiform Gyrus 19 43 -72 -12 0.027 3056 7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	3
5 Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 32, 6 4 19 40 0.018 3624 6 Fusiform Gyrus 19 43 -72 -12 0.027 3056 7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 2644)
6 Fusiform Gyrus 19 43 -72 -12 0.027 3056 7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	4
7 Inferior Frontal Gyrus 9 -44 8 27 0.022 2752 8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	5
8 Fusiform Gyrus 20, 37 45 -43 -17 0.031 2584 9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	2
9 Thalamus: Ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Putamen * -24 -17 6 0.015 2512 10 Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus 9 -3 60 22 0.019 2128 11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	4
10Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus9-360220.019212811Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyrus3118-7-69150.0131624	2
11 Posterior Cingulate Lingual Gyms 31 18 -7 -69 15 0.013 1624	8
(1) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0)	4
12 Middle Frontal Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus 9, 8 -26 37 36 0.015 1576	5
13 Middle Temporal Gyrus Superior Temporal Gyrus 39 13 -49 -56 23 0.013 1416	5
14 Cuneus, Lingual Gyrus (1997) 17, 18 10 -82 12 0.014 1368	8
15 Medial Frontal Gyrus 10 -8 57 0 0.014 1088	ŝ
16 Anterior Cingulate, Cingulate Gyrus 24, 32, 4, 30, 22, 0,017, 1088	ŝ
17 Supramarginal Gyrus Superior Temporal Gyrus 40.22 43 -47 31 0.015 1024	1
18 Lingual Gyrus Culmen 19 -17 -47 -5 0013 992	
19 Culmen * 5 -42 -8 0.014 976	
20 Caudate Body * -7 9 15 0.018 872	
21 Precentral Gyrus Postcentral Gyrus 4.3 -43 -11 58 0.015 864	
22 Caudate Body * 19 -6 22 0.016 832	
23 Anterior Cingulate 32 5 49 -11 0.011 816	
24 Middle Temporal Gyrus 21 60 0 -20 0.015 752	
25 Superior Temporal Gyrus 22 65 -43 7 0.018 712	
26 Thalamus: Pulying * 18 -27 20 0.016 528	
27 Middle Temporal Gyrus 20 61 -35 -11 0.013 432	
28 Anterior Cingulate 32 24 1 35 -13 0.009 424	
29 Precupeus 7 5 -65 49 0.012 424	
30 Middle Frontal Gyrus 9 34 28 21 0 009 408	
31 Middle Temporal Gyrus 21 -57 -33 -6 0.012 384	
32 Middle Francisco 9 45 35 28 0.012 384	
33 Middle Frontal Gyrus 6 -37 19 47 0.012 360	
34 Middle Temporal Gyrus 21 -59 -3 -16 0.011 344	
35 Precupeus 31 -11 -50 34 0.010 336	
36 Posterior Cingulate 30 25 -56 21 0.009 328	
37 Superior Temporal Gyrus Insula 22 13 50 -6 -3 0.009 312	
38 Appular Gyrus Midle Temporal Gyrus 39 -47 -71 35 0.010 296	
39 Caudate Head -4 20 -3 0.010 240	
40 Middle Occipital Gyrus 19 - 38 - 81 12 0 009 208	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
42 Superior Frontal Gyrus 10 -5 63 -16 0,009 184	
43 Lingual Gyrus Parahippocampal Cortex 19 30 20 -54 1 0.008 152	
44 Middle Frontal Gyrus 8 -44 30 37 0.010 152	
45 Thalamus * 1 -18 2 0.010 132	
46 Precentral Gyrus Inferior Frontal Gyrus 6 44 -57 8 15 0 008 128	
47 Lingual Gyrus 17 13 -93 2 0.000 120	
48 Superior Temporal Gyrus 38 51 20 -20 0.009 112	
49 Cuneus 19 14 -77 44 0.010 104	

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled

regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure 5a (women), 5b (men), S1c (all participants).

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

Peak coordinates for sex differences in Negative emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Ζ	Peak Valu	e Vol. (mm ³)
	Women > Men						
1	Amygdala, Hippocampus, Substantia Nigra,	35, 34	-10	-16	-13	3.036	5416
	Hypothalamus: Mammillary body, Subcallosal Gyrus,						
_	Thalamus: Medial dorsal nucleus						
2	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	1	27	57	2.357	1584
3	Lateral Globus Pallidus	*	-10	3	1	2.989	1488
4	Putamen	*	-14	18	-16	2.727	1264
5	Middle Occipital Gyrus	37	52	-70	4	2.848	1056
6	Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus	10, 9	7	63	16	2.290	1048
7	Anterior Cingulate, Medial Frontal Gyrus	32, 9, 10	6	47	8	2.181	936
8	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	-53	30	21	2.135	432
9	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	21, 38	-42	7	-34	2.007	384
10	Anterior Cingulate	32	-10	37	-8	2.251	224
11	Subcallosal Gyrus, Uncus	34	20	5	-24	1.957	200
12	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-44	-8	-43	2.636	168
13	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	45	-50	21	2	2.079	168
	Men > Women						
1	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Claustrum, Precentral Gyrus	38, 13,	44	4	-16	3.719	4136
		22, 6					
2	Posterior Cingulate	29, 23	-2	-36	24	3.719	1872
3	Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	6, 9	43	8	32	2.820	1680
4	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	39, 22	-37	-60	29	2.848	1552
5	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus	37	-41	-57	-4	2.605	1368
6	Culmen, Posterior Cingulate, Lingual Gyrus	30, 18	10	-51	3	2.400	1368
7	Brainstem, Substantia Nigra	*	16	-18	-17	2.457	1088
8	Insula	13	-41	-1	-3	2.512	1056
9	Cuneus	17	10	-83	14	3.090	992
10	Putamen	*	-26	-17	3	2.794	976
11	Fusiform Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive, Lingual Gyrus	19, 18	40	-72	-12	2.428	720
12	Postcentral Gyrus, Transverse Temporal Gyrus	40, 41	-56	-19	15	2.197	688
13	Anterior Cingulate	32	3	50	-12	2.748	528
14	Posterior Cingulate	30, 23	-6	-66	20	2.284	472
15	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus	45, 44	48	20	6	2.238	440
16	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47, 45	50	31	-6	2.106	416
17	Thalamus	*	18	-29	21	2.948	400
18	Middle Frontal Gyrus	47	-46	37	-12	2.382	368
19	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	-37	37	8	2.512	368
21	Fusiform Gyrus	20	46	-40	-14	1.946	192
22	Precentral Gyrus	4	-42	-11	58	2.366	128
23	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-37	-81	-13	2.010	120
24	Cuneus	18	14	-77	32	2.590	104

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure S2a.

 $^{a}BA = Brodmann's$ area, if applicable

Peak coordinates for sex differences in Positive emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	^b X	Y	Z	Peak Value Vol. (mm ³)	
	Women > Men						
1	Thalamus, Subthalamic Nucleus, Hypothalamus,	*	-9	-5	1	2.079	1912
	Medial Globus Pallidus						
2	Medial Frontal Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus	32, 6	-2	17	56	2.687	1824
3	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus	39, 37	53	-66	10	2.366	1480
4	Superior Temporal Gyrus	42, 13, 22	64	-35	16	2.501	1248
5	Lingual Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive	18	-29	-78	-9	1.893	856
6	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	43	-31	8	2.226	168
7	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39, 22	-59	-56	24	1.914	152
8	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	6	30	61	2.284	128
	Men > Women						
1	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus	6, 8, 9	-31	27	43	2.391	2168
2	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	47, 38	-45	22	-26	2.687	1808
3	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Entorhinal Cortex	13, 47, 34	32	6	-25	2.770	1504
4	Subcallosal Gyrus, Uncus, Amygdala	34, 28	-19	2	-27	2.312	896
5	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	-23	18	-20	2.357	344
6	Precuneus	7	19	-39	62	1.833	304
7	Claustrum	*	39	1	-2	2.590	296
8	Medial Frontal Gyrus	25	-14	11	-20	2.357	168
9	Medial Frontal Gyrus, Angerior Cingulate	9, 32	-12	32	24	2.054	120

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure S2b.

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

Peak coordinates for sex differences in All-emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Ζ	Peak Value	e Vol. (mm ³)
	Women > Men						
1	Hippocampus, Thalamus: Ventral	35	-9	-12	-6	3.719	11128
	lateral nucleus, medial dorsal nucleus, pulvinar,						
	Subthalamic Nucleus, Hypothalamus						
2	Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus	6	0	22	59	3.239	3600
3	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	37	50	-68	7	3.719	2064
4	Anterior Cingulate, Medial Frontal Gyrus	32, 10, 24	5	45	6	2.727	1920
5	Left Medial Frontal Gyrus, Right Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-4	56	19	3.036	1360
6	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41, 13	55	-42	10	2.636	1296
7	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	-49	25	24	2.457	1008
8	Anterior Cingulate	32	-10	37	-9	2.489	840
9	Superior Frontal Gyrus	10	15	64	14	2.312	416
10	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-51	-73	13	2.232	352
11	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-40	7	-33	2.170	344
12	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Supramarginal Gyrus	39, 40	-57	-57	28	2.106	312
13	Uncus	34	18	1	-25	1.985	184
14	Lingual Gyrus	17	-6	-95	-8	2.357	168
15	Culmen	*	32	-59	-21	1.988	128
	Men > Women						
1	Claustrum, Amygdala, Superior Temporal Gyrus,	13, 38, 20	43	2	-11	3.540	4000
	Fusiform Gyrus						
2	Posterior Cingulate	23, 29	-2	-40	22	3.719	3040
3	Putamen	*	-28	-14	2	3.239	1560
4	Middle Frontal Gyrus	47, 11	-44	34	-16	2.652	1456
5	Fusiform Gyrus	19	41	-73	-11	3.090	1424
6	Parahippocampal Cortex, Fusiform Gyrus	36, 37	45	-43	-14	2.669	1416
7	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	37	33	-21	2.590	1224
8	Lateral Globus Pallidus, Thalamus	*	25	-12	-1	2.447	1056
9	Middle Temporal Gyrus	37	-41	-53	-3	2.636	1040
10	Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	44, 45	49	21	9	2.342	1024
11	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-26	37	38	2.605	968
12	Right Anterior Cingulate, Left Anterior Cingulate	32, 24	9	34	19	2.748	864
13	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	52	32	-8	2.911	832
14	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	-34	21	-26	2.576	768
15	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	-37	36	8	2.605	728
16	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-38	-61	29	2.549	712
17	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Transverse Temporal Gyrus,	22, 42,	-56	-14	13	2.706	664
	Postcentral Gyrus	41, 43, 40					
18	Caudate Body	*	19	-6	22	2.524	592
19	Precentral Gyrus	6	-38	5	27	2.106	496
20	Culmen	*	7	-47	0	2.186	472
21	Claustrum, Insula	13	-42	1	-4	2.447	368
22	Cuneus	17	12	-81	14	3.239	368
23	Uncus, Amygdala	28	-21	-1	-31	2.418	336
24	Cerebral Peduncle	*	15	-18	-19	2.135	336
25	Supramarginal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	40.39	42	-45	31	2.022	328
	Supramarginal Gyrus	,					
26	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9	40	11	31	2.304	232
27	Posterior Cingulate	30	-7	-69	17	2.066	144
28	Thalamus	*	18	-28	22	2.727	144

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE

activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks; clusters may extend across non-labeled regions between peaks and the extent is best characterized in Figure S2c.

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

Peak coordinates for Negative emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Ζ	Peak Value	e Vol. (mm ³)
	All Participants (Women and Men)						
1	Left Amygdala, Right Amygdala, Left Inferior Frontal	47, 19,	-2	3	-9	0.076	93136
	Gyrus, Right Inferior Frontal Gyrus,	38, 6, 13,					
	Left Hippocampus, Right Hippocampus,	46, 44, 11,					
	Left Superior Temporal Gyrus, Right Precentral Gyrus,	45, 9, 28					
	Left Thalamus: Ventral lateral nucleus, ventral posterior						
	lateral nucleus, Right Thalamus: Pulvinar,						
	Left Caudate Body, Left Insula,						
	Left Middle Frontal Gyrus, Right Middle Frontal Gyrus,						
	Right Hypothalamus: Mammillary Body, Left Caudate He	ad,					
	Right Cerebellum: Culmen, Left Cerebellum: Culmen,						
	Left Putamen, Right Putamen, Right Claustrum, Left Uncu	IS					
2	Right Cingulate Gyrus, Left Cingulate Gyrus,	32, 6	0	20	45	0.036	10432
	Superior Frontal Gyrus						
3	Anterior Cingulate, Medial Frontal Gyrus	32, 10	1	51	-1	0.024	5552
4	Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-3	58	22	0.032	5384
5	Inferior Temporal Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive,	37, 39	40	-71	-8	0.023	4552
	Middle Temporal Gyrus						
6	Parahippocampal Cortex, Culmen	19	25	-54	-14	0.024	4232
7	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	43	10	-32	0.027	4000
8	Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	6, 9	-49	8	32	0.021	3696
9	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule,	39, 40, 19	-48	-60	22	0.016	3424
	Middle Occipital Gyrus						
10	Fusiform Gyrus, Culmen	37	46	-47	-21	0.025	2136
11	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	21, 22	-52	-10	-10	0.017	1640
12	Fusiform Gyrus, Inferior Occipital Gyrus	19	-40	-76	-9	0.019	1512
13	Fusiform Gyrus	37	-44	-47	-16	0.024	1464
14	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-4	-2	33	0.019	1288
15	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	55	-13	-2	0.018	1280
16	Precuneus	31	-4	-68	24	0.017	1136
17	Lingual Gyrus	*	-11	-71	3	0.020	856
18	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	58	-36	6	0.018	832
19	Anterior Cingulate	24	3	32	-12	0.017	792
20	Posterior Cingulate	30	12	-57	9	0.016	744
21	Posterior Cingulate	23	-2	-36	23	0.019	744
22	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	50	-6	-17	0.018	696
23	Anterior Cingulate	32	21	34	16	0.015	608
24	Precentral Gyrus	6	-58	5	15	0.015	432
25	Middle Temporal Gyrus	37	-42	-58	-4	0.015	368
26	Cuneus	17	8	-84	13	0.014	328
27	Thalamus	*	18	-27	19	0.016	328
28	Cingulate Gyrus	31	5	-22	41	0.016	312
29	Postcentral Gyrus	43	-54	-13	16	0.013	296
30	Anterior Cingulate	т 10	-13	3/	-8	0.013	288
31	Insula Middle Terrer and Course	13	3/	-21	17	0.014	280
32	Nildale Temporal Gyrus	21	60 7	4	-22 10	0.014	204
33	Posterior Cingulate	30, 29	52	-51	18	0.013	192
34	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	53	-55	36	0.014	192
35	Milli T IC	/	29	-55	57	0.013	192
30	Antarian Cinasalata	21	-57	-34	-0	0.014	184
3/	Anterior Cingulate	24	6	31	20	0.014	184
38 20	IIIsula Dracontrol Currus	15	40	-38	21 50	0.014	100
39 40	Precentral Gyrus	4	40	-10	58 21	0.017	152
40	menor Parietai Lobule	40	-39	-30	51	0.012	104
	Women						
1	Left Amygdala, Left Hippocampus,	34, 47,	-9	-3	-10	0.057	60000
	Right Hippocampus, Left Inferior Frontal	46, 38,					
----	---	------------	-----	-----	-------	-------	------
	Gyrus, Left Thalamus: Ventral lateral nucleus,	19, 9, 18,					
	pulvinar, Left Middle Frontal Gyrus, Right Superior	13					
	Temporal Gyrus, Left Caudate Body,						
	Right Mammillary Body, Right Subthalamic Nucleus,						
	Left Putamen, Right Putamen, Left Caudate Head,						
	Left Lingual Gyrus, Left Red Nucleus,						
	Left Cerebellum: Culmen, Left Insula						
2	Superior Frontal Gyrus, Medial Frontal Gyrus	6	-2	20	58	0.022	5696
3	Culmen, Cerebellum: Declive, Parahippocampal Cortex	19, 37	27	-59	-16	0.017	5616
4	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus, Right Superior Frontal	9, 10	-1	58	20	0.022	5472
	Gyrus, Left Medial Frontal Gyrus						
5	Left Anterior Cingulate, Left Medial Frontal Gyrus,	32, 10	2	48	4	0.021	4968
	Right Medial Frontal Gyrus						
6	Insula, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Putamen	47, 45	43	24	-9	0.016	4472
7	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-38	10	-32	0.022	2656
8	Cingulate Gyrus	32	-7	30	31	0.016	2280
9	Inferior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	37, 39	50	-68	5	0.022	2264
10	Cingulate Gyrus	32	8	15	39	0.020	2008
11	Precentral Gyrus	6	-51	-1	41	0.021	1736
12	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9,44	53	16	20	0.017	1440
13	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus,	19, 39	-48	-73	14	0.012	1280
	Inferior Temporal Gyrus						
14	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-4	-2	36	0.011	1216
15	Fusiform Gyrus	37	-45	-45	-17	0.016	1104
16	Culmen	*	47	-54	-25	0.014	848
17	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	55	-18	-2	0.016	848
18	Anterior Cingulate	*	-12	38	-7	0.013	832
19	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	57	-37	6	0.014	808
20	Putamen	*	-25	3	13	0.012	768
21	Anterior Cingulate	24	0	31	-12	0.011	736
22	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	51	32	16	0.015	736
23	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	39, 37	-54	-55	23	0.012	696
24	Lingual Gyrus	18	-7	-96	-9	0.011	656
25	Precentral Gyrus, Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	56	0	41	0.014	544
26	Insula	13	-41	-18	16	0.011	520
27	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	54	-55	36	0.013	512
28	Cingulate Gyrus	24	5	-19	41	0.014	464
29	Superior Temporal Gyrus	21	49	-7	-16	0.014	456
30	Culmen	*	2	-60	-21	0.010	384
31	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-47	-12	-9	0.012	376
32	Posterior Cingulate	29, 30	4	-55	16	0.009	360
33	Caudate Body	*	10	3	14	0.011	352
34	Insula	13	37	-20	18	0.011	328
35	Precuneus	31	-9	-64	34	0.010	296
36	Insula	13	50	-12	15	0.010	280
37	Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-19	56	29	0.010	272
38	Lingual Gyrus	18	9	-78	-1	0.009	264
39	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Angular Gyrus	39	-49	-65	33	0.009	256
40	Supramarginal Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-57	-40	34	0.009	248
41	Precentral Gyrus	6	-58	2	14	0.009	240
42	Precentral Gyrus	4	45	-10	59	0.014	216
43	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	60	6	-25	0.010	208
44	Thalamus	*	17	-25	5	0.009	200
45	Precuneus	7	32	-56	59	0.010	184
46	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-61	0	-11	0.009	176
47	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	-43	47	0	0.010	176
48	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-44	-8	-43	0.010	168
49	Precentral Gyrus	6	64	3	13	0.009	168
50	Insula13	40	12	2	0.009	128	
51	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-46	-25	-9	0.009	104
52	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-58	9	-10	0.009	104

53	Precuneus	7	3	-64	64	0.009	104
	Men						
1	Amygdala, Precentral Gyrus, Superior Temporal	6, 38, 47,	37	6	-7	0.039	34072
	Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Entorhinal Cortex,	44, 35, 13,					
	Claustrum, Insula, Middle Temporal Gyrus	22, 45, 21					
2	Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula,	13, 47, 46,	-35	8	-12	0.027	26328
	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Thalamus: Ventral posterior	11, 21, 28					
	lateral nucleus, Middle Temporal Gyrus, Uncus, Putamen	, , -					
3	Posterior Cingulate, Culmen, Parahippocampal Cortex	30, 19	12	-50	0	0.016	5064
4	Cingulate Gyrus, Superior Frontal Gyrus	32, 6, 24	3	19	40	0.018	4368
5	Fusiform Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	19.37	-41	-66	-7	0.017	4296
C	Inferior Occipital Gyrus, Parahippocampal Cortex	19,07		00		01017	/0
	Cerebellum: Declive						
6	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	39, 13	-42	-58	28	0.014	2776
7	Anterior Cingulate	32	5	50	-9	0.016	2120
8	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9	-45	9	27	0.013	1952
9	Posterior Cingulate	23	_2	-36	23	0.018	1872
10	Anterior Cingulate	32	25	32	17	0.012	1736
11	Fusiform Gyrus	19	40	-70	-13	0.012	1728
12	Lingual Gyrus	10	-17	-18	-15	0.017	1664
12	Euciform Gurus	37	-17	-40	-4	0.017	1600
13	Posterior Cinculate	37	40	-43 67	-10	0.022	1406
14	Postcentral Curus	31 42	-4 56	-07	15	0.013	1490
15	Currents	43	-50	-17	13	0.012	1344
10		17	9	-83	15	0.014	1108
1/	Interior Frontal Gyrus	4/	-27	34 52	-/	0.014	1088
18	Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	4	55	22	0.016	1032
19	Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-8	64	24	0.018	1032
20	Thalamus: Pulvinar	*	18	-27	19	0.016	840
21	Caudate Body	*	-6	9	13	0.016	696
22	Anterior Cingulate	24	6	31	20	0.014	624
23	Cerebellum: Declive	*	34	-84	-17	0.014	600
24	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	59	-28	10	0.009	560
25	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-11	59	-1	0.013	528
26	Postcentral Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus	3, 4	-46	-10	56	0.010	504
27	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	-27	40	32	0.012	472
28	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-57	-33	-6	0.012	456
29	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	45	35	28	0.012	440
30	Lingual Gyrus	18	-10	-70	5	0.011	432
31	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-3	-3	29	0.009	376
32	Middle Temporal Gyrus	20	60	-33	-9	0.010	368
33	Precentral Gyrus	6	-35	-8	46	0.010	304
34	Anterior Cingulate	24	6	32	-13	0.009	264
35	Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	6, 44	-56	9	15	0.008	256
36	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-30	-28	39	0.008	208
37	Thalamus	*	1	-18	2	0.010	200
38	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-36	-80	11	0.008	200
39	Cuneus	19	14	-78	44	0.010	184
40	Red Nucleus, Thalamus	*	-5	-26	-6	0.008	168
41	Superior Frontal Gyrus	10	-4	63	-15	0.008	144
42	Lingual Gyrus	17	14	-93	2	0.009	144
43	Precentral Gyrus	4	-37	-20	58	0.009	144
44	Cerebellar Tonsil	*	40	-57	-39	0.009	128
45	Cerebellum	*	9	-86	-16	0.009	128
46	Superior Occipital Gyrus	19	33	-74	31	0.009	128
47	Precupeus	7	2	-65	49	0.009	128
48	Caudate Tail	,	-38	_29	-3	0.009	120
40	Middle Temporal Gyrus	30	_45	_58	12	0.009	120
	Culmen	*	- -J 22	-30	-23	0.008	1120
51	Cerebellum: Declive	*	23		-25	0.000	112
51	Middle Temporal Gurus	22	21 17	-04	-1 <i>.</i> Q	0.008	112
52 52	Condete Temporal Cyfus	کک *	-4/ 20	-43 41	0 17	0.008	112
55		-	∠0	-41	1/	0.009	112

54	Thalamus	*	-15	-27	18	0.009	112
55	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-22	29	42	0.009	112
56	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	25	12	64	0.008	112
57	Cuneus	18	14	-77	32	0.008	104

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks..

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

^bX, Y, and Z coordinates represent weighted central activation likelihood focus in MNI space.

Table S8

Peak coordinates for Positive emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

	Region $(>100 \text{ mm}^3)$	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Ζ	Peak Value	e Vol. (mm ³)
	All Participants (Women and Men)						
1	Amygdala, Superior Temporal Gyrus,	38, 47	-29	2	-23	0.027	10912
	Inferior Frontal Gyrus						
2	Parahippocampal Cortex, Fusiform Gyrus, Thalamus,	36, 37, 19	-36	-44	-14	0.017	6176
	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Hippocampus						
3	Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus,	*	-7	-4	-3	0.020	4816
	Medial Globus Pallidus, Caudate Head						
4	Amygdala, Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	27	0	-24	0.021	4088
5	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	45, 13	-35	28	0	0.019	3696
6	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	22, 39	-53	-61	22	0.015	3232
7	Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-1	57	18	0.017	3064
8	Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	6, 44, 9	51	10	24	0.013	2896
9	Anterior Cingulate	32	-4	36	-13	0.020	2744
10	Postcentral Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule,	3, 40, 6	-42	-18	56	0.015	2496
	Precentral Gyrus, Middle Frontal Gyrus			•			
11	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	22, 21	63	-39	13	0.017	2232
12	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	45, 13	52	28	8	0.020	1960
13	Lingual Gyrus	18	21	-86	-5	0.014	1920
14	Fusiform Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive,	19, 18	-30	-82	-13	0.011	1872
	Inferior Occipital Gyrus	10.45		20	10	0.011	15.00
15	Insula, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	13,47	32	30	-13	0.011	1/60
16	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6, 8	-31	27	44	0.012	1656
1/	Fusiform Gyrus	19	45	-/5	-12	0.016	1624
18	Middle Occipital Gyfus	19	-48	-79	0	0.015	1488
19	Lateral Globus Pallidus Middle Temporel Cymys	*	20 54	-1/	-2 11	0.017	1232
20	Superior Frontel Cyrus	57	34	-03 19	11 54	0.018	1164
21	Superior Frontal Cyrus	20	-2	10	54 7	0.012	1132
22	Posterior Cingulate	30 29	-2	-30	22	0.011	1120
23	Fusiform Gyrus	30, 27	-2	-44	-16	0.010	1112
$\frac{24}{25}$	Cuneus	7 19	19	-81	40	0.011	992
26	Precentral Gyrus	6	-52	5	33	0.010	864
27	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10 11	-3	57	-18	0.010	784
28	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	-30	-51	66	0.011	728
29	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-54	8	0	0.013	712
30	Precuneus	7	4	-64	63	0.013	712
31	Lingual Gyrus	18	-3	-87	8	0.009	688
32	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-61	-13	-27	0.011	680
33	Claustrum	*	42	2	-2	0.012	664
34	Caudate Body	*	18	-7	23	0.011	592
35	Culmen	*	25	-52	-22	0.009	536
36	Putamen	*	-23	-9	11	0.009	512
37	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	64	-32	-8	0.009	496
38	Anterior Cingulate	32	-5	46	0	0.009	488
39	Cingulate Gyrus	31	12	-37	45	0.009	480
40	Precuneus	39	-45	-71	39	0.013	448
41	Middle Frontal Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9, 44	-49	16	21	0.009	400
42	Precuneus	7	-25	-44	51	0.010	400
43	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	34	-55	63	0.010	376
44	Precentral Gyrus	4	45	-10	59	0.014	360
45	Cuneus	18	18	-96	19	0.009	288
46	Precuneus	19	-30	-75	44	0.008	272
47	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Cuneus	19, 18	-29	-88	25	0.008	248
48	Lingual Gyrus	18	-12	-78	0	0.009	224
49	Lingual Gyrus	18	18	-72	0	0.009	216
50	Precuneus	51	-11	-53	34 56	0.008	216
51	Posicentral Gyrus	3	50	-30	56	0.009	210

52	Cingulate Gyrus	32	10	22	33	0.008	208
53	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-8	16	66	0.009	208
54	Cerebellar Tonsil	*	22	-70	-36	0.008	192
55	Precuneus	7	20	-40	62	0.009	192
56	Perirhinal Cortex	35	30	-27	-18	0.008	176
57	Precupeus	31	-16	-42	36	0.008	176
58	Precentral Gyrus	6	45	-3	48	0.008	176
59	Cerebellar Lingual	*	-6	_49	-18	0.008	168
60	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	12	-30	8	0.008	168
61	Cupeus	23	-10	-30	13	0.000	160
62	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-10	30	38	0.007	160
63	Cinculate Gyrus	24	-43	4	38 40	0.008	160
64	Desterior Cingulate	24	-17	+ 50	49	0.008	150
65	Coreballer Tonsil	29 *	20	-52	14	0.008	132
65	Claustrum	*	20	-02	-41	0.008	144
00		*	-50	10	-10	0.007	144
6/	Inalamus	* 7	18	-8	/	0.008	144
68	Precuneus	1	8	-64	51	0.007	144
69	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	-48	40	15	0.007	136
70	Precentral Gyrus	4	-50	-8	40	0.008	136
71	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	10	44	-14	0.006	128
72	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	45	36	20	0.008	128
73	Caudate Tail	*	38	-19	-11	0.007	120
74	Putamen	*	28	7	12	0.007	120
75	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	46	-57	21	0.007	120
76	Precuneus	7	17	-49	46	0.007	120
77	Precentral Gyrus	4	33	-14	45	0.007	120
78	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	44	18	48	0.008	120
79	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	62	2	-19	0.007	112
80	Putamen	*	27	19	-7	0.007	112
81	Culmen	*	-1	-43	-4	0.007	112
82	Precentral Gyrus	13	-53	-10	8	0.007	112
83	Superior Frontal Gyrus	8	-3	43	46	0.007	112
85	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-12	-77	-17	0.007	104
	Women						
1	Thalamus: Ventral anterior nucleus, Caudate Head	*	-7	-5	-2	0.020	4512
2	Lingual Gyrus	18	21	-85	-5	0.014	3096
3	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus,	22, 39, 19	-53	-62	19	0.013	3080
	Middle Temporal Gyrus						
4	Left Medial Frontal Gyrus, Right Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-2	57	19	0.013	2560
5	Fusiform Gyrus, Inferior Occipital Gyrus	19, 18	-28	-80	-12	0.0113	2536
6	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	22, 21	62	-38	14	0.017	2408
7	Amygdala	*	-26	-8	-20	0.016	2304
8	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-3	17	56	0.012	2032
9	Anterior Cingulate	32	-5	37	-14	0.013	1968
10	Parahippocampal Cortex	30	21	-50	7	0.011	1592
11	Fusiform Gyrus	37	-42	-58	-17	0.010	1512
12	Middle Temporal Gyrus	37	54	-65	11	0.018	1512
13	Inferior Parietal Lobule Postcentral Gyrus	40.3	-45	-22	53	0.010	1456
14	Thalamus Hinnocampus Perirhinal Cortex	35	-20	-30	-8	0.009	1376
15	Lingual Gyrus	18	-6	-84	6	0.009	13/0
16	Cerebellar Tonsil Cerebellum: Uvula	*	23	-69	-38	0.002	1064
17	Amyadala	*	23	-0)	-30	0.003	1004
19	Anyguala Dracentral Gurus	6	17	-5	-24	0.012	1008
10	Insula Claustrum	13	-21	25	0	0.012	026
17 20	Dragungus	15	-31 4	23 61	62	0.009	930
20	Currous	/ 7 10	4 17	-04	20	0.015	912 802
21 22	Middle Frontel Cumus Inforian Frantal Course	1, 19	1/	-01	38 21	0.008	090
22	Madial Frontal Gyrus, Interior Frontal Gyrus	9,44	-49 2	1/	21	0.009	810 704
23	Medial Frontal Cymus	10, 11	-3 10	54 44	-20	0.008	704
24 25	Middle Tennerel Comercan	10	10	44	-14	0.006	504
25	Mildule Temporal Gyrus, Angular Gyrus	39	-44	-/6	30 50	0.008	448
26	Precentral Gyrus	4	44	-10	39	0.014	416

27	Precuneus	7	-24	-44	53	0.009	408
28	Perirhinal Cortex	36	-39	-31	-18	0.008	384
29	Perirhinal Cortex	35	30	-27	-18	0.008	368
30	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	54	33	12	0.008	352
31	Culmen	*	27	-47	-23	0.008	320
32	Cingulate Gyrus	31	6	-37	44	0.008	320
33	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-56	6	0	0.009	312
34	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-55	17	-15	0.008	304
35	Posterior Cingulate	20	6	-53	-15	0.008	204
36	Cingulate Gyrus	32	10	22	33	0.008	296
30	Dracupous	31	16	42	36	0.008	290
37	Condate Tail	31 *	-10	-42 10	11	0.008	200
20		10	20	-19	-11	0.007	200
39	Inferrior Temporal Currus	19	-33	-/5	44	0.008	260
40	Camballum Daaling	20	-04	-14	-20	0.008	204
41	Cerebenum: Declive	*	-12	-//	-1/	0.007	204
42	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	66	-30	-4	0.008	264
43	Insula	13	30	30	-6	0.009	264
44	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	45	50	22	0	0.008	264
45	Superior Temporal Gyrus	41	42	-30	8	0.008	264
46	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	44	58	12	10	0.008	264
47	Precentral Gyrus	6	-52	4	34	0.008	264
48	Superior Frontal Gyrus	8	-3	43	46	0.007	248
49	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-34	8	-27	0.007	232
50	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	44	18	-38	0.007	224
51	Culmen	*	51	-45	-23	0.007	224
52	Anterior Cingulate	24	-1	42	0	0.006	208
53	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	44	18	48	0.008	200
54	Caudate Body	*	14	3	8	0.006	184
55	Cuneus	18	16	-98	15	0.008	160
56	Precentral Gyrus, Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	-40	-2	63	0.008	160
57	Lingual Gyrus	18	-15	-86	-10	0.006	152
58	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	6	30	61	0.008	136
59	Cerebellum: Declive	*	49	-70	-17	0.007	128
60	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	36	-56	62	0.006	128
61	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-36	-50	64	0.006	128
	Men						
1	Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	-29	5	-24	0.018	10216
2	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Claustrum	13, 45, 47	-37	30	1	0.014	4152
3	Hippocampus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	34, 38	29	2	-24	0.016	4040
4	Parahippocampal Cortex	36, 19	-35	-39	-15	0.013	2752
5	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6, 8	-31	27	44	0.012	2712
6	Fusiform Gyrus	19	45	-75	-11	0.016	1736
7	Lateral Globus Pallidus	*	26	-17	-2	0.017	1672
8	Posterior Cingulate	30, 29	-2	-44	22	0.011	1608
9	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9	50	13	21	0.010	1600
10	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	47	34	30	-20	0.010	1504
11	Claustrum, Insula	*	42	5	-2	0.012	1376
12	Fusiform Gyrus	20.37	48	-47	-14	0.010	1368
13	Precentral Gyrus	4	-39	-16	56	0.010	1264
14	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	46	54	29	10	0.014	1072
15	Caudate Body	*	18	-7	23	0.014	928
16	Putamen	*	_23	_0	11	0.000	848
17	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	10	-23	-78	3	0.007	816
18	Middle Temporal Gyrus Fusiform Gyrus	37		-76	_12	0.011	776
10	Anterior Cingulate	37	-54 0	-50	-12 12	0.009	760
19 20	Americi Cingulate Superior Frontal Curus Madial Frontal Curus	32 0	-∠ 1	33 50	-13	0.009	700
20 21	Superior Frontai Gyrus, Mediai Frontai Gyrus	フ *	1	37 0	1/	0.007	128
21	Lateral Globus Paindus Middle Temporal Crime		-11	8	-14	0.008	120
22	windone remporal Gyrus	19, 39	-51	-64	22	0.008	004
23	Superior Parietal Lobule	/	-28	-52	00	0.010	664
24	Cerebellar Lingual	* 2 0	-5	-41/	-18	0.008	632
25	Cingulate Gyrus	32	2	32	21	0.006	568

26	Middle Occipital Gyrus, Cupeus	19 18	-28	-88	25	0.008	560
20	Cingulate Gyrus	31	17	-37	25 46	0.009	408
20	Drogungus	21	11	52	24	0.009	400
20	Precentral Gurus	51	-11	-55	34 48	0.008	384
20	Middle Frontal Currus	6	10	-5	40	0.008	204
21		0	-19	4	49	0.008	269
20	Precuneus	20	19	-39	02	0.009	250
32	Interior Temporal Gyrus	20	-57	-12	-27	0.009	352
33	Anterior Cingulate	32	-0	49	-1	0.008	352
34	Precentral Gyrus	6	-46	4	27	0.008	352
35	Middle Frontal Gyrus	8	-45	30	38	0.008	352
36	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-21	-94	-17	0.008	328
37	Claustrum	*	-29	9	-10	0.007	328
38	Caudate Head	*	-5	19	-5	0.007	320
39	Thalamus	*	-20	-27	3	0.007	320
40	Thalamus	*	19	-8	7	0.007	312
41	Precuneus	7	17	-49	46	0.007	312
42	Culmen	*	23	-56	-22	0.008	304
43	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	63	1	-19	0.007	304
44	Culmen	*	-1	-43	-4	0.007	304
45	Insula	45	29	32	1	0.007	304
46	Anterior Cingulate	25	5	9	-15	0.007	296
47	Precentral Gyrus	13	-53	-9	9	0.007	296
48	Putamen	*	27	19	-7	0.007	288
49	Cuneus	23	-10	-74	13	0.007	280
50	Middle Temporal Gyrus	22	46	-57	20	0.007	280
51	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	45	36	20	0.007	280
52	Precentral Gyrus	4	-50	-8	40	0.008	280
53	Precuneus	7	8	-64	51	0.007	280
54	Cerebellum: Anterior Lobe	*	-21	-49	-25	0.007	272
55	Brainstem- Red Nucleus	*	3	-22	-24	0.007	272
56	Precupeus	39	-45	-69	41	0.009	272
57	Precentral Gyrus	4	33	-14	46	0.007	272
58	Cerebellum: Declive	*	-1	-67	-17	0.007	264
59	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-52	10	0	0.008	264
60	Putamen	*	28	8	12	0.007	264
61	Postcentral Gyrus	3	20	-30	56	0.007	264
62	Superior Frontal Gyrus	6	-14	33	55	0.005	207
63	Middle Frontal Cyrus	6	-1+	24	56	0.000	232
64	Middle Frontal Gyrus	10	-24	2 4 58	-1	0.007	210
65	Thelemus	*	-30 2	16	15	0.000	200
66	Precupeus	10	2/	-10	30	0.000	200
67	Culmon	19	25	-70	39	0.000	200
607	Mammillany Dody	*	2	-51	-34	0.000	200
60	Maliliniary Douy	20	3 60	-12	-12	0.006	200
70	Summemorinal Curris	20	20	-35	-11	0.000	200
70	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	38	-44	30	0.007	200
/1	Middle Frontal Gyrus	0	28	10	39	0.006	200
12	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-42	0	-22	0.006	192
13	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	-57	16	-14	0.006	192
/4 75	Cingulate Gyrus	32	-11	32	24	0.006	192
75	Superior Frontal Gyrus	9	-16	48	31	0.007	192
76	Cerebellum: Tuber	*	-42	-65	-24	0.006	184
77	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	65	-43	8	0.006	184
78	Precuneus	31	23	-56	23	0.006	184
79	Anterior Cingulate	32	14	38	18	0.006	176
80	Uncus	20	-40	-14	-36	0.006	168
81	Precuneus	7	24	-57	57	0.006	168
82	Cerebellar Tonsil	*	-2	-60	-44	0.006	160
83	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38	46	17	-23	0.006	160
84	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-2	62	-18	0.006	160
85	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-52	-22	33	0.006	160
86	Precentral Gyrus	6	-55	9	36	0.006	160
87	Precuneus	7	-30	-45	45	0.006	160

88	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	31	-53	66	0.006	160
89	Putamen	*	-32	-12	-3	0.006	152
90	Postcentral Gyrus	2	63	-18	33	0.006	152
91	Precuneus	19	-24	-78	42	0.006	152
92	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	-58	-48	40	0.007	144
93	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9	56	9	32	0.006	112
94	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-43	-84	16	0.006	104

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks.

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

^bX, Y, and Z coordinates represent weighted central activation likelihood focus in MNI space.

Table S9

Peak coordinates for All-emotion (analysis of complete dataset)

	Region (>100mm ³)	^a BA(s)	bХ	Y	Ζ	Peak Val	ue Vol. (mm ³)
	All Participants (Women and Men)						
1	Left Amygdala, Right Amygdala, Left Superior	38, 45, 1	0	7	-10	0.098	105448
	Temporal Gyrus, Right Superior Temporal Gyrus,	47, 6, 9,					
	Right Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Left Inferior Frontal Gyrus,	46, 13					
	Left Thalamus: Ventral lateral nucleus,						
	ventral posterior lateral nucleus, Right Precentral Gyrus,						
	Left Middle Frontal Gyrus, Right Middle Frontal Gyrus,						
	Left Insula, Right Claustrum,						
	Left Hypothalamus: Mammillary Body,						
	Right Hypothalamus: Mammillary Body, Left Caudate						
	Body, Right Lateral Globus Pallidus, Right Putamen						
2	Fusiform Gyrus, Culmen, Middle Temporal Gyrus,	37, 19,	32	-56	-5	0.036	16008
	Inferior Temporal Gyrus, Parahippocampal Cortex,	29, 23,					
	Culmen, Posterior Cingulate	30					
3	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus,	22, 19, 39	-46	-68	9	0.031	10344
	Inferior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus,						
	Angular Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive						
4	Superior Frontal Gyrus, Cingulate Gyrus,	6, 32	0	20	47	0.041	9568
	Anterior Cingulate						
5	Medial Frontal Gyrus, Anterior Cingulate	10, 32	0	46	-5	0.028	8576
6	Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-2	57	21	0.048	6992
7	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus,	9,6	-50	8	29	0.029	5144
	Middle Frontal Gyrus						
8	Parahippocampal Cortex, Culmen	19	-12	-47	-5	0.030	3472
9	Fusiform Gyrus, Inferior Temporal Gyrus	37, 19, 36	-42	-49	-14	0.027	3176
10	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	60	-40	9	0.025	2704
11	Fusiform Gyrus, Lingual Gyrus	19, 18	25	-84	-12	0.024	1336
12	Lingual Gyrus	*	-12	-74	2	0.022	1080
13	Precentral Gyrus	3	-40	-17	58	0.021	904
14	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-49	-10	-8	0.021	768
15	Superior Parietal Lobule, Precuneus	7	32	-55	60	0.020	632
16	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	61	3	-21	0.020	504
17	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-3	-1	31	0.019	480
18	Precuneus	31	-4	-69	23	0.017	448
19	Precuneus	7	3	-64	64	0.022	448
20	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	56	-17	-2	0.018	416
21	Anterior Cingulate	32	19	36	16	0.016	376
22	Anterior Cingulate	24	5	31	21	0.018	368
23	Precentral Gyrus	4	45	-10	58	0.031	368
24	Sub-Gyral	21	51	-6	-18	0.018	328
25	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-3	60	-15	0.016	320
26	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-60	-2	-15	0.017	280
27	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-62	-13	-26	0.018	272
28	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	62	-33	-8	0.017	272
29	Lingual Gyrus	18	16	-74	0	0.016	184
30	Caudate Body	*	12	3	10	0.015	136
31	Caudate Body	*	18	-6	23	0.016	136
32	Precuneus	7	-24	-42	54	0.017	128
33	Thalamus	*	18	-27	19	0.016	112
	Woman						
1	women Laft Amugdala, Laft Hinnocompus	28 20 6	11	n	10	0.066	67400
T	Pight Hippocampus Left Thelemus	20, 30, 0, 17 12	-11	-2	-10	0.000	07400
	Ngin inprovanipus, Lett Indianius. Ventral lateral nucleus, Left Superior Temporal Gurus	46 0 25					
	Right Superior Temporal Gyrus, Left Precentral Gyrus	+0, 7, 55, 10					
	Left Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Left Insula. Left Middle	17					

Frontal Gyrus, Right Subthalamic Nucleus,

	Left Putamen, Right Putamen, Left Cerebellum: Culmen						
2	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus, Right Superior Frontal	9, 32, 24,	0	50	8	0.038	16136
	Gyrus, Left Anterior Cingulate, Right Anterior Cingulate,	10					
	Left Medial Frontal Gyrus, Right Medial Frontal Gyrus						
3	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus, Right Cingulate Gyrus,	6, 32	0	19	54	0.033	8304
	Left Medial Frontal Gyrus						
4	Culmen, Parahippocampal Cortex,	19, 37	32	-54	-19	0.018	5640
	Inferior Temporal Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive						
5	Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula	47, 45	45	23	-9	0.019	5640
6	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus,	22, 19, 39	-50	-63	19	0.022	5008
	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Angular Gyrus						
7	Fusiform Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive, Lingual Gyrus	37, 19, 18	-37	-66	-14	0.019	4136
8	Inferior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	37	51	-67	7	0.023	3120
9	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	59	-40	10	0.023	2968
10	Fusiform Gyrus, Lingual Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive	19, 18	24	-81	-10	0.020	1872
11	Cingulate Gyrus	32	-7	30	31	0.016	1688
12	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9, 44	55	15	18	0.017	1576
13	Lingual Gyrus	18	-10	-78	2	0.018	1544
14	Precentral Gyrus	6	51	3	37	0.014	1048
15	Middle Frontal Gyrus	46	52	32	15	0.020	968
16	Precuneus, Superior Parietal Lobule	7	3	-63	63	0.022	944
17	Posterior Cingulate	30	5	-53	15	0.016	768
18	Cingulate Gyrus	24	-4	-2	37	0.011	768
19	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	55	-18	-2	0.016	672
20	Caudate Body	*	12	3	11	0.014	560
21	Precentral Gyrus	4	44	-10	59	0.028	480
22	Putamen	*	-25	3	13	0.012	416
23	Parahippocampal Cortex	30	21	-51	7	0.012	400
24	Precuneus	7	-24	-42	54	0.017	392
25	Lingual Gyrus	18	-7	-96	-9	0.012	368
26	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	34	-56	61	0.014	368
27	Superior Temporal Gyrus	39	54	-55	36	0.013	360
28	Cingulate Gyrus	24	5	-19	41	0.014	352
29	Superior Temporal Gyrus	38, 22	-57	16	-13	0.013	344
30	Lingual Gyrus	18	13	-75	-2	0.011	344
31	Insula	13	-41	-18	16	0.011	320
32	Sub-Gyral	21	49	-7	-17	0.014	304
33	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	43	17	51	0.014	264
34	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	-48	-12	-9	0.012	248
35	Cerebellum: Uvula	*	14	-80	-35	0.013	240
36	Sub-Gyral	20	-42	-17	-27	0.012	232
37	Cerebellum: Declive	*	50	-68	-17	0.014	224
38	Inferior Parietal Lobule, Postcentral Gyrus	40, 3	-45	-23	51	0.010	184
39	Inferior Parietal Lobule	40	-36	-50	63	0.013	176
40	Middle Temporal Gyrus	39	-43	-75	27	0.010	168
41	Cuneus	19	12	-85	39	0.013	168
42	Insula	13	37	-20	18	0.011	160
43	Precuneus	31	-9	-62	34	0.010	144
44	Culmen	*	2	-60	-22	0.010	136
45	Thalamus	*	18	-24	4	0.010	104
46	Insula	13	50	-12	15	0.010	104
	Men						
1	Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus,	45, 6, 11,	37	9	-6	0.043	40136
	Insula, Middle Frontal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus,	38, 35,					
	Lateral Globus Pallidus, Claustrum,	44, 13,					
	Perirhinal Cortex, Thalamus: Ventral anterior	47, 9					
	nucleus						
2	Amygdala, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, Insula, Putamen,	47, 13, 45	-33	11	-14	0.038	38856
	Thalamus: Ventral Posterior Lateral Nucleus, Insula						
3	Posterior Cingulate, Cerebellum: Culmen	23, 30, 29	4	-45	13	0.023	7656
4	Parahippocampal Cortex, Middle Temporal Gyrus,	19, 37, 36	-39	-49	-9	0.017	3432

	Fusiform Gyrus						
5	Fusiform Gyrus, Cerebellum: Declive	19	42	-73	-12	0.027	3312
6	Left Medial Frontal Gyrus, Right Medial Frontal Gyrus,	9	-2	58	24	0.020	3144
	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus						
7	Right Cingulate Gyrus, Left Superior Frontal Gyrus	32, 6	5	19	39	0.018	2696
8	Fusiform Gyrus	20	46	-44	-17	0.031	2688
9	Middle Temporal Gyrus, Superior Temporal Gyrus	39, 22, 13	-46	-59	24	0.016	2616
10	Fusiform Gyrus, Inferior Temporal Gyrus	19	-44	-79	-6	0.022	2520
11	Inferior Frontal Gyrus	9	-45	8	28	0.022	2408
12	Anterior Cingulate	24, 32	11	34	18	0.018	2232
13	Anterior Cingulate	32	5	50	-8	0.016	1496
14	Posterior Cingulate, Lingual Gyrus	31, 18	-6	-69	18	0.015	1448
15	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-7	58	0	0.018	1368
16	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9,8	-26	35	38	0.015	1368
17	Precentral Gyrus, Postcentral Gyrus	4, 3	-40	-15	58	0.018	1320
18	Postcentral Gyrus	43	-55	-14	14	0.013	1096
19	Superior Temporal Gyrus, Middle Temporal Gyrus	22, 21	-53	-6	-9	0.013	1080
20	Lingual Gyrus	19	-16	-48	-4	0.017	1040
21	Cuneus, Lingual Gyrus	17, 18	9	-83	13	0.014	760
22	Caudate Body	*	-7	9	14	0.018	712
23	Supramarginal Gyrus	40	43	-46	32	0.015	672
24	Caudate Body	*	19	-6	22	0.016	640
25	Middle Temporal Gyrus	20	60	-34	-10	0.015	584
26	Superior Temporal Gyrus	22	65	-43	7	0.018	576
27	Middle Frontal Gyrus	9	45	35	25	0.013	576
28	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	60	1	-20	0.015	552
29	Thalamus	*	18	-27	19	0.016	512
30	Precentral Gyrus	6	-36	-9	47	0.013	488
31	Medial Frontal Gyrus	10	-2	63	-16	0.013	472
32	Fusiform Gyrus	18	-21	-97	-14	0.013	464
33	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-58	-34	-6	0.013	424
34	Fusiform Gyrus, Inferior Temporal Gyrus	19, 37	28	-53	-8	0.011	408
35	Middle Occipital Gyrus	19	-26	-86	26	0.013	400
36	Anterior Cingulate	24, 32	2	33	-12	0.010	368
37	Inferior Temporal Gyrus	20	-60	-12	-27	0.012	328
38	Culmen	*	23	-55	-23	0.012	328
39	Precuneus	7	4	-65	50	0.012	248
40	Middle Frontal Gyrus	6	-37	19	47	0.012	232
41	Precuneus	7	26	-55	55	0.012	232
42	Superior Parietal Lobule	7	32	-50	66	0.012	192
43	Medial Frontal Gyrus	9	-11	47	16	0.010	168
44	Caudate Head	*	-4	20	-3	0.010	152
45	Precuneus	31	-11	-50	34	0.010	152
46	No gray matter	*	34	29	21	0.009	144
47	Cuneus	19	15	-78	44	0.011	144
48	Middle Temporal Gyrus	21	-63	-16	-18	0.010	112
49	Precuneus	31	33	-74	32	0.010	112

Clusters demonstrating significant concordance across studies (p < .05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons). For each cluster, labels denote regions which contained the peak ALE activation, and regions which contained secondary peaks.

^aBA = Brodmann's area, if applicable

^bX, Y, and Z coordinates represent weighted central activation likelihood focus in MNI space.





Figure S1. Regions of significant activation likelihood (p < 0.05, FDR-corrected for multiple comparisons) for contrasts collapsed across studies of women and men, overlaid on a representative single-subject structural anatomical image template in MNI space. S1a: Significant ALE clusters for negative emotional contrasts. S1b: Significant ALE clusters for positive emotional contrasts. S1c:

Significant ALE clusters for all emotional contrasts (positive and negative emotion stimuli). Images are presented in neurological orientation. Brighter colors indicate greater activation likelihood.

Figure S2. ALE maps of sex differences (analysis of the complete dataset)



Figure S2. Regions of significant differences in activation likelihood for women vs. men (p < 0.05, corrected). S2a: Sex differences in activation likelihood for contrasts of negative emotion. Red color scale: greater activation for women than men. S2c: Sex differences in activation likelihood for all emotional contrasts, collapsed across positive and negative valences. S2b: Sex differences

in activation likelihood for contrasts of positive emotion. Blue color scale: greater activation for men than women. Images presented in neurological orientation. Brighter colors indicate greater activation likelihood.

Appendix B. Supplement to Study 2



Figure S1. Responses to negative emotional stimuli in women and men, across all graymatter voxels.



Figure S2. Responses to positive emotional stimuli in women and men, across all graymatter voxels.

Table S1			
Enhanced encoding-related connectivity	y with left amygdala for	negative relative to	o neutral stimuli

		MNI	Coo	rd.	7	k			MNI	Coo	rd.	7	
		X	у	Z	Z	ĸ		HEM	Х	у	Z	Ζ	ĸ
14/													
vvomen > Men		40	~		2.2	64	Women						
Amygdala		-18	-8	-14	3.3	61	Sup. Frontal G.	L	-12	44	-28	4.0	89
Hippocampus		-14	-14	-10	2.0	(LIVI)	G. Rectus	L	-2	44	-30	3.0	(LM)
Inf. Temporal G.	R	54	-44	-12	3.2	139	Sup. Frontal G.	L	-8	52	-26	3.0	(LM)
Inf. Temporal G.	ĸ	46	-50	-8	2.9		Inf. Frontal G.	R	36	26	28	3.7	59
Mid. Temporal G.	R	58	-44	-4	2.6		Mid. Frontal G.	R	34	28	18	2.5	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	34	32	22	4.4	362	Sup. Frontal G.	R	18	10	50	3.5	70
Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	36	32	32	3.2		Mid. Frontal G.	R	28	16	54	2.4	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	40	38	16	3.0	(LM)	Sup. Frontal G.	R	6	46	34	3.4	144
Mid. Frontal G.	R	28	20	54	3.4	212	Sup. Frontal G.	R	10	46	46	3.2	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	R	34	26	52	3.1	(LM)	Sup. Frontal G.	R	6	54	36	2.9	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	R	22	14	54	3.1	(LM)	Sup. Frontal G.	R	18	68	-2	3.1	118
Sup. Frontal G.	R	6	46	34	3.7	175	Sup. Frontal G.	R	14	72	4	3.0	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	R	6	54	36	3.6	(LM)	Mid. Frontal G.	R	22	64	-12	2.5	(LM)
_ Sup. Frontal G.	R	10	52	44	3.0	(LM)	Thalamus	L	-6	-22	16	3.1	73
Thalamus	L	-14	-34	6	4.0	278	Thalamus		0	-18	22	2.8	(LM)
Post. Cingulate G.	L	-6	-38	16	3.6	(LM)	Putamen	R	22	2	14	3.7	107
Thalamus	L	-24	-28	12	3.4	(LM)	Putamen	R	28	-2	18	3.4	(LM)
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	4	-4	28	2.9	78	Putamen	R	30	-8	12	3.0	(LM)
Thalamus	L	-4	-8	24	2.5	(LM)	Post. Cingulate G.	L	-6	-38	12	3.6	653
Putamen	R	26	0	12	4.0	188	Precuneus	R	12	-50	12	3.6	(LM)
Putamen	R	36	-8	6	3.3	(LM)	Thalamus	L	-14	-34	6	3.5	(LM)
Caudate	R	26	-2	20	3.2	(LM)	Precuneus	R	4	-52	66	4.3	918 [´]
Insula	L	-32	-2	12	3.4	109	Precuneus	L	-4	-56	66	3.7	(LM)
Insula	L	-38	-8	12	3.1	(LM)	Precuneus	R	6	-64	48	3.2	(LM)
Insula	L	-30	2	20	3.0	(LM)	Supramarginal G	1	-54	-26	28	3.6	145
Precuneus	L	-12	-68	58	3.0	150	Postcentral G.	ī	-56	-18	30	3.3	(I M)
Sup. Parietal G.	L	-30	-64	54	2.8	(LM)	Supramarginal G	ī	-44	-28	34	29	$(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{M})$
Sup. Parietal G.	L	-22	-70	54	2.7	(LM)	Inf Parietal G	ī	-38	-38	52	3.0	133
Precuneus	L	-8	-56	40	3.0	62 ´	Postcentral G	I	-44	-38	58	3.0	(I M)
Precuneus	Ĺ	-6	-48	46	2.4	(LM)	Postcentral G	L I	-36	-30	54	2.6	(LNI)
Supramarginal G	R	40	-36	34	3.0	63	Supremarginal G	P	58	-26	36	2.0	115
Angular G	R	42	-44	32	2.6	(I_M)	Supremarginal C	D	50	20	24	2.0	(1.M)
Angular G	R	48	-50	28	2.6	(LM)	Supremorginal G.		54	-32	24	2.7	
Sup Frontal G	I I	-32	-8	66	2.0	70	Supramaryinar G.		20	-22	20 50	2.1	
Precentral G	1	-26	-14	64	24	(LM)	Fusicential G.	к D	40	-30	52	3.0	JO4 (INA)
Paracentral Lobula	1	_12	_20	78	2.7	(EW) 63	Sup. Parietal G.	R	40	-40	60	3.4	
Procentral G	L I	-12	-20	76	2.2	(LM)	Supramarginal G.	R	40	-38	40	3.1	
Supp Motor Aroa	1	-20	12	76	2.1	(LNI)	Supp. Motor Area	ĸ	4	-10	70	3.5	89
Postcontrol G		-0	22	70 52	2.0	100	Paracentral Lobule		0	-16	64 70	2.6	
FUSICEIIII di G.		-30	-32	02	3.3	199	Supp. Motor Area	L	-4	-12	70	2.5	(LM)
Ini. Panetal G.		-30	-20	30	2.0		Inf. Occipital G.	L	-44	-68	-12	3.2	247
Posicential G.		-32	-40	5Z	2.5		Mid. Temporal G.	L	-50	-62	0	3.0	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.		-24	-10	74	2.4		Mid. Temporal G.	L	-50	-52	6	2.9	(LM)
Postcentral G.	ĸ	30	-38	54	3.1	74	Inf. Occipital G.	R	48	-62	-14	3.0	177
Postcentral G.	ĸ	30	-32	46	2.6	(LIVI)	Inf. Temporal G.	R	48	-54	-12	3.0	(LM)
Postcentral G.	L	-50	-20	24	2.7	69	Inf. Temporal G.	R	54	-62	-20	2.8	(LM)
Postcentral G.	L	-56	-16	34	2.7	(LM)	Cerebellum	L	-20	-96	-26	3.7	98
Inf. Parietal G.	L	-54	-26	36	2.5	(LM)	Cerebellum	L	-24	-90	-30	3.3	(LM)
Inf. Occipital G.	L	-38	-56	-6	3.5	142	Lingual G.	L	-28	-94	-22	2.5	(LM)
Fusiform G.	L	-32	-52	-14	2.9	(LM)	Cerebellum	L	-56	-64	-30	3.6	68
Cerebellum	L	-24	-56	-24	2.8	(LM)	Inf. Temporal G.	L	-54	-62	-22	3.4	(LM)
Cerebellum		0	-58	0	3.6	102	Cerebellum	L	-56	-60	-38	2.5	(LM)
Cerebellum	R	6	-48	4	2.6	(LM)	Cerebellum	L	-32	-62	-24	3.3	219
Lingual G.	R	4	-62	8	2.4	(LM)	Cerebellum	L	-18	-70	-26	3.0	(LM)
Cerebellum	R	4	-86	-38	3.5	87	Cerebellum	L	-20	-62	-20	2.8	ÌLΜ)
Cerebellum	L	-6	-80	-42	2.9	(LM)			-	-	-	-	()
Cerebellum	R	4	-78	-42	2.5	(LM)							
Men > Women							Men						
Temporal Pole	L	-44	10	-24	3.3	117	G Rectus	1	-12	38	-18	33	90
Temporal Pole	L	-46	18	-24	2.9	(LM)	Sup, Frontal G	ī	-8	40	-26	3.0	(I M)
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-56	-2	-20	2.8	(LM)	oup. i fontar o.	-	5	.0	20	0.0	()
				-	-	\ /							

Table S2			
Enhanced encoding-related connectivity	with right amygdala for	r negative relative to	neutral stimuli

		MNI Coordinate	s				MNI Cor	ordinate	\$	
	HEM	x y z	Z	k		HEM	x y	Z	Z	k
Women > Men		20 4 6	27	200	Women					
Amurdala		-20 4 -0	3.1	300 (LM)	Mid. Temporal G.	L	-38 -44	4	3.6	104
Amygdala		-20 2 -10	3.Z		Mid. Temporal G.	L	-38 -56	-2	3.1	(LM)
Aniyyuala		-20 -2 -12	3.1	(LIVI)	Mid. Temporal G.	L	-40 -50	10	2.7	(LM)
Mid Occipital G		-30 -40 0	3.9	309 (LM)	Mid. Temporal G.	R	48 -56	-2	3.2	84
Mid. Tomporal G.	1	42 52 9	2.4		Inf. Temporal G.	ĸ	46 -56	-12	2.9	
Inf Temporal G	1	-42 -32 0	33	(LIVI) 83	Inf. Temporal G.	ĸ	46 -48	-8	2.4	(LIVI)
Mid Temporal G	1	-54 -44 -6	2.5	(LM)	G. Reclus	L	-2 22	-3Z	4.3	102
Mid. Temporal G.	I I	-62 -50 -4	2.0	(LM)	G. Recius		10 26	-20	3.Z 2.0	
Inf Temporal G	R	46 -58 -8	3.2	77	Olfactory cortox		10 20	-20	3.0 4.2	(LIVI) 229
Inf. Temporal G.	R	44 -50 -8	2.8	(I_M)		P	18 20	-10	4.Z 3.5	220 (IM)
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-6 30 12	3.3	77	G Rectus	R	10 20	-24	3.0	
Ant. Cinqulate G.	Ĺ	-6 40 12	2.9	(LM)	Precuneus	i i	-6 -58	34	3.6	112
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-8 26 20	2.6	(LM)	Precuneus	ī	-12 -54	38	3.2	(I M)
G. Rectus	L	-2 22 -28	3.7	104	Angular G.	R	40 -50	24	3.1	63
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-10 20 -28	3.2	(LM)	Sup. Temporal G.	R	48 -58	22	2.6	(LM)
G. Rectus		0 14 -30	3.1	(LM)	Cerebellum	R	6 -86	-36	2.9	60
Olfactory cortex	R	6 14 -14	3.6	158	Cerebellum	R	16 -86	-32	2.5	(LM)
Olfactory cortex	R	2 10 -20	2.7	(LM)	Cerebellum	R	4 -82	-28	2.4	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	R	12 12 -26	2.7	(LM)	Precuneus	R	4 -56	64	2.7	59
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-16 14 52	3.4	188	Precuneus	L	-4 -56	66	2.5	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-14 24 52	3.1	(LM)	Precuneus		0 -48	68	2.5	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-22 22 54	2.9	(LM)	Cerebellum	L	-26 -62	-48	4.3	195
Inf. Frontal G.	R	46 34 6	3.2	65	Cerebellum	L	-28 -64	-40	3.4	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	R	58 34 10	2.8	(LM)	Cerebellum	L	-20 -68	-44	3.1	(LM)
Thalamus	ĸ	18 -28 4	3.5	96	Cerebellum	L	-56 -62	-36	3.8	68
Thalamus	к р	8 -20 0	2.0	(LIVI) 75	Cerebellum	L	-54 -66	-26	3.3	(LM)
Thalamus	R D	22 -14 U 19 10 9	2.0	75 (LM)						
Putaman	R	30 -16 -2	2.0	(LN)						
Angular G	R	42 -50 28	2.0 4.1	619						
Mid Occinital G	R	40 -68 28	4.1	(IM)						
Angular G.	R	42 -62 22	3.5	(LM)						
Precentral G.	R	18 -16 76	3.1	59						
Sup. Frontal G.	R	18 -6 72	2.6	(LM)						
Postcentral G.	R	30 -38 54	3.5	113						
Precentral G.	R	36 -28 58	3.1	(LM)						
Inf. Occipital G.	L	-26 -82 -8	2.9	62						
Fusiform G.	L	-30 -38 -24	3.1	65						
Cerebellum	L	-20 -38 -24	2.5	(LM)						
Lingual G.	R	16 -82 -8	3.0	210						
Cerebellum	R	12 -70 -14	3.0	(LM)						
Lingual G.	R	6 -70 -8	2.8	(LM)						
Cerebellum	R	12 -86 -36	3.9	124						
Cerebellum	R	2 -86 -36	3.1	(LM)						
Cerebellum	ĸ	6 -78 -36	2.3	(LM)						
	ĸ	36 -46 -38	3.4	/b						
Cerebellum	ĸ	34 -38 -38	3.0	(LIVI) 67						
Cerebellum	L	-24 -04 -44	3.0	07						
Men > Women					Mon					
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-38 -8 -48	3.2	59	G. Rectus	L	-8 40	-20	3.2	69
Fusiform G.	L	-38 -10 -40	2.9	(LM)	Sup, Frontal G	Ē	-16 42	-20	2.6	(LM)
								-	-	· /

k

Ζ

Table S3 Enhanced encoding-related connectivity with left amygdala for positive relative to neutral stimuli

		MN	Coo	rdinates	2		_			MNI	Coo	rdinates
	HEM	X	y	Z	ź	k			HEM	x	v	7
							_			~	,	-
Women > Men								Women				
Heschl G.	L	-36	-26	6	3.37	256		Hippocampus	R	34	-20	-12
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-44	-26	-2	3.21	(LM)		Parahinn G	R	22	-20	-18
Insula	Ĺ	-32	-10	12	3.06	(LM)		Hippocampus	R	30	-12	-14
Sup. Temporal G.	R	52	-10	-6	2.97	114		Sup Temporal G		_12	_32	4
Inf Temporal G	R	52	-16	-18	2.86	(I M)			1	-42	10	16
Mid Temporal G	R	52	-20	-10	2.00	(LM)		Insula		-52	20	10
Mid. Cinculate G	R	4	-16	30	34	283		Sup Tomporal C		-32	-20	10
Ant Cinquiate G	R	0	-2	26	33 3	(I M)		Sup. Temporal G.	R D	60 E 4	-10	0
Ant Cingulate G	R	ñ	6	24	3.01	(LM)		Sup. Temporal G.	к D	04 66	-20	0
Mid Cingulate G		_1/	-30	24	3.74	110		Sup. Temporal G.	ĸ	00	-0	0
Mid Cingulate G.	1	-14	-38	28	2 02	(I M)		Mid. Frontal G.	L	-22	44	10
Sup Frontal C	1	6	62	20	2.52	(LIVI) 152		Mid. Frontal G.	L	-30	38	28
Sup Frontal G	L D	-0	64	4	2.47	15Z (LM)		Inf. Frontal G.	L	-38	26	24
Sup. Frontal G.		4	60	4 0	2.47	$(\Box NI)$		Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	40	40	18
Sup. Fiontal G.		-10	20	0	2.4	(LIVI) 75		Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	32	40	22
Ini. Fiorital G.	к р	24	20	-24	0.01	75 (LM)		Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	28	44	30
	ĸ	20	22	-10	2.30			Mid. Frontal G.	L	-26	26	36
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-20	58	22	2.92	60		Mid. Frontal G.	L	-30	10	38
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-14	62	18	2.48			Mid. Frontal G.	L	-26	14	60
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-20	56	12	2.36	(LIVI)		Mid. Frontal G.	R	30	16	52
Ihalamus	L	-22	-26	4	3.16	81		Sup. Frontal G.	R	20	14	58
Thalamus	L	-14	-34	4	3.02	(LM)		Mid. Frontal G.	R	28	10	58
Ihalamus	L	-14	-24	4	3.02	(LM)		Mid. Frontal G.	R	40	56	-8
Postcentral G.	L	-38	-28	52	2.9	147		Inf. Frontal G.	R	36	44	-18
Inf. Parietal G.	L	-32	-40	36	2.81	(LM)		Mid. Frontal G.	R	42	50	-14
Precentral G.	L	-32	-20	54	2.78	(LM)		Inf. Frontal G.	R	24	20	-24
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	10	-2	42	2.89	71		Sup. Frontal G.	R	22	20	-14
Supp. Motor Area	R	2	-4	48	2.47	(LM)		Sup. Frontal G.	R	4	68	0
Supp. Motor Area	R	10	-4	50	2.45	(LM)		Sup. Frontal G.		0	64	8
Lingual G.	R	18	-80	-6	3.78	359		Med. Frontal G.	R	6	62	-6
Lingual G.	R	10	-76	-12	3.22	(LM)		Sup. Frontal G.	R	10	64	18
Inf. Occipital G.	R	30	-86	-12	3.09	(LM)		Sup. Frontal G.	R	2	64	24
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-36	-62	-4	3.68	71		Insula	L	-36	16	6
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-38	-70	-2	3.25	(LM)		Inf. Frontal G.	L	-46	16	6
Cuneus	R	10	-102	210	2.84	61		Mid. Cingulate G.	L	-14	-32	36
Sup. Occipital G.	R	18	-100) 16	2.83	(LM)		Mid. Cingulate G.	L	-14	-38	42
Lingual G.	R	10	-44	0	3.05	83		Mid. Cinqulate G.	L	-12	-30	44
Čerebellum: Vermi	s R	6	-52	-2	2.67	(LM)		Insula	L	-32	24	10
Cerebellum	R	40	-68	-36	4.3	553		Insula	R	34	-8	10
Cerebellum	R	42	-76	-38	3.69	(LM)		Insula	R	36	4	-8
Cerebellum	R	38	-82	-42	3.37	(LM)		Insula	R	40	2	0
Cerebellum	L	-6	-86	-38	4.27	542		Insula	I.	-36	2	-14
Cerebellum	R	4	-86	-36	3.99	(LM)		Mid Temporal G	1	-38	2	-26
Cerebellum	L	-12	-82	-34	3.3	ÌLΜ		Mid. Temporal G	1	-48	-2	-30
Cerebellum	L	-42	-68	-44	3.55	251		Thalamus	R	12	-16	12
Cerebellum	ī	-42	-62	-50	3.15	(I M)		Thalamus	P	۲ <u>۲</u>	-10	6
Cerebellum	ī	-36	-74	-42	3.1	$(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{M})$		Thalamus	P	10	-20	-6
Cerebellum	ī	-32	-46	-26	3.2	171		Thalamus		-16	-20	1
Cerebellum	1	-32	-40	-44	3 15	(I M)		Thalamus		10	-22	4
Cerebellum	ī	-30	-32	-38	2.83	(LM)		Thalamus		-10	-0	4 10
CONSCIUM	-	50	52	00	2.00	()		Mid Occipital C		-0	-20	0

Men > Women

*No significant clusters

Women						
Hippocampus	R	34	-20	-12	2.89	66
Parahipp, G.	R	22	-20	-18	2.62	(LM)
Hippocampus	R	30	-12	-14	2.38	$(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{M})$
Sun Temporal G	1	-42	-32	4	4 56	1275
	1	22	10	16	4.50	(1 M)
Insula		-52	-10	10	4 2 00	$(\Box NI)$
Ilisuia Sun Tomporol C		-32	-20	10	3.99	(LIVI)
Sup. Temporal G.	ĸ	60	-10	0	3.50	140
Sup. Temporal G.	ĸ	54	-20	0	2.83	
Sup. Temporal G.	ĸ	66	-8	8	2.65	(LIM)
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-22	44	16	4.59	1031
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-30	38	28	4.38	(LM)
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-38	26	24	3.69	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	R	40	40	18	4.24	1170
Mid. Frontal G.	R	32	40	22	4.08	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	R	28	44	30	3.66	(LM)
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-26	26	36	4.11	348
Mid. Frontal G	1	-30	10	38	3.39	(I M)
Mid. Frontal G.	Ī	-26	14	60	3.22	$(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{M})$
Mid Frontal G	R	30	16	52	3.53	102
Sun Frontal G	R	20	14	58	2.82	(I M)
Mid Frontal C		20	10	50	2.02	
Mid Frontol C	к D	20	10	00	2.0	
	R D	40	30	-0	2.12	
Inf. Frontal G.	ĸ	30	44	-18	2.66	
Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	42	50	-14	2.59	(LIVI)
Inf. Frontal G.	ĸ	24	20	-24	3.9	81
Sup. Frontal G.	R	22	20	-14	2.66	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	R	4	68	0	3.75	119
Sup. Frontal G.		0	64	8	2.71	(LM)
Med. Frontal G.	R	6	62	-6	2.7	(LM)
Sup. Frontal G.	R	10	64	18	2.98	59
Sup. Frontal G.	R	2	64	24	2.57	(LM)
Insula	L	-36	16	6	4.33	500
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-46	16	6	3.68	(LM)
Mid. Cinqulate G.	L	-14	-32	36	3.79	152
Mid. Cinqulate G.	1	-14	-38	42	3.03	(I M)
Mid. Cinquiate G	ī	-12	-30	44	2.68	$(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{M})$
Insula	i i	-32	24	10	3 4 2	(LM)
Incula	P	3/	-8	10	J. 1 ∠ ∕/ 1	1123
Insula	D	26	-0 1	0	4.1	(1 M)
Insula		40	4	-0	2.00	$(\Box NI)$
Insula	ĸ	40	2	0	3.90	
	L	-36	2	-14	3.85	253
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-38	2	-26	3.56	
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-48	-2	-30	3.25	(LIM)
Thalamus	R	12	-16	12	3.84	311
Thalamus	R	8	-20	6	3.32	(LM)
Thalamus	R	10	-26	-6	3.2	(LM)
Thalamus	L	-16	-22	4	3.62	329
Thalamus	L	-10	-8	4	3.38	(LM)
Thalamus	L	-6	-26	10	3.12	(LM)
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-50	-74	0	4.45	572
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-48	-74	8	3.91	(LM)
Mid. Temporal G.	Ī	-42	-70	14	3.54	$(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{M})$
Sun Frontal G	R	16	2	58	4.09	4923
Postcentral G	R	36	-26	46	4.08	(IM)
Supp Motor Area	D	1	1	10	2.07	$(\square M)$
Post Cinquisto C	P	6	-+ _//	10	3.06	(LIVI)
Lingual C	D	10	-44	0	2.30	(1 M)
Elliyual G. Doct Cinculato C	D	10	-44	10	2 17	
Post. Ciriguiate G.		10	-44	10	3.17	(LIVI)
Postcentral G.		-42	-44	04	3.11	23/3
int. Parietal G.	L	-32	-40	48	3.71	(LIVI)

		MNI Coordinates					
	HEM	х	у	z	Z	k	
Women (continued)							
Sup. Parietal G.	L	-32	-52	58	3.67	(LM)	
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-38	-88	-2	3.53	156	
Inf. Occipital G.	L	-32	-86	-12	3.25	(LM)	
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-36	-92	8	2.93	(LM)	
Sup. Occipital G.	R	30	-68	22	3.35	245	
Angular G.	R	40	-70	36	2.83	(LM)	
Mid. Occipital G.	R	30	-74	34	2.79	(LM)	
Cuneus	R	10	-102	6	3.25	69	
Cuneus	R	8	-100	14	2.7	(LM)	
Sup. Occipital G.	R	16	-100	16	2.63	(LM)	
Supramarginal G.	R	60	-26	24	3.09	91 ´	
Supramarginal G.	R	54	-32	30	2.74	(LM)	
Supramarginal G.	R	64	-22	18	2.55	(LM)	
Sup. Temporal G.	L	-48	-40	16	3.06	59 ´	
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-50	-50	16	2.45	(LM)	
Supramarginal G.	L	-56	-28	36	2.94	163	
Supramarginal G.	L	-62	-34	30	2.71	(LM)	
Inf. Parietal G.	L	-56	-26	44	2.67	(LM)	
Cuneus	L	-4	-92	34	2.94	64 ´	
Cuneus	R	0	-80	28	2.57	(LM)	
Cerebellum	L	-20	-62	-20	4.61	2165	
Cerebellum	L	-32	-50	-26	3.95	(LM)	
Cerebellum	R	0	-84	-36	3.94	(LM)	
Cerebellum	R	46	-70	-32	4.17	2152	
Cerebellum	R	52	-64	-32	4.03	(LM)	
Lingual G.	R	16	-88	-12	3.84	(LM)	
Cerebellum	L	-38	-46	-50	3.5	103	
Cerebellum	L	-32	-38	-42	3.16	(LM)	
Cerebellum	L	-26	-42	-38	2.77	(LM)	
Cerebellum	R	40	-46	-32	3.5	413	
Cerebellum	R	34	-38	-44	3.28	(LM)	
Cerebellum	R	34	-46	-48	3.21	(LM)	
						. /	

		MNI Coordinates					
	HEM	x	y	Z	Z	k	
Men							
Inf. Temporal G.	R	58	-56	-18	3.05	123	
Inf. Temporal G.	R	58	-64	-20	3.04	(LM)	
Inf. Temporal G.	R	64	-52	-14	2.57	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	54	40	4	4.56	486	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	46	34	10	3.61	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	40	26	12	3.48	(LM)	
Putamen	R	28	22	4	4.21	806	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	52	10	16	3.87	(LM)	
Ant. Cingulate G.	R	22	34	10	3.58	(LM)	
Mid. Frontal G.	R	24	8	46	3.01	100	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	28	2	54	2.97	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	30	-2	64	2.87	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-12	16	40	3.63	105	
Mid. Cingulate G.	L	-14	4	40	2.88	(LM)	
Supp. Motor Area	L	-6	20	46	2.75	(LM)	
G. Rectus	L	-6	28	-26	3.36	90	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-12	32	-22	3.32	(LM)	
Angular G.	R	30	-64	46	4.18	423	
Inf. Parietal G.	R	36	-52	48	3.5	(LM)	
Precuneus	R	10	-62	52	2.93	(LM)	
Sup. Parietal G.	L	-18	-70	42	3.42	59	
Paracentral Lobule	R	6	-34	52	3.27	109	
Mid. Cingulate G.	L	-2	-38	48	2.91	(LIM)	
Precuneus	ĸ	10	-40	56	2.63	(LIM)	
Supramarginal G.	L	-66	-38	30	3.07	119	
Supramarginal G.	L	-62	-22	28	3.06	(LIVI)	
Supramarginal G.	L	-66	-30	28	2.63	(LIVI)	
Rolandic Oper.	L .	-62	4	6	3.55	106	
Postcentral G.		-60	4	10	2.97		
Precentral G.		-50	2	10	2.1	(LIVI)	
Precentral G.	ĸ	58	-4	42	3.35	412	
Supramarginal G	R	70	-22	18	2.94	(LM)	
Postcentral G.	R	68	-14	30	2.93	(LM)	
Thalamus	R	0	-22	-6	2.91	66	
Cerebellum: Vermis	sR	4	-32	-2	2.42	(LM)	
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-26	-94	-2	2.77	, 75 ´	
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-36	-96	-8	2.73	(LM)	
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-32	-98	2	2.43	(LM)	

Table S4			
Enhanced encoding-related connectivity	y with right amygdala for	positive relative to	neutral stimuli

z -18 -14 -12 8 14 6 24 40 24 72 72 30 24 0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	Z 2.88 2.62 2.48 3.31 2.68 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.23 3.23 3.24 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.67 3.38 2.37 2.63 2.67 2.63 2.69 2.67 2.63 2.64 2.65 2.64 2.65 2.65 2.65 2.65 2.65 2.65 2.65 2.65	k 83 (LM) (LM) 76 (LM) (LM) 176 (LM) 104 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) 114 (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-18 -14 -12 8 14 6 24 24 24 0 6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	2.88 2.62 2.48 3.31 2.68 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.38 2.37	83 (LM) (LM) 76 (LM) (LM) 176 (LM) 104 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-18 -14 -12 8 14 6 24 72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	3 4 2 2	2.88 2.62 2.48 3.31 2.68 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.23 3.24 2.35 3.24 2.35 3.28 2.38 2.38 2.37	83 (LM) (LM) 76 (LM) 176 (LM) (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-18 -14 -12 8 14 6 24 40 24 72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	3 4 2 2	2.88 2.62 2.48 3.31 2.68 2.48 3.66 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.38 2.38 2.38 2.37	83 (LM) (LM) 76 (LM) 176 (LM) (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-14 -12 8 14 6 24 40 24 72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	↓ >- 	2.62 2.48 3.31 2.68 2.48 3.66 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.38 2.38	(LM) (LM) 76 (LM) 176 (LM) (LM) 70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-12 8 14 6 24 40 24 72 30 24 0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26)	2.48 3.31 2.68 2.48 3.66 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.37 2.83	(LM) 76 (LM) 176 (LM) (LM) 70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
8 14 6 24 40 24 72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -12 -12 -18 -26).	3.31 2.68 2.48 3.66 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.38 2.38	76 (LM) (LM) 176 (LM) (LM) 70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
14 6 24 40 24 72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26)- 	2.68 2.48 3.66 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.24 2.35 3.28 2.38 2.38 2.38	(LM) (LM) 176 (LM) (LM) 104 (LM) 114 (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
6 24 40 24 72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	2.48 3.66 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.23 2.35 3.23 2.35 3.23 2.35	(LM) 176 (LM) (LM) 70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
24 40 24 72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	3.66 3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.35 3.38 2.37 2.66	176 (LM) (LM) 70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
40 24 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	3.05 3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.35 3.38 2.37 2.66	(LM) (LM) 70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
24 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	3.01 3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.37 2.66	(LM) 70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
72 72 30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26) - -	3.27 2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.37 2.66	70 (LM) 104 (LM) (LM) 114 (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
72 30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	2.83 3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.37 2.66	(LM) 104 (LM) (LM) 114 (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
30 24 24 0 -6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26) - -	3.23 2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.37 2.66	104 (LM) (LM) 114 (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
24 24 0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26) - -	2.98 2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.38 2.37	(LM) (LM) 114 (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
24 0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -12 -18 -26) - -	2.67 3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.38 2.37	(LM) 114 (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
0 -6 -12 -4 -12 -12 -18 -26	2	3.43 3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.37	114 (LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-6 -6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	3.24 2.35 3.38 2.38 2.37	(LM) (LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-6 -12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	2.35 3.38 2.38 2.37	(LM) 82 (LM) (LM)
-12 -4 -12 -18 -26	2	3.38 2.38 2.37	82 (LM) (LM)
-4 -12 -18 -26	2	2.38 2.37	(LM) (LM)
-12 -18 -26	2	2.37	(LM)
-18 -26	-	2.66	(=)
-26		.5 00	83
	5	3.16	137
-26	\$	3 13	(I M)
-24	Ĺ	2 72	$(\mathbf{L}\mathbf{M})$
-42	, ,	3 47	324
-36	}	3.36	(I M)
-34	Ĺ	3 25	(LM)
-12	, ,	34	75
-8		2 45	(I M)
-4R	3	3 29	240
-30	, ì	3.05	(I_M)
-36	, :	2.05	$(\Box M)$
-30	, ì	2.30	85
_22	, >	2.02	(I_M)
-24	I	2.04	
-24	r	2.41	(LIVI)
555	6 -30 6 -22 8 -24	5 -30 5 -22 8 -24	5 -30 2.82 5 -22 2.54 3 -24 2.41
	-8 -48 -30 -36 -30 -22 -24	-8 -48 -30 -36 -30 -22 -24	-8 2.45 -48 3.29 -30 3.05 -36 2.95 -30 2.82 -22 2.54 -24 2.41

6 -24 -42 14 -32 -44 -8 -22 -44

3.8

3.48 3.19 88

(LM) (LM)

R R L

Men > Women Cerebellum

Cerebellum Cerebellum

		MNI Coord.			7	k	
	HEM	х	у	Z	Z	К	
Women							
Hippocampus	L	-36	-20	-14	3.35	133	
Hippocampus	L	-24	-14	-18	2.95	(LM)	
Hippocampus	L	-26	-16	-10	2.86	(LM)	
Inf. Temporal G.	R	46	-16	-20	3.69	122	
Parahipp. G.	R	38	-16	-24	3.02	(LM)	
Inf. Temporal G.	R	52	-20	-30	2.75	(LM)	
Temporal Pole	R	46	14	-30	3.62	71	
Temporal Pole	R	38	10	-30	2.7	(LM)	
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-56	-20	-26	3.42	143	
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-56	-14	-32	3.33	(LM)	
Inf. Temporal G.	L	-64	-14	-28	2.86	(LM)	
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-60	-38	4	3.31	65	
Mid. Temporal G.	L	-64	-44	8	2.48	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	ĸ	52	38	-2	3.36	418	
Mid. Frontal G.	ĸ	48	40	16	3.34		
IVIID. Frontal G.	ĸ	34	38	18	3.14		
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-50	32	10	3.01	161	
Inf Frontal G.	L	-00	22 26	4 0	2.90 2.76	(∟IVI) (IM)	
Mid Frontal G		-44	20 10	60	2.70	(LIVI) 680	
Mid Frontal G	L	-20	4	52	4.32	(I M)	
Precentral G	L	-32	8	40	3.22	(LM)	
Sup Frontal G	R	6	70	0	4.3	2324	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	4	68	12	3.97	(I M)	
Inf. Frontal G.	L	-44	18	-8	3.85	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	18	38	46	3.4	186	
, Sup. Frontal G.	R	12	42	40	3.32	(LM)	
Mid. Frontal G.	R	22	32	42	2.59	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	16	46	-14	3.02	176	
Mid. Frontal G.	R	30	44	-18	3.01	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	28	34	-20	2.94	(LM)	
Putamen	R	28	10	-6	4.16	186	
Insula	R	36	14	-8	3.72	(LM)	
Insula	R	40	8	-4	2.71	(LM)	
Putamen	L	-24	8	-2	3.6	443	
Caudate	L	-6	14	-2	3.46	(LM)	
Ant. Cingulate G.	L	-8	30	10	3.46	(LM)	
Caudate	R	18	26	-2	3.47	63	
Caudate	R	14	22	-8	3.29	(LM)	
Ant. Cingulate G.	ĸ	20	32	8	2.36	(LM)	
Rolandic Oper.	R	40	-16	12	3.55	261	
Insula Sun Tomporol C	R	30	-16	12	3.48		
Brocontrol C		40	-20	12	3.4 2.05		
Inf Frontal G		-00	0	30	3.05	97 (INA)	
Inf Frontal G		-04 _29	0 8	24 24	2.91	(LIVI) (LNA)	
Postcentral G	R	-30 58	-20	52	2.59	(LIVI) 8250	
Postcentral G	R	54	-28	54	4 45	(I M)	
Postcentral G	R	36	-32	58	4.34	(LM)	
Supp. Motor Area	R	12	2	58	3.93	1858	
Sup, Frontal G	R	18	- -10	72	3.91	(LM)	
Mid. Cinqulate G	R	4	-2	28	3.87	(LM)	
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-50	-80	0	4.44	1007	
Corobollum	L	-2	-86	-36	4.35	(LM)	
Cerebellulli		20	-76	6	4.23	àм	
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-30					
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-30	10	-			
Mid. Occipital G.	L	-30		-			
Mid. Occipital G. <i>Men</i> Mid. Temporal G.	L R	-30 54	-8	-26	3.44	(LIVI) 79	

		MNI Coord					
	НЕМ	x	v	z	Z	k	
			,	_	_		
Men (continued)							
Inf. Temporal G	R	58	-56	-20	3 31	189	
Inf Temporal G	R	54	-62	-24	3.03	(I M)	
Inf. Temporal G	P	56	-68	_18	2.84	(LM)	
Sup Temporal G	P	18	2	-12	2.04	86	
		40	2	10	2.30		
Insula		40	-2	-10	2.00		
Mid Cinculate C	к D	42	-4	-0	2.30		
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	12	0	20	3.47	64	
Mid. Cingulate G.	ĸ	8	-8	28	3.08		
Caudate	R	22	-4	32	2.51	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	R	24	44	36	3.19	280	
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	12	38	34	3.18	(LM)	
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	16	28	30	2.7	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-8	64	28	3.82	348	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-2	44	34	3.21	(LM)	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-2	58	28	3.12	(LM)	
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-24	2	54	2.92	131	
Sup. Frontal G.	L	-24	4	64	2.89	(LM)	
Mid. Frontal G.	L	-26	14	60	2.65	(LM)	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	48	34	16	2.67	61	
Inf. Frontal G.	R	48	38	6	2.58	(LM)	
Insula	R	42	-8	6	3.37	146	
Insula	R	42	-14	12	3 27	(I M)	
Putamen	R	36	-4	0	2 48	(LM)	
Supramarginal G	R	64	-44	28	4 13	218	
Supramarginal G	P	62	-36	28	3	(I M)	
Inf. Parietal G	P	56	-58	20 46	2 66	(LNI)	
Inf. Deriotel C		26	-50	40	2.00		
Inf. Parietal C.		-30	-52	40	3.10 2.01	224 (INA)	
IIII. Failetai G.		-40	-40	42	3.01		
Sup. Parletal G.	L	-32	-52	50	2.86		
Ini. Parietal G.	ĸ	30	-46	48 40	2.96	15	
Postcentral G.	ĸ	28	-44	42	2.9		
Sup. Parietal G.	ĸ	36	-50	56	2.55		
Calcarine Fissure	к	22	-76	12	3.3	110	
Calcarine Fissure	ĸ	14	-80	16	2.85	(LM)	
Cuneus	R	22	-86	12	2.5	(LM)	
Cuneus	R	24	-58	40	3.23	94	
Mid. Cingulate G.	R	22	-48	34	2.8	(LM)	
Angular G.	R	30	-64	46	2.76	(LM)	
Paracentral Lobule	R	0	-34	64	3.17	95	
Paracentral Lobule	R	6	-26	66	2.65	(LM)	
Paracentral Lobule	R	0	-32	72	2.44	(LM)	
Cerebellum	R	12	-34	-42	3.46	79 ´	
Cerebellum: Vermis	R	4	-24	-44	2.97	(LM)	
Cerebellum: Vermis	R	0	-32	-48	2.83	(IM)	
Cerebellum: Vermis	1	-2	-28	-40	3.28	98	
Parahinn G	-	-10	-20	-32	2 93	(I_M)	
Parahinn C	1	-2	_11	-36	2.00		
Falallipp. G.	L	-2	-14	-30	2.92		